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MATURITY SCHEDULE 

$5,405,(XX) 
CITY OF FORTUNA 

SERI ES 2017WATER REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS 
(WATER ENTERPRISE PROJECT) 

(Base CUSI pt 349595) 

Maturity Principal Interest Pricing 
(October 1) Amount Rate Yield Price CUSI pt 

2018 $225,00J 2.00J'/o 0.980'/o 100.846% AA6 
2019 195,00J 2.00J 1.110 101.612 AB4 
202(Y 200,00J 4.00J 1.160 107.899 AC2 
2021" 210,00J 4.00J 1.270 110.188 ADO 
2022'' 220,00J 4.00J 1.420 112.015 AES 
2023'' 225,00J 5.00J 1.580 118.993 AF5 
2024'' 240,00J 5.00J 1.750 120.851 AG3 
2025'' 250,00J 5.00J 1.890 122.550 AHl 
2026'' 265,00J 5.00J 2.010 124.093 AJ 7 
202i'' 275,00J 5.00J 2.160 125.042 AK4 
2028'' 290,00J 5.00J 2.310 123.544(c) AL2 
2029'' 305,00J 4.00J 2.590 112.171 ( c) AMO 
203()" 320,00J 4.00J 2.710 11 l.069(c) ANS 
2031" 335,00J 4.00J 2.800 110.252(c) AP3 
2032'' 345,00J 4.00J 2.900 109.351(c) AQl 
2033'' 360,00J 3.00J 3.140 98.261 AR9 
2034'' 370,00J 3.125 3.240 98.513 AS7 
2035'' 380,00J 3.125 3.270 98.049 ATS 
2036'' 395,00J 3.250 3.360 98.470 AU2 

Indicates Insured Bands. 
(c) Priced to the first optional redemption date of October 1, 2027; at par. 
t CUS IP© A registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. Cor,,,right © 1999-2017 American Bankers 

Association. All rights reserved. CUSI P© data herein is prCNided t,,, CUSI P Gloool Services, managed t,,, Standard & Poor's 
Financial Services LLC on behalf of the American Bankers Association. This data is not intended to create a dataoose and 
does not serve in any way as a substitute for CUSIP Gloool Services. CUSIP© numbers are prCNided for convenience of 
reference only. Neither the City nor the Underwriter take any responsi bi I ity for the accuracy of such numbers. 
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In making an i rwestrrent decision i rwestors must rely on their ONn examination of the terms of the offering, including 
the merits and risks involved. These securities have not been recommended by any federal or state securities commission or 
regulatory authority. Furthermore, neitherthe forego ng authorities nor Bond Counsel or Disclosure Counsel have confi rrred the 
accuracy or determined the adequacy of this docurrent. Any rep-esentati on to the contrary is a criminal offense. 

No dealer, b-oker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City to prcwide any information orto make any 
rep-esentati ons in connection with the offering or sale of the Bonds other than as contained herein and, if given or made, such 
other information or representation must net be relied upon as having been authorized by the City. This Official Staterrent does 
not constitute an offer to sel I or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shal I there be any sale of the Bonds by a person in any 
jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such an offer, solicitation or sale. Al I references to and summaries of 
the Indenture or ether documents contained in this Official Staterrent are suqject to the prcwisions of those docurrents and do not 
purport to be compete staterrents of those documents. 

This Official Staterrent is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Bonds. Staterrents contained in 
this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matter of op nion, whether or net exp-essly so described herein, are 
intended solely as such and are notto be construed as a representation of facts. Words or phrases "wil I Ii kely result,'' "are expected 
to" "will continue" "is anticipated" "estimate" "rroiect" "forecast" "expect" "intend" and similar expressions identify 

' ' ' ' t-J' :'.J ' ' ' 
"forward looking staterrents" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such staterrents are 
sutj ect to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemp ated in such forward­
I ooki ng staterrents. Any forecast is sutj ect to such uncertainties. Inevitably, sorre assumptions used to develop the forecasts wi 11 

not be realized and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. Therefore, there are likely to be differences between 
forecasts and actual results, and those differences may be material. This Official Staterrent is submitted in connection with the 
sale of the Bonds referred to herein and may net be rep-oduced or used, in whci e or in part, for any other purpose, uni ess authorized 
in writing by the City. 

The Underwriter has p-c:wided the follcwing sentence for inclusion in this Official Staterrent: The Underwriter has 
reviewed the information in this Official Staterrent in accordance with, and as a part of its responsi li I ities to i rwestors under the 
federal securities laws applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does net guarantee the 
accuracy or completeness of such information. The information set forth herein has been oli:ai ned from sources which are believed 
to be reliable, but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy orcompeteness. The information and expression of op nion herein are suqject 
to change without notice and neither delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made under the Indenture shal I, under any 
circumstances, create any imp i cation that there has been no change in the affairs of the City si nee the date hereof. 

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (the "Insurer') makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of 
i rwesti ng in the Bonds. In addition, the Insurer has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not 
accept any responsi li I ity for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Staterrent or any information or disclosure contained 
herein, or omitted herefrom, etherthan with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding the Insurer supplied by the Insurer 
and presented underthe heading" Bond Insurance" and" Appendix G - Specirren Municipal Bond Insurance Pol icy" herein. 

THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, IN 
RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION CONTAINED IN SUCH ACT. THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED OR 
QUALIFIED UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. 

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE BONDS, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR 
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL 
ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF 
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUEDAT ANY TIME. THE UNDERWRITER MAY OFFER AND SELL THE BONDS 
TO CERTAIN DEALERS AND DEALER BANKS AND BANKS ACTING AS AGENT AND OTHERS AT PRICES LOWER 
THAN THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES STATED ON THE COVER PAGE HEREOF AND SAID PUBLIC OFFERING 
PRICES MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TOTI ME BY THE UNDERWRITER. 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

$5,405,00J 
CITY OF FORTUNA 

SERIES 2017WATER REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS 
(WATER ENTERPRISE PROJECT) 

INTRODUCTION 

This introcuction contains only a brief sumrary of certain of the term; of the $5,405,00J aggregate 
principal amount of City ofF ortuna, Series 2017Water Revenue Refunding Bonds (Water Enterprise Project) 
(the "Bonds"), and a brief 0verviav of the contents ofthi s Official Staterrent. It is only a brief description of 
and guide to, and is qualified l:ly, more complete and detai I ed i nforrrnti on contained in the entire Off ci al 
Staterrent, including the c0ver page and appendices hereto, and the docurrents sumrari 21:d or described 
herein. A ful I review should be rrnde of the entire Off ci al Staterrent including the Appendices hereto. The 
offering of the Bonds to potential investors is rrnde only l:ly rreans of the entire Off ci al Staterrent. Capital i2!:d 
term; usecl and not otherw se defined in the bocy of the Off ci al Staterrent shal I have the rreani ngs given to 
them in the I ndenture. No descriptions and sumrari es of docurrents contained in this Off ci al Staterrent 
purport to be comprehensive or definitive, and reference is rrnde to each docurrent described or sumrari 21:d 
for complete detai Is of all its term; and conditions. 

In General 

The Bonds are limited obligations of the City payable from the Net Revenues (defined herein) 
pledged under an Indenture of Trust, dated as of N0vember 1, 2017 (the "Indenture''), l:ly and between the 
City and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"), derived from the City's cwnership and 
operation of a Water System (as defined more completely herein), and announts on deposit in certain funds 
and accounts established l:ly the I ndenture. 

Authority for Issuance of the Bonds 

The Bonds are being issued pursuantto(i) the Indenture, (ii) a Resolution adopted l:ly the City Council 
on August 30, 2017 (the "Resolution"), and (iii) Articles 10 and 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of 
Title 5 of the California G0vernment Code, commencing with Section 53570. 

Purpose of the Bonds 

The Bonds are being issued to pr0vide funds, together with certain other moneys: (i) to def ease and 
refund on an current basis all presently outstanding Fortuna Public Financing Authority, Water Revenue 
Bands, Series 2003 issued on October 11, 2003 in the original pri nci pa amount of $8,085,00J (such amount 
being refinanced constituting the "2003 Bands") and a related i nstal I ment payment obi igation of the City, (ii) 
to purchaseamunici pa bond insurance pol icy forthe Insured Bonds, (iii) to purchase of a debt service reserve 
policy for deposit in the Reserve Fund (defined herein) for the Bonds, and (iv) to pay the costs of issuance 
incurred in connection with the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds. See "THE REFINANCING PLAN" 
herein. 



The City 

The City is located in Humboldt County (the "County"), approximately 18 miles south of Eureka and 
250 miles north of San Francisco on U.S. Highway 101. The City was incorJX)ratec on February 20, 19:Xi as 
a general law city, and becanne a charter city in 19%. The City isa full-service city operating under acouncil­
manager fonm of g0vemment. The City Council consists of 5 members, elected at-large to four-year terms. 
The City Council selects the Mayor from one of the City Council members. The City Manager and City 
Attorney are aprx:ii ntec ~ the City Counci I. The City pr0vi des water service to residential and nonresidential 
customersi n the City. For other selected information concerning the City, see"THE CITY" and"APPE NDIX 
D- GENERAL INFORMATION REGAR DI NG THE CITY AND SURROUND! NG AREA" herein. 

The City's general fund is not pl ecgec to secure payment of, and the taxing rxwer of the City is not 
pl ecgec for, the pri nci pal of and i nterest on the B ands. 

The Water System 

The City pr0vides water service to approximately 5,594 service connections. Water is conveyec 
through a supply and di stri buti on system that includes 5 wel Is and approximately 65 mi I es of water mans, 
seven ( 7) pump stations and four ( 4) water storage reservoirs at various I ocati ons that pr0vi de 7. 28 mi 11 ion 
gallons of treatec water storage (collectively, the "Water System'). See "THEW ATER SYSTEM" herein. 

Description of the Bonds 

Payment. Principal of the Bondswil I be payalble in each of the years and in the announts set forth on 
the inside front c0ver hereof at the principal corrxirate office of the Trustee. The Bands wi 11 accrue interest 
from their date of delivery, and interest thereon wi II be payalble semiannually on April 1 and October 1 of 
each year (each, an "Interest Payment Date"), commencing April 1, 2018, ~ check mailed~ the Trustee on 
each Interest Payment Date to the person whose name appears in the registration books kept~ the Trustee 
as the registerec cwner thereof as of the close of business on the fifteenth calendar day of the month 
immediately prececing an interest payment date (a "Record Date"); pr0videc, hcwever, that payment of 
interest may be~ wire transfer in immeciately availalblefunds to an account in the Uni tee States of America 
to any Owner of Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more, payalblewhen due~ wire 
of the Trustee to DTC which will in turn remit such interest, principal and premium, if any, to DTC 
Participants (as definec herein), which will in turn remit such interest, principal and premium, if any, to 
Beneficial Owners (as defi nee herein) of the Bonds. See "APPENDIX F - DTC'S BOOK-ENTRY ONLY 
SYSTEM" herein. 

Recemption. The Bonds are subject to optional recemption prior to their statec maturity dates, as 
pr0videc herein. See"THE BONDS-Optional Recemption of Bonds" herein. 

F ormofBonds. The Bondswill be issuec in fully registered form, without courxins, in the minimum 
denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Any Bond may, in accordance with its terms, be 
transferrec or exchangec, pursuant to the pr0vi si ons of the I ndenture. See "THE BONDS - General." When 
deliverec, the Bondswill be regi sterec in the nanne of The Derxisitory Trust Company, NewY ork, NewY ork 
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("DTC"), or its nominee. DTC will act as securities derxisitory forthe Bonds. Purchasers of the Bondswill 
not receive certificates representing the Bonds purchasec. See "APPENDIX F - INFORMATION 
REGARDING THE BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM" herein. 

Sources of Payment for the Bonds 

In General. The Bonds are special Ii mited obi igations of the City, [Byable soely from and secured 
~ a first pledge of the Net Revenues, which are defined in the Indenture as, for any period of computation, 
an amount ecual to al I "Gross Revenues" received during such period I ess the amount required to rBY al I 
"Maintenance and Operation Costs'' becoming [BYable during such period. The Net Revenues, along with 
investment earnings, are calculated to be sufficient to permit the City to rBY the pri nci[BI of, and interest on, 
the Bonds when due. See"SECURITY FOR THE BONDS- Pledge of Net Revenues'' herein. 

Reserve Fund. A Reserve Fund (the "Reserve Fund") is established with the Trustee pursuant to the 
Indenture in an amount equal to the Reserve Recui rement (as defined in the Indenture). TheCitywi II purchase 
a Municipal Bond Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy (the "Reserve Policy") from Assured Guaranty 
Municipal Corp. (the "Reserve Policy Provider") and deposit the Reserve Policy with the Trustee. Proceeds 
of the Reserve Policy wi 11 be avai I able to be applied to rBY principal of and;br interest on the Bands in the 
event announts on derx:isit in the Debt Service Fund are insufficient therefor. See "SECURITY FOR THE 
BONDS - Application of Reserve Fund" herein. 

Rate C0venant. U nderthe Indenture, the City has c0venanted that, to the extent pr0vided ~ I aw, it 
wi 11 fix, prescribe and col I ect rates, fees and charges for the services and faci Ii ti es pr0vi ded ~ the Water 
System, which wil I at least be sufficient to yield respective Net Revenues equal to one hundred twenty-five 
percent (125%) of Debt Service coming due and [BYable during such Fiscal Year. See "SECURITY FOR 
THE BONDS- RateC0venant'' herein. 

Rate Stabilization Fund. Underthe Indenture, the City may at its discretion establish and maintain a 
rate stabilization fund for the Water System. To the extent established and funded, the City may withdraw 
announts from time to ti me held in such Rate Stabilization Fund. Amounts so withdrawn and transferred to 
the Water Revenue Fund wi 11 be included in Gross Revenues of the Water System, and may be applied for 
any purrxises for which such Gross Revenues are generally available. See "SECURITY FOR THE BONDS 
- Rate Stabilization Fund" herein. 

Bond Insurance. The scheduled [Byment of principal of and interest on the Bonds maturing on 
October 1 of the years 2020 through 2036, inclusive (the "Insured Bonds"), when due wi 11 be guaranteed 
under a Municipal Bond Insurance Policy (the "Policy") to be issued concurrently with the delivery of the 
Bands~ Assured Guaranty M unici [Bl Corp. (the "Insurer"). See "BOND INSURANCE" and "APPENDIX 
G - SPECIMEN MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE POLICY" herein. The Policy does nct insure the 
scheduled [BYment of pri nci [Bl of and interest on the Bands maturing on October 1 of the years 2018 and 
2019 (the "Uninsured Bonds"). 

Parity Debt 

No Existing Parity Debt. The City's has no presently Outstanding Parity Debt. 
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Additional Parity Debt. The City may incur additional obligations payable from and secured 0y the 
Net Revenues on parity with the Bonds. See "SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Additional Parity Debt'' 
herein. 

Subordinate Debt. Subject to certa n conditions set forth in the Indenture, the City may at any time 
incur revenue bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the City payable from Net Revenues 
subordinate to the payment of Debt Service on the Bands. 

Risk Factors 

The purchase of the Bands involves certa n risks. For a general discussion of certain special factors 
and considerations relevant to an investment in the Bonds, in addition to the other matters set forth herein, 
see "RI SK FACTORS" herein. The Bonds are not appropriate investments for investors who are not able to 
bear the associated risks. I nvestors should read the entire Official Statement to obtain information essential 
to the malki ng of an informed investment decision. 

Limited Obligations 

The Bonds represent a special, Ii mited obi igation of the City payable solely from and secured 0y a 
pl edge of Net Revenues derived 0y the City from the operations of the Water System and certa n funds and 
accounts held under the I ndenture. 

None of the properties of the City orthe Water System are subject to any mortgage or other lien for 
the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds, and neitherthe ful I faith and credit northe taxing power of the City, 
the County, the State, or any other political subdivision or agency of the State is pledged to the payment of 
the pri nci pal of or i nterest on the B ands. 

The issuance of the Bonds does not directly or indirectly obligate the City, the County, the State, or 
any other political subdivision or agency of the State to levy or pledge any form of taxation whatsoever orto 
malke any appropriation for payment of the Bonds. No person executing the Bonds is subject to any personal 
liability or accountability 0y reason of their issuance. For certain financial information with respect to the 
City and the Water System, see"THE CITY" and"THE WATER SYSTEM" herein. 

Continuing Disclosure 

The City wi 11 cCNenant forthe benefit of cwners of the B ands to prCNi de certai n fi nanci al i nformati on 
and operating data relating to the City's Water System by not later than the March 31 following the end of 
the City's fiscal year (which is currently June 30), commencing with the report for the fi seal year endedJ une 
30, 2017 (the "Annual Information"), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events. 
Such reports are recui red to be filed with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through its Electronic 
Municipal Market Access system ("EMMA"). 

The specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual Information or the notices of 
enumerated events is described in "APPENDIX C - FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
CERTIFICATE" attached to this Official Statement. These covenants have been made in order to assist the 
Underwriter in complying with Securities Exchange Commission Rule 15c2 12(b)(5) (the "Rule"). See 
"CONTINUING DISCLOSURE" herein. 
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Tax Matters 

Assuming compliance with certa n cCNenants and prCNisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 
as amended (the "Tax Code"), in the opinion of Bond Counsel, i nterestwith respect to the Bondswil I not be 
includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes although it may be includalble in the calculation 
for certain taxes. Also in the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds wi II be exempt from State of 
California (the "State'') personal income taxes. See "TAX MATTE RS" herein. 

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certan statements included or incorporated ~ reference in this Official Statement constitute 
"forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995, Section 21 E of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A 
of the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Such statements are generally identifialble ~ the 
terminology usecl such as "plan," "intend," "expect," "propose," "estimate," "project," "budget," "anticipate," 
or other similar words. The achievement of certan results or other expectations contained in such forward­
I ooki ng statements involves knewn and unknewn risks, uncerta nti es, and other factors that may cause the 
actual results, performance, or achievements described to be materially different from any future results, 
performance, or achievements expressed or implied ~ such forward-I ooki ng statements. 

No updates or revisions to these forward-looking statements are expected to be issued if or when the 
expectations, events, conditions, or circumstances on which such statements are based change. The forward-
1 ooki ng statements in this Official Statement are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual 
results to di ff er material I y from those expressed i n or i mpl i ed ~ such forward-I ooki ng statements. 

READERS ARE CAUTIONED NOT TO PLACE UNDUE RELIANCE ON SUCH FORWARD­
LOOKING STATEMENTS, WHICH SPEAK ONLY AS OF THE DATE HEREOF. 

Other Matters 

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Bonds. 
Furthermore, this Official Statement spealks only as of its date, and the information and expressions of 
opinions contained herein are subject to change without notice. Neither delivery of this Official Statement 
nor any sale of the Bands, under any circumstances, wi 11 create any i mpl i cation that there has been no change 
in the affairs of the City orthe Water System since the date of this Official Statement. 

Statements contained in this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of 
opinion, whether or not expressly so described herein, are intended solely as such and are not to be construed 
as representations of fact. The presentation of information, including the talbl e of receipts from taxes and other 
revenues, is intended to shew recent historic information and is not intended to indicate future or continuing 
trends in the financial or other affairs of the City. No representation is made that past experience, as it might 
be shewn ~ such financial and other information, wi 11 necessarily continue or be repeated in the future. 

The summaries of and references to documents, statutes, reports and other instruments referred to 
herein do not purport to be complete, comprehensive or definitive, and each such summary and reference is 
qualified in itsenti rety ~ reference to each document, statute, report or instrument. The capitalization of any 
word not conventi anally capitalized or otherwise defined herein indicates that such word is defined in a 
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particular agreerrent or other docurrent and, as used herein, has the rreani ng given it in such agreerrent or 
docurrent. See "APPENDIX A - SUM MARY OF INDENTURE" herein. 

The inforrration set forth herein, otherthan that pr0vided ~ the City, has been obta nedfrom official 
sources which are believed to be reliable but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness. This Official 
Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the Bonds referred to herein and rray not be reproduced 
or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. 

THE REFINANCING PLAN 

Refunding of the 2006 Bonds 

A portion of the Bond proceeds wi II be used to prepay the City's obligations under an I nstal lrrent 
Sal eAgreement dated as of October 1 , 2003 (the "2003 I nstal I rrent SaleAgreerrent''), between the City and 
the Fortuna Public Financing Authority (the "Authority"), under which the City is obligated to pay certan 
i nstal I rrent payrrents (the "2003 I nstal I rrent Payrrents") which are evidenced and represented ~ the 2003 
Bands, originally executed and delivered in the original principal amount of $8,085,00J ( of which $6, 530,00J 
is currently outstanding) under an Indenture of Trust dated as of October 1, 2003 (the "2003 Trust 
Agreerrent"), between the Authority and U.S. Bank Nati anal Association, as trustee (the" 2003 Trustee"). 
The 2003 Install rrent SaleAgreerrent is secured~ a lien on Net Revenues and currently has an outstanding 
principal balance of $6,530,00J. 

On the date of i ssuance of the B ands, a portion of the proceeds from the sale of the B ands, together 
with certan ether availalble moneys then on deposit in the funds and accounts estalblished under the 2003 
TrustAgreerrent and held~ the 2003 Trustee (collectively, the"E screw Proceeds"), will be delivered to the 
2003 Trustee, acting as escrew agent (the "Escrew Agent'') under that certain Escrew Deposit and Trust 
Agreerrent dated as of N0vember 1, 2017 (the "E screw Agreerrent"), ~ and between the Authority and the 
E screw A gent. 

The Escrew Agentwil I depositthe E screw Proceeds in accordance with the E screw Agreerrent in an 
irrevocable escrew account (the "E screw Account") for the benefit of the ewners of the 2003 Bonds, to be 
invested in any direct general obligations of the United States of Arrerica (including obi igations issued or 
held in book entry form on the books of the Departrrent of the Treasury of the United States of Arrerica), for 
which the ful I faith and credit of the United States of America are pledged (the "Refunding Securities"), pl us 
an amount held in cash, if any. 

The cash and Refunding Securities, together with earnings thereon, deposited in the E screw Account 
wi 11 be used to pay and prepay the 2003 I nstal I rrent Sale Agreerrent and the 2003 Bands in ful I through the 
prepayrrent date, at a prepayrrent price equal to 100'/o of the principal amountthereof together with interest 
accrued thereon to the scheduled prepayrrent date. 

Causey Demgen & Moore P.C., Denver, Colorado, (the "Verification Agent'') will verify that the 
Refunding Securities, together with the earnings thereon and any uni nvested cash held ~ the E screw Agent 
in the Escrew Account, wil I be sufficientto pay all of the principal, interest, and redemption premium, if any, 
coming due with respect to the 2003 Bonds on the Prepayment Date. See "VERIFICATION OF 
MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS" herein. 
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Urx:in such irrevocable derxisit with the Escrcw Agent and the receipt~ the Escrcw Agent of 
irrevocable escrcw instructions from the City under the Escrcw Agreement, all liability of the City with 
respect to the 2003 Installment Sale Agreement and the 2003 Bonds wil I be discharged as of the date of 
i ssuance of the B ands and the cwners of the 2003 B ands wi 11 no I anger be enti tied to the benefits of the I egal 
documents under which they were executed and delivered. Amounts on derxisit in the E screw Account are to 
be pledged solely to the prepayment of the 2003 Installment Sale Agreement and the 2003 Bonds, and will 
not be availal:Jeto pay Debt Service on the Bonds. 

Sources and Uses of Funds 

Table 1 sets forth the estimated sources and uses of funds relating to the issuance of the Bands. 

Table 1 
CITY OF FORTUNA 

SERIES 2017 WATER REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

Sources of Funds: 

Principal Amount of Bonds 
PI us A vai I able Funds Relating to the 2003 Bands 
Pl us Net Original Issue Premium 
Less Underwriter's Discount 

Total Sources 

Uses of Funds: 

Depositto Escrcw Account1 11 

Deposit to Costs of I ssuance F undl21 

Total Uses 

$5,405,00J.OO 
860,345.40 
532,741.80 
(34,620.00) 

$6,763,467.20 

$6,580,067.65 
183,399.55 

$6,763,467.20 

Ill Moneys in the Escrw Account established for the 20!Xi Bonds, which Escrw Account will be funded with Bond proceeds, together with 
certain other available rroneys then on deposit in the funds and accounts established under the 20!Xi Trust Agreerrent and held t,,, the 20CXi 
Trustee, will be used to call and redeem all of the outstanding 20CXi Bonds The Escrw Account will be held and administered t,,, the Escrw 
Agent See "THE REFINANCING PLAN - Refunding of the 20CXi Bonds" 

121 Moneys deposited in the Costs of Issuance Fund are expected to be used to pay the policy prerrium for the Policy and the Reserve Policy, the 
feesandexpensesof Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, Municipal Advisor, Trustee, Escrw Agent, Verification Agent and the rating agency, 
as well as printing and other miscellaneous costs and expenses in connection with the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds The Costs of 
Issuance Fund will be held and administered t,,, the Trustee. 

[ Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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Debt Service Requirements 

Table 2 sets forth the annual principal and interest on the Bonds (assuming no redemptions of the 
Bonds). 

Table 2 
CITY OF FORTUNA 

SERIES 2017 WATER REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS 

ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE 

Year Ending Tota 
October 1 Principal Interest Debt Service 

2018 $225,00J.OO $175,687.85 $400,687.85 
2019 195,00J.OO 205,625.00 400,625.00 
2020 200,00J.OO 201,725.00 401,725.00 
2021 210,00J.OO 193,725.00 403,725.00 
2022 220,00J.OO 185,325.00 405,325.00 
2023 225,00J.OO 176,525.00 401,525.00 
2024 240,00J.OO 165,275.00 405,275.00 
2025 250,00J.OO 153,275.00 403,275.00 
2026 265,00J.OO 140,775.00 405,775.00 
2027 275,00J.OO 127,525.00 402,525.00 
2028 290,00J.OO 113,775.00 403,775.00 
2029 305,00J.OO 99,275.00 404,275.00 
2030 320,00J.OO 87,075.00 407,075.00 
2031 335,00J.OO 74,275.00 409,275.00 
2032 345,00J.OO 60,875.00 405,875.00 
2033 360,00J.OO 47,075.00 407,075.00 
2034 370,00J.OO 36,275.00 406,275.00 
2035 380,00J.OO 24,712.50 404,712.50 
2036 395,00J.OO 12,837.50 407,837.50 

Totals $5,405,00J.OO $2,281,637.85 $7,686,637.85 

Source: The Underwriter. 
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THE BONDS 

Authority for Issuance 

The Bands are being issued pursuant to the Bond Law, the R esol uti on and the I ndenture. 

General Description 

Fully Registered Bands in Book-Entry Only Form. The Bondswi II be issued as one fully registered 
bond certificate without coupons for each maturity (unless the Bonds of such maturity bear different interest 
rates, then one Bond for each interest rate annong such maturity) and, when issued, wi 11 be initially issued in 
book-entry only form, registered in the nanne of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, 
New York, New York ("DTC"). Individual purchases may be made in book-entry form only, in integral 
multi pies of $5,00J. 

Purchasers wi 11 not receive certificates representing their interest in the Bands purchased. Principal 
and interest wi II be paid to DTC, which will in turn remit such principal and interest to its participants for 
subsecuent disbursement to the beneficial cwners of the Bonds. So long as DTC's book-entry system is in 
effect with respect to the Bonds, notices to Owners of the Bonds~ the City or the Trustee wil I be sent to 
DTC. Notices and communication~ DTC to its participants, and then to the beneficial cwners of the Bonds, 
wi 11 be g0verned ~ arrangements among them, subject to then effective statutory or regulatory recui rements. 
See"APPENDIX F - INFORMATION REGARDING THE BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM" herein. 

In the event (a) DTC determines not to continue to act as securities depository for the Bands, or (b) 
the City determines that the DTC wil I no longer so act, then the City wil I discontinue the book-entry system 
with DTC. If the City fails to identify another qualified securities depository to replace DTC, then the Bonds 
so designated wi 11 no I anger be restricted to being registered in the registration books kept ~ the Trustee in 
the name of Cede & Co., but wi 11 be registered in whatever nanne or names persons transferring or exchanging 
Bands wi 11 designate, in accordance with the pr0vi si ons of the I ndenture. 

Repayment of the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued in denominations of $5,00J or any integral 
multi pie thereof, andwil I be dated the date of delivery thereof and will mature on October 1 in the years and 
in the announts set forth on the inside c0ver page hereof. I nterest on the Bands is payalbl e semi annually from 
their dated date atthe rates set forth on the inside c0ver page hereof, on Apri I 1 and October 1 of each year 
(each, an "Interest Payment Date''), commencing April 1, 2018, ~ check mailed~ the Trustee on each 
Interest Payment Date to the person whose name appears in the registration books kept~ the Trustee as the 
registered cwner thereof as of the close of business on the fifteenth calendar day of the month immediately 
preceding an interest payment date (a "Record Date''); pr0vided, hcwever, that payment of interest may be 
~ wire transfer in immediately availalble funds to an account in the United States of America to any Owner 
of Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $1,00J,OOJ or more. Interest on the Bondswill be calculated 
based on a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.While the Bonds are subject to the book-entry 
system, the principal and interest with respect to the Bondswi II be paid~ the Trustee to DTC for subsecuent 
disbursementto beneficial cwnersofthe Bonds. See"APPENDIX F - INFORMATION REGARDING THE 
BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM" herein. 

9 



Transfer or Exchange of the Bonds. Any Bond may, in accordance with its terms, te transferred on 
the Registration Books Dr' the person in whose name it is registered, in person or Dr' his duly authorized 
attorney, upon surrender of such Bond for cancellation, accompanied Dr' delivery of a written instrument of 
transfer, duly executed in a form appr0ved Dr' the Trustee. Tran sf er of any Bond wi 11 not te permitted Dr' the 
Trustee during the period established Dr' the Trustee for selection of Bands for redemption or if such Bond 
has teen selected for redemption pursuant to the I ndenture. Whenever any Bond or Bands wi 11 te surrendered 
for transfer, the City will execute and the Trustee will authenticate and deliver a new Bond or Bonds for a 
like aggregate principa amount and of like maturity. The Trustee will recuire the Bond Owner recuesting 
such transfer to pay any tax or other g0vernmenta charge recui red tote pad with respect to such transfer. If 
a Bond is muti I ated, I ost, stolen or destr0yed, the Trustee, at the expense of the Owner of such Bond, wi 11 
authenticate, subject to the pr0vi si ons of the I ndenture, a new Bond of Ii ke tenor and annount. In the case of 
a I ost, stolen or destr0yed Bond, the Trustee may recui re that an indemnity te furnished and payment of an 
appropriate fee for each new Bond delivered in replacement of such Bond, and the City may recuire payment 
of the expenses of the City and the Trustee incurred in connection therewith. 

Optional Redemption of Bonds 

The Bonds maturing on or tefore Octoter 1, 2027, are not subject to optional redemption prior to 
their respective stated maturities. The Bands maturing on or after Octoter 1, 2028, are subject to redemption 
i n whol e or i n part i n i ntegral multi pl es of $5,000, Dr' such maturities as are selected Dr' the City ( or, if the 
City fail sto designate such maturities, then pro rataannong maturities), and Dr' lotwithi n a maturity, from any 
source of available funds, on any date on or afterOctoter 1, 2027, at a redemption price equal to the principa 
annount of the Bands to te redeemed, pl us accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption. 

Selection of Bonds for Redemption 

Whenever pr0vi si on is made in the I ndenture for the redemption of I ess than al I of the Bands of a 
single maturity, the Trustee will select the Bonds of that maturity tote redeemed Dr' lot in any manner which 
the Trustee in its sole discretion deems appropriate. For purposes of such selection, the Trusteewi II treat each 
Bond as consisting of separate $5,000 portions and each such portion wil I te subject to redemption as if such 
portion were a separate B ond. 

Partial Redemption of Bonds 

In the event only a portion of any Bond is cal led for redemption, then upon surrender of such Bond 
the City wi 11 execute and the Trustee wi 11 authenticate and del iverto the Ownerthereof, atthe expense of the 
City, a new Bond or Bonds of authorized denominations in aggregate principal amount ecual to the 
unredeemed portion of the Bond surrendered. 

Notice of Redemption; Rescission 

The Trustee wi 11 mai I notice of redemption of the Bands Dr' first cl ass mai I, postage prepaid, not I ess 
than 30 nor more than 60 days tefore any redemption date, to the respective Owners of any Bands designated 
for redemption at their addresses appearing on the Registration Books and to one or more Securities 
Depositories and to the I nformati on Services. 
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Each noti ce of recempti on wi 11 state the date of the notice, the redempti on date, the pl ace or pl aces 
of redemption, whether I ess than al I of the Bands ( or al I Bands of a single maturity) are to be receemec, the 
CUSIP numbers and (in the event that not all Bonds within a maturity are callee for recemption) Bond 
numbers of the Bonds to be receemec and the maturity or maturities of the Bonds to be redeemec, and in the 
case of Bonds to be receemec in part only, the respective portions of the principal annount thereof to be 
redeemec. 

Each such notice wi 11 al so state that on the recempti on date there wi 11 become due and payable on 
each of sad B ands the recempti on price thereof, and that from and after such redempti on date i nterest thereon 
wi 11 cease to accrue, and wi 11 require that such Bands be then surrenderec. Neither the fai I ure to receive any 
notice nor any defect therein wi 11 affect the sufficiency of the proceeci ngs for such redemption or the cessation 
of accrual of interest from and after the recempti on date. Notice of recempti on of Bands wi 11 be given ~ the 
Trustee, at the expense of the City, for and on behalf of the City. 

The City has the right to rescind any notice of the optional recemption of Bonds~ written notice to 
the Trustee on or priortothe date fixed for recemption. Any notice of optional recemption may pr0vide that 
it is subject to rescission as described in this paragraph. Any notice of recemption will be cancelled and 
annul lee if for any reason funds will not be or are not available on the date fixed for recemption for the 
payment in ful I of the Bands then cal I ec for recempti on, and such cancel I ati on wi 11 not constitute an Event of 
Default. The City and the Trustee have no Liability to the Bond Owners or any other party relatectoor arising 
from such rescission of recempti on. The Trustee wi 11 mai I notice of such rescission of recempti on in the sanne 
manner as the original notice of recempti on was sent under the Indenture. 

Effect of Redemption 

Notice of redemption having been duly given, and moneys for payment of the recemption price of, 
together with interest accruec to the date fixec for recemption on, including any applicable premium, the 
Bands ( or portions thereof) so cal I ec for recempti on being held ~ the Trustee, on the recempti on date 
designated in such notice, the Bands ( or portions thereof) so cal I ec for recempti on wi 11 become due and 
payable, interest on the Bands so cal I ec for redemption wi 11 cease to accrue, sad Bands ( or portions thereof) 
wi II cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under the Indenture, and the Owners of sad Bonds will 
have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the recemption price thereof. 

BOND INSURANCE 

The fol I cwi ng information has been furni shec ~ the I nsurer for use in this Off ci al Statement. Such 
information has not been independently confi rmec or verifiec ~ the City. The City makes no representation 
as to the accuracy or adequacy of such information or as to the absence of material adverse changes in such 
information subsequent to the date hereof. Reference is made to Appendix G for a speci rren of the municipal 
bond insurance policy. 

Bond Insurance Policy 

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (the "Insurer" or 
"AGM") will issue its Municipal Bond Insurance Policy for the I nsurec Bands (the "Policy"). The Policy 
guarantees the schecul ec payment of principal of and interest on the I nsurec Bands when due as set forth in 
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the form of the Policy included as an Appendix G to this Official Statement. The Policy does not insure 
scheduled payments of principal of and interest on the Uninsured Bands 

The Policy is not cCNered ~ any insurance security or guaranty fund established under NBN York, 
California, Connecticut or Florida insurance law. 

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. 

AGM is a NBN York domiciled financial guaranty insurance company and an indirect subsidiary of 
Assured Guaranty Ltd. ("AGL"), a Bermuda-based holding company whose shares are publicly traded and 
are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "AGO". AGL, through its operating 
subsi diaries, prCNi des credit enhancement products to the U.S. and global public finance, infrastructure and 
structured fi nance markets. Neither AG L nor any of its sharehol ders or affi I i ates, otherthan AG M , i s obi i gated 
to pay any debts of AGM or any claims under any insurance policy issued~ AGM. 

AGM's financial strength is rated "AA" (stable outlook) by S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of 
Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC ("S&P"), "AA+" (stable outlook) by Kroll Bond Rating Agency, 
Inc. ("KBRA") and "A2" (stable outlook) by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's"). Each rating of 
AGM should be evaluated independently. An explanation of the significance of the aibCNe ratings may be 
obtained from the applicaible rating agency. The aibCNe ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold 
any security, and such ratings are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time~ the rating agencies, 
including withdrawal initiated atthe recuest of AGM in its sole discretion. In addition, the rating agencies 
may at any time change AG M's long-term rating outlooks or place such ratings on a watch list for possible 
dcwngrade in the near term. Any dcwnward revision or withdrawal of any of the abCNe ratings, the assignment 
of a negative outlook to such ratings or the placement of such ratings on a negative watch Ii st may have an 
adverse effect on the market price of any security guaranteed~ AGM. AGM only guarantees scheduled 
principal and scheduled interest payments payaible ~ the issuer of bonds insured~ AGM on the date(s) 
when such announts were initially scheduled to become due and payaible (subject to and in accordance with 
the terms of the relevant insurance policy), and does not guarantee the market price or liquidity of the 
securities it insures, nor does it guarantee that the ratings on such securitieswi 11 not be revised or withdrawn. 

Current Financial Strength Ratings 

On June 26, 2017, S&P issued a research update report in which it affirmed AGM's financial strength 
rating of "AA" (stable outlook). AGM can give no assurance as to any further ratings action that S&P may 
talke. 

On December 14, 2016, KBRA issued a financial guaranty surveillance report in which it affirmed 
AG M's insurance financial strength rating of"AA+" (stable outlook). AGM can give no assurance as to any 
further rati ngsaction that KB RA may talke. 

On August 8, 2016, Moody's published a credit opinion affirming its existing insurance financial 
strength rating of"A2" (stable outlook) on AGM. AGM can give no assurance as to any further ratings action 
that Moody's may take. 
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For rmre i nforrmti on regarding AGM 's financial strength ratings and the risks relating thereto, see 
AG L's Annual Report on Form 10--K forthe fi seal year ended December 31, 2016. 

Capitalization of AG M 

AtJ une 30, 2017 

• The policyholders' surplus of AGM was approximately $2,222 million. 

• The contingency reserves of AGM and its indirect subsidiary Municipal Assurance Corp. 
("MAC") (as described below) were approximately $1,289 million. Such amount includes 
100% of AG M's contingency reserve and 60.7% ofMAC's contingency reserve. 

• The net unearned premium reserves of AGM and its subsidiaries (as described belcw) were 
approximately $1,699 mill ion. Such annount includes (i) 100'/o of the net unearned premium 
reserves of AGM and AGM's wholly owned subsidiaries Assured Guaranty (Europe) plc, 
Assured Guaranty (UK) pie, CIFG Europe S.A. and Assured Guaranty (London) pie 
(together, the "AGM European Subsidiaries") and (ii) 60.7% of the net unearned premium 
reserve of MAC. 

The policyholders' surplus of AGM and the contingency reserves and net unearned premium reserves 
of AGM and MAC were determined in accordance with statutory accounting principles. The net unearned 
premium reserves of the AGM European Subsidiaries were determined in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America 

I ncorporati on of Certain Documents ~ Reference 

Portions of the follcwing documents filed~ AGL with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(the "SEC") that relate to AGM are incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and shal I be deemed 
to be a part hereof: 

(i) the Annual Report on Form 10--K forthefi seal year ended December 31, 2016 (filed~ AGL 
with the SEC on February 24, 2017); 

(ii) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 forthe quarterly period ended March 31, 2017 (filed~ 
AGL with the SEC on May 5, 2017); and 

(iii) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forthe quarterly period endedJ une 30, 2017 (filed~ 
AGL with the SEC on August 3, 2017). 

Al I consolidated financial statements of AGM and all other information relating to AGM included 
in, or asexhibitsto, documents filed~ AGL with the SEC pursuanttoSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, excluding Current Reports or portions thereof "furnished" under Item 
2.02 or I tern 7.01 of Form 8-K, after the fi Ii ng of the I ast document referred to alxNe and before the 
termination of the offering of the I nsured Bands shal I be deemed incorporated ~ reference into this Official 
Statement and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of fi Ii ng such documents. Copies of rmteri al s 
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incorporated by reference are available over the internet at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov, at AGL 's 
website at http: / ;WWW. assuredguaranty. com, or wi 11 be pr0vi ded upon request to Assured G uaranty M uni ci pa 
Corp.: 1633 Broadway, New York, New York 10019, Attention: Communications Department (telephone 
(212) 974-0100). 

Except for the information referred to above, no information available on or through AG L's website 
shal I be deemed to be [Brt of or incorporated in this Official Statement. 

Any information regarding AGM included herein under the caption "BOND INSURANCE-Assured 
Guaranty Munici[BI Corp." or included in a document incorporated by reference herein (collectively, the 
"AGM Information") shall be modified or superseded to the extent that any subsequently included AGM 
Information (either directly or through incorporation Dr' reference) modifies or supersedes such previously 
included AGM Information. Any AGM Information so modified or superseded shall not constitute a part of 
this Official Statement, except as so modified or superseded. 

Mi scel I aneous Matters 

AG M malkes no representation regarding the Bands or the aclvi salbi I ity of investing in the Bands. In 
addition, AGM has not independently verified, malkes no representation regarding, and does not accept any 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or disclosure 
contained herein, or omitted herefrom, otherthan with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding 
AGM supplied by AGM and presented under the heading "BOND INSURANCE." 

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS 

Limited Obligations 

THE BONDS REPRESENT A SPECIAL, LIMITED OBLIGATION OF THE CITY PAYABLE 
SOLELY FROM AND SECURED BY A PLEDGE OF THE NET REVENUES DERIVED BY THE CITY 
FROM THE OPERATIONS OF THE WATER SYSTEM AND CERTAIN FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS HELD 
UNDER THE INDENTURE. NONE OF THE PROPERTIES OF THE CITY OR WATER SYSTEM ARE 
SUBJECT TO ANY MORTGAGE OR OTHER LIEN FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE OWNERS OF THE 
BONDS, AND NEITHER THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE CITY, 
THE COUNTY, THE STATE, OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY OF THE STATE 
IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS. THE 
ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS DOES NOT DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OBLIGATE THE CITY, THE 
COUNTY, THE STATE, OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY OF THE STATE TO 
LEVY OR PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION WHATSOEVER OR TO MAKE ANY APPROPRIATION 
FOR PAYMENT OF THE BONDS. 

Pledge of Net Revenues 

U nderthe I ndenture, the City wi 11 transfer and assign to the Trustee, for the benefit of the Owners, 
that portion of the Net Revenues which is necessary to pay the pri ncipa or Redemption Price of and interest 
on the Bonds in any Fiscal Year, together with all moneys on deposit in the Debt Service Fund, and such 
portion of the Net Revenues is i rrevocalbly pl edged to the punctual [Byment of the pri nci pa or Redemption 
Price of and interest on the Bands. 
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The Net Revenues constitute a trustfundforthe security and payrrent of the princi pa or Redemption 
Price of and interest on the Bands, and may not te used for any other purpose whi I e any of the Bands rema n 
Outstanding, except that out of Net Revenues there may te apportioned and pad such sums for such purposes, 
as are expressly permitted~ the Indenture. This pledge constitutes a first, direct and exclusive charge and 
Ii en on the Net Revenues for the payrrent of the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bands 
and other Parity Debt in accordance with the terms thereof. The Bonds are not secured~ a direct I ien on the 
Water System or any other property of the City. 

Net Revenues. The Indenture defines "Net Revenues'' as, for any period of computation, the amount 
of the Gross Revenues received from the Water System during such period, I ess the amount of Maintenance 
and Operation Costs of the Water System tecomi ng payable during such period. 

Gross Revenues. The I ndenture defines "Gross Revenues'' as al I gross i ncorre, rents, rates, fees, 
charges and other moneys derived from the cwnership or operation of the Water System calculated in 
accordance with GAAP and deposited in the Water Revenue Fund, including, without Ii mi ting the generality 
of the foregoing, ( 1) al I i ncorre, rents, rates, fees (including but not Ii mited to any developer impact fees to 
the extent permitted ~ I aw), charges, business interruption insurance proceeds or other moneys derived ~ 
the City from the sale, furnishing and supplying of water or other services, facilities, and commodities sold, 
furnished or supplied through the facilities of or in the conduct or operation of the business of the Water 
System, pl us (2) the earnings on and i ncorre derived from the i nvestrrent of such income, rents, rates, fees, 
charges, or other moneys, including amounts in the Rate Stalbi lization Fund and City Water System reserves, 
plus (3) the proceeds of any stand-by or water availalbi lity charges collected~ the City, plus (4) all amounts 
transferred from the Rate Stalbil ization FundtotheW ater Revenue Fund during any Fiscal Year in accordance 
with the Indenture hereof, and (5) all other monies hcwsoever derived~ the City from the operation of the 
Water System or arising from the Water System; but excluding (i) custorrer deposits or any other deposits or 
advances subject to refund unti I such deposits or advances have tecorre the property of the City, (ii) any 
proceedsoftaxesrestricted ~ law tote used~ the City to pay the Bonds or Parity Debt and (iii) any amounts 
transferred from the Water Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund during any Fiscal Year pursuantto 
the I ndenture. 

Maintenance and Operation Costs. The Indenture defines "Maintenance and Operation Costs'' as 
the reasonalbl e and necessary costs spent or incurred for ma ntenance and operation of the Water System 
calculated in accordance with GAAP, including (among other things) the reasonalble and necessary expenses 
of managerrent and repa r and other expenses necessary to ma ntai n and preserve the Water System in good 
repa r and working order, including, but not Ii mi ted to, salaries and wages of empl 0yees, payrrents to the 
Public Empl0yees Retirerrent System, 0verhead, insurance, taxes (if any), fees of auditors, accountants, 
attorneys, consultants or engineers and insurance premi urns, and including al I other reasonalbl e and necessary 
costs of the City or charges, but excluding (i) transfers to other City departments, (ii) debt service payrrents 
or other similar payrrents on the Parity Debt or other obi igations recui red tote paid~ itto comply with the 
terms of the I ndenture or any contract or resolution or indenture authorizing the issuance of any bonds or 
obligations, and (iii) depreciation, replacerrent and obsolescence charges or reserves therefor and 
amortization of i ntangi bl es or other bookkeeping entries of a si mi I ar nature. 

I n order to carry out and effectuate the pl edge, charge and Ii en on Net Revenues pr0vi ded in the 
Indenture, the City agrees and c0venants in the I ndenture that al I Net Revenues wi 11 te promptly deposited 
~ the Trustee upon receipt thereof in the Debt Service Fund created under the I ndenture, which the Trustee 
wi 11 estalbl i sh, ma ntai n and hold in trust; except that al I moneys received ~ the Trustee and recui red under 
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the Indenture to be derxisited in the Redemption Account will be promptly derxisited in such Account. All 
Net Revenues wi II be accounted for through and held in trust in the Debt Service Fund, and the City has no 
beneficial right or interest in any of the Net Revenues except only as prCNi ded in the I ndenture. 

In the Indenture, the City c0venants that, so long as any Bonds are Outstanding, the City will not 
issue or incur any obi i gati ons payable from Gross Revenues or Net Revenues superior to the payment of the 
debt service on the Bonds or Parity Debt. The City is authorized to issue additional Parity Debt secured~ 
Net Revenues with a lien on a parity basis with the lien of the Bonds, pr0vided it complies with certain 
pr0visions in the Indenture. See"- Issuance of Additional Debt'' belcw. The District is also authorized to 
issue Subordinate Obligations secured~ Net Revenues. 

Receipt and Deposit of Gross Revenues 

Under the Indenture, the City c0venants and agrees that al I Gross Revenues, when and as received, 
will be received and held~ the City in trust and will be derxisited ~ the City in a Water Revenue Fund to 
be estalbl ished and held~ the City, and will be accounted forthrough and held in trust in the Water Revenue 
Fund, and the City will only have such beneficial right or interest in any of such money as pr0vided in the 
Indenture. All such Gross Revenues wil I be transferred, disbursed, allocated and applied solely to the uses 
and purrxises set forth in the Indenture, and wi 11 be accounted for separately and apart from al I other money, 
funds, accounts or other resources of the City. 

Allocation of Gross Revenues 

Underthe Indenture, all Gross Revenues will be held in trust~ the Finance Director in the Water 
Revenue Fund and wi II be applied, transferred, used and withdrawn only for the purrxises set forth belcw. 

(a) Operating Costs. The Finance Di rectorwi II first pay from the moneys in the Water Revenue 
Fund the Maintenance and Operation Costs as such costs become due and payable. 

(b) Debt Service Fund. On or before the second Business Day prior to each I nterest Payment 
Date, the Finance Directorwi II transfer from the Water Revenue Fund to the Trustee for derxisit in the Debt 
Service Fund (i) an amount equal to the aggregate annount of interest to become due and payalble on all 
Outstanding Bands on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, pl us (ii) an amount equal to the aggregate 
annount of Principal I nstal I ments becoming due and payalbl eon al I Outstanding Bands on the next succeeding 
Principal Payment Date. All interest earnings and profits or losses on the investment of announts in the Debt 
Service Fund wil I be derxisited in or charged to the Debt Service Fund and applied to the purrxises thereof. 
No transfer and derxisit need be made i ntothe Debt Service Fund if the amount contained therein, taking into 
account investment earnings and profits, isat least equal to the Interest Requirement or Principal Installments 
to become due on the next Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment Date urxin al I Outstanding Bands. 

( c) Debt Service Funds for Future Parity Debt. On or before the second Business Day pri orto 
each Interest Payment Date, the Finance Directorwill cause to be transferred from the Water Revenue Fund 
to the Trustee ( or other party as appropriate relative to each Parity Debt) for derxisi t in the debt service fund 
created for each issue of Parity Debt (or if no debt service fund was created for an issue of Parity Debt, 
otherwise set-aside forthe payment of Parity Debt) (i) an annount equal to the aggregate annount of interest to 
become due and payalble on al I Outstanding Parity Debt on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date (or, as 
to Parity Debt with annual interest payments, for a6-rmnth period), pl us(ii) an amount equal to the aggregate 
annount of Principal Installments (including any sinking fund installments) becoming due and payable on al I 
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Outstanding Parity Debt on the next succeeding Principal Payrrent Date. 

All interest earnings and p-ofits or losses on the investment of amounts in the Debt Service Fund 
shal I be derxisited in or charged to the Debt Service Fund and applied to the purrxises thereof. No transfer 
and derx:isit need be made into the Debt Service Fund if the amount conta ned therein, taking into account 
i nvestrrent earnings and profits, is at I east ecual to the I nterest Requirement or Principal I nstal I rrents to 
become due on the next Interest Payrrent Date or Principal Payment Date urxin al I Outstanding Parity Debt. 

( d) Reserve Accounts. After making the payments, al I ocati ons and transfers pr0vi ded for in 
subsections (a), (b) and (c) albClve, if the balance on hand in the Reserve Fund for the Bonds or a reserve 
account for any issue of Parity Debt is less than the Reserve Requirement or the reserve recuirement 
appl i calbl e to such Parity Debt, such deficiency ( or payment due to the pr0vi der of a reserve rx:il icy or surety) 
shal I be restored ~ transfers from the first moneys which become avai I albl e in the Water Revenue Fund to 
the appropriate party to replenish the Reserve Fund, repay the pr0vider of a reserve rx:ilicy or surety, orto 
satisfy a reserve recui rerrent established for any issue of Parity Debt, on a pro rata basis. 

(e) Surplus. As long as al I of the foregoing payrrents, allocations and transfers are made at the 
times and in the manner set forth albClve in subsections (a) to (d), inclusive, any moneys remaining in the 
Water Revenue Fund may at any ti rre be treated as surplus and applied for any I awful purrxise. 

Application of Debt Service Fund 

Underthe Indenture, the Trusteewil I allocate amounts in the Debt Service Fund as follcws: 

(a) The Trustee wi 11 withdraw from the Debt Service Fund, priorto each Interest Payrrent Date, 
an amount ecual to the Interest Recui rerrent payalble on such Interest Payment Date, andwi II cause the same 
to be applied to the payrrent of said interest when due and is here~ authorized to apply the same to the 
payrrent of such interest. 

(b) The Trustee will withdraw from the Debt Service Fund, prior to each Principal Payrrent 
Date, an annount ecual to the principal annount due on said Principal Payrrent Date, and will cause the sarre 
to be applied to the payrrent of the principal. 

(c) Al I withdrawals and transfers underthe pr0visions of subparagraphs (a) or (b) albClvewi II be 
made not earlier than one ( 1) day prior to the I nterest Payrrent Date or Principal Payrrent Date to which they 
rel ate, and the amount so withdrawn or transferred wi 11, for the purrxises of the I ndenture, be deemed to 
remain in and be part of the appropriate Account until such Interest Payrrent Date or Principal Payrrent Date. 

Application of Reserve Fund 

I n order to further secure the payment of principal of and interest on the Bands, the Trustee wi 11 
establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate fund designated as the "Reserve Fund" into which the Trustee 
wi 11 derxisit the Reserve Policy in an annount equal to the Reserve Requirement. "Reserve Requirement" is 
defined in the I ndenture to mean $432,875. 

Transfers to Pay Debt Service on Bonds. The Reserve Policy will be used~ the Trustee for the 
purrxise of paying principal of or interest on the Bands when due and payable to the extent that moneys 
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deposited in the Debt Service Fund are not sufficient for such purpose. The Trusteewil I draw on the Reserve 
Pol icy in accordance with its terms and conditions and the terms of the Indenture. 

The amounts avai I able underthe Reserve Pol icy wi II be used and withdrawn ~ the Trustee solely 
for the purpose of making transfers to the Debt Service Fund for payment of the Bands (and not any Parity 
Debt), in the event of any deficiency at any time in such fund. The City is recuired to repay from Net 
Revenues, as avai I able, any draws under the Reserve Policy and pay al I related reasonable expenses incurred 
~ the I nsurer. 

The City wi II have no obi igation to replace the Reserve Pol icy ortofund the Reserve Fund with cash 
or any other security if, at any time that the Bonds are Outstanding, amounts are not available under the 
Reserve Policy. 

Rate Stabilization Fund 

Under the Indenture, the City has the right (but not the obligation) at any time to establish a 
stabilization fund (the "Rate Stabilization Fund'') to be held ~ it and administered in accordance with the 
Indenture forthe purpose of stabilizing the rates and charges imposed~ the City with respect to the Water 
System. From time to time the City may deposit amounts in the Rate Stabilization Fund, from any source of 
legally avai I able funds, including but not Ii mited to Net Revenues which are released from the pledge and 
lien which securestheBondsandany Parity Debt, as the City may determine. 

The City may, but is not be required to, withdraw from any amounts on deposit in the Rate 
Stabilization Fund and deposit such announts in the Water Revenue Fund in any fiscal yearforthe purpose of 
paying Debt Service coming due and payable in such Fiscal Year. Amounts so transferred from the Rate 
Stabilization Fund to the Water Revenue Fund wil I constitute Gross Revenues for such fi seal year in which 
drawn ( except as otherwise pr0vi ded in the I ndenture), and wi 11 be applied for the purposes of the Water 
Revenue Fund. Amounts on deposit in the Rate Stab lization Fund are not pledged to and do not secure the 
Bonds or any Parity Debt. 

The City may at any time withdraw any or all announts on deposit in a Rate Stabilization Fund and 
apply such amounts for any lawful purposes of the City. There will be no baance in the Rate Stabilization 
Fund at the time of Closing. 

Rate Covenant 

Underthe Indenture, the City will, to the extent permitted~ law, fix, prescribe and collect rates, fees 
and charges for the Water System which wi 11 be at I east sufficient to yield Net Revenues ecual to one hundred 
twenty twenty-five (125%) of Debt Service coming due and payable during such Fiscal Year. The City may 
make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may make such classification thereof as it 
deems necessary, butwi II not reduce the rates and charges then in effect unless the Net Revenues from such 
reduced rates and charges wi 11 at al I ti mes be sufficient to meet the requirements of the I ndenture. 

For the purpose of computing the amount of Gross Revenues for any Fi seal Year or the amount of 
Net Revenues for any Fiscal Year for purposes of the preceding paragraph, the City will be permitted to 
transfer amounts on deposit in the Rate Stabilization Fund for purposes of such computation, such transfers 
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rray be made unti I (but not after) one hundred twenty ( 120) days afterthe end of such Fi sea Year. 

No Outstanding Parity Debt 

The City has no Outstanding Parity Debt that is payable from Net Revenues on parity with the Bands. 

Issuance of Parity Debt 

In addition to the Bonds, the City rray at any time issue or incur additional Parity Debt under 
applicalble law which is payalble from the Net Revenues on parity with the payments~ the City under the 
Indenture; pr0vided that the Net Revenues (excluding any amounts transferred from a Rate Stalbilization 
Fund) for the Fi sea Year or any consecutive 12-month period in the 18 months next preceding the date of the 
adoption~ the City of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such Parity Debt orthe execution of such 
Parity Debt, as the case rray be, as evidenced~ a calculation prepared~ the City upon which the Trustee 
rray conclusively rely; plus an allcwance for Net Revenues that would have been derived from any increase 
in the rates and charges fixed and prescribed for the Water System which was enacted prior to the issuance 
or the execution of such Parity Debt, as the case may be, but which, during al I or any part of sad Fi seal Year 
or 12-month period, was not in effect, in an annount ecual totheesti mated additional Net Revenuesthatwould 
have been derived from such increase in rates and charges if it had been in effect prior to the beginning of 
sad Fi sea Year or 12-month period, as shewn~ the Certificate of an Authorized Representative of the City 
wi II have produced an amount ecual to at least the sum of 125% of Maxi mum Annual Debt Service on the 
Bands and al I Parity Debt outstanding after the issuance of such Parity Debt. 

Furthermore, in order to issue such Parity Debt, the City may not be in default with respect to its 
obligations under the Indenture or any Parity Debt Instruments. 

Subordinate Debt 

Nothing in the Indenture prohibits or impars the authority of the City to issue bonds or other 
obi i gati ons secured ~ a Ii en on Net Revenues that is subordinate to the Ii en estalbl i shed under the I ndenture, 
upon such terms and in such principal amounts as the City rray determine. 

Eminent Domain Proceeds 

If al I or any part of the Water System is taken ~ eminent domain proceedings, the Net Proceeds 
realized~ the City therefrom will be deposited~ the City with the Trustee in a special fund in trust and 
applied~ the City to the cost of acquiring or constructing or financing I mpr0vements to the Water System. 

Insurance 

The City c0venants under the Indenture that it wi 11 at al I ti mes maintain such insurance on the Water 
System as is customarily maintained with respect to works and properties of Ii ke character against accident 
to, I oss of or damage to such works or properties. If any useful part of the Water System is dannaged or 
destr0yed, such part wi 11 be restored to use. The Net Proceeds of insurance against accident to or destruction 
of the physical Water System wi 11 be used for repa ring or rebui I ding the damaged or destr0yed portions of 
the Water System. 
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Any such insurance will be in the form of policies or contracts for insurance with insurers of gooc 
standing and shall be payable to the City, or rray be in the form of self-insurance~ the City. The City will 
establish such fund or funds or reserves as it determines, in its sole judgment, are necessary to pr0videfor its 
share of any such self-insurance. 

Limited Obligation 

The Net Revenues constitute a trustfundforthe security and payment of the princi pa or Redemption 
Price of and interest on the Bonds. The general fund of the City is not liable and the credit or taxing pcwer of 
the City is nct pledged forthe payment of the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds. 
The Owner of the Bands rray not compel the exercise of the taxing pcwer ~ the City orthe forfeiture of its 
property. The pri ncipa or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds are not a debt of the City, nor a 
legal or ecuitable pledge, charge, lien or encumbrance, upon any of its property, or upon any of its income, 
receipts, or revenues except the Net Revenues. 

THE CITY 

General 

The City encompasses approximately five scuare miles and is located in Humboldt County (the 
"County"), approximately 18 miles south of Eureka and 250 miles north of San Francisco on U.S. Highway 
1 O 1. The City was i ncorporated on February 20, 1 9:Xi as a general I aw city, and becanne a charter city i n 19%. 
The City's fiscal year begins onJ uly 1 and endsJ une 30 of the follcwingyear. The City is a full-service city, 
and with an average of 73 full and part-time personnel, pr0videswater and wastewater utility services, public 
safety, street maintenance, land use and building regulation, transit, recreational and park services. See 
"APPENDIX D- GENERAL INFORMATION REGARD! NG THE CITY AND SURROUND! NG AREA" 
herein. 

Governance and Management 

The City has a Counci I ;Manager form of municipa g0vernment. The City Council is comprised of 
five elected council members served~ a full-time City Manager and staff. Council members are elected at­
large for staggered four-year terms. Biennially, the Mayor and Mayor Pro Tempore are selected~ the City 
Council to serve 2-year terms. The City Manager is appointed~ the City Council and is responsible for 
administration of City affairs, day-to-day operations and implementation of City Council policies. The current 
Mayor, Mayor Pro Tempore and City Counci I members and their respective titles and ending terms of office 
are as fol I cws: 

Name 
Sue Long 
Tami Trent 
Doug Strehl 
TiaraBrcwn 
Dean Glaser 

Title 
Mayor 
MayorProTem 
Council Member 
Council Member 
Council Member 
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N0vember 2018 
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Fol lcwi ng are biographies of certain City staff: 

MARK WHEETLEY; City Manager. Mr. Wheetley is the mw City Manager for the City. His 
background and work experience includes a 30-year career in state and local g0vernrrentwith the California 
Natural Resources Agency, the California Coastal Conservancy, and the California Coastal Cornrnission on 
a wide range of watershed restoration, cornrnunity land use and coastal rranagerrent issues. Most recently, 
he worked as a Senior E nvironrrental Scientist Special istwith the CA Department of Fi sh & Wildlife Coastal 
Fisheries Program. Mr. Wheetley al so served on the Arcata City Counci I for 12 years (2005-17) including 
three terrns as rnayor, and represented the Red.vood Empire Division for 6years on the League of California 
Cities Board of Di rectors. Mr.Wheetley has chaired both the League's Environmental Policy Cornrnittee and 
the Coastal Cities Issues Group. He was a G0vernor appointee to the CA Sei srnic Safety Cornrni ssion. 

AARON FELMLEE; Finance Director. Mr. Felmlee, appointed to Finance Di rector forthe City in 
March of 2017, is responsible for al I day-to-day financial operations. Priortojoi ning the City of Fortuna, Mr. 
Fel rnlee worked as an accountant for the City of Eureka where he performed rnany of the sarne accounting 
and reporting functions recuired ~ his position as Finance Director. Mr. Felmlee 0versees all City 
accounting, reporting, and records rnai ntenance as wel I as prepares and rmnitors the annual budget. As 
Finance Director, Mr. Felmlee is also responsible for coordinating and completing all external auditing 
functions, revenue rranagerrent, including billing and collection for utilities, licenses, taxes and other 
revenues and rnai ntai ni ng the fi seal integrity of the City. 

City Investments 

The i nvestrrent of the City's funds is performed in accordance with the City's adopted I nvestrrent 
Pol icy. Funds are invested with the follcwi ng objectives in rnind: 

1. Assets are to be invested with prudence - rnade with judgment and care - under 
ci rcurnstances then prevai Ii ng, which persons of prudence, discretion and i ntel Ii gence exercise in the 
rranagerrent of their cwn affairs, not for speculation, but for i nvestrrent, considering the probable safety of 
the invested capital as well as the probable incorneto be derived therefrom 

2. The portfolio is invested in a rranner consistent with the primary emphasis on preservation 
of the pri nci [Bl, whi I e attaining a rrarket rate of return throughout budgetary and econorni c cycles, talking 
into consideration the i nvestrrent risk constraints and I iquidity needs.Yield on the City's i nvestrrent portfolio 
is of secondary importance compared to the safety and liquidity objectives.Trading of securities for the sole 
purpose of realizing trading profits is prohibited. 

3. Sufficient liquidity is rraintai ned to pr0vide a source for antici [Bted financial obi igations as 
they become due. The City wi 11 diversify its i nvestrrent ~ security type, issuer and rraturity dates. 

The lnvestrrent Policy calls for the City's investment portfolio to be structured to prOJide that 
sufficient funds frorn investments are availaible to rreet the City's antici[Bted cash needs. The choice of 
i nvestrrent i nstrurrents and rnaturi ti es is to be basecl upon an analysis of anti ci [Bted cash needs, existing and 
anti ci [Bted revenues, interest rate trends and specific rrarket opportunities. 
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The City's lnvestrrent Policy also requires that derxisits in banks must rreet the requirerrents of 
California GCNernment Code. U nderthis code, derxisits of more than $250,00J must be collateral ized at 105 
percentto 150 percent of the value of the derxisittoguarantee the safety of the publ icfunds. The first $250,00J 
of the City's derx:isits is insured 0y the Federal Deposit Insurance Corrxiration (FDIC). Derxisits more than 
the $250,00J insured amount are collateralized. 

Accardi ng to the most recent rerxirt for the month endedJ une 30, 2016, the City had invested funds 
as set forth in Talble 3 belcw. As of June 30, 2016, approximately 28.1% of the invested funds were assets of 
the Water System. The City's practice is to hold securities to maturity. 

Table 3 
CITY OF FORTUNA 

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (AS OF JUNE 30, 2016) 

I nvestment Type 
JP Morgan Institutional Prime Money Market-City 
JP Morgan Institutional Prime Money Market-fiduciary 
Humboldt County Treasurer's Pool 111 

Local Agency I nvestrrent Fund21 

Certificates of derxisit and local gCNernrrent bonds 

Total I nvestrrents 

Average 
maturity 
48 Days 
48 Days 

815 Days 
167 Days 

2 Years 

Fair Value 
$2,976,467 

859,244 
9,242,468 
9,039,784 
8,324,368 

$30,442,331 

[1] The City is a !llrticilllnt in the Humboldt County Treasurer's Pool which is managed by the Humboldt County Treasurer. On 
a monthly basis, interest is al I ocated to !llrti ci lllnts based on average daily balances. The H umbol dtC aunty Treasury Oversight 
Committee oversees the Treasurer's investments and policies. Investments held in the County's investment pool are available 
on demand and are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. The fair value of the City's position in the pool is 
the same as the value of the pooled shares. 

[2] The City isavoluntary !llrticilllnt in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAI F) that is regulated by theCaliforniaGovernment 
Code and is managed by the Treasurer of the State of California. The Local Investment Advisory B card (LAI F B card) has 
CNersight responsibility for LAI F. The LAI F B card consists of five members as designated by State statute. Investments in 
LAI F are available on demand and are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. The fair value of the City's 
position in the pool is the same as the value of the pooled shares. 

Source: City 

Risk Management 

The City carries insurance to cCNer its exrxisure to various risks of loss related to torts, theft and 
destruction of assets, errors and omissions, and natural disasters. The City is a rrember of the Recwood 
Empire Municipal Insurance Fund (the "Fund"), a joint powers authority with 15 cities in N orthem California 
as members. The Fund prCNidesjoint protection programs for public entities cCNering automobile, general 
lialbility, errors and omission losses, property and workers compensation claims. 

U nder the program, the City has a $1 0, OOJ general I i albi I i ty retention I i mi t si mi I ar to a deducti l:J e with 
the Fund being resrxinsible for losses aibCNe that amount up to $500,00J. The Fund carries excess lialbil ity 
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c0verage to a tota of $40 million in excess of its $500,00J retention limit per occurrence through the 
California Joint Pcwers Risk Management Authority and its excess insurers. The Fund c0vers workers 
compensation claims up to its self-insurance limit of $1 million and a deductible of $10,00J. A purchased 
excess policy insures the Fund for an additional $1 mil lion to pr0vide aggregate c0verage of upto $2 mil lion 
per claim. The City pays an annual premium to the Fund; the City may share in any surplus revenues or may 
be recuired to pay additional assessments based upon the Fund's operating results. The Fund also pr0vides 
property c0verage upto $25,00J per occurrence in excess of the City's deductible. Losses in excess of $25,00J 
are paid~ the excess insurance policy up to the replacement value of all c0vered property with a cap at $300 
million. 

The City paid $589,166 in uninsured losses during the 2014-2015 fisca year. Of the $589,166, 
$569,166 pertains to the settlement of one matter related to an inverse condemnation action. For more 
information on the City's risk management policy, see "APPENDIX B - AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF THE CITY FOR FISCAL YEAR 2015-16." 

Labor Contracts 

The City maintains lalbor contracts with two organized lalbor groups. The number of membersc0vered 
~ and expiration date of each contract is set forth bel cw. 

L albor G roups,Contracts 

Fortuna Police E mpl 0yees A ssoci ati on 
Fortuna E mpl0yeesAssociation 

Employee Retirement System; Ca!PERS 

Number of 
Members 

22 
26 

Date of 
Contract Expiration 

J une 30, 2019 
J une 30, 2019 

The follcwing information relating to the California Public Empl0yees Retirement System 
("CalPERS") is primarily derived from information produced by CalPERS, its independent accountants and 
actuaries, as interpreted~ the City and its Auditor. The City has not independently verified the information 
pr0vided ~ Cal PERS and maike no representations nor express any opinion as to the accuracy of the 
information pr0vided ~ Cal PERS. The comprehensive annual financial reports of Cal PE RS are availalble on 
its Internet website at www.calpers.ca.gov. The CalPERS website also contains CalPERS' most recent 
actuarial valuation reports and other information concerning benefits and other matters. Such information is 
not i ncorporated ~ ref ere nee herei n. N ei therthe City northe U nderwri ter can guarantee the accuracy of such 
information. 

A ctuari al assessments are forward-I ooki ng statements that ref I ect the judgment of the fi duci ari es of 
the pension plans, and are based upon a variety of assumptions, one or more of which may not materialize or 
be changed in the future. Actuarial assessments wi 11 change with the future experience of the pension pl ans. 

Plan Description. The City contributes to the Cal PERS, a cost sharing multiple-empl0yer public 
empl0yee defined benefit pension plan. Al I qualified permanent and probationary empl0yees are eligible to 
participate in the City's separate Safety (police) and Miscellaneous (all other) Employee Pension Plans (the 
"Pension Plans"). 
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Cal PERS pr0vides retirerrent and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustrrents, and death 
benefits to plan rrembers and beneficiaries. Cal PERS acts as a common i nvestrrent and administrative agent 
for participating public entities within the State, including the City. Benefit pr0visions under the Pension 
Pl ans are established pursuant to State statute and City ordinance. Cal PE RS issues publicly avai I alble financial 
reports that include the financial staterrents and recui red supplementary information for the Cal PE RS. 
Cal PE RS issues publicly avai I able reports that include a ful I description of the pension pans regarding benefit 
pr0vi sions, assumptions and rrembership information that can be found on the Cal PERS website. Copies of 
CalPERS' annual financial report may be obtaned from its executive office located at 400 Q Street, 
Sacrannento, California 95811, or via http:/,A,vww.calpers.cag0v. 

The City participates in the Safety and M iscel laneousCalPERS cost sharing multi pie-employer plans. 
The Safety plans consists of Safety- 1st Tier, Safety- 2nd Tier and Safety Public Employee Pension Reform 
Act (PEPRA). The Miscellaneous plans consist of Miscellaneous- 1st Tier, Miscellaneous- 2nd Tier and 
Miscellaneous PEPRA. 

Benefits Pr0vided. Cal PERS pr0vides service reti rerrent and disability benefits, annual cost of living 
adjustments (COLA) and death benefits to plan rrembers, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. 
Benefits are based on years of credited service, ecual to one year of full tirre employrrent. Retirerrent 
benefits are defined as 2.5 percent of the employees final 12 months average compensation tirres the 
employee's years of service (2.0 percent for safety employees) Employees with 10 years of continuous are 
eligible to retire at age 55 (age 50 for safety employees) Employees are eligible for service-felated disability 
benefits regardless of the I ength of service. Five years of service is recui red for non-service-related di sabi I ity 
eligibility. Disability benefits are determined in the same manner as retirement benefits but are payable 
i mrredi ately without an actuarial reduction. Prereti rement death benefits ecual an employee's final ful I-year 
saary. Bcth plans pr0videfor a 2 percent Cost oflivingAdjustrrent(COLA). The public safety plan i sclosed 
to new entrants. The death benefit i soneofthefollcwing: the Basic Death Benefit, the 1957Survivor Benefit, 
orthe Optional Settlerrent 2W Death Benefit. The cost of living adjustrrents for each plan are applied as 
specified by the Public Employees' Retirement Law. 

EffectiveJ anuary 1, 2013, Cal PE RS instituted a new pension plan as a result of PEPRA. Employees 
hired from that date on are subject to the new 2% at 62 benefit formula The 2.5% at 55 benefit formula has 
been closed to new hiresfromJ anuary 1, 2013 on, unless they rreetthe rulesforaCalPERS Classic employee. 
A Classicemployee i salready Cal PERS rremberthrough prioremployrrentandwasemployed ~ a Cal PE RS 
rremberwithin the last 6 months. See the Cal PERS website for more information. 

Contributions. Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees' Retirement Law requires that 
the employer contribution rates for al I public employers be determined on an annual basis ~ the actuary and 
shal I be effective on theJ uly 1 follcwi ng notice of a change in the rate. Funding contributionsforthe Pension 
Plans are determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 ~ Cal PE RS. 

The City is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate of annual c0vered payrol I, pl us a 
fixed payrrent of unfunded liability. The actuarially determined rates and announts for each Pension Plan for 
the fiscal years endedJ une 30, 2017 andJ une 30, 2018, are as follcws: 
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CITY'S REQUIRED EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION RATES & PAYMENTS 

Fiscal Year 2016-17 Fiscal Year 2017-18 
Employer Employer 

Employer Payment Employer Payment 
Employer Normal of Employer Normal of 
Normal Cost Unfunded Normal Cost Unfunded 

Pension Plan Cost Rate Payment Liability Cost Rate Payment Liability 

Miscellaneous- lstTier 12.151% $241,278 $216,504 12.192% $217,119 $256,601 
Safety- lstTier 19.536 168,575 153,727 19.723 173,848 187,116 
Miscellaneous- 200 Tier 9.302 26,529 0 9.343 24,748 0 
Safety- 200 Tier 16.656 8,029 0 0 0 0 
Miscellaneous -PE PRA 6.555 10,323 27 6.533 30,238 112 
Safety (Fire) -PEPRA 12.082 11,070 0 11.990 17,055 83 
Totals $465,804 $370,258 $463,008 443,912 

Source: CalP ERS Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2015. 

Funding Hi story. The funding history forthe Miscellaneous 1st Tier Pension Plan and the Safety 1st 
Tier Pension Plan is shewn in the tables belcw, listing for each plan the actuarial accrued lialbil ity, share of 
the p;iol 's market value of assets, share of the pool's unfunded liability, funded ratio, and annual covered 
payroll. 

MISCELLANEOUS-1st Tier 

Share of Share of 
Accrued Pool's Market Pool's Annual 

Valuation Liability Value of Unfunded Funded C0vered 
Date (AL) Assets(MVA) Liability Ratio Payroll 

CXi;30/11 $13,427,764 $10,2%,768 $3,130,9% 76. i"lo $2,481,362 
CXi;30/12 14,351,492 10,389,379 3,%2, 113 72.4% 2,272,299 
CXi;30/13 15,581,271 11,945,289 3,635,982 76. i"lo 2,056,399 
CXi;30/14 17,055,736 13,686,143 3,369,593 80.2% 1,817,137 
CXi;30/15 17,495,009 13,341,927 4,153,082 76.3% 1,629,714 

Source: CalP ERS Annual Valuation Report as ofJ une 30, 2015. 

SAFETY-1st Tier 

Share of Share of 
Accrued Pool's Market Pool's Annual 

Valuation Liability Value of Unfunded Funded C0vered 
Date (AL) Assets(MVA) Liability Ratio Payroll 

CXi;30/11 $9,886,109 $7,729,333 $2,156,776 78.2% $992,571 
CXi;30/12 10,848,570 7,936,601 2,911,%9 73.2% 870,%3 
CXi;30/13 11,294,847 8,694,911 2,599,936 77JJ/o 813,517 
CXi;30/14 12,615,018 10,189,033 2,425,985 80.8'/o 789,686 
CXi;30/15 13,208,992 10,143,902 3,CXi5,090 76.8'/o SCXi,648 

Source: CalP ERS Annual Valuation Report as ofJ une 30, 2015. 
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Actuarial Assumptions. Actuarial calculations are basec on a number of assumptions about long­
term demographic and economic behavior. Unless these assumptions (terminations, deaths, disabilities, 
retirements, salary grcwth, and investment return) are exactly realized each year, therewil I be differences on 
a year-to-year basis. The year-to-year differences between actual experience and the assumptions are cal I ed 
actuarial gains and I asses and serve to I ewer or raise required empl 0yer contributions from one year to the 
next. Therefore, empl0yer contributions will inevitably fluctuate, especially due to the ups and dcwns of 
investment returns. 

The total pension lialbilities in the June 30, 2014 actuarial valuations were determined using the 
fol I cwi ng actuarial assumptions: 

Valuation Date 
M easurernent Date 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Discount Rate 
Inflation 

Salary Increases 
Post R eti rement Benefit I ncrease 
Mortality 
( I) Depending on age, service, and type of elll)l<1yment 

All Pension Plans 
June 30, 2014 
June 30, 2015 

Entry-Age Normal Cost Method 
7.65% 
2.75% 

Varies Dy Entry Age and Service 
( 1) 
( 2) 
( 3) 

(2) Contract COLA upto2.75% until Purchasing Pwer Protection 
Allowance Floor on Purchasing Pwer applies, 2. 75% thereafter 

(3) Denved usmg CalPERS' Memberslnp Data for all Funds 

The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS' specific data. The table includes 20 
years of morta ity impr0vements using Society of Actuaries Scale BB. Al I other actuarial assumptions used 
in theJ une 30, 2014 valuation were basec on the results of an actuarial experience study forthe period from 
1997to 2011, including updates to salary increase, morta ity and retirement rates. More information on this 
talble and assumptions can be found in the Experience Study report on CalPERS' website under Forms and 
Publications. 

Change in Assumptions. According to Paragraph 68 of GASB 68, the long-term expected rate of 
return should be determined net of pension plan investment expense but without reduction for pension plan 
administrative expense. The discount rate of 7. 50'/o usec for theJ une 30, 2014 measurement date was net of 
administrative expenses. The discount rate of 7.65% used fortheJ une 30, 2015 measurement date i swithout 
reduction of pension pl an administrative expense. 

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.65% for each 
Pension Plan. To determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount 
rate for each plan, Cal PERS stress tested plans that would mostly Ii kely result in a discount rate that would 
be different from the actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested plans ran out 
of assets. Therefore, the current 7.65% discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal bond rate 
calculation is not necessary. The long-term expected discount rate of 7.65% wil I be applied to all plans in the 
Public E mpl0yees Retirement Fund (PE RF). The stress test results are presented in a detailed report that can 
be obtained from the Cal PE RS website. 
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The I ong-term expected rate of return on pension pl an investments was determined using a bui I ding­
block method in which best--esti mate ranges of expected future real rates of return ( expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, Cal PERS took into account both short-term and 
I ong-term market return expectations as wel I as the expected pension fund cash fl ONS. Using hi stori ca returns 
of all the funds' asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over the short-term (first lOyears) 
and the I ong-term ( 11-60 years) using a bui I ding-block approach. Using the expected nominal returns for 
both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was caculated for each fund. The expected rate 
of return was set~ caculating the single ecuivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of 
benefits for cash flONs as the one caculated using both short-term and long-term returns. The expected rate 
of return was then set ecuival ent to the single ecuival ent rate calculated above and rounded dONn to the 
nearest one quarter of one percent. 

The talble belON reflects the long-term expected real rate of return~ asset class. The rate of return 
was caculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset 
al I ocati on. These rates of return are net of administrative expenses. 

Asset Class 
G I obal Equity 
Global Fixed Income 
Inflation Sensitive 
Private Equity 
Real Estate 
I nf rastructure and Forestland 
Liquidity 
Total 

Ne.v Strategic 
Allocation 

50.0!6 
17.0!6 
5.0!6 
12.0!6 
11.0!6 
3.0!6 
2.0!6 
100!6 

(a) An expected inflation of 2.5% used for this period. 
(b) An expected inflation of 10J6 used for this period. 

Real Return 
Years 1-1 CX:a) 

5.25% 
0.99!6 
0.45% 
6.83% 
4.50!6 
4.50!6 
-0.55% 

Real Return 
Years 11 +(b) 

5.71% 
2.43% 
3.36)6 
6.95% 
5.13% 
5.09!6 
-1.05% 

Discount Rate Being LONered Over Next 3Years. Atthe December 21, 2016, meeting, the Cal PERS 
Board of Administration appr0ved IONering the Cal PERS discount rate assumption, the long-term rate of 
return, from 7. 50 percentto 7.00 percent 0verthe nextthree years. This wi 11 increase public agency empl 0yer 
contribution costs beginning in Fiscal Year 2018-19. The phase-in of the discount rate change appr0ved ~ 
the Cal PERS Board forthe nextthree Fiscal Years is as follONs: 

Valuation Date 
June 30, 2016 
J une 30, 2017 
J une 30, 2018 

F i seal Y ear for 
Required 

Contribution 
2018-19 
2019-20 
2020-21 

Discount Rate 
7.375% 
7.25% 
7.00'/o 

L ONeri ng the discount rate means pl ans wi 11 see increases in both the normal costs and the accrued 
lialbi Ii ties. These increaseswill result in higher recuired empl0yer contributions. In addition, active members 
hi red after January 1, 2013, under PE PRA may al so see their contribution rates rise. 
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Empl0yer contribution increases as a result of the discount rate changes are estimated belew ~ 
Normal Cost and recuired U nfundedAccrued Liability (UAL) payment. The Tota Empl0yer Contribution is 
the sum of the Normal Cost Rateappliedto reported payrol I pl us the UAL payment. The Normal Cost portion 
of the E mpl 0yer Contribution is expected to increase ~ the Ii sted percentages of payrol I. I ncreases to the 
UAL payments are pr0vided as relative increases to be applied to the projected UAL payments in theJ une 
30, 2015, valuation report. 

The changes to the UAL due to changes of actuarial assumptions are amortized 0ver a fixed 2Q-year 
period with a 5-year ramp up at the beginning and a 5-year ramp dewn at the end of the annorti zati on period. 
The 5-year ramp up means that the payments in the first four years of the amortization schedule are 20 percent, 
40 percent, 60 percent and 80 percent of the ultimate payment, which begins in year five. The 5-year ramp 
dewn means that the reverse is true and the payments in the final four years are ramped dewn ~ the abClve 
percentages. A new ramp is established with each change to the discount rate. There wi 11 be three ramps 
established in the first three years. As a result of the 5-year ramp up and effective date of the increase, it will 
be seven years unti I the ful I impact of the discount rate change is completely phased in. 

The tables belew were taken from the latest Cal PERS Actuarial Reports, and shews the 2016-17 
UAL contribution made by the City, as well as the City's projected UAL contributions for the next five fiscal 
years. 

Miscellaneous-1st Tier Safety-1st Tier 

Prqj ected Prcj ected 
iscal UAL % UAL % 
Year Contribution* Increase Contribution* Increase 

2016-17 $256,601 $187,116 
2017-18 315,104 22.8036 234,590 25.3736 
2018-19 376,887 19.61 284,745 21.38 
2019-20 414,757 10.05 298,695 04.90 
2020-21 457,006 10.21 331,127 10.86 
2021-22 489,037 06.99 354,816 07.15 
Totals $2,300,482 90.5836 $1,691,089 89.62% 

* The annual UAL Contribution is new a fixed amount regardless of current lllvroll. 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. Thefdlewing presents 
the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability for each Pl an, calculated using the discount rate for 
each Pension Plan, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point I ewer or one percentage point higher than 
the current rate: 

1% Decrease 
Net Pension Liability 
Current Discount Rate 
Net Pension Liability 
1% Increase 
Net Pension Liability 

Miscellaneous 
6.65% 

$6,289,838 
7.65% 

$3,861,526 
8.65% 

$1,856,666 
Source: Clty's 20J5-16Audited Financial Statements. 
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Safety 
6.65% 

$4,562,842 
7.65% 

$2,779,976 
8.65% 

$1,318,059 



Asset Volatility Ratio (AVR). Plans that have higher asset-to-payroll ratios experience rmre volatile 
empl0yer contributions (as a percentage of payroll) due to investment return. For example, a pan with an 
asset-to-payrol I ratio of 8 may experience twice the contribution vol ati I ity, due to investment return vol ati I ity, 
than a pl an with an asset-to-payroll ratio of 4. Shewn belcw istheassetvolatility ratioforthe Miscellaneous 
Plan and the Safety Plan, which a measure of each plan's current contribution volatility. It should be noted 
that this ratio is a measure of the current situation. It increases 0ver ti me but generally tends to stabi Ii ze as the 
plan matures. 

Liability Volatility Ratio (LVR). Plans that have higher liability-to-payroll ratios experience rmre 
volatile empl0yer contributions (as a percentage of payroll) due to investment return and changes in liability. 
For example, a plan with a liability-to-payroll ratio of 8 is expected to have twice the contribution volatility 
of a plan with a liabi lity-to-payrol I ratio of 4. The liability volatility ratio forthe Miscellaneous Plan and the 
Safety Pl an is al so shewn in the table bel cw. It should be noted that this ratio indicates a I anger-term potential 
for contribution volatility. The assetvolatil ity ratio, described abClve, wi II tend to m0ve closerto the liability 
vol ati Ii ty ratio as the pl an matures. 

RateVdatility Miscellaneous-1st Tier* 

1. M ark et Val ue of Assets 
2. Payrdl 
3.AssetVdatility Ratio(AVR) [(1) /(2)] 
4.Accrued Liablity 
5. Liability Volatility Ratio (L VR) [(4) / (2)] 

Source: CalP ERS Annual Valuation Report as ofJ une 30, 2015. 
* As of June 30, 2015 

Other Post-Employment Benefits 

$13,341,927 
1,629,714 

8.2 
$17,495,0ffi 

10.7 

Safety- 1st Tier* 

$10,143,902 
BCXi,648 

12.6 
13,208,992 

16.4 

The City pr0vides no post-empl0yment benefits other than those associated with the Public 
E mpl 0yees Retirement System. 

Other City and Financial Information 

I nformati on with respect to the City, i ncl udi ng fi nanci al i nformati on and certai n economi c and 
demographic information relating to the City is pr0vided in "APPENDIX D- GENERAL INFORMATION 
REGARDING THE CITY AND SURROUNDING AREA." Also, see "APPENDIX B - AUDITED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE CITY FOR FISCAL YEAR 2015-16." 

The City's general fund is not pl edged to secure payment of, and the taxing pcwer of the City is not 
pledged for, the principa of and interest on the Bonds. The City has included its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report Fiscal Year EndedJ une 30, 2016 (the"City'sAudited Financial Statements"), as Appendix 
B to this Official Statement. The City has not recuested, and the City's auditor has not given, such auditor's 
consenttothe inclusion in Appendix B of its report contained in theCity'sAudited Financial Statements. The 
City has not recuested that such auditor undertake any review or i nvesti gati on concerning subsecuent events 
with respect to such City's Audited Financial Statements. 
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THE WATER SYSTEM 

General 

The City cwns and operates the water production, storage, disinfection, and transmission faci Ii ties 
that serve the City of Fortuna. The Water System currently pr0vides water to approximately 5,594 
connections, serving approximately 12,032 customers. Approximately 5,042 connections are residential, and 
approximately 552 connections are non-fesidential (mostly commercial). Fire protection is achieved through 
279 fire hydrants strategically located throughout the City. The maximum production output of the Water 
System is presently 1.1 mill ion gallons per day ("MGD"), and the peak demand on the Water System has 
been as high as 1.7 MGD on a peak day. Based on production and sales records, the City estimates that current 
average water demand forthe City of Fortuna is 1.1 MGD, or 408 mi Ilion gallons (MG) of water per year. 

Water Supply and Storage Capacity 

Groundwater is the sole source of water supply for the Water System. Water is extracted from five 
(5) shall cw groundwater wells cwned ~ the City. These wells, which are up to 112 feet deep, are al I located 
at the southwest corner of the City, and produce excellent quality water. Approximately 408 MG of potable 
water were produced by the City's wells in 2016. The water from these wel Is receive chlorination before 
di stri buti on to the reservoir storage and di stri buti on system. Drinking water is pumped to four ( 4) reservoirs, 
for a total storage capacity of approximately 8,250,000 gal Ions. 

The City extracts groundwater from the Eel RiverValley Groundwater Basin. The City does not have 
adjudicated rights to pump groundwater, but instead operates under a permit from California State Water 
Resources Control Board (CSWRCB). According to the City, the groundwater basin conta ns a volume of 
approximately 44,300 MG that is recharged ~ percolation at a rate of approximately 32,565 MG per year. 
Although the storage capacity is albout 44,300 MG, the usable yield of this groundwater storage basin is 
estimated to be approximately 13,000 MG to 19,500 MG annually. Approximately 3,257 MG of groundwater 
is currently being pumped from the basin for agricultural purposes, leaving a potential of producing 
approximately 9,743 MG to 16,243 MG per year. Based on production and sales records, current water 
demand forthe City is approximately 408 MG of water per year. 

Water Treatment System 

The City of Fortuna's water supply is treated to raise the pH and make the water less corrosive to 
comply with State and Federal requirements for lead and copper. This treatment process malkes the water less 
acidic~ aerating and rem0ving carbon dioxide gas which is naturally dissolved in the water. As required~ 
the California Department of Public Health, after the water is aerated, it is then chlorinated to prevent 
bacteri ol ogi cal contami nation of the water. 

The City employs a "Cross-Connection Control Program" to protect the Water System from 
contamination due to backflcw. A backflcw condition can be created when water from the consumer's 
plumbi ngflcws back i ntoawater man. The California Department of Health Services and Fortuna City Code 
both require backfl cw prevention assemblies to be i nstal I ed at al I actual or potential sources of contamination. 
Such sources of contamination include hospitals, mortuaries, fire sprinkler systems, sewage treatment pl ants 
and customers with their cwn water system such as a wel I. These assemblies are required to be tested annually 
to ensure proper operation. 
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Distribution System 

The di stri buti on system is currently comrxised of a I ooped system being fed through approximately 
sixty-five (65) miles of water mains, seven (7) pump stations and four ( 4) water storage reservoirs at various 
locations that pr0vide 8.25 million gallons of treated water storage. The City's existing storage capacity 
pr0vi des the Water System with approximately 750'/o of the average daily demand in the City (based on 
average daily use of 1.1 MGD). All of the City booster stations have stand-I::¥ emergency rxwer and are 
control I ed and monitored ~ the SCA DA system I ocated at the watertreatment pl ant. 

Enviromuental Regulation 

The City operatestheW aterSystem under apermitfromCSWRCB, Division of Water Rights Permit 
No. 1239:l. None of the permits appl icalble to the Water System have expiration dates, and the California 
State Department of Health Services permit is revised, modified and re-issued as necessary. The City believes 
that it is in compliance with the recuirements of al I permits in all material respects. 

Water System Users 

The Water System served approximately 5,594 accounts as of J une 30, 2016, consisting of 
approximately 5,042 single-family residential accounts and 552 non-fesidential accounts. The number of 
accounts does not equal the number of parcels connected to service because some parcels have multiple 
accounts. R esi denti al uti I ity accounts account for approximately 78'/o of the Water System's revenue and non­
residential utility accounts are resrxinsible for approximately 22%. 

Water System Rates and Charges 

Gen era I . Rates and charges for water service wi thi n the Water System service area are set ~ the City 
Council and are not subjecttothejuri sdiction of, or regulation~. the California Public Uti litiesCommission 
or any other regulatory body. The City i ncreaseswater service charges from ti me to time in orderto maintain 
adecuate revenue surplus after operating expenses, administrative expenses, debt service, and routine capital 
replacement costs. Funds availalble after meeting fixed and operational costs are used to supplement capital 
i mpr0vements, accomplish capital replacements, and maintain reserves. 

The City is subject to certain c0venants with respect to the Bonds which recui re that the City fix, 
prescribe, revise and collect rates and charges for the services and faci Ii ties furnished~ the Water System, 
during each Fi seal Year which are sufficient to yield Net Revenues at I east ecual to 12 5% of debt service of 
the Water System in such Fiscal Year. See the caption "SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Rate C0venant­
C0venant Regarding Net Revenues" herein. 

Rate Increases. The City Council has the ability to increase rates and charges through a public 
hearing process. Pri orto adopting a fee or charge, the City is recui red under Prorxisiti on 218 to conduct a 
public hearing and receive protests. If the City should receive a majority of written protests from its customers, 
the City would not be authorized to imrxise the increased rate or charge. See "CONSTITUTIONAL 
LIMITATIONS ON TAXES AND RATES AND CHARGES- California Constitutional ArticlesXI I IC and 
ArticleXIIID" herein 
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Water Service Charges. The City has separatec its custorrer base into various cl asses, and the rates 
charged to each class of customer varies. Pursuantto City Counci I action taken on Apri I 4, 2016 (Resolution 
No. 2016-12), the City adoptec its most recent schecule of monthly water rates, which summarizec in the 
Table 4 belcw. The City charges based on the number of units associatec with each parcel. 

Table 4 
WATER SYSTEM 

SCHEDULE OF MONTHLY WATER RATES 

Meter Size in Inches 

5/8 ~ 3/4 
1 

1 1 /2 
2 
3 
4 
6 

Amount of Water in Cube Feet 

Oto 300 
Over300 

Source: City 

BASE CHARGE 

USAGE CHARGE 

Monthly Base Fee111 

$23.04 
$44.07 
$87.21 
$147.61 
$320.16 
$561.73 

$1,251.95 

Charges/lOOCubic Fee~ll 

Monthly Base Fee 
$1.90 

(1) For customers located outside the City Limits the rate charged is one and one-half (1.5) times the rate for service within the 
Limits. Between May and October each year summer water rates will be in effect for all customers. The summer rates will prCNide 
each customer underthe base rate with an additional 200 cubicfeet of water each month. The water rates for multi pie units wi 11 be 
calculated t,,, multiplying the lowest base charge fee and the usage charge t,,, the number of units. 

Connection Charges. The City also charges developrrent impact fees, including water capacity 
charges to mw custorrers connecting to the Water System. Development impact fees may be usecl for the 
payrrent of Debt Service on the Bonds and constitute Gross Revenues from which plecgec Net Revenues are 
derivec. Connection fee revenues do not generally constitute a significant percentage of annual Water System 
revenues. Water connection fees for each mw si ngl e-fami ly residence is currently $1, 165, as established 
pursuantto R esol uti on No. 2016-12 

Operation, Management and Governance 

The City has primary responsibility for the day-to-day managerrent, operation and maintenance of 
the Water System and has cCNenantec to operate the Water System in an efficient and economical manner 
and to operate, maintain and preserve the Water System in good repair andworki ng order. The City endeavors 
to prCNide for the operation and maintenance of Water System facilities for the purpose of treating and 
utilizing water and its ~products in accordance with federal, state, and local recuirements; to prCNide a 
healthy and nuisance-free envi ronrrent; to pl an for future water treatment neecs to rreet the anti ci patec 
grcwth of the City; and to establish water user fees for properties receiving City water service. 
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The City has c0venanted that, in orderto fully preserve and protect the priority and security of the 
Bands, it wi 11 pay from the Gross Revenues and discharge al I I awful claims for I aoor, materials and supplies 
furnished for or in connection with the Water System which, if unpaid, may become a lien or charge upon the 
Gross Revenues orthe Net Water Revenues prior or superi orto the Ii en granted underthe I ndenture, orwhi ch 
may otherwise i mpai rthe ability of the City to pay the Debt Service in accordance therewith. 

Rate Setting and Collection Process 

The City, suqject to the recuirements of Proposition 218 set forth belcw, has the pcwerto establish 
rates and charges for water service as needed, without the 0vervi ew of any other g0vernmental agency. The 
present rate schedule for water service rates and charges was established~ City Resolution No. 2016-12, 
which was adopted~ the City Counci I on April 4, 2016 ~ not less than a two-thirds vote. No rate increases 
have been proposed or adopted with respect to the issuance of the Bonds. The City also establishes and 
maintains a schedule of water connection fees and fees for other services. 

In N0vember 19%, citizens of the State of California passed a Constitutional amendment kncwn as 
Proposition 218, which added ArticlesX 111 C and X 111 D to the State Constitution. This annendment changed 
the process for increasing property-felated fees within the State and potentially affects the City's ability to 
impose future rate increases. See"CONSTITUTI ONAL LIMITATIONS ON TAX ES AND WATER RATES 
AND CHARGES - California Constitution Articles XIIIC and XIIID." Proposition 218 conditions the 
imposition or increase of any water service fee or charge upon there being no written majority protest after a 
required public hearing. 

Under the protest hearing process, property cwners within the service area are mai I ed a rate increase 
notice detai Ii ng the proposed rate increase. To oppose the rate increase, the property cwner must return a 
written notice of protest to the City. To support the rate increase, there is no action recui red on the part of the 
property cwner. If written protests against the proposed rate increase are returned to the City no laterthan the 
end of the protest hearing~ a majority of cwners of the identified parcels, the City may not apprCNe the 
proposed rate i ncrease. 

If the protest fai Is with less than a majority protest, then the City can apprCNe a rate increase not to 
exceed the noticed rate increase. The City believes that it has follcwed the Proposition 218 process in 
connection with its water related rate increases last apprCNed on April 4, 2016. See also"RI SK FACTORS -
Rate Process'' herein. 

Largest Water Customers 

The fol I cwi ng Table 5 sets forth the 10 I argest customers of the Water System as of J une 30, 2016, 
as determined ~ total annual water revenue. The top water users accounted for approximately 7. 39'/o of total 
water bi 11 i ngs during this period. 
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Table 5 
WATER SYSTEM 

TEN LARGEST WATER CUSTOMERS 

Customer 
R0yal Crest Investors 
Fortuna TrailerVil I age 
Mountain Viav Village 
AWi (RecwoodWay Apts) 
Emeritus Senior Living 
B est Western 
Fortuna Rehabilitation 
Whitney Place 
Fortuna Family Associates 
Comfort Inn 

Total Top 10 Customer Bi 11 i ngslll 
All other Customer Billingslll 
Total All Customer Billingslll 

Ill BaseduponFiscalYear2015-16. 
Source: City. 

Comparative Rates 

Business Type 
Mobile Home 
Mobile Home 
Senior Living 
Apartments 
R est;N ursi ng Home 
Hotel 
R est;N ursi ng Home 
R est;N ursi ng Home 
Apartments 
Hotel 

Annual 
Billingslll 

$61,565 
15,444 
13,744 
13,317 
12,203 
11,145 
10,716 
8,525 
8,269 
7,435 

$ 162,363 
$2,033,903 
$2,196,266 

% ofTotal 
Billings 
02.80'/o 
00.70 
00.63 
00.61 
00.56 
00.51 
00.49 
00.39 
00.38 
00.34 

7.39'/o 
92.61% 
100.00'/o 

Table 6 belcw sets forth a comparison of average monthly bi II for a single family residential unit in 
the City to those of surrounding communities, based on rates in effect as of July 1, 2017. 

Source: City 

Table 6 
WATER SYSTEM 

COMPARISON OF WATER SYSTEM RATES AND CHARGES'' 

Customer 

Fortuna 
Arcata 
McKinleyville 
Eureka 
HumboldtCSD 
Rio Dell 

Monthly 
Charge 

$26.84 
29.57 
31.11 
35.90 
40.99 
53.11 

* Based upon a 5;8" meter at a volurretric charge based on water consunl)tion of 5hcf per month. 
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Future Water Enterprise huprovements 

The City has an ongoing five-year capital impr0verrent program (CIP) in connection with the 
ma ntai ni ng, upgrading and replacing of faci I iti es and infrastructure with respect to the Water Enterprise. The 
CIP is adopted annually~ Resolution of the City Council, with the last adoption occurringJ une 19, 2017. 
Among otherthings, the CIP (i) identifies specific public impr0verrent projects~ location, size, function, 
and cost, (ii) establishes the timing for funding of major cost elerrents related to each project, such as right­
of-way acquisitions, design, construction, etc. (for large projects, these may be spread 0ver several years, 
while for smaller projects, funding may occur in a single budget year), (iii) proposes specific revenue sources 
for each project, (iv) facilitates prioritizing where funds are insufficient to c0ver all desired projects, (v) 
enhances coordination of separate but interrelated projects, whether internal or involving other agencies, and 
(vi) al I cws other affected agencies, such as uti I iti es, an opportunity to develop I ong-fange programming. 

The City has identified fifteen ( 15) priority projects that require capital outlay CNerthe course of the 
next five (5) years at a total estimated cost of approximately $4.1 mill ion. The City anticipates funding these 
i mpr0vements from reserves, annual revenues, connection fees and other avai I able funds of the Water 
Enterprise on a pay as you go basis; hcwever, the City can i ncurfuture long-term indebtedness on parity with 
the payrrent of the principal of and interest on the Bonds. See "SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Issuance 
of Parity Debt" herein for a discussion of conditions which must be satisfied prior to issuance of any future 
Parity Debt. 

Delinquent Accounts 

The City considers its rates of payrrent delinquency, service discontinuance for non-payrrent and 
write-offs for uncol I ecti bl e accounts to be I cw ~ water industry standards for urban areas. The write-offs for 
uncollecti ble accounts forthe last five Fiscal Years have averaged less than $10,00J annually. 

Historical Operating Results 

Thefol lcwingTable 7 is a summary of audited operating results of the Water System for Fiscal Years 
endedJ une 30, 2013 through 2016. SeeAPPE NDIX B forthe audited financial statementforthe Fi seal Year 
endedJ une 30, 2016. The auditor has not reviewed such staterrents in connection with their inclusion in this 
Official Staterrent, nor has the City requested such a review. Selected information from the aforerrentioned 
audited financial staterrents has been used to prepare the follcwing five-year comparative summary of 
revenues and expenses. 

The results presented in the fol I cwi ng Table 7 summary are qualified in their entirety ~ reference to 
the respective annual consolidated audited financial statements of the City, including the notes thereto.Copies 
of the audited financial staterrents for the City's other Fi seal Years can be obtained at the office of the City 
Manager. 
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Table 7 
WATER SYSTEM 

HISTORICAL OPERATING RESULTS 

Audited Audited Audited 
2013 2014 2015 

GROSS REVENUES 
Charges for Services $2,260,870 $2,337,351 $2,204,102 
Capital Impact Fees 14,053 81,685 90,899 
Other Revenues 38,606 54,582 41,195 

Total Operating Revenues $2,313,529 $2,473,618 $2,336,196 

MAINTENANCE AND OPERATION COSTslll 
Salaries and Benefits $607,633 $590,137 $662,489 
Purchased Po.ver 181,347 202,343 156,826 
Supplies and Materials 285,898 256,570 271,715 

Total Opera ti ng Expenses $1,074,878 $1,049,050 $1,001,030 

Operati ng I ncome $1,238,651 $1,424,568 $1,245,166 

Nonoperati ng Revenues (Expenses)l'i 12,226 38,381 55,327 

NET REVENUES $1,250,877 $1,462,949 $1,300,493 

DEBT SERVICE 

Debt Service on the 2006 Bonds $534,697 $532,297 $532,797 

DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 2.34 2.75 2.44 

FUND BALANCE,J UNE 30 $7,472,251 $7,563,343 $8,062,526 

[1] Excludes depreciation of the Water System for purposes of calculating debt service m,erage. 
[2] Excludes interest paid as debt service on the 20CXi Bonds. 
Source: City'sAudited Financial Staterrents 

Operating Projections 

Audited 
2016 

$2,196,266 
64,231 

128,506 

$2,389,003 

$908,853 
177,759 
328,273 

$1,414,885 

$974,118 

77,313 

$1,051,431 

$534,797 

1.97 

$8,567,671 

The City's estimated actual unaudited operating resultsforthe Fiscal Year endingJ une 30, 2017, and 
projected operating results and debt service c0verage (adjusted to exclude depreciation, and certain other 
noted adjustrrents and assumptions) relating to the Water System forthe Fiscal Years endingJ une 30, 2018, 
through June 30, 2020, are set forth in the follcwing Talble 8, reflecting certain significant assumptions 
concerning future events and circumstances (the "C0verage Projections''). The financial forecast represented 
~ the Talble 8 is the City's estimate of projected financial results rased upon itsjudgrrent of the prorable 
occurrence of future events. In addition, the assumptions set forth in the footnotes to Talble 8 are material to 
the devel oprrent of the City's financial projections. Variations in the any one of the assumptions may produce 
substantially different financial results. Actual operating results achieved during the projection period may 
vary from those presented in the forecast and such variations may be material. See "RISK FACTORS -
Uncertainties of Projections, Forecasts and Assumptions'' herein. 
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Table 8 
WATER SYSTEM 

PROJECTED OPERATING RESULTS AND DEBT SERVICE (OVERAGE 

Unaudited Budgeted Projected Projected 
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year 

2017 2018 2019 2020 
0PERATI NG REVENUES 
Charges forServicesl11 $2,249,647 $2,249,647 $2,249,647 $2,249,647 
Capital I mrnct Fees121 95,300 70,000 72,100 74,263 
Other R evenues131 66,000 87,546 86,264 84,364 

Total Operating Revenues $2,410,947 $2,407,194 $2,408,011 $2,408,274 

0PERATI NG EXPENSES 
Salaries & B enefits141 864,100 947,000 984,880 1,024,275 
Purchasec Paver 198,552 201,530 204,553 207,622 
Services& Supplies 304,120 308,682 313,312 318,012 

Total Operating Expenses $1,366,772 $1,457,212 $1,502,745 $1,549,908 

Operating I ncome 1,044,175 949,982 905,266 858,366 
Nonoperating Revenues 0 0 0 0 

NET REVENUES $1,044,175 $949,982 $905,266 $858,366 
Debt Service on the 2006 Bands 529,548 377,149 
Debt Service on the 2017 Bands 70,625 432,875 398,675 

Total Debt Service $529,548 $447,774 $432,875 $398,675 

DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 1.97 2.12 2.09 2.15 

Cl P PROJECTS (CASH FUNDED)l51 $327,660 $595,000 $645,000 $1,327,000 

FUND BALANCE,J UNE 30 $8,754,639 $8,661,846 $8,489,592 $7,622,814 

[1] User Fees and Charges oosed upon adopted rate increases, assuming no growth in customer accounts or change in consumption. 
[2] Development of large medical complex accounts for higher Capital Impact Fees in FY 17. 
[3] Other Revenues are mostly interest earnings on Fund Balance. 
[4] Salaries & Benefits estimated to increase t,,, 9.6)6 in FY 18, 4% thereafter due to the planned hire of Utilities Superintendent, 

position that had been vacant for many years. Also includes .SO;hour cost-of-living adjustment for all emplo,ees. 
[5] Capital projects all cash funded based on adopted 5-year CIP plan 
Source: City 
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CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ON TAXES AND 

RATES AND CHARGES 

California Constitution Articles XIIIA and XIIIB 

Article XI I IA of the Califrrnia Constitution limits the taxing rxwers of California public agencies. 
ArticleXI I IA pr0videsthatthe maxi mum acvaloremtax on real property cannot exceed 1% of the "full cash 
value" of the property, and effectively prohibits the I evyi ng of any other ac valorem property tax except for 
taxes aibCNe that I evel required to pay debt service on voter-apprCNed general obi i gati on bonds. "F ul I cash 
value" is defined as "the County Assessor's valuation of real property as shewn on the 1975-76 tax bi 11 under 
'ful I cash value' or, thereafter, the appraisal value of real property when purchased, newly constructed, or a 
change in cwnershi p has occurred after the 1975 assessment." The "ful I cash value" is subject to annual 
acj ustment to reflect i nfl ati on at a rate not to exceed 2% or a reduction in the consumer price index or 
comparalbl e I ocal data, or declining property value caused ~ dannage, destruction or other factors. 

The foregoing limitation does not apply to ac valorem taxes to pay the interest and redemption 
charges on any indebtedness apprCNed ~ the voters beforeJ uly 1, 1978 or any bonded indebtedness for the 
acquisition or i mpr0vement of real property thereafter appr0ved ~ the voters as required ~ I aw. 

Under ArticleX 111 B oftheCaliforniaConstitution, state and loca g0vernmententitieshavean annual 
"appropriations limit'' which limits their albility to spend certain moneys called "appropriations subject to 
Ii mitation," which consist of tax revenues, certain state sulNenti ons and certain other moneys, including user 
charges to the extent they exceed the costs reasonalbly borne~ the entity in pr0viding the service for which 
it is levying the charge. 

The City is of the opinion thatthewater service and user charges imposed~ the City do not exceed 
the costs the City reasonably bears in prCNi ding the water services. I n general terms, the "appropriations Ii mit'' 
is to be based on certain 1978-79 expenditures, and is to be acjusted annually to reflect changes in the 
consumer price index, population, and services pr0vided ~ these entities. Among other prCNisionsof Article 
X 111 B, if an entity's revenues in any year exceed the amount permitted to be spent, the excess would have to 
be returned ~ revising tax rates or fee schedules 0ver the subsequent two years. 

California Constitution Articles XIIIC and XIIID 

On N0vember 5, 1996, the voters of the State apprCNed Proposition 218, the so-cal led "Rightto Vote 
on TaxesAct." Proposition 218addedArticlesXI 11 C and XI 11 D totheCaliforniaConstitution, which contain 
a number of pr0visions affecting the albil ity of local g0vernments to levy and collect new or increased taxes, 
assessments, and property,el ated fees and charges. 

ArticleX 111 C pr0vides that a loca g0vernment may not impose, extend, or increase loca taxes unti I 
such taxes are submitted to the electorate for appr0val. General taxes, imposed, extended, or increased for 
general g0vernmental purposes of the I ocal g0vernment, require a m\j ority vote and special taxes, imposed, 
extended, or increased for specific purposes, require a two-thirds vote. 

In addition, Article X 111 C pr0vides that the constitutional initiative rxwer wi II not be prohibited or 
otherwi se I i mi ted i n matters of reduci ng or repeal i ng any I ocal tax, assessment, fee or charge and that the 
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pcwer of initiative to affect local taxes, assessrrents, fees and charges. Hcwever, onJ uly 1, 1997, a bi II was 
signed into I aw ~ the G CNemor of the State enacting G CNemment Code Section 5854, which states: "Section 
3 of Article XI 11 C of the Cal ifomia Constitution, as adopted at the NCNember 5, 19% general election, wil I 
not be construed to rrean that any cwner or beneficial cwner of a municipal security, purchased before or 
afterthat date, assurres the risk of, or in any way consents to, any action ~initiative measure that constitutes 
an i mpa rment of contractual rights protection ~ Section 10 of Article I of the United States Constitution." 
GCNemrrent Code Section 5854 appears to Ii mi tthe voters' pcwerto repeal or reduce Water System fees and 
charges if such reduction would interfere with the City's payrrent of Debt Service on the Bonds. If 
GCNemrrent Code Section 5854 becomes the subject of a challenge, hcwever, no guarantee can be rnade that 
the courts wi 11 agree with such interpretation. 

Article X 111 C does not define the terms "local tax," "assessrrent," "fee" or "charge." In Bi ghom­
Desert View Water Agency v. Verjil ("B ighom"), 39 Cal. 4th 205 (2003), decided~ the Cal ifomiaSuprerre 
Court on J uly 24, 2003, the petitioner sought to estalbl i sh his right to reduce a I ocal water agency's water 
delivery charges through use of the initiative pcwer. In holdingforthe petitioner on this issue, the court stated 
that the albsence of a restrictive definition of "fee'' or "charge'' in Article X 111 C suggests that those terms 
include al I levies that are ordinarily understood to be fees or charges, including al I of the property-felated fees 
and charges subjecttoArticleX 111 D. Though the Suprerre Court did not arrive at an exact definition of such 
terms, it did determine that fees and charges that are fees and charges within the rreani ng of Article X 111 D 
are necessarily fees and charges within the rreaning of Article XI 11 C. 

The Court heldthatArticleX 111 C authorizes the use of the initiative process to reduce water delivery 
charges but that it does not authorize use of the initiative pcwer to impose a voter-apprCNal recui rerrent on 
future increases in water delivery charges. The court declined to determine whether the initiative pcwer is 
Ii mi ted ~ other statutory prCNi si ons recui ring that water service charges be set at a I evel that wi 11 pay system 
operating expenses and debt service si nee that issue was not before the court. 

Consequently, the voters of the City could,~ future initiative, seek to repeal or reduce any local tax, 
assessrrent, fee or charge, including the City's water service fees and charges, which are the source of Net 
Revenues pl edged to the payrrent of Debt Service on the Bands. Though the use of the i ni ti ative pcwer is 
argualbly Ii mited in a case such as this where fees and charges have been imposed~ the City for services of 
the Water System that are pl edged to the payrrent of Debt Service on the Bands, there can be no assurance 
that the voters of the City wi 11 not seek to apprCNe such an initiative which attempts to reduce the fees and 
charges imposed~ the City for services of the Water System that are pledged to the payrrent of Debt Service 
on the B ands. 

Article X 111 D imposes various procedural and substantive requi rerrents on I ocal gCNemrrents that 
I evy an "assessrrent," "fee," or "charge." Article X 111 D defines "fees" or "charges" as "any I evy other than 
an ad val orem tax, a special tax, or an assessment imposed ~ a I ocal gCNemment upon a parcel or upon a 
person as an incident of property cwnershi p, including a user fee or charge for a property related service." 
"Property related service'' rreans a public service having adi rect relationship to property cwnershi p (property 
cwnershi p includes tenancies where tenants are directly Ii albl e to pay the fee or charge). I n particular, a fee or 
charge (i) rray not exceed the funds recui red to prCNide the property related service, (ii) rray not be used for 
any purpose other than that for which the fee or charge was imposed, (iii) may not exceed the proporti anal 
cost of the service attributable to the parcel, (iv) rnay not be imposed for a service unless that service is 
actually used~. or is imrnediately availalble to, the cwner of the property in question, and (v) rnay not be 
imposed for general gCNemrrental services. 
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In addition, before any property related fee or charge may be imposed or increased, the local 
g0vernment agency must pr0vide mailed notice forty-five (45) days in advance of a hearing regarding the 
proposed imposition or increase, and if written protests against the proposa are presented~ a majority of 
the cwners of the i denti fi ed parcels, the I ocal g0vernment agency may not impose or increase the fee or 
charge. M ore0ver, except for fees or charges for water, wastewater, and refuse col I ecti on services ( or fees for 
electrical and gas service, which are expressly exempted from Proposition 218), no property related fee or 
charge may be imposed or increased without a majority appr0val ~ the property cwners subject to the fee or 
charge or, at the option of the local agency, two-thirds appr0val ~ those residing in the affected area and 
voting at the election. ArticleX 111 D states that, beginningJ uly 1, 1997, all fees or charges must comply with 
its pr0vi si ons. 

In Richmond et al. v. Shasta Community Services City ("Richmond''), the California Supreme Court 
held that a water connection fee was not a "property-felated'' fee or charge subjecttoArticleX 111 D. Hcwever, 
in the opinion the California Supreme Court suggested in di eta that fees for ongoing water service through an 
existing connection were "property related'' fees and charges imposed on a person as an incident of property 
cwnership. The court addressed this issue directly in the Bighorn case discussed abClve. In its decision, the 
court cited its discussion in Richmond in support of its conclusion that a public agency's fees and charges for 
ongoing water service through an existing connection are "property-fel ated'' fees and charges imposed on a 
person as an incident of property cwnershi p for purposes of Article X 111 D, whether the fees and charges are 
calculated based on usage or are imposed as a fixed monthly fee. 

The City believes that it has complied with the procedures recuired ~ ArticleX 111 D, as such article 
has been construed~ the California Supreme Court, in connection with the increases in the Water fees and 
charges appr0ved ~ the City Counci I of the City on Apri I 4, 2016. See "THE WATER SYSTEM - Rate 
Setting and Col I ecti on Process" herein. 

The albi I ity of the City to comply with the c0venants in each of the Indenture, including the rate 
c0venants described under "SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Rate C0venant," in connection with the levy 
and col I ecti on of Water System service charges could be adversely affected ~ actions taken or not taken ~ 
voters, property cwners or other persons obi i gated to pay Water System service charges. Furthermore, the 
interpretation and application of Proposition 218will likely be subjecttofurtherjudicial determinations, and 
it is not possible at this time to predict with certainty the outcome of such determinations. See al so "RI SK 
FACTORS- Rate Process" herein. 

Proposition 26 

On N0vember 2, 2010, voters in the State appr0ved Proposition 26. Proposition 26 amends Article 
X 111 C of the State Constitution to expand the definition of "tax" to include "any levy, charge, or exaction of 
any kind imposed~ a local g0vernment'' except the follcwi ng: (1) a charge imposed for a specific benefit 
conferred or privilege granted directly to the payorthat is not pr0vided to those not charged, and which does 
not exceed the reasonable costs to the local g0vernment of conferring the benefit or granting the privilege; 
(2) a charge imposed for a specific g0vernment service or product pr0vi ded directly to the pay or that is not 
pr0vi ded to those not charged, and which does not exceed the reasonalbl e costs to the I ocal g0vernment of 
pr0viding the service or product; (3) a charge imposed for the reasonalble regulatory costs to a local 
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g0vernrrent for issuing I icenses and permits, perforrni ng investigations, inspections, and audits, enforcing 
agricultural rrarketing orders, and the administrative enforcerrent and adjudication thereof; (4) a charge 
imposed for entrance to or use of local g0vernrrent property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local 
g0vernrrent property; (5) a fine, penalty, or other rmnetary charge imposed ~ the judicial branch of 
g0vernrrent or a local g0vernrrent, as a result of a violation of law; (6) a charge imposed as a condition of 
property developrrent; and (7) assessrrents and property-felated fees imposed in accordance with the 
pr0vi sions of ArticleX 111 D. Proposition 26 pr0vides that the local g0vernrnent bears the burden of pr0ving 
~ a preponderance of the evidence that a I evy, charge, or other exaction is not a tax, that the annount is no 
rmre than necessary to c0verthe reasonaible costs of the g0vernrrental activity, and that the rranner in which 
those costs are al I ocated to a pay or bear a fair or reasonaibl e rel ati onshi p to the pay or's burdens on, or benefits 
received frorn, the g0vernrrental activity. The City does not believethattheenactrrent of Proposition 26will 
affect its aibi I ity to I evy rates and charges for water services. 

Future Initiatives 

Articles XIIIA, XIIIB, XIIIC and XIIID were adopted as rreasures that qualified for the ballot 
pursuantto California's initiative process. Frorn tirneto tirne other initiatives could be proposed and adopted 
affecting the Water System revenues, including the aibi I ity to increase or expend such revenues. 

RISK FACTORS 

The purchase of the Bonds involves i nvestrrent risk. I fa risk factor rraterial i zed to a sufficient degree, 
it could delay or prevent payrrent of principal of and interest on the Bonds. The fol I cw ng discussion of risks 
is not rreant to be an exhaustive Ii st of the risks associated with the purchase of the Bonds and does not 
necessarily reflect the relative i rnportance of the various issues. Such risk factors include, but are not Ii rnted 
to, the fol lcwng rratters and should be considered, along with other i nforrration in this Official Staterrent, 
~ potential investors. There can be no assurance that other risk factors wi 11 not becorre rrateri al in the 
future. 

General 

The payrrent of principal of and interest on the Bonds is secured solely~ a pledge of the Net 
Revenues and other payments paid~ the City pursuanttothe Indenture. The obligation of the City to rnalke 
the Debt Service on the Bonds is a limited obligation of the City payable solely frorn a pledge of Net 
Revenues. The realization of the Net Revenues is subject to, annong other things, the capaibilities of 
rranagerrent of the City, the aibi I ity of the City to pr0vide water services to its users, and the aibi I ity of the 
City to estaibl ish and rraintain water fees and charges sufficient to pr0vide the required debt service c0verage 
as wel I as pay for Maintenance and Operation Costs. A rmng other rratters, natural disasters, general and I ocal 
econorni c conditions and changes in I aw and g0vernrrent regulations (including i ni ti atives and rmratori urns) 
could adversely affect the annount of Net Revenues realized~ the City. 

Accuracy of Assumptions 

To esti rrate projected financial results of the Water Sy stern, including the C0verage Projections set 
forth in Table 8, and the corresponding projected Net Revenues availaible to pay debt service on the Bonds, 
the City has rnade certain financial forecasts and assumptions with regard to the rates and charges to be 
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imrxised in future years, estirrated foreseeable Parity Debt, the expenses associated with Water System 
operations and the interest rate at which funds wi 11 be invested. 

The City believes these financial forecasts and assumptions to be reasonable, but variations in the 
any one of the assumptions may produce substantially different financial results. Actual operating results 
achieved during the projection period rray vary from those forecasted and such variations may be material, 
with arxissible result bei ngthat Net Revenues may prCNeto be significantly less than projected in thi sOfficial 
Statement. Accardi ngly, such assumptions and projections are at best educated estimates, and are not in any 
way a guaranty of future performance. 

Limited Obligation 

The obligation of the City to pay Debt Service on the Bonds is a limited obligation of the City and is 
not secured~ a legal or ecuitable pledge or charge or lien urxin any property of the City or any of its income 
or receipts, except the Net Revenues. The obligation of the City to Debt Service on the Bonds does not 
constitute an obi igation of the City to levy or pledge any form of taxation or for which the City has levied or 
pl edged any form of taxation. No cwner of any Bond may compel the exercise of the taxing pcwer ~ the 
City orthe forfeiture of any of its property. 

Limited Recourse on Default 

If the City defaults on its obligation to rrake payment on the Bonds, the Trustee has the right to 
accelerate the total unpaid principal amount of the Bands. H cwever, in the event of a def au It and such 
acceleration, there can be no assurance that the City will have sufficient Net Revenues to pay the accelerated 
unpa d principal amount of the Bands. 

Increased Maintenance and Operation Costs 

There can be no assurance that expenses of the City with respect to the Water System will be 
consistent with the levels contemplated in this Official Statement. Maintenance and Operation Costs could 
increase at higher rates than currently expected as a result of various factors, including increases in personnel 
costs, energy costs, chemical costs, pumping costs, technology, safety or regulatory costs, unforeseen costs 
associated with spills or other accidents involving the Water System, and other factors beyond the City's 
control. 

I ncreases in Maintenance and Operation Costs could recui re an increase in rates or charges in order 
to comply with the Rate C0venants in the Indenture. There can be no assurance that such future rate increases, 
if necessary, will not encounter rrajority protest oprx:isition or be challenged~ initiative action authorized 
under Prorxisition 218. See"RI SK FACTORS - Rate C0venant" herein. 

Project Management 

The City has agreed underthe Indenture to maintain and operate the Water System in an efficient and 
economical manner and to operate, maintain and preserve the Water System in good repair and working order. 
Shaul d management prCNe deficient, it is rxissi bl e that the Water System could fal I into di srepa r, rxissi bly to 
I evel s that would recui re significant rate increases to properly remedi ate conditions. The City has c0venanted 
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to prescribe, revise and col I ect rates and charges for the Water System at certa n I evel s; hcwever, there can 
be no assurance that such annountswill be collected in the amounts and at the times necessary to make timely 
payments with respect to the Bonds. Additionally, the ability of the City to comply with its c0venants under 
the I ndenture, and to generate Net Revenues sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the Bands, may be 
adversely affected~ actions and events outside of the control of the City and may be adversely affected~ 
actions taken ( or not taken) ~ voters, property cwners, taxpayers or payers of assessments, fees and charges. 
See "CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ON TAXES AND RATES AND CHARGES" herein. Any 
remedies avai I albl e to the cwners of the Bands, upon the occurrence of an event of default underthe I ndenture, 
are in many respects dependent uponj udi ci al actions which are often subject to discretion and delay and could 
prCNe both expensive and time consuming to obtain. See "Limitations on Remedies and Bankruptcy." 

Financial Controls 

The City is responsible for estalblishing and maintaining an internal control structure designed to 
ensure that the assets of the City, including the Water System, are protected from I oss, theft, or misuse and to 
ensure that adecuate accounting data are compi I ed to al I cw for the preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The internal control structure is designed to 
pr0vide reasonalble, but not albsolute, assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonal:Je 
assurance recognizes that: ( 1) the cost of control should not exceed the benefits Ii kely to be derived; and (2) 
the valuation of costs and benefits recui res estimates and judgments~ management.While the City believes 
that it has estalbl i shed an internal control structure designed to protect against such events, no assurance can 
be given as to the adequacy of thereof, or any insurance c0verage related thereto. If there were to be an 
occurrence of a loss, theft, or misappropriation, there could be a substantial reduction in the City's albi lity to 
pay Debt Service on the Bonds. 

Insurance 

The Indenture requires the City to obtain and keep in force various forms of insurance or self­
insurance, subject to deductibles, for repair or replacement of applicalble portions of the Water System in the 
event of dannage or destruction thereto. No assurance can be given as to the adequacy of any such self­
insurance or any addi ti anal insurance to fund necessary repair or replacement of any such appl i calbl e portions 
of the Water System. Significant damage to the Water System could result in a lack of the ability to generate 
sufficient Net Revenues to repay the Bands. 

Further, the City is not legally obi igated underthe Indenture to maintain, or cause to be maintained, 
earthquake or flooc insurance on the either the Water System, and the City does not presently maintain 
earthquake or flooc insurance on behalf of the Water System. No assurance is made that any earthquake or 
flooc insurance will be pr0vided in the future, or if pr0vided, that such insurance will continue to be 
maintained in the future. If there were to be an occurrence of a flooc or severe seismic activity in the City, 
there could be substantial dannage to the Water System, the cost of repair of which could exceed the net ecui ty 
avai lalbletherefore. In the event of significant flooc or earthquake dannage to the Water System, there can be 
no assurance that Net Revenues would be sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the Bands. 
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Limitations on Remedies and Bankruptcy 

The ability of the City to increase water service charges and to comply with its cCNenants underthe 
Indenture and to generate Net Revenues in amounts sufficient to pay Debt Service on the Bonds may be 
adversely affected ~ actions and events outside of the control of the City and may be adversely affected ~ 
actions taken ( or not taken) ~ voters, property cwners, taxpayers or payers of assessments, fees and charges. 
See "CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ON TAXES AND RATES AND CHARGES - California 
Constitution Articles X 111 C and X 111 D" herein. 

Furthermore, any remedies avai I able to the cwners of the Bands upon the occurrence of an event of 
default underthe Indenture are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to 
discretion and delay and could prCNe both expensive and ti me consuming to obta n. 

In addition to the Ii mitations on remedies contained in the Indenture, the rights and obi igations under 
the Bonds may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, fraudulent conveyance, 
moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights to the application of equitable princi pies, 
to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations on legal remedies against 
municipalities in theStateof California Various legal opi nionsto bedel ivered concurrently with the issuance 
of the Bondswill be so qualified. In addition, the opinion to be delivered~ Bond Counsel concurrently with 
the issuance of the Bands, wi 11 al so state that the enforceabi Ii ty of the I ndenture is subject to the Ii mi tati ons 
on the imposition offeesand charges~ the City relatingtothe Water System, under ArticleX 111 C and XI 11 D 
of the California Constitution. A complete copy of the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel is set forth 
in Appendix E hereto. In the eventthe City fai Is to comply with its cCNenants underthe Indenture orto pay 
Debt Service on the Bands, there can be no assurance that avai I albl e remedies wi 11 be adequate to fully protect 
the i nterests of the hol ders of the B ands. 

As noted albCNe, the enforcement of the remedies prCNi ded in the I ndenture and the I ndenture could 
prCNe both expensive and ti me consuming. In addition, the rights and remedies prCNided in the Indenture may 
be Ii mi ted ~ and are subject to prCNi si ons of the federal bankruptcy I aws, as new or hereafter enacted, and 
to other laws or equitalble principles that may affect creditors' rights. If the City were to file a petition under 
Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code (Title 11, United States Code), the Bondholders and the Trustee could be 
prohibited or severely restricted from taking any steps to enforce their rights under the Indenture. So long as 
the Bonds are held in book-entry form, DTC (or its nominee) will be the sole registered Bondholder and will 
be entitled to exercise al I rights and remedies of Bondholders. 

Physical Condition of Water System Facilities 

The rel i albi Ii ty of the Water System is affected ~ a number of factors including physical and 
operational vulnerabilities of its facilities. Certain of the Water System facilities are near the end of their 
useful life. Long-I ived faci Ii ties result in decreased reliability due to unplanned outages and place a greater 
maintenance burden on operations. The City budgets for the maintenance and operations of its facilities; 
hcwever, the City gives no assurance that any future significant diminished physical status of its facilities 
would not materially adversely affect the operations of the Water System. Partial or complete failure of 
components of the Water System could cause a material increase in costs for repairs or a corresponding 
material adverse impact on Net Revenues. 
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Energy Costs 

No assurance can be given that any future significant reduction or loss of pcwerwould not rraterially 
adversely affect the op:rati ons of the Water System. The vol um: of water processed and treated in the Water 
System on a daily basis recuires a significant amount of pcwer. Electricity is needed to run several assets 
including, among otherthings, pumps, lights, computers, mechanical valves and rrachinery. 

The City cannot guarantee that prices for electricity or gas will not increase, which could adversely 
affecttheWaterSystem'sfinancial condition. See"CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ON TAXES AND 
RATES AND CHARGES - California Constitution ArticlesX I I IC and XI 11 D" herein. 

Statutory and Regulatory Impact 

Laws and regulations g0verni ng treatm:nt and disposal of water are enacted and promulgated ~ 
g0vernm:nt agencies on the federal, state and I ocal I evel s. Campi i ance with these I aws and regulations may 
be extrem:ly costly, and, as more stringent standards are developed to protect the environm:nt, these costs 
will likely increase. 

Claims against the City for violations of regulations with resp:ct to its faci Ii ties and services could 
be significant. Such claims are payable from assets of the Water System or from other legally available 
sources. A I though the City has c0venanted in the I ndenture to fix, prescribe and col I ect rates, fees and charges 
during each Fi seal Year at sp:cified levels, no assurance can be given thatthe cost of compliance with such 
laws and regulations wil I not materially adversely affect the ability of the City to generate Net Revenues in 
the amounts recui red ~ the Indenture to pay Debt Service on the Bands. Certain potential increasing 
regulatory standards could materially increase the cost to the City of pr0vi ding water services. 

Natural Disasters 

The area in and surrounding the City, like those in much of California, rray be subject to 
unpredictable droughts, storms, fl oocs, fires, soi I exparsi on and Ii quefacti on and seismic activity that could 
negatively affect the value of the Water System, as wel I as other assets of the City. The possi bi I ity of the 
occurrence of som: of these conditions and events has not been talken into account in the design of the Water 
System and has not been talk en into account in the designs of other public i mpr0vem:nts which rray be 
acquired or constructed~ the City or other public agencies. 

The City exp:cts that one or more of these conditions wil I I ikely occur in the future, and, even if 
design criteria have been implem:nted to mitigate certain geologic events, which rray or may not pr0veto be 
the case, such conditions rray nevertheless result in dannage to or destruction of part or all of the Water 
System. 

If there were to be an occurrence of a severe geotechnical condition or natural disaster in the area of 
the City, there could be an interruption in the service pr0vided ~ the Water System resulting in a reduction 
in the amount of Net Revenues avai I able to pay Debt Service on the Bands. Further, dannage to components 
of the Water System could cause a material increase in costs for repairs or a corresponding material adverse 
impact on resp:ctive Net Revenues. 
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Safety and Security 

The safety ofthefacil itiesoftheW aterSystem is maintainec ~ acombi nation of regular inspections 
~ City empl0yees, electronic monitoring, and analysis of unusual incident reports. All aixNe-ground 
faci Ii ties operatec and maintained~ the City, are control lee access faci litieswith fencing and gates. Despite 
the security measures and precautions that are in place, military conflicts and terrorist activities could 
adversely impact operations of the Water System and the finances of the City. 

The City continually pans and prepares for emergency situations and i mmeci ately responds to ensure 
services are maintained. Hcwever, there can be no assurance that any existing or additi anal safety and security 
measures wi 11 prCNe adecuate in the event that terrorist activities are di rectec against the assets of the Water 
System or that costs of security measures wi 11 not be greater than presently anticipated. Furthermore, damage 
to the Water System could recuire the City to increase expenditures for repairs significantly enough to 
adversely impact the City's aibil ity to pay Debt Service on the Bonds. 

Economic, Political, Social, and Environmental Conditions 

Prospective investors are encouraged to evaluate current and prospective economic, political, social, 
and environmental conditions as part of an informed investment decision. Changes in economic, political, 
social, or environmental conditions on a local, state, feceral, and/or international level may adversely affect 
investment risk generally. 

Such conditional changes may include (but are not limited to): fluctuations in business production, 
consumer prices, financial markets, or unempl 0yment rates; technological advancements; shortages or 
surpluses in natural resources or energy supplies; changes in I aw; social unrest, fluctuations in the crime rate, 
political conflict, actsofwarorterrorism; environmental damage; and natural disasters. 

Rate Process 

The passage of Proposition 218 ~ the California electorate, which addec ArticlesX 111 C and X 111 D 
to the California Constitution, affects the City's aibi I ity to impose future rate increases, and no assurance can 
be given that future rate increases will not encounter m\jority protest opposition or initiative action under 
Proposition 218. In the eventthat future proposec rate increases cannot be imposec as a result of a majority 
protest or initiative, it may adversely affect the aibi lity of the City to generate Net Revenues in the amounts 
required~ the Indenture to pay Debt Service on the Bonds. See"CONSTITUTI ONAL LIMITATIONS ON 
TAX ES AND RATES AND CHARGES - California Constitution Articles XI 11 C andX 111 D." 

The City's aibi I ity to comply with the rate c0venant underthe Indenture may al so be Ii mited ~ the 
pr0visions of Proposition 218. The foregoing discussion of Proposition 218 should not be considerec an 
exhaustive or authoritative treatment of the issues. The City does not expect to be in a position to control the 
consideration or di sposi ti on of these issues and cannot predict the timing or outcome of any j udi ci al or 
legislative activity in this regard. Interim rulings, final decisions, legislative proposals and legislative 
enactments may al I affect the impact of Proposition 218 on the Bands as wel I as the market for the Bands. 
Legislative and court calendar delays and other factors may prolong any uncertainty regarding the effects of 
Proposi ti on 218. 
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Investment of Funds 

Al I funds and accounts held under the I ndenture are required to be invested in Authorized I nvestrrents 
as pr0vided under the Indenture. See APPENDIX A attached hereto for a summary of the definition of 
Authorized I nvestrrents. All i nvestrrents, including the Authorized I nvestrrents and those authorized~ law 
from ti rre to ti me for i nvestrrents ~ public agencies, contain a certain degree of risk. Such risks include, but 
are not Ii mited to, a I ewer rate of return than expected, loss of market value and loss or delayed receipt of 
principal. The occurrence of these events with respect to amounts held under the Indenture or ~ the City 
could have a material adverse effect on the security of the Bands. 

Secondary Market Risk 

There can be no guarantee that there wi 11 be a secondary market for the Bands or, if a secondary 
market exists, that any Bonds can be sold for any particular price. Occasionally, because of general market 
conditions or because of adverse historical or economic prospects connected with a particular issue, secondary 
marketing practices in connection with a particular issue are suspended or terminated. Additionally, prices 
of issues for which a market is being made wi 11 depend upon then-prevai Ii ng circumstances. Such prices 
could be substantially different from the original purchase price. 

Loss of Tax Exemption 

As discussed under the caption "TAX MATTERS," interest on the Bonds could fail to be excluded 
pursuant to section 103(a) of the Code from the gross income of the cwners thereof for purposes of federal 
income taxation, in sorre cases retroactive to the date of execution and delivery of the Bands, as a result of 
future acts or omissions of the City in violation of certain c0venants contained in the Indenture. Should such 
an event of taxabi Ii ty occur, the Bands are not subject to special redemption or any increase in interest rate 
and wi 11 remain outstanding unti I maturity or unti I redeemed pursuant to the I ndenture. 

In addition, Congress has considered in the past, is currently considering and may consider in the 
future, legislative proposals, including some that carry retroactive effective dates that, if enacted, would alter 
or eliminate the exclusion from gross income for federal i ncorre tax purposes of interest on muni ci pa bonds, 
such as the Bands. Prospective purchasers of the Bands should consult their cwn tax advisors regarding any 
pending or proposed federal tax legislation. The City can pr0vide no assurance that federal tax law will not 
change while the Bonds are outstanding orthat any such changes wil I not adversely affect the exclusion of 
interest on the Bands from gross i ncorre for federal income tax purposes. If the exclusion of interest on the 
Bands from gross income for federal i ncorre tax purposes were amended or eliminated, it is Ii kely that the 
market price for the Bands would be adversely impacted. 

IRS Audit 

The Internal Revenue Service (the "I RS") has initiated an expanded program forthe auditing of tax­
exempt bond issues, including both random and targeted audits. It is possible that the Bands wi 11 be selected 
for audit ~ the I RS. It is al so possible that the market value of the Bands might be affected as a result of 
such an audit of the Bonds (or~ an audit of similar bonds). No assurance can be given that in the course of 
an audit, as a result of an audit, or otherwise, Congress or the I RS might not change the Tax Code (or 
interpretation thereof) subsecuent to the issuance of the Bonds to the extent that it adversely affects the 
exclusion from gross i ncorre of interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds or their market value. 
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Uncertainties of Projections, Forecasts and Assumptions 

Compliance with certain of the cCNenants containec in the Indenture is based upon assumptions and 
projections. Projections and assumptions are inherently subject to significant uncertainties. Inevitably, some 
assumptionswi II not be realizec and unanticipatec events and circumstances may occur and actual results are 
likely to differ, perhaps materially, from those projectec. Accordingly, such projections are not necessarily 
indicative offuture performance, and the City assumes no responsibility forthe accuracy of such projections. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Attachec as APPENDIX B are the auditec financial statements of the City (the "Financial 
Statements'') for Fi seal Year 2015-16, which include financial statements forthe Water System, preparec ~ 
the City's Finance Department and auditec ~ Terry E. Krieg, CPA, Santa Rosa, California (the "Auditor"). 

The Auditor's I etter concludes that the Financial Statements present fairly, in al I material respects, 
the respective financial position of the gCNernmental activities, the business type activities, each m\j or fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of June 30, 2016, and the respective changes in 
its financial position, and, where applicable, cash flews thereof forthe yearthen ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally acceptec in the U nitec States of America The Financial Statements include 
information regarding other certain funds of the City, which are not pl ecged to pay Debt Service on the Bands. 

Additionally, the City has not requestec nor did the City obtain permission from the Auditor to 
include the auditec financial statements as an appendix to this Official Statement. Accardi ngly, the Auditor 
has not performec any post-audit review of the financial condition or operations of the City. In addition, the 
Auditor has not reviewec this Official Statement. 

TAX MATTERS 

In the opinion of The Weist Law Fi rm, Scotts Valley, California, Bond Counsel, subject, hcweverto 
the qualifications set forth belcw, underexi sting law, the interest on the Bonds i sexcl udecfrom gross income 
for federal income tax purposes and such interest is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal 
alternative minimum tax imposec on individuals and corporations, prCNided, hcwever, that, for the purpose 
of computing the alternative minimum tax imposec on corporations (as defined for feceral income tax 
purposes), such interest is taken into account in determining certain income and earnings. 

The opinions set forth in the prececi ng paragraph are subject to the condition that the City comply 
with al I requirements of the Tax Code that must be sati sfi ec subsequent to the issuance of the Bands. The 
City has cCNenanted to comply with each such requirement. Failure to comply with certain of such 
requirements may cause the inclusion of such interest in gross income for federal income tax purposes to be 
retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bands. 

If the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses and brokers) at which a Bond is sold 
is less than the amount payalble at maturity thereof, then such difference constitutes "original issue discount'' 
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for purposesoffederal incanetaxesand State of California personal incorretaxes. If the initial offering price 
to the public ( excluding bond houses and brokers) at which a Bond is sold is greater than the annount payalbl e 
at rmturi ty thereof, then such difference constitutes "original issue prerni uni' for purposes of federal i ncorre 
taxes and State of California personal incorre taxes. De rninirnis original issue discount and original issue 
prerni urn is disregarded. 

Under the Tax Code, original issue discount is treated as interest excluded frorn federal gross i ncorre 
and exernr:t frorn State of California personal income taxes to the extent properly allocalble to each cwner 
thereof subject to the Ii rnitati ons described in the first paragraph of this section. The original issue discount 
accrues 0ver the terrn to rmturity of the Bond on the basis of a constant interest rate compounded on each 
interest or principal payrrent date (with straight-Ii ne interpolations between cornpoundi ng dates). The amount 
of original issue discount accruing during each period is added to the adjusted basis of such Bands to 
deterrni ne taxable gain upon disposition (including sale, redemption, or payment on maturity) of such Bond. 
The Tax Code contains certain pr0vi si ons relating to the accrual of original issue discount in the case of 
purchasers of the Bands who purchase the Bands after the initial offering of a substantial annount of such 
rmturity. O.Vners of such Bonds should consult their cwn tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences 
of cwnershi p of Bands with original issue discount, including the treatrrent of purchasers who do not purchase 
in the original offering, the allcwance of a deduction for any loss on a sale or other disposition, and the 
treatrrent of accrued original issue discount on such Bands under federal individual and corporate alternative 
rni ni rnurn taxes. 

Under the Tax Code, original issue prerni urn is annorti zed on an annual basis 0ver the terrn of the 
Bond (said terrn being the shorter of the Bond's rraturity date or its cal I date). The armunt of original issue 
prerni urn annorti zed each year reduces the adjusted basis of the cwner of the Bond for purposes of deterrni ni ng 
taxalble gain or loss upon disposition. Thearmunt of original issue prerni urn on a Bondi sannortized each year 
0ver the terrn to rnaturi ty of the Bond on the basis of a constant interest rate compounded on each interest or 
principal payment date (with straight-line interpolations between compounding dates). Armrtized Bond 
prerni urn is not deductible for federal i ncorne tax purposes. Owners of prerni urn Bands, including purchasers 
who do not purchase in the original offering, should consult their cwn tax advisors with respect to State of 
California personal i ncorre tax and federal i ncorne tax consequences of cwni ng such Bands. 

I n the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bands is exempt frorn California personal 
i ncorre taxes. 

Current and future legislative proposals, if enacted into law, clarification of the Tax Code or court 
decisions rnay cause interest on the Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal i ncorre taxation or 
to be subject to or exempted frorn state i ncorre taxation, or otherwise prevent beneficial cwners frorn realizing 
the ful I current benefit of the tax status of such interest. The introduction or enactrrent of any such I egi sl ative 
proposals, cl ari fi cation of the Tax Code or court decisions rnay al so affect the market price for, or 
rrarketalbi I ity of, the Bands. Prospective purchasers of the Bands should consult their cwn tax advisors 
regarding any pending or proposed federal or state tax legislation, regulations or I itigation, as to which Bond 
Counsel expresses no opinion. 

O.Vners of the Bonds should also be aware that the cwnership or disposition of, or the accrual or 
receipt of interest on, the Bands rnay have federal or state tax consecuences other than as described albClve. 
Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any federal or state tax consecuences arising with respect to 
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the Bands other than as expressly described above. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding other 
federal tax consequences ari si ng with respect to the cwnershi p, sale or di sposi ti on of the B ands, orthe amount, 
accrual or receipt of interest on the Bands, other than as expressly described albove. The proposed form of the 
opinion of Bond Counsel is attached asAPPENDIX E. 

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS 

The Weist Law Firm, Scotts Valley, California, Bond Counsel, will render an opinion with respect 
to the validity of the Bonds, the form of which opinion is set forth in APPENDIX E. Certain legal matters 
will also be passed upon for the City~ The Weist Law Firm, as Disclosure Counsel. Certain legal matters 
wi 11 be passed upon forthe City ~ the City Attorney. 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

Pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Rule"), the City has 
undertaken forthe benefit of holders of the Bonds to pr0vide certain financial information and operating data 
relating to the City's Water System by not later than the March 31 following the end of the City's fiscal year 
(which is currently June 30), commencing with the report for the 2016-17 Fiscal Year (the "Annual 
Information"), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events. The Annual Information 
wil I be filed~ or on behalf of the City with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the "MSRB") in 
an electronic format prescribed~ MSRB (currently Electronic Municipal Market Access system). Notices 
of enumerated eventswil I be filed~ or on behalf of the City with the MSRB. The nature of the information 
to be pr0vided in the Annual Information and the notices of certain enumerated events is described in 
"APPENDIX C -FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE" hereto. 

The City and its related g0vernmental entities have previously entered into several disclosure 
undertakings underthe Rule in connection with the issuance of long-term obligations. 

Duri ngthe past five years, the City and its related entities have failed to file, or file on a timely basis, 
annual continuing disclosure reports, annual audited financials forthe City, notices of i nsurer-felated rating 
changes with respect to multiple series of bonds, and failed to file failure to file notices with respect to 
instances in which the City failed to comply with its prior undertakings. Hcwever, the City has si nee brought 
itself current with respect to al I of its filings that were recuired to have been madewithi n the past five years. 

Each of the Annual Reports, audited financial statements and event notices were subsequently fi I ed. 
Accordingly, the City believes it is currently in compliance with its existing continuing disclosure 
undertakings. The City has adopted policies and procedures necessary to ensure compliance with the 
continuing di sci osure undertakings of the City, and its related entities, in the future. 

LITIGATION 

To the best kncwledge of the City there is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in 
ecuity before or ~ any court or g0vernmental agency or body pending or threatened against the City to 
restrain or enjoin the authorization, execution or delivery of the Bonds, the pledge of Net Revenues orthe 
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col I ecti on of the payments to be rrade pursuantto the I ndenture, the obi i gati on of the City to pay Debt Service 
on the Bonds made pursuanttothe Indenture, or in any way contesting or affecting validity of the Bonds, the 
Indenture, or the agreement for the sale of the Bands. 

The City is engaged in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of its business. Hcwever, there is 
no litigation pending or threatened against the City which, in the opinion of the City Attorney, would 
materially adversely affect the Water System or the sources of payment for the Bands. 

RATINGS 

The Insured Bands are expected to be assigned an insured rating of "AA" by S&P Global Ratings, a 
business unit of Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC ("S&P") upon the issuance of the Policy by 
Insurer at the time of delivery of the Insured Bonds. The Bonds have also been assigned an underlying rating 
of "A-+'' by S&P. Such ratings reflect only the view of S& P, and any desired explanation of the significance 
of such ratings should be obtained from S& P. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the inforrration 
and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its cwn. There is no assurance 
such ratings wi 11 continue for any given period of ti me or that such ratings wi 11 not be revised dcwnward or 
withdrawn entirely~ S& P, if in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. The City and the Underwriter have 
undertaken no responsi bi I ity eitherto bring to the attention of the O.Vners of the Bands any proposed change 
in or withdrawal of the ratings orto oppose any such proposed revision or withdrawal. Any such dcwnward 
change in or withdrawal might have an adverse effect on the market price or marketability of the Bonds. The 
City has no obi i gati on to rrai ntai n any rati ng forthe B ands. 

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR 

The City has retained PFM Financial Advisors LLC (the "Municipal Advisor") in connection with 
the issuance of the Bonds. The Municipal Advisor is a financial advisory firm and is not engaged in the 
busi nessof underwriting ordi stributi ng municipal securities or other public securities. The Municipal Advisor 
is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertalken to malke, an independent verification or assume 
responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the inforrration contained in this Official 
Statement. The Municipal Advisor will receive compensation from the City contingent upon the sale and 
delivery of the Bands. 

UNDERWRITING 

The Bonds are being purchased~ Stifel, Nicolaus& Company, Incorporated (the"Underwriter"). 
The Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Bonds at a price of $5,9:J3, 121.80 (which price is equal to the 
$5,405,00J.OO aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, plus net Original Issue Premium of $532,741.80, 
and less Underwriter's Discount of $34,620.00). 

The Bond Purchase Contract pursuant to which the Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Bonds 
pr0vides that the U nderwriterwill purchase all of the Bonds if any are purchased, the obligation to rrake such 
purchase being subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Purchase Contract, including the 
apprCNal of certain I egal rratters ~ counsel and certain other conditions. 
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The Underwriter intends to offer the Bonds to the public at the offering prices set forth on the c0ver 
page of this Official Statement. The Underwriter rray offer and sell to certa n dealers and others at a price 
I ewer than the offering prices stated on the c0ver page hereof. The offering price may be changed from ti me 
to ti me ~ the U nderwri ter. 

VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS 

Upon delivery of the Bonds, the Verification Agent will deliver a report stating that the firm has 
verified the mathematical accuracy of certain computations relating to the adequacy of the armunts deposited 
pursuantto the E screw Agreementto pay the appl i calbl e redemption price of and accrued interest on, the 200:i 
Installment Sale Agreement and the 200:i Bonds on their respective payment and redemption dates. The 
Verification Agent has restricted its procedures to examining the arithmetical accuracy of certain 
computations and has nct made any study or evaluation of the assumptions and information upon which the 
computations are based and, accordingly, has not expressed an opinion on the data used, the reasonalbl eness 
of the assumpti ons, orthe achi evalbi I i ty of the forecasted outcome. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

So far as any statements made in this Official Statement involve matters of opinion, assumptions, 
projections, anticipated events or estimates, whether or not expressly stated, they are set forth as such and nct 
as representations of fact, and actual results rray differ substantially from those set forth herein. Neitherthi s 
Official Statement nor any statement which may have been made verbally or in writing is to be construed as 
a contract with the Owners of the B ands. 

The summaries of certa n pr0vi si ons of the Bands, statutes and other documents or agreements 
referred to in this Official Statement do not purport to be complete, and interested parties must refer to each 
of them for a complete statement of their pr0vi si ons. Copies are avai I able for review ~ making requests to 
the City. 

TheAppendicesare an integral partofthisOfficial Statement and must be read together with al I other 
parts of this Official Statement. The audited financial statements of the City (including financial statements 
of the City's Water System), including a summary of significant accounting policies, for the Fi seal Year 
endedJ une 30, 2016 is contained in APPENDIX B. 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY 

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement have been authorized~ the City Council of 
the City. 

CITY OF FORTUNA, CALIFORNIA 

By: M Aaron Felmlee 
Fi nance Di rector 
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APPENDIX A 

SUMMARY OF INDENTURE 

Certain p-avi si ons of the I ndenture are sumrari 2ed bel ON. This sumrary does nct purport 
to be corrpete or definitive and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full terms of the 
I ndenture. I n the event of a conflict between this sumrary and the I ndenture, the terms of the 
I ndenture shal I gavern. 

Certain Definitions 

"Authority" means the Fortuna Public Financing Authority, ajdnt exercise of pavvers 
agency organized and existing underthe laws of the State of California 

"Authorized Investments'' means any of the fol I o.,vi ng, but only to the extent that the same 
are acquired at Fair Mark et Value, which at the ti me of investment are I egal investments under the 
laws of the State of California for the moneys proposed to be invested therein: 

(a) Federal Securities; 

(b) (i) oll igations of any of the follcwi ng federal agencies which obligations rep-esent 
full faith and credit of the United States of America, including: Export--l rnport Bank, Farm Credit 
System Financial Assistance Corporation, Rural Economic Community Development 
Adrni ni strati on (formerly Farmers Horne Administration), General Services Administration, U.S. 
Maritime Adrrinistration, Small Business Administration, Gcwernment National Mortgage 
Association, U.S. Department of Housing& Urban Development, Federal HousingAdrninistration 
and Federal Financing Bank. and (ii) direct obligations for any of the follo.,ving federal agencies 
which olligations are not fully guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States of 
America: senior delX obligations rated "Aaa'.' by Moody's and "AAA" by S&P issued by Fannie 
Mae or Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC); olligations of the Resolution 
Funding Corporation (REFCORP); senior delX obligations of the Federal Home Loan Bank 
Sy stern; and senior delX obi i gati ons of cther G avernment Sponsored Agencies; 

(c) U.S. dollar denominated deposit accounts federal funds and banker's accep:ances 
with domestic commercial banks, which rnay include the Trustee, its parent hdding company, if 
any, and their affiliates, which have a rating on their short term certificates of deposit on the date 
of purchase of "P-1" by Moody's and "A-1" or "A-1-jC' by S&P or are collateralized by Federal 
Securities and rnaturi ng no more than 360 days afterthe date of purchase, pravided that ratings on 
holding cornpani es are not considered as the rating of the bank; 

( cl) cornmerci al paper which is rated at the ti me of purchase in the single highest 
classification, "P-1" by Moody's and "A-1-jC' by S&P, and which matures not more than 270 
calendar days after the date of purchase; 
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( e) investments in a mmey market fund, including those of an affi Ii ate of the Trustee, 
rated "AAAm'' or "AAAm-G" or better lJy S& P, including funds for which the Trustee, its parent 
holding company, if any, or any affiliates or subsidiaries of the Trustee or such holding company 
p-avi de investment advisory or other management services; 

(f) p-e---refunded municipal obligations defined as follavvs: any bonds or cther 
obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any agency, instrumentality or local 
gavernmental unit of any such state which are not cal I albl e at the option of the obi i gor prior to 
maturity or as to which i rrevocalbl e instructions have been given lJy the obi i gor to cal I on the elate 
specified in the notice; and (i) which are rated, based upon an irrevocable escravv account or fund, 
in the highest rating category of Moody's and S& P or any successors thereto; or (i i)(A) subject to 
the app-aval of S& P, which are fully secured as to principal and interest and p-epayment p-emi um, 
if any, lJy an escravv consisting only of Federal Securities, which escravv may be applied only to 
the payment of such principal of and interest and prepayment premium, if any, on such bonds or 
cther obi igations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the specified prepayment date or elates 
pursuant to such irrevocable instructions, as app-opri ate, and (B) which escravv is sufficient, as 
verified lJy a nationally recognized independent certified public accountant, to pay principal of and 
interest and prepayment premium, if any, on the bonds or cther obligations described in this 
paragraph on the maturity elate or dates thereof or on the p-epayment elate or dates speci fi ed i n the 
irrevocable instructions referred to albave, as appropriate; and 

(g) the Local Agency Investment Fund of the State of California, created pursuant to 
Section 16429.1 of the California G avernment Code, to the extent the Trustee is authorized to 
register such investment in its name. 

"Authorized Rep:esentative" means the Mayor, City Manager, Finance Director, or the 
desi gnee of the City M an ager. 

"Average Annual Debt Service" means the tctal aggregate DelX Service for the entire 
period during which the Bands are Outstanding divided lJy the number of Fi seal Years or portions 
thereof during which the Bands are Outstanding. 

"Bond Counsel" means The Weist Law Firm or any other attorney at law or firm of 
attorneys, of nationally recognized standing in matters pertaining to the federal tax exemption of 
interest on bonds issued lJy states and political subdivisions, and duly admitted to practice law 
before the highest court of any state of the United States of America 

"Bond Law" means Articles 1 O ( cornmenci ng with Section 53570) and 11 (commencing 
with Section 53580) of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Gavernment Code of the 
State of California 

"Bond R egi strati on B oaks'' means the books maintained lJy the Trustee pursuant to the 
Indenture for the registration and transfer of cwnership of the Series 2017 Bonds. 

"Bond Proceeds Fund" means the fund estalblished and held lJy the Trustee pursuant to the 
Indenture. 
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"Bonds'' means, collectively, the Series 2017 Bonds and any Parity Debt issued and at any 
ti me Outstanding under the I ndenture. 

"20CXi Bonds" means the Authority's Water Revenue Bonds, Series 20CXi, issued in the 
ori gi nal pri nci pal amount of $8,085, 000. 

"Bond Year" means the twelve-month period beginning on October 2 in each year and 
ending on October 1 in the fd I avvi ng year except that (i) the first Bond Year with respect to the 
Series 2017 Bonds shall begin on the Closing Date, and (ii) the last Bond Year with respect to the 
Series 2017 Bonds may end on a redem[Xion date priorto maturity of the Series 2017 Bonds or 
the final maturity date of the Series 2017 Bonds. 

"Business Day'' means any day otherthan a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which the Trustee 
is authorized 0\/ I= to remain closed. 

"Certificate of the City" means a certificate i n wn ti ng signed 0\/ the Authorized 
Representative or 0\/ any cther officer of the City duly authorized 0\/ the Council for that purpose. 

"Charges'' means fees, tol Is, assessments, rates and charges prescribed 0\/ the Counci I for 
the services and faci Ii ties of the Water System furnished 0\/ the City. 

"Q!y" means the City of Fortuna, a municipal corporation organized and existing under 
the Constitution and l=s of the State, and any successorthereto. 

"Closing Date" means, with respect to the Series 2017 Bonds, the date upon which there is 
an exchange of the Seri es 2017 Bands for the proceeds representing the purchase of such Seri es 
0\/ the Original Purchaser thereof. 

"Continuing Disclosure Certificate" means that certain Continuing Disclosure Certificate 
executed 0\/ the City and dated the date of original execution and delivery of the Series 2017 
Bands, as originally executed and as it may be amended from ti me to ti me in accordance with the 
terms thereof. 

"Cost of Issuance Fund" means the fund 0\/ that name established pursuanttothe Indenture. 

"Costs of Issuance" means all expenses incurred in connection with the authorization, 
issuance, sale and delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds, including rut nct I imited to compensation, 
fees and expenses of the City and the Trustee and their respective counsel, compensation to any 
financial consultants and underwriters, I egal fees and expenses, municipal bond insurance or surety 
bond premiums, filing and recording costs, rating City fees, costs of preparation and reproduction 
of documents and costs of printing. 

"Council" meanstheCityCouncil of the City. 

"Debt Service'' The term" Debt Service" means, for any period of calculation, the sum of: 

A-3 



( 1) the interest payall e during such period on al I outstanding Bands, assuming that al I 
outstanding Seri al Bands are retired as scheduled and that al I outstanding Term Bands are 
redeemed or paid from Sinking Fund I nstal I ments as scheduled ( exce[X to the extent that such 
interest iscaptalized or is reasonably anticipated to~ reimb.Jrsedtothe City 0\/ the United States 
of America pursuantto Section 54AA of the Code (Section 1531 of Title I of Division B of the 
American Recavery and ReinvestmentActof 2009(Pub. L. No. 111 5, 23 Stat. 115 (2009), enacted 
February 17, 2009)), or any future si mi I ar program); 

(2) those portions of the principal amount of all Outstanding Serial Bonds maturing in 
such period; and 

(3) those portions of the principal amount of al I Outstanding Term Bands required to 
~ redeemed or paid in such period; 

p:avi ded, as to any such Bands ~i ng or comprising interest at other than a fixed rate, the 
rate of interest used to calculate Debt Service shall ~ the greater of: (a) the actual interest rate on 
such Bands on the date of cal cul ati on, or if the i ndelXedness is not yet outstanding, the i ni ti al 
interest rate (if estall ished and b nding); (b) if the Bonds have ~en outstanding for at least twelve 
months, the average rate ewer the twelve calendar months immediately preceding the date of 
calculation; and (c)(i) if interest on the indelXedness is excludable from gross income under the 
applicalle pravisions of the Tax Code, the most recently published Securities Industry and 
Financial Markets Association Index fortax--exemptvariable rate olligations; or (ii) if interest is 
not so excludable, the interest rate on direct U.S. Treasury Oll igations with comparalle maturities 
fl us 50 basis points; prewi ded, havvever, that for purposes of any portion of the I ndenture (Issuance 
of Parity DelX and Rates and Charges), measuring actual debt service caverage during a test period, 
variable rate indebtedness shal I ~ deemed to ~ar interest at the actual rate per annum app i call e 
during the test period; and 

p:avi ded furtherthat, if any series or issue of such Bands have twenty-five percent (25%) 
or more of the aggregate principal amount of such series or issue due in any one year, DelX Service 
shal I ~ determi ned for the F i seal Y ear of determi nati on as i f the pri nci pal of and i nterest on such 
series or issue of such Bonds were ~ing paid from the date of incurrence thereof in substantially 
equal annual amounts ewer a period of twenty-five (25) years from the date of calculation; and 

p:avi ded furtherthat, as to any such Bands or portions thereof ~i ng no interest butwhi ch 
are sold at a discount and which discount accretes with respect to such Bands or portions thereof, 
such accreted discount shall ~ treated as interest in the calculation of DelX Service; and 

p:avi ded further that, the amount on deposit in a delX service reserve fund on any date of 
calculation of DelX Service shal I ~ deducted from the amount of principal due atthe final maturity 
of the Bands for which such delX service reserve fund was established and in each preceding year 
unti I such amount is exhausted; and 

p:avi ded further that, Debt Service shal I nct include interest which is paid from investment 
earnings on amounts on deposit in reserve funds and transferred to the Debt Service Fund. 
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"Debt Service Fund' means the fund 0\/ that nanne estallished and held 0\/ the Trustee 
pursuant to the I ndenture. 

"Defeasance Obligations" means the Federal Securities I isted in clause (a) of the definition 
thereof. 

"De[X)sitory" means (a) initially, OTC, and (b) any other Securities Derx:isitori es acting as 
Depository pursuant to the Indenture. 

"De[X)sitory System Participant" means any participant in the Depository's book-entry 
system. 

"OTC" means The Depository Trust Company, Nevv York, Nevv York, and its successors 
and assigns. 

"Escrcw Agent" means U.S. Bank National Association, acting as Escrcw Agent underthe 
Escrcw Agreement. 

"E scrcw Agreement" means the Escrcw Agreement, dated as of Navember 1, 2017, 0\/ and 
between the Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as Escrcw Agent. 

"Event of Default" means any of the events described in the Indenture. 

"Fair Market Value" means the price at which a willing buyer would purchase the 
i nvestment from a wi 11 i ng sel I er i n a bona fi de, arm' s I ength transacti on ( determi ned as of the date 
the contract to purchase or sel I the investment becomes binding) if the investment is traded on an 
established securities market (within the meaning of section 1273 of the Tax Code) and, ctherwise, 
the term "Fair Market Value'' means the acqui si ti on price in a bona fide arm's I ength transaction 
(as referenced abave) if (i) the investment is a certificate of derx:isit that is acquired in accordance 
with appicable regulations under the Tax Code, (ii) the investment is an agreement with 
speci fi cal I y negoti ated withdrawal or rei nvestment pravi si ons and a speci fi cal I y negoti ated i nterest 
rate (for example, a guaranteed investment contract, a forward suppy contract or cther investment 
agreement) that is acquired in accordance with applicable regulations underthe Tax Code, (iii) the 
investment is a United States Treasury Security-State and Local Gavernment Series that is 
acquired in accordance with applicable regulations of the United States Bureau of Public Debt, or 
(iv) any commingled investment fund in which the City and related parties do not cwn more than 
a ten percent (lCP/4) beneficial interest therein if the return paid 0\/ the fund is without regard to 
the source of the investment. 

"Federal Securities'' means, with respect to the Bonds: (a) any direct general obligations of 
the United States of America (including obi i gati ons issued or held in book entry form on the books 
of the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America), for which the full faith and 
credit of the United States of America are pledged; or (b) obligations of any agency, department 
or instrumentality of the United States of America, the timely payment of principal and interest on 
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which are directly or indirectly secured or guaranteed 0\/ the full faith and credit of the United 
States of America; specifically: 

U.S. treasury Olligations, 
al I direct or fully guaranteed obligations, 
Farmers Home Admi ni strati on, 
General Services Admi ni strati on, 
Guaranteed Title IX financing, 
Gavernment National Mortgage Association (GNMA), and 
State and Local Gavernment Series. 

"Fiscal Year" means the period commencingonJ uly 1 of each year and terminating on the 
next succeedi ngJ une 30. 

"Gross Revenues'' means al I gross income, rents, rates, fees, charges and cther moneys 
derived from the cwnershi p or operation of the Water System calculated in accordance with GAA P 
and deposited in the Water Revenue Fund, including, without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, ( 1) al I income, rents, rates, fees (including but nct Ii mited to any clevel aper impact fees 
to the extent permitted O)I I aw), charges, business interruption insurance proceeds or other moneys 
derived 0\/ the City from the sale, furnishing and supplying of water or other services, facilities, 
and commodities sold, furnished or supplied through the facilities of or in the conduct or operation 
of the business of the Water System, pus (2) the earnings on and income derived from the 
investment of such income, rents, rates, fees, charges, or cther moneys, including amounts in the 
Rate Stablization Fund and City Water System reserves, plus (3) the proceeds of any stand-by or 
water availablity charges collected 0\/ the City, pus (4) all amounts transferred from the Rate 
Stabilization Fund to the Water Revenue Fund during any Fiscal Year in accordance with the 
Indenture, and (5) all other monies hcwsoever derived 0\/ the City from the operation of the Water 
System or arising from the Water System; but excluding (i) customerdepositsor any cther deposits 
or advances subject to refund unti I such deposits or advances have become the property of the 
City, (ii) any proceeds of taxes restricted O)l lctvV to be used 0\/ the City to pay the Series 2017 
Bonds or Parity Debt and (iii) any amounts transferred from the Water Revenue Fund to the Rate 
Stabilization Fund during any Fi seal Year pursuant to the Indenture. 

"I mpravement" means any addition, extension, i mprcwement, equi pnnent, machinery or 
cther facilities to or for the Water System. 

"Indenture" means the Indenture of Trust, as originally executed or as it may from ti me to 
ti me be supplemented, modified or amended pursuant to the pravi si ons of the Indenture. 

"Independent Certified Public Accountant" means any certified public accountant or firm 
of such accountants appointed and paid 0\/ the City, and who, or each of whan-

(a) is in fact independent and not under domination of the City; 

(b) does nct have any substantial identity of interest, direct or indirect, with the City; and 
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(c) is nct and no member of which is connected with the City as an officer or employee of 
the City, but who may be regularly retained to make annual or other audits of the books of or 
reports to the City. 

"Independent Consultant" means any financial or engineering consultant (including 
without limitation any Independent Certified Public Accountant) with an established reputation in 
the field of municipal finance or firm of such consultants appointed and paid 0\/ the City, and who, 
or each of whom-

(a) is in fact independent and nct under domination of the City; 

(b) does nct have any substantial identity of interest, direct or indirect, with the City; and 

(c) is not and no member of which is connected with the City as an officer or employee of 
the City, but who may be regularly retained to make annual or other audits of the books of or 
reports to the City. 

"Information Services'' means in accordance with then-current guidelines of the Securities 
and Exchange Comrrission, the Electronic Municipal Market Access System (referred to as 
EM MA"), a facility of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (at http://emma.msrb.org), or 
such service or services as the City may designate in a certificate delivered to the Trustee. 

"2CXXi Installment Sale Agreement" means the Installment Sale Agreement, dated as of 
October 1 , 2CXXi between the City and the Authority. 

"Insurance Pd icy" means the Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 218553--N issued 0\/ 
Insurer guaranteeing the scheduled payment of principal and interest on the Insured Bands when 
due. 

"Insured Bands'' means the Seri es 2017 Bands maturing on October 1 of the years 2020 
through 2036, inclusive, which are insured 0\/ the Insurer. 

"Insurer" means Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., or any successorthereto, as issuer of 
the Reserve Pd icy and the Insurance Pd icy. 

"Interest Payment Date" means, with respecttotheSeries2017 Bonds, April 1 and October 
1 i n each year, begi nni ng A pri I 1, 201 8, and with respect to any Parity DelX, any date on whi ch 
interest is due and payable thereon, and continuing so long as any Bonds or Parity DelX remain 
Outstanding. 

"Interest R egui rement" means, as of any particular date of cal cul ati on, the amount equal to 
any unpaid interest then due and payable, pl us an amount that wi 11 on the next succeeding I nterest 
Payment Date be equal to the interest to become due and payable on Bands or cther Parity DelX 
on such next succeeding Interest Payment Date or payment date for interest on Parity Debt. 
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"Maintenance and Operation Costs'' means reasonable and necessary costs spent or 
incurred for nnai ntenance and operation of the Water System calculated in accordance with GAA P, 
including (annong other things) the reasonable and necessary expenses of management and repair 
and other expenses necessary to nnai ntai n and preserve the Water System in good repair and 
working order, including, but not limited to, salaries and wages of employees, payments to the 
Public Empoyees Retirement System, averhead, insurance, taxes (if any), fees of auditors, 
accountants, attorneys, consultants or engineers and insurance premi urns, and including al I cther 
reasonable and necessary costs of the City or charges, but excluding (i) transfers to other City 
departments, (ii) debt service payments or other similar payments on the Parity Debt or cther 
obligations required to be paid by it to comply with the terms of the Indenture or any contract or 
resolution or indenture authorizing the issuance of any bonds or obligations, and (iii) depreciation, 
replacement and obsolescence charges or reserves therefor and annorti zati on of i ntangi bl es or cther 
bookkeeping entries of a si mi I ar nature. 

"Maximum Annual Debt Service" means, as of the date of calculation, the maximum 
annount of DelX Service for the current or any future Fiscal Year. 

"Moody's'' means Moody's Investors Service, a corporation duly organized and existing 
under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Delaware, and its successors or assigns, exce[X that 
if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a 
securities rating agency, then the term" Moody's'' shal I be deemed to refer to any other nati anally 
recognized securities rating agency selected by the City. 

"Net Revenues'' means, with respect to the Water System, for any period of computation, 
the annount of the Gross Revenues received from the Water System during such period, less the 
annount of Maintenance and Operation Costs of the Water System becoming payable during such 
period. 

"Original Purchaser" means, in the case of the Series 2017 Bonds, Stifel, Nicdaus & 
Company, Incorporated. 

"Outstandi nd', when used as of any particular ti me with reference to Bands, means (subject 
to the prCNi si ons of the Indenture) al I Bands theretofore executed, issued and delivered by the City 
under the I ndenture except: 

(a) Bonds theretofore cancelled by the Trustee or surrendered to the Trustee for 
cancellation; 

(b) Bands paid or deemed to have been paid within the meaning of the Indenture; and 

( c) Bands in Ii eu of or in substitution for which other Bands shal I have been executed, 
issued and delivered by the City pursuant to the Indenture or any Parity Debt Instrument. 

"Owner" or "Bond Owner" or "Bondcwner", when used with respect to any Bond, means 
the person in whose nanne the cwnershi p of such Bond shal I be registered on the Bond R egi strati on 
Books. 
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"Parity DelX" means any indelXedness or other olligations (including leases and 
i nstal I ment sale agreements, bonds or contracts) hereafter issued or incurred and secured by a 
pedge of and lien upon any of the Net Revenues issued or incurred in compliance with the 
Indenture. 

"Parity DelX Instrument" means the resolution, trust indenture or installment sale 
agreement or cther evidence of indelXedness adopted, entered into or executed and delivered by 
the City, and under which Parity Debt is issued. 

"Participating Underwriter" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Continuing Disclosure 
Certificate. 

"Principal Corporate Trust Office'' means the corporate trust office of the Trustee at the 
address set forth in the Indenture, pravi ded that for purposes of payment, cancel I ati on, surrender, 
redem[Xi on, exchange and transfer of Bands, such term means the corporate trust office of the 
Trustee i n San F ranci sco, Cal i forni a or such other or additional offi ces as may be designated by 
the Trustee from ti me to ti me. 

"Principal Installment" means with respect to any particular Principal Payment Date, an 
amount equal to the sum of (i) the aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Serial Bonds payable 
on such Principal Payment Date as determined by the appicable Parity Debt Instrument (but nct 
including Sinking Fund Installments) and (ii) the aggregate of Sinking Fund Installments with 
respect to all Outstanding Term Bonds payable on such Principal Payment Date as determined 
under the Indenture and by the applicable Parity Debt Instrument. 

"Principal Payment Date" means the date on which Principal Payments are required to be 
made pursuanttothe Indenture, and with respect to any Parity DelX, any date on which principal 
is due and payalle thereon, and continuing so long as any Parity DelX remains Outstanding. 

"Rate Stabilization Fund' means the fund by that name established and held by the City 
pursuant to the I ndenture. 

"Rebate Fund" means the fund by that name estall i shed and held by the Trustee pursuant 
to the I ndenture. 

"Record Date" means, with respect to the Series 2017 Bonds, the fifteenth (15th) calendar 
day of the month immediately preceding an Interest Payment Date or, with respect to any Parity 
Debt, any other date established in the applicable Parity Debt Instrument. 

"Redemp:ion Account" means the Account by that name established and held by the 
Trustee pursuant to the I ndenture. 

"Redemp:ion Price" means, with respect to any Bond, the principal amount thereof, plus 
the appl i call e premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to the Indenture and the 
Parity Debt Instrument pursuant to which the same was issued. 
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"Request of the City" means a request in writing signed by an Authorized Representative, 
or by any cther officer of the City duly authorized by the Council for that purpose. 

"Reserve Fund" means the fund by that name established in the I ndenture. 

"Reserve Policy" means the Municipal Bond Debt Service Reserve Account Policy No. 
218553--R issued by Insurer guaranteeing payments to be applied to the payment of principal and 
interest on the Bonds as pravided in such policy, for the credit of the Reserve Fund. 

"Reserve Requirement" means an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) maxi mum annual debt 
service on the Outstanding Series 2017 Bonds; (ii) ten percent (10'/o) of the principal annount of 
the Series 2017 Bonds; or (iii) 125% of average annual debt service on the Outstanding Series 
2017 Bonds. 

"S& P" means S& P GI obal Ratings, a Standard & Poor' s Financial Services LL C business, 
and its successors or assigns, except that if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or 
shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, then the term "S& P" shall be 
deemed to referto any cther nationally recognized securities rating agency selected by the City. 

"Securities Depositories'' means The Depository Trust Company; and, in accordance with 
then current guidelines of the Securities and Exchange Commission, such cther addresses and/or 
such other securities depositories as the City may designate in writing to the Trustee. 

"Serial Bonds" means all Bonds otherthan Term Bonds. 

"Series'' when used with respect to less than all of the Bonds, means and refers to al I of the 
Bands delivered on original issuance in a simultaneous transaction, regardless of variations in 
maturity, i nterest rate or other pravi si ons, and any B ond thereafter del i vered i n I i eu of or 
substitution for any of such B ands pursuant to the I ndenture. 

"Series 2017 Bonds'' means the $5,405,000 City of Fortuna, Series 2017 Water Revenue 
Refunding Bonds (Water Enterprise Prqject), issued and at any time Outstanding under the 
Indenture. 

"Sinking Fund Installment" means, with respect to any particular date, the annount of 
money required by the Indenture or by or pursuant to a Parity Debt Instrument to be paid by the 
City on such date tcward the retirement of any particular Term Bonds prior to their respective 
stated maturities. 

"State" means the State of California 

"Subordinate Bonds'' means all bonds, notes or other obligations (including without 
limitation long-term contracts, loans, sub-leases or other legal financing arrangements) of the City 
payable from and secured by a pl edge of and Ii en upon any of the Net Revenues issued or incurred 
pursuant to the I ndenture. 
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"Subordinate Bands Instrument" means the resolution, trust indenture or i nstal I ment sale 
agreement adopted, entered into or executed and delivered by the City, and under which 
Subordinate Bands are issued. 

"Supplemental I ndenture" means any supp ement or amendment to the I ndenture which 
complies with the prcwi si ons of the Indenture. 

"Tax Certificate" means the tax certificate delivered by the City atthe time of the issuance 
and delivery of the 2017 Bands, as the same may be amended or supp emented in accordance with 
its terms. 

"Tax Code'' means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as in effect on the date of issuance 
of the Bands or ( except as otherwise referenced in the I ndenture) as it may be amended to appy 
to obi i gati ons issued on the date of issuance of the Bands, together with app i cable temporary and 
final regulations promulgated, and applicable official public guidance pull i shed, under the Tax 
Code. 

"Tax R egul ati ons" means temporary and permanent regulations promulgated underthe Tax 
Code. 

"Term Bonds'' means, with respect to any Series 2017 Bonds or any Parity Debt, such 
Series 2017 Bonds or Parity Debt which are payable priortotheir stated maturity by operation of 
Sinking Fund I nstal I ments. 

"Trustee" means U.S. Bank National Association, appointed by the City to act as trustee 
under the I ndenture, and its assigns or any cther corporation or association which may at any ti me 
be substituted in its fl ace, as pravi ded in the Indenture. 

"20CXi Trustee" means U.S. Bank Nati anal A ssoci ati on, as trustee for the 20CXi Bands. 

"Water Revenue Fund" means the fund by that name established and held by the City 
pursuant to the I ndenture. 

"Water System' means the entire system of the City for the production, storage, 
disinfection, and transmission of water, including but nct limited to all facilities, properties and 
impravements at any time cwned, controlled or operated by the City for the production, storage, 
di si nfecti on, and transmission of waterwi thin the service area of the City, and any necessary I ands, 
rights, entitlements and other property useful in connection therewith, together with al I extensions 
thereof and i mprcwements thereto at any ti me acquired, constructed or installed by the City. 

Certain Prcwisions of the 2017 Bands 

Transfer of Series 2017 Bonds. Any Series 2017 Bond may, in accordance with its terms, 
be transferred upon the Bond R egi strati on B oaks by the person in whose name it is registered, in 
person or by his duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of such Seri es 2017 Bond for 
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cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a written instrument of transfer in a form apprcwed by 
the Trustee, duly executed. Whenever any Series 2017 Bond shal I be surrendered for transfer, the 
City shal I execute and the Trustee shal I thereupon authenticate and del iverto the transferee a new 
Bond or Bonds of like tenor, maturity and aggregate principal amount. No Series 2017 Bonds, the 
notice of redem[Xion of which has been mailed pursuant to the Indenture, shall be subject to 
transfer pursuant to the I ndenture. 

Exchange of Series 2017 Bonds. Series 2017 Bonds may be exchanged at the Principal 
Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, for Series 2017 Bonds of the same tenor and maturity and 
of other authorized denominations. No Series 2017 Bonds the nctice of redem[Xion of which has 
been mailed pursuant to the Indenture shal I be subject to exchange pursuant to the Indenture. 

TerrJX)rary Bonds. The Series 2017 Bonds may be issued initially in temporary form 
exchangeable for definitive Series 2017 Bonds when ready for delivery. The temporary Series 
2017 Bands may be printed, I ithographed or typewritten, shal I be of such denominations as may 
be determined by the City and may contain such reference to any of the pravisions of the Indenture 
as may be appropriate. Every temporary Series 2017 Bond shall be executed by the City and be 
registered and authenticated by the Trustee upon the same conditions and in substantially the same 
manner as the definitive Series 2017 Bonds. If the City issues temporary Series 2017 Bonds, it 
wi 11 execute and furnish definitive Bands without delay, and thereupon the temporary Seri es 201 7 
Bonds may be surrendered, for cancellation, in exchange therefor atthe Principal Corporate Trust 
Office of the Trustee, and the Trustee shal I authenticate and deliver in exchange for such temporary 
Bonds an equal aggregate principal amount of definitive Series 2017 Bonds of authorized 
denominations. Until so exchanged, the temporary Bonds shall be entitled to the same benefits 
under the Indenture as definitive Bands authenticated and delivered underthe Indenture. 

Bond Registration Books. The Trustee will keep or cause to be kept at its trust office 
sufficient Bond R egi strati on B oaks for the registration and transfer of the Bands, which shal I at 
al I ti mes during regular business hours, and upon reasonable notice, be open to inspection by the 
City; and, upon presentation for such purpose, the Trustee shall, under such reasonable regulations 
as it may prescribe, register or transfer or cause to be registered or transferred, on said books, 
Bands as prcwi ded in the Indenture. 

Bonds Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Std en. If any Bond shall become mutilated, the City, 
at the expense of the Owner of said Bond, shal I execute, and the Trustee shal I thereupon 
authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like maturity and principal amount in exchange and 
substitution for the Bond so mutilated, but only upon surrender to the Trustee of the Bond so 
muti I ated. Every muti I ated Bond so surrendered to the Trustee shal I be cancel I ed by it and 
delivered to, or upon the order of, the City. If any Bondi ssued under the Indenture shall be lost, 
destroyed or stolen, evidence of such loss, destruction or theft may be submitted to the City and 
the Trustee and, if such evidence be satisfactory to them and indemnity satisfactory to them shall 
be given, the City, at the expense of the Bond Owner, shall execute, and the Trustee shall thereupon 
authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like maturity and principal amount in lieu of and in 
substitution for the Bond so I ost, destroyed or std en ( or if any such Bond shal I have matured or 
shall have been called for redemption, instead of issuing a substitute Bond the Trustee may pay 
the same without surrender thereof upon receipt of indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee). The 
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City may require payment of a reasmabl e fee for each new Bond issued underthe Indenture and 
of the expenses which may be incurred lJy the City and the Trustee. 

Issuance of Parity Debt. In addition to the Series 2017 Bonds, the City may at any time 
issue or incur additional Parity DelX under applicable law which are secured lJy a pledge of Net 
Revenues on parity with the payments lJy the City under the Indenture; pravided that the Net 
Revenues (excluding any amounts transferred from a Rate Stabilization Fund) forthe Fiscal Year 
or any consecutive 12--month period in the 18 months next preceding the date of the adoption lJy 
the City of the issuance of such Parity Debt or the execution of such Parity Debt, as the case may 
be, as evidenced lJy a calculation prepared lJy the City upon which the Trustee may conclusively 
rely; plus an allcwance for Net Revenues that would have been derived from any increase in the 
rates and charges fixed and prescribed for the Water System which was enacted prior to the 
ador::tion of such resolution orthe execution of such Parity Debt, as the case may be, but which, 
during al I or any part of said Fi seal Year or 12--month period, was not in effect, in an amount equal 
to the estimated addi ti anal Net Revenues that would have been derived from such increase in rates 
and charges if it had been in effect prior to the beginning of said Fi seal Year or 12--month period, 
as shavvn lJy the Certificate of an Authorized Representative of the City shall have produced an 
amount equal to at least the sum of 125% of Maximum Annual DelX Service on the Series 2017 
Bands and al I Parity DelX outstanding after the issuance of such Parity DelX. Furthermore, in order 
to issue such Parity Debt the City may nct be in default with respect to its obligations underthe 
Indenture or any Parity Debt Instrument. 

Pledge of Net Revenues; Funds and Accounts 

Pledge of Net Revenues. 

(a) Under the Indenture the City transfers, places a charge upon, assigns and sets aver 
to the Trustee, forthe benefit of the Owners, that portion of the Net Revenues which is necessary 
to pay the principal or Redemp:ion Price of and interest on the Bonds in any Fiscal Year, together 
with all moneys on deposit in the Debt Service Fund, and such portion of the Net Revenues is 
irrevocably pledged to the punctual payment of the principal or Redemp:ion Price of and interest 
on the Bands. The Net Revenues shal I not be used for any cther purpose whi I e any of the Bands 
remain Outstanding, except that out of Net Revenues there may be apportioned and paid such sums 
for such purposes, as are expressly permitted lJy the Indenture applicable to Parity Debt. Said 
pedge shall constitute a first, direct and exclusive charge and lien on the Net Revenues for the 
payment of the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bands in accordance with the 
terms thereof. 

(b) The Net Revenues constitute a trust fund for the security and payment of the 
principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds. The general fund of the City is nct 
Ii able and the credit ortaxi ng pavver of the City is not pl edged forthe payment of the principal or 
Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds. The Owner of the Bonds shall not compel the 
exercise of the taxing pavver lJy the City or the forfeiture of its property. The principal or 
Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds are not a debt of the City, nor a legal or equitable 
pedge, charge, lien or encumbrance, upon any of its property, or upon any of its income, receipts, 
or revenues except the Net Revenues of the Water System. 
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Receipt and Deposit of Gross Revenues. The City cavenants and agrees that all Gross 
Revenues, when and as received, will be received and held by the City in trust underthe Indenture 
and will be deposited by the City in a Water Revenue Fund to be estallished and held by the City, 
and wi 11 be accounted for through and held in trust in the Water Revenue Fund, and the City shal I 
only have such beneficial right or interest in any of such money as in the Indenture p-avided. Al I 
such Gross Revenues shal I be transferred, disbursed, al I ocated and applied solely to the uses and 
purposes set forth in the Indenture, and shal I be accounted for separately and apart from al I cther 
money, funds, accounts or cther resources of the City. 

E stabl i shrnent ofF unds and Accounts and Al I ocati on of Gross Revenues. The Debt Service 
Fund, as a special fund, and the Redemption Account, as a special account therein, are created 
under the Indenture. The DelX Service Fund and the Redemp:ion Account therein shall be held 
and mai ntai ned by the Trustee. 

All Gross Revenues shall be held in trust by the Finance Director in the Water Revenue 
Fund and shall be applied, transferred, used and withdrawn only for the purposes authorized in the 
Indenture. 

(a) Operating Costs. The Finance Director shall first pay from the moneys in the Water 
Revenue Fund the budgeted Maintenance and Operation Costs as such Costs become due and 
payable. 

(b) Debt Service Fund. On or before the second Business Day prior to each Interest 
Payment Date, the Finance Director shall transfer from the Water Revenue Fund to the Trustee for 
deposit in the Debt Service Fund (i) an amount equal to the aggregate annount of interest to become 
due and payall e on al I Outstanding Series 2017 Bands on the next succeeding Interest Payment 
Date, pl us (ii) an amount equal to the aggregate annount of Principal I nstal I ments (including any 
Sinking Fund Installments) becoming due and payable on all Outstanding Series 2017 Bonds on 
the next succeeding Principal Payment Date. 

( c) Debt Service Funds for Parity DelX. On or before the second Business Day priorto 
each Interest Payment Date, the Finance Di rector shal I al so cause to be transferred from the Water 
Revenue Fund to the Trustee (or other party as appropriate relative to each Parity Debt) for deposit 
in the debt service fund created for each issue of Parity Debt (or if no debt service fund was created 
for an issue of Parity Debt, ctherwi se set--asi de for the payment of Parity Debt) (i) an annount equal 
to the aggregate annount of interest to become due and payable on all Outstanding Parity Debt on 
the next succeeding Interest Payment Date (or, as to Parity Debt with annual interest payments, 
for a 6--month period), plus (ii) an amount equal to the aggregate annount of Principal Installments 
(including any Sinking Fund I nstal I ments) becoming due and payable on al I Outstanding Parity 
Debt on the next succeeding Principal Payment Date ( or, as to Parity Debt with annual principal 
payments, one-half of the annual p-i nci pal payment annount). 

All interest earnings and profits or losses on the investment of announts in the DelX Service 
Fund shall be deposited in or charged to the Debt Service Fund and applied to the purposes thereof. 
No transfer and deposit need be made i ntothe Debt Service Fund if the amount contained therein, 
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taking into account investment earnings and p-ofi ts, is at I east equal to the Interest Requirement 
or Principal I nstal I ments to become due on the next Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment 
Date upon al I Outstanding Series 2017 Bands and Parity Debt. 

( cl) Reserve Accounts. After rnaki ng the payments, al I ocati ons and transfers p-cwi ded 
for in subsections (a), (b) and (c) albcwe, if the balance on hand in the Reserve Fund forthe Series 
2017 Bands or a reserve account for any issue of Parity DelX is less than the Reserve Requirement 
or the reserve requirement applicable to such Parity Debt, such deficiency (or payment due to the 
p-avi der of a reserve policy or surety) shal I be restored by transfers from the first moneys which 
become avai I able in the Water Revenue Fund to the appropriate party to replenish the Reserve 
Fund, repay the pravider of a reserve policy or surety, or to satisfy a reserve requirement 
established for any issue of Parity Debt, on a p-o rata basis. 

(e) Surplus. As long as all of the foregoing payments, allocations and transfers are 
made at the times and in the manner set forth albcwe in subsections (a) to (cl), inclusive, any moneys 
rernai ni ng in the Water Revenue Fund may at any ti me be treated as surplus and app i ed for any 
lawful purpose. 

Ar:pl i cation of DelX Service Fund. 

(a) The Trustee shall withdraw from the Debt Service Fund, prior to each Interest 
Payment Date, an amount equal to the Interest Requirement payable on such I nterest Payment 
Date, and shall cause the same to be appied to the payment of said interest when due and is 
authorized to apply the same to the payment of such interest. 

(b) The Trustee shall withdraw from the Debt Service Fund, p-ior to each Principal 
Payment Date, an amount equal to the p-incipal amount due on said Principal Payment Date 
(including any Sinking Fund Installments due and payable on said Principal Payment Date), and 
shal I cause the same to be applied to the payment of such principal. 

(c) All withdrctvVals and transfers underthe pravisions of subsection (a) or subsection 
(b) albcwe shal I be made not earlier than one (1) day prior to the Interest Payment Date or Principal 
Payment Date to which they relate, and the amount so withdrawn or transferred shall, for the 
purposes of the Indenture, be deemed to remain in and be part of the appropriate fund or account 
unti I such Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment Date. 

Ar:plication of Reserve Fund. The Trustee shall establish and maintain the Reserve Fund. 
All amounts in the Reserve Fund will be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely forthe purpose 
of paying p-i nci pal of or interest on the Bands when due, including the principal amount of any 
Term Bands which is suqj ect to mandatory sinking fund redem[Xi on under the Indenture, when 
due and payable to the extent that moneys deposited in the DelX Service Fund are nct sufficient 
for such purpose. If at any time the amount on deposit in the Reserve Account is less than the 
Reserve Requirement, the City is required to pay from Net Revenues to the Trustee the amount of 
such deficiency as prcwi ded in the Indenture. 
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Ag:ilication of Rederrption Account. The Trustee shall establish and maintain the 
Redemption Account. On or before the date which is at I east one day pri orto any Interest Payment 
Date on which Series 2017 Bonds are suqject to redem[Xion pursuant to the Indenture, the City 
shall transfer from the Water Revenue Fund to the Trustee for deposit in the Redem[Xion Account 
an amount at I east equal to the Redemption Price ( excluding accrued interest, which is payable 
from the DelX Service Fund) of such Series 2017 Bands to be redeemed on such date. In addition, 
the City shall transferto the Trustee for deposit in the Redem[Xion Account all amounts required 
to redeem any Seri es 201 7 Bands which are subject to redemption pursuant to the I ndenture, when 
and as such amounts become availalle. Amounts in the Redem[Xion Account shall be applied 0\/ 
the Trustee solely for the purpose of paying the Redemption Price of Bonds to be redeemed 
pursuantto the Indenture. If after al I of the Series 2017 Bands have been paid or deemed to have 
been paid, there are moneys remaining in the Redemption Account, such moneys shall be 
transferred 0\/ the Trustee to the Finance Director for deposit in the Water Revenue Fund. 

Establishment of Rate Stablization Fund. The City has the right at any time to establish a 
rate stabilization fund (the "Rate Stabilization Fund') to be held 0\/ it and administered in 
accordance with the I ndenture, for the purpose of stabi Ii zing the rates and charges imposed 0\/ the 
City with respect to the Water System. From time to time the City may deposit amounts in the 
Rate Stabilization Fund, from any source of legally available funds, including but not limited to 
Net Revenues that are released from the pledge and lien which secures the Bonds and any Parity 
Debt, as the City may determine. 

The City may, but is not required to, withdrctN from any amounts on deposit in a Rate 
Stabilization Fund and deposit such amounts in the Water Revenue Fund in any Fiscal Year for 
the purpose of paying Debt Service coming due and payalle in such Fiscal Year. Amounts so 
transferred from a Rate Stabilization Fund to the Water Revenue Fund shall constitute Gross 
Revenues for such Fi seal Year ( except as otherwise prCNi ded in the Indenture), and shal I be applied 
for the purposes of the Water Revenue Fund. Amounts on deposit in a Rate Stabilization Fund 
shall not be pledged to or ctherwise secure the Bonds or any Parity Debt. All interest or other 
earnings on deposits in a Rate Stabilization Fund shall bewithdrctNn therefrom at least annually 
and accounted for as Gross Revenues in the Water Revenue Fund. The City has the right at any 
time to withdrctN any or all amounts on deposit in a Rate Stabilization Fund and apply such 
amounts for any I ctNful purposes of the City. 

I nvestrnents. A 11 moneys in the Water Revenue Fund and the Rate S tabi Ii zati on Fund may 
be invested 0\/ the City from time to ti me in any investments authorized O)l lctN, consistent with 
the City's investment pol icy. 

A 11 moneys in the DelX Service Fund and Cost of Issuance Fund shal I be invested 0\/ the 
Trustee solely in Authorized Investments, as directed pursuant to a Request of the City. In the 
absence of any such Request of the City, the Trustee will invest any such moneys in money market 
funds whose investments are restricted to Federal Securities, pravided, hcwever, that any such 
investment shall be made 0\/ the Trustee only if, prior to the date on which such investment is to 
be made, the Trustee shall have received a written direction from the City specifying a specific 
money market fund and, if no such written direction is so received, the Trustee shall hold such 
moneys uni nvested. Obi i gati ons purchased as an investment of moneys in any Fund or Account 
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shall ~ deemed to~ part of such Fund or Account, and all interest or gain derived from the 
investment of amounts in any of the Funds or Accounts established under the Indenture shal I ~ 
deposited in the Fund or Account from which such investment was made; and shall~ accounted 
for and app i ed as p-avi ded in the I ndenture (with res~ct to the Debt Service Fund). For p.,1rposes 
of acquiring any investments under the Indenture, the Trustee may commingle funds held by it 
underthe Indenture with the written appraval of the City. The Trustee or an affiliate may act as 
p-incipal or agent in the acquisition or disrxisition of any investment, and shall ~ entitled to its 
customary fees therefor. The Trustee shall incur no liability for losses arising from any 
investments made p.,1rsuant to the Indenture. 

The Trustee shall furnish the City ~riodic cash transaction statements which include detail 
for all investment transactions effected by the Trustee or brokers selected by the City. Upon the 
City's election, such statements wi 11 ~delivered vi a the Trustee's onl i ne service and upon electing 
such service, ~r statements will ~ p-avided only urxin request. The City waives the right to 
receive brokerage confirmations of security transactions effected by the Trustee as they occur, to 
the extent ~rmitted by lctN. The City further understands that trade confirmations for securities 
transactions effected by the Trustee wi 11 ~ avai I able urxin request and at no addi ti anal cost and 
cthertrade confirmations may~ obtained from the appicable broker. 

Rebate Fund. 

(a) The Trustee shall establish and maintain a fund separate from any cther fund or 
account established and maintained under the I ndenture designated the "Rebate Fund" in 
connection with the 2017 Bonds.Within the Rebate Fund, the Trustee shal I maintain such accounts 
or subaccounts as are s~ified in a Certificate of the City to the Trustee pursuant to the Tax 
Certificate. The Trustee shall deposit moneys in the Rebate Fund pursuant to a Certificate of the 
City. Suqject to the transfer prCNisions pravided ~lcw, all money at any time deposited in the 
Rebate Fund shal I ~ held by the Trustee in trust, to the extent required to satisfy the Rebate 
Requirement, for payment to the federal gavernment of the United States of America, and none of 
the City, the Trustee or the Owner of any 2017 Bond shall have any right in or claim to such 
money. All amounts deposited into or on deposit in the Rebate Fund shall ~ gCNerned by the 
Indenture and by the Tax Certificate. The Trustee shall ~ deemed conclusively to have complied 
with the prCNisions of the Indenture and the Tax Certificate if it follavvs the Certificate of the City, 
including suppying all necessary information in the manner requested by the City, and except as 
ctherwi se exp-essly prCNi ded in the I ndenture, shal I not ~ required to take any actions under the 
Indenture in the absence of written directions by the City, and shall have no liability or 
responsiblity to enforce compliance by the City with the terms of the Tax Certificate or the 
Indenture. The Trustee agrees to comply with all Certificate of the City given pursuant to the Tax 
Certificate. 

(1) U rxin a Certificate of the City, an amount shall ~ deposited into the Rebate 
Fund by the Trustee from derxisits by the City, if and to the extent required, so that the 
balance of the amount on deposit thereto shal I ~ equal to the Rebate Requirement. 
Comp.,1tations of the Rebate Requirement shall ~ furnished by or on ~half of the City in 
accordance with the Tax Certificate. The City shal I p-avide the Trustee with a Certificate 
of the City evidencing thatthe comp.,1tation of the Rebate Requirement has been made. 
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(2) The Trustee shall have no obligation to rebate any amounts required to be 
rebated pursuant to the I ndenture, other than from moneys held in the funds and accounts 
created underthe Indenture or from cther moneys pravided to it by the City. 

(3) The Trustee shall invest all amounts held in the Rebate Fund in Authorized 
Investments as directed by a Certificate of the City.Money, including investment earnings, 
shal I nct be transferred from the Rebate Fund except as pravi ded in subparagraph ( 4) 
belavv. 

(4) Upon recei fl: of a Certificate of the City, the Trustee shall remit part or all 
of the amounts in the Rebate Fund to the United Stares of America, as so directed. In 
addition, if the City so directs, the Trustee will deposit moneys intoortransfer moneys out 
of the Rebate Fund from or into such accounts or fund as directed by the Certificate of the 
City. Any funds remaining in the Rebate Fund in excess of the Rebate Requirement (as 
defined in the Tax Certificate) as of the end of any Bond Year shal I be transferred to the 
Interest Account. 

Nctwithstanding anything in the Indenture to the contrary, the obligation to campy with 
the Rebate Fund requirements shal I survive the defeasance or payment in ful I of the 201 7 Bands. 

Cavenants of the City; Special Tax Cavenants 

Punctual P ayrnent; Corrpl i ance with Documents. The City shal I punctually pay or cause 
to be pai d the i nterest and pri nci pal to become due with respect to al I of the B ands i n strict 
conformity with the terms of the Bonds and of the Indenture, and will faithfully observe and 
perform all of the conditions, cavenants and requirements of the Indenture and all Parity DelX 
Instruments. 

Against Encumbrances. The City will nct mortgage or otherwise encumber, pledge or 
fl ace any charge upon the Water System or any part thereof, or upon any of the Gross Revenues 
or Net Revenues, except as pravi ded in the I ndenture. 

Discharge of Claims. The City ccwenants that in order to fully preserve and protect the 
priority and security of the Bonds the City shall pay from the Gross Revenues and discharge all 
lawful claims for labor, materials and supplies furnished for or in connection with the Water 
System which, if unpaid, may become a lien or charge upon the Gross Revenues prior or superior 
to the lien of the Bonds and impair the security of the Bonds. The City shall also pay from the 
Gross Revenues all taxes and assessments or cther gavernmental charges lawfully levied or 
assessed upon or in respect of the Water System or upon any part thereof or upon any of the Gross 
Revenues therefrom. 

Acquisition, Construction or Financing of any lrrp:avements to the Water System The 
City wi 11 acquire, construct, or finance I mpravements to the Water System to be financed with the 
proceeds of any Parity Debt with all practical:le dispatch, and such lmpravementswill be made in 
an expeditious manner and in conformity with laws soastocompletethe same as soon as possible. 
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Maintenance and Operation of Water System in Efficient and Econmical Manner. The 
City cavenants and agrees to maintain and operate the Water System in an efficient and economical 
manner and to operate, maintain and preserve the Water System in good repair and working order. 

Aqai nst Sale, E rri nent Domain. 

(a) The City will nct sell, lease or otherwise dispose of the Water System or any part 
thereof essential to the proper operation of the Water System or to the maintenance of the Net 
Revenues except as expressly permitted in the I ndenture. The City wi 11 not enter into any I ease or 
agreement which impairs the operation of the Water System or any part thereof necessary to secure 
adequate Net Revenues for the payment of the interest on and principal or Redemption Price, if 
any, on the Bonds, or which would otherwise impair the rights of the Owners with respect to the 
Net Revenues or the operation of the Water System. Any real or personal property which has 
become non-operative or which is not needed for the efficient and proper operation of the Water 
System, or any material or equipment which has worn out, may be sold at not less than the market 
value thereof without the consent of the Owners if such sale wi II not reduce Net Revenues and if 
al I of the net proceeds of such sale are deposited in the Water Revenue Fund. 

(b) If al I or any part of the Water System shal I be taken by eminent domain 
proceedi ngs, the net proceeds real i zed by the City therefrom shal I , at the opti on of the City, either 
(a) be used for the acquisition or construction of i mpravements to the Water System, or (b) be 
appied to prepay the Series 2017 Bonds and Parity DelX on a pro rata basis. 

Insurance. The City cavenants that it shall at all times maintain such insurance on the 
Water System as is customarily maintained with respect to works and properties of Ii ke character 
against accident to, I oss of or damage to such works or properties. If any useful part of the Water 
System shal I be damaged or destroyed, such part shal I be restored to use. The net proceeds of 
insurance against accident to or destruction of the physical Water System shal I be used for 
repairing or rebui I ding the damaged or destroyed portions of the Water System. 

Any such insurance shal I be in the form of policies or contracts for insurance with insurers 
of good standing and shall be payable to the City, or may be in the form of self-insurance by the 
City. The City shal I establish such fund or funds or reserves as it determines, in its sole judgment, 
are necessary to pravide for its share of any such self-insurance. 

Records and Accounts. The City cavenants that it shal I keep proper books of record and 
accounts of the Water System, separate from all cther records and accounts, in which compete 
and correct entries shall be made of al I transactions relatingtothe Water System. Said books shall, 
upon reasonable request, be subject to the inspection of the Owners of not less than ten percent 
(1 CP/4) of the Outstanding Bonds ortheir representatives authorized in writing. 

The City cavenants that it will cause the books and accounts of the Water System to be 
audited annually by an Independent Certified Public Accountant and will make availal:le for 
inspection by the Bond Owners at the office of the Trustee in San Francisco, California, upon 
reasonable request, a copy of the report of such Independent Certified Public Accountant. 
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The City cavenants that it will cause to be prepared annually, not more than one hundred 
eighty (180) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, as a part of its regular annual financial report, 
a summary statement shcwi ng the amount of Gross Revenues and the amount of al I cther funds 
collected which are required to be pedged or ctherwise made available as security for payment of 
principal of and interest on the Bands, the disbursements from the Gross Revenues and other funds 
in reasonable detail. The City shall furnish a copy of the statementtothe Trustee, and upon written 
request, to any Bond Owner. 

Protection of Security and Rights of Owners. The City will preserve and protect the 
security of the Bonds and the rights of the Owners, and will warrant and defend their rights against 
al I claims and demands of al I persons. From and after the sale and delivery of any Parity Debt 0\/ 
the City, such Parity Debt shall be incontestable 0\/ the City. 

Against Corrpetitive Facilities. The City will not acquire, construct, operate or maintain 
the Water System or utility within the service area of the City that would be competitive with the 
Water System. 

Payment of Taxes, Etc. The City will pay and discharge all taxes, assessments and other 
gavernmental charges which may hereafter be lawfully imposed upon the Water System or any 
part thereof or upon any Gross Revenues when the same shall become due. The City will duly 
observe and conform with all valid requirements of any gcwernmental authority relative to the 
Water System or any part thereof, and will comply with all requirements with respect to any state 
or federal grants received to assist in paying for the costs of the acquisition, construction or 
financing of any I mpravements to the Water System. 

Rates and Charges. (a) The City shall, to the extent permitted O)l law, fix, prescribe and 
collect rates, fees and charges for the Water System which will be at least sufficient to yield Net 
Revenues equal to one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of Debt Service coming due and 
payable during such Fiscal Year. The City may make adjustments from time to time in such rates 
and charges and may make such cl assi fi cati on thereof as it deems necessary, but shal I nct reduce 
the rates and charges then in effect uni ess the Net Revenues from such reduced rates and charges 
wi 11 at al I ti mes be sufficient to meet the requirements of the I ndenture. 

F orthe purpose of computing the amount of Gross Revenues for any Fi seal Year or the 
amount of Net Revenues for any Fiscal Year for purposes of the preceding paragraph, the City 
shall be permitted to transfer amounts on deposit in the Rate Stabilization Fund for purposes of 
such computation, such transfers may be made unti I (but nct after) one hundred twenty ( 120) days 
after the end of such Fi seal Year. 

No Priority for Additional Obligations. The City cavenants that no additional bonds or 
cther obligations shall be issued or incurred having any priority in payment of principal or interest 
out of the Gross Revenues or Net Revenues averthe Bands. 
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No Arbitrage. The City shall not take, nor permit nor suffer to be taken any action with 
respect to the proceeds of any of the Seri es 201 7 Bands which would cause any of the Bands to be 
"arbitrage bonds'' within the meaning of the Tax Code. 

Information Report. Under the Indenture, the Finance Director is directed to assure the 
filing of an information report for the Series 2017 Bonds in compiance with Section 149 (e) of 
the Tax Code. 

Private Activity Bond Lirritation. The City shall assure thatthe proceeds of the Series 2017 
Bonds are not so used as to cause the Series 2017 Bonds to satisfy the private business tests of 
section 141 (b) of the Tax Code orthe private loan financing test of section 141(c) of the Tax Code. 

Federal Guarantee Prohibition. The City shall nottake any action or permit or suffer any 
action to be taken if the result of the same would be to cause any of the Series 2017 Bonds to be 
"federally guaranteed" within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Tax Code. 

Further Assurances. The City will adopt, make, execute and deliver any and all such 
further resolutions, instruments and assurances as may be reasonably necessary or proper to carry 
out the intention or to faci I itate the performance of the I ndenture, and for the better assuring and 
confirming unto the Owners of the Bonds the rights and benefits pravided in the Indenture. 

Continuing Disclosure. Under the Indenture, the City cavenants and agrees that it will 
comply with and carry out all of the pravisions of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate. 
Nctwithstanding any other pravision of the Indenture, failure of the City to comply with the 
Continuing Di sci osure Certificate shal I not be considered an Event of Default; hcwever, any hd der 
or beneficial cwner of the Bonds may, take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate to 
compel performance, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order. 

Rebate Requirement. The City shall take any and all actions necessary to assure 
compliance with section 148(f) of the Tax Code, relating to the rebate of excess investment 
earnings, if any, to the federal gcwernment, to the extent that such section i sapp icable to the Series 
2017 Bonds. 

Maintenance ofTax--Exerrption. The City shall take all actions necessary to assure the 
exclusion of interest on the Bonds from the gross income of the Owners of the Series 2017 Bonds 
to the same extent as such interest is permitted to be excluded from gross income under the Tax 
Code as in effect on the date of issuance of the Bands. 

The Trustee 

Duties, Immunities and Liablities of Trustee. 

(a) The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and after curing all 
Events of Default which may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such 
duties as are specifically set forth in the Indenture. In case an Event of Default underthe Indenture 
has occurred (which has nct been cured or waived) the Trustee may exercise such of the rights and 
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pcwers vested in it by the Indenture, and shal I use the same degree of care and ski 11 in their 
exercise, as a prudent and reasonable man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the 
conduct of his cwn affairs. 

(b) The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or pcwers of the Indenture and perform 
the duties required of it under the I ndenture by or through attorneys, agents, or receivers but shal I 
be answerable forthe selection of the sanne in accordance with the standard specified al:Jave, and 
shall be entitled to rely conclusively on advice of counsel of its choice concerning all matters of 
trust and its duty under the Indenture. 

( c) The Trustee shal I nct be responsi ll e for the sufficiency of the security for the Bands 
issued under the I ndenture or intended to be secured by the I ndenture and the Trustee shal I not be 
bound to ascertain or inquire as to the observance or performance of any cavenants, conditions or 
agreements on the part of the City under the I ndenture. The Trustee shal I nct be responsi ll e or 
liable for any loss suffered in connection with any investment of funds made by it in accordance 
with the Indenture. 

( cl) The Trustee shal I not be accountable for the use of any proceeds of sale of the 
Bonds delivered under the Indenture. The Trustee may become the Owner of Bonds secured by 
the Indenture with the sanne rights which it would have if nctthe Trustee; may acquire and dispose 
of cther bonds or evidence of indelXednessof the City with the sanne rights it would have if it were 
notthe Trustee; and may act as a depositary for and permit any of its officers or di rectors to act as 
a member of, or in any other capacity with respect to, any committee formed to prctect the rights 
of Owners of Bonds, whether or not such committee shall representthe Owners of the majority in 
principal annount of the Bands then Outstanding. 

(e) In the absence of bad faith on its part, the Trustee shall be prctected in acting upon 
any nctice, request, consent, certificate, order, affidavit, letter, telegramorotherpaperordocument 
believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or sent by the proper person or persons. Any 
action talken or omitted to be talken by the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture upon the request or 
authority or consent of any person who at the ti me of malki ng such request or gi vi ng such authority 
or consent is the Owner of any Bond, shal I be conclusive and binding upon al I future Owners of 
the sanne Bond and upon Bonds issued in exchange therefor or in place thereof. The Trustee shall 
not be bound to recognize any person as an Owner of any Bond or to talke any action at his request 
uni ess the cwnershi p of such Bond by such person shal I be reflected on the Bond R egi strati on 
Books. 

(f) As to the existence or non-existence of any fact or as to the sufficiency or validity 
of any instrument, paper or proceeding, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon a Certificate of 
the City as sufficient evidence of the facts therein contained and prior to the occurrence of an Event 
of Default under the Indenture of which the Trustee has been given notice or is deemed to have 
notice, as pravi ded in the I ndenture, shal I al so be at Ii berty to acce[X a si mi I ar certificate to the 
effect that any particular dealing, transaction or action is necessary or expedient, but may at its 
discretion secure such further evidence deemed by itto be necessary or advisable, but shall in no 
case be bound to secure the sanne. The Trustee may accept a Certificate of the City to the effect 
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that an authori zati on i n the form therei n set forth has been adopted by the City, as con cl usi ve 
evidence that such authorization has been duly adopted and is in ful I force and effect. 

(g) The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated in the Indenture shal I 
not be construed as a duty and it shall nct be answerable for otherthan its negligence or willful 
misconduct as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction. The immunities and 
excep:i ons from Ii abi I ity of the Trustee shal I extend to its officers, di rectors, emp oyees and agents. 

(h) The Trustee shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have nctice of any 
Event of Def au It under the Indenture except fai I ure by the City to make any of the payments to the 
Trustee required to be made by the City pursuant hereto or failure by the City to file with the 
Trustee any document required by the Indenture to be so fi I ed subsequent to the issuance of the 
Bonds, unless the Trustee shal I be specifically notified in writing of such default by the City or by 
the Owners of at least twenty-five percent (2S%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then 
Outstanding and al I notices or cther instruments required by the I ndenture to be delivered to the 
Trustee must, in order to be effective, be delivered at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the 
Trustee, and in the absence of such nctice so delivered the Trustee may conclusively assume there 
is no Event of Default under the Indenture except as aforesaid. 

(i) At any and all reasonal:le times the Trustee, and its duly authorized agents, 
attorneys, experts, engineers, accountants and representatives, shall have the right fully to inspect 
the Water System, including all books, papers and records of the City pertaining to the Water 
System and the Bands, and to take such memoranda from and with regard thereto as may be desired 
but which is not privileged by statute or by law. 

U) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the 
execution of the said trusts and pcwers or otherwise in respect of the premises. 

(k) Notwithstanding anything elsewhere in the Indenture with respect to the execution 
of any Bonds, the withdrctNal of any cash, the release of any property, or any action whatsoever 
within the purview of the Indenture, the Trustee shal I have the right, but shal I not be required, to 
demand any shcwi ngs, certificates, opinions, appraisals or other information, or corporate action 
or evidence thereof, as may be deemed desi rail e for the purpose of establishing the right of the 
City to the execution of any Bands, the withdrctNal of any cash, or the taking of any other action 
by the Trustee. 

(I) Before taking the action referred to in the Indenture the Trustee may require that an 
indemnity bond satisfactory in terms and amount be furnished for the reimbursement of all 
expenses to which it may be put and to protect it against al I Ii abi I ity, except Ii abi I ity which is 
finally adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to have been caused solely by its cwn 
negligence or willful misconduct in connection with any such action. The Trustee may consult 
with counsel with regard to legal questions, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and 
compete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or suffered by it under the 
Indenture in good faith and in accordance therewith. 
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(rrj) All moneys received by the Trustee shall, until used IT appied or invested as 
p-avi ded in the I ndenture, be held in trust for the purposes fIT which they were received but need 
not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by I=· The Trustee shal I not be 
under any Ii abi I ity fIT interest on any moneys received under the Indenture exce[X such as it may 
agree to in writing. 

Merger IT Consolidation. Any company into which the Trustee may be merged or 
converted IT with which it may be consolidated, or any company resulting from any merger, 
conversion or consolidation to which it shall be a party, IT any company to which the Trustee may 
sel I or transfer al I or substantially all of its corporate trust business (pravided that such company 
shall be el igi lle under the Indenture), shall be the successor to the Trustee and vested with al I of 
the title to the trust estate and all of the trusts, pcwers, discretions, immunities, privileges and all 
cther matters as was its predecesscr, without the execution IT filing of any paper or further act, 
anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding. 

I ndernnification; Lirrited Liability of Trustee. The City shall indemnify and hold the 
Trustee harmess from and against all claims, losses, costs, expenses, liabilities and damages 
including legal fees and expenses arising from the exercise and performance of its duties under the 
Indenture and the termination of the Indenture. Such indemnity shall survive the resignation IT 
remaval of the Trustee under the I ndenture. No p-avi si on in the I ndenture shal I require the Trustee 
to risk or expend its cwn funds or otherwise incur any financial I iabi lity under the Indenture if it 
shal I have reasonall e grounds fIT believing repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against 
such liability or risk is not assured to it. The Trustee shall nct be liable fIT any action talken IT 
omitted to be talken by it in accordance with the direction of a majority of the Owners of the 
p-i nci pal amount of Bands Outstanding relating to the ti me, method and pl ace of conducting any 
p-oceedi ng or remedy avai I all e to the Trustee under the Indenture. 

Modification and Amendment of the Indenture 

Amendment by Consent of Bond Owners. The Indenture and the rights and olligations of 
the City and of the Owners of the Bonds may be modified IT amended at any time by a 
Suppemental Indenture which shall become binding when the written consent of the Owners of a 
majITity in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, exclusive of Bonds 
disqualified as pravi ded in the Indenture, are fi I ed with the Trustee. No such modification IT 
amendment shal I (a) extend the maturity of or reduce the interest rate on any Bond or otherwise 
alter or impairthe obligation of the City to pay the p-i ncipal, interest or redemption premiums at 
the time and pace and atthe rate and in the currency prcwided therein of any Bond without the 
express written consent of the Owner of such Bond, (b) reduce the percentage of Bands required 
fIT the written consent to any such amendment or modification, or (c) without its written consent 
thereto, modify any of the rights or obi i gati ons of the Trustee. 

Amendment Without Consent of Bondhd ders. The Indenture and the rights and obi i gati ons 
of the City and of the Owners of the Bonds may also be modified or amended at any time by a 
Supp emental Indenture which shal I beccrne binding upon execution and delivery, without consent 
of any Bond Owners, but only to the extent permitted by I= and only for any one or mcre of the 
fol I cwi ng purposes-
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(a) to add to the cavenants and agreements of the City in the Indenture contained, cther 
cavenants and agreements thereafter to be observed, or to Ii mit or surrender any rights or pcwer in 
the Indenture reserved to or conferred upon the City; or 

(b) to make such p-avisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, or of curing, 
correcting or supplementing any defective prcwi si on contained in the Indenture, or in any cther 
respect whatsoever as the City may deem necessary or desirable, prcwided under any 
circumstances that such modifications or amendments shal I not adversely affect the interests of the 
Owners of the Bands; or 

( c) to make such additions, deletions or modifications as may be necessary or desirable 
to assure exem[Xi on from federal income taxation of interest on the Bands. 

Disqualified Bonds. Bonds avvned or held by or forthe account of the City (but excluding 
Bands held in any empl ayees' retirement fund) shal I not be deemed Outstanding for the purpose 
of any consent or other action or any cal cul ati on of Outstanding Bands prcwi ded for in the 
Indenture. 

E ndorserrent or Replacerrent of Bonds After Arrendrrent. A fterthe effective date of any 
action taken pursuant to the Indenture, the City may determine thatthe Bonds shal I bear a notation, 
by endorsement in form apprcwed by the City, as to such action, and in that case upon demand of 
the Owner of any Bond Outstanding at such effective date and presentation of his Bond for that 
purpose atthe Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, a suitable notation as to such action 
shall be made on such Bond. If the City shall so determine, new Bonds so modified as, in the 
opinion of the City, shall be necessary to conform to such Bond Owners' action shall be p-epared 
and executed, and in that case upon demand of the Owner of any Bond Outstanding at such 
effective date such new Bonds shall be exchanged at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the 
Trustee, without cost to each Bond Owner, for Bonds then Outstanding, upon surrender of such 
Outstanding Bands. 

Arrendrrent by Mutual Consent. The prcwi si ons of the Indenture shal I nct p-event any 
Bond Owner from acce[Xi ng any amendment as to the particular Bond held by him, pravi ded that 
due notation thereof is made on such Bond. The Trustee may not enter into any amendment or 
supplementtothe Indenture unless it shall have first received an opnion of Bond Counsel to the 
effect that such amendment or supplement wi 11 not adversely affect the validity or enforceabi I ity 
of the Bands or adversely affect any exemption for purposes of federal income taxation to which 
the interest paid on any Bands would ctherwi se be entitled and that such amendment or supplement 
is authorized or permitted by the Indenture. 

Events of Default and Remedies of Bond Owners 

Events of Default and Acceleration of Maturities. The follcwi ng events shall be Events of 
Default under the Indenture: 
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(a) Default in the due and p.,1nctual payment of the p-i nci pal of any Bond when and as 
the same shall ~come due and payable, whether at maturity as therein expressed, by proceedings 
for redem[Xi on, by declaration or otherwise; 

(b) Default in the due and punctual payment of any i nstal I ment of interest on any Bond 
when and as such interest i nstal I ment shal I ~come due and payable; 

(c) Default by the City in the observance of any of the cavenants, agreements or 
conditions on its part in the Indenture or in any Parity Debt Instrument or in the Bands contained, 
and such default shall have continued for a period of sixty (60) days afterthe City shall have ~en 
given notice in writing of such default by the Trustee; or 

(cl) The filing by the City of a petition or answer seeking reorganization or arrangement 
underthe federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of America, or 
if a court of competent jurisdiction shall apprCNe a petition, filed with or without the consent of 
the City, seeking reorganization under the federal bankru[Xcy laws or any other applicable law of 
the United States of America, or if, underthe pravisions of any cther law forthe relief or aid of 
debtors, any court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or contrd of the City or of the 
whole or any substantial part of its property. 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Trustee may, and shal I atthe direction of 
the avvners of a majority of the p-incipal amount of the Bonds, by written notice to the City, 
declare the principal of the Bands to ~ immediately due and payable, whereupon that portion of 
the pri nci pal of the B ands thereby comi ng due and there i nterest thereon accrued to the date of 
payment shall, without further action, ~come and~ immediately due and payable, anything in 
the Indenture or in the Bonds to the contrary notwithstanding. This pravi sion, havvever, is subject 
to the condition that if, at any ti me after the p-i nci pal of the Bands shal I have been so declared due 
and payable and ~fore any judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shal I have ~en 
obtained or entered, the City shall deposit with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay all of the 
p-i nci pal of and interest on the Bands having come due p-i or to such declaration, with interest on 
such averdue p-i nci pal and interest calculated at the rate of interest per annum then borne by the 
Outstanding Bands, and the reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee and those of its attorneys, 
and any and al I other defaults knavvn to the Trustee ( other than in the payment of the p-i nci pal of 
and interest on the Bands having come due and payable solely by reason of such declaration) shal I 
have ~en made good or cured to the satisfaction of the Trustee or p-avi si on deemed by the Trustee 
to ~ adequate shal I have ~en made therefor, then, and in every such case, the Owners of a 
majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bands at the ti me Outstanding may, by written notice 
to the City and to the Trustee, on ~half of the Owners of all of the Outstanding Bonds, rescind 
and annul such declaration and its consequences. Hcwever, no such rescission and annulment 
shall extend to or shal I affect any subsequent default, or shal I impair or exhaust any right or pavver 
consequent thereon. 

Application of Funds Upon Acceleration. A 11 amounts received by the Trustee pursuant to 
any right given or action taken by the Trustee under the prCNi si ons of the I ndenture shal I ~applied 
by the Trustee i n the fol I cwi ng order upon presentation of the several B ands, and the stampi ng 
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thereon of the amount of the payment if only partially paid, or urxin the surrender thereof if fully 
paid-

First, to the payment of the costs and expenses of the Trustee and of Bond Owners in 
declaring such Event of Default, including reasonable compensation to their agents, attorneys and 
counsel, and to the payment of the costs and expenses of the Trustee, if any, in carrying out the 
pravisions of the Indenture, including reasonable compensation to its agents, attorneys and 
counsel; and 

Second, to the payment of the whole annount then cwing and unpaid upon the Bonds for 
interest and principal, with interest on such cwerdue announts to the extent permitted by I aw at the 
rate of interest then borne by the Outstanding Bands, and in case such moneys shal I be i nsuffi ci ent 
to pay in ful I the whd e annount so cwi ng and unpaid upon the Bands, then to the payment of such 
interest, principal and interest on cwerdue amounts without preference or priority annong such 
interest, principal and interest on cwerdue announts ratably in proportion to the aggregate of such 
interest, principal and interest on cwerdue announts. 

Other Remedies; Rights of Bond Owners. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the 
Trustee may pursue any available remedy, in addition to the remedy specified in the Indenture, at 
law or in equity to enforce the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 
Outstanding Bands, and to enforce any rights of the Trustee under or with respect to the Indenture. 

If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and if requested so to do by 
the Owners of at least twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal annount of Outstanding 
Bands and indemnified as pravi ded in the I ndenture, the Trustee shal I be obi i gated to exercise such 
one or more of the rights and pavvers conferred by the I ndenture, as the Trustee, being advised by 
counsel, shal I deem most expedient in the interests of the Bond Owners. 

No remedy by the terms of the I ndenture conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee ( or to 
the Bond Owners) is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy 
shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy given to the Trustee or to the 
Bond Owners under the Indenture or new or hereafter existing at law or in equity. 

No delay or omission to exercise any right or pavver accruing urxin any Event of Default 
shal I impair any such right or pavver or shal I be construed to be a waiver of any such Event of 
Default or acquiescence therein; such right or pavver may be exercised from ti me to ti me as often 
as may be deemed expedient. 

Pcwer of Trustee to Control P roceedi nqs. I n the eventthat the Trustee, upon the happening 
of an Event of Default, shall have taken any action, by judicial proceedings or ctherwise, pursuant 
to its duties under the Indenture, whether upon its cwn discretion or upon the request of the Owners 
of a majority in principal annount of the Bonds then Outstanding, it shall have full pavver, in the 
exercise of its discretion for the best interests of the Owners of the Bonds, with respect to the 
continuance, discontinuance, withdrawal, compromise, settlement or other di srxisal of such action; 
pravided, hcwever, thatthe Trustee shall not, unless there no longer continues an Event of Default, 
discontinue, withdraw, compromise or settle, or ctherwise dispose of any litigation pending at law 
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IT in equity, if at the time there has been filed with it a written request signed 0\/ the Owners of a 
majITity in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds under the Indenture opposing such 
discontinuance, withdrawal, comprorni se, settlement or other disposal of such I itigation. Any suit, 
action IT proceeding which any Owner of Bands shal I have the right to bring to enforce any right 
IT remedy under the Indenture may be brought 0\/ the Trustee for the equal benefit and protection 
of all Owners of Bonds similarly situated and under the Indenture the Trustee is appointed (and 
the successive respective Owners of the Bands issued under the Indenture, 0\/ taking and holding 
the same, shall be conclusively deemed so to have appointed it) the true and lawful attITney--in­
fact of the respective Owners of the Bands fIT the purpose of bringing any such suit, action IT 
proceeding and to do and perform any and al I acts and things for and on behalf of the respective 
Owners of the Bands as a cl ass or cl asses, as may be necessary or aclvi sable in the opinion of the 
Trustee as such attorney--i n-fact. 

Appoi ntrnent of Receivers. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Indenture, 
and upon the fi Ii ng of a suit or cther commencement of j udi ci al proceedings to enfITce the rights 
of the Trustee and of the Bond Owners under the I ndenture, the Trustee shal I be enti tied, as a 
matter of right, to the appointment of a receiver or receivers of the Net Revenues and other amounts 
pedged under the Indenture, pending such proceedings, with such pcwers as the court making 
such appointment shal I confer. 

Non-Waiver. Nothing in the Indenture, or in the Bonds, shal I affect IT impairthe obligation 
of the City, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the interest on and principal of the Bonds 
to the respective Owners of the Bands at the respective dates of maturity, as prcwi ded in the 
I ndenture, out of the Net Revenues and cther moneys pl edged under the Indenture for such 
payment. 

A waiver of any default IT breach of duty or contract 0\/ the Trustee or any Bond Owners 
shall not affect any subsequent default or breach of duty IT contract, or impair any rights or 
remedies on any such subsequent default IT breach. No delay or orni ssi on of any Owner of any of 
the Bands to exercise any right or pcwer accruing upon any default shal I impair any such right or 
pcwer or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or an acquiescence therein; and 
every pcwer and remedy conferred upon the Trustee IT Bond Owners 0\/ the Bond L ctN or 0\/ the 
Indenture may be enfITced and exercised from ti me to ti me and as often as shal I be deemed 
expedient 0\/ the Trustee IT the Bond Owners, as the case may be. 

If a suit, action IT proceeding to enfITce any right or exercise any remedy is abandoned or 
determined adversely to the Bond Owners, the City and the Bond Owners shal I be restored to their 
former positions, rights and remedies as if such suit, action or proceeding had nct been brought or 
taken. 

Rights and Remedies of Bond Owners. No Owner of any Bond issued under the Indenture 
shall have the right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at lctN or in equity, for any remedy 
under or upon the Indenture, unless (a) such Owner shall have previously given to the Trustee 
written nctice of the occurrence of an Event of Default; (b) the Owners of a majITity in aggregate 
principal amount of al I the Bands then Outstanding shal I have made written request upon the 
Trustee to exercise the pcwers hereinbefore granted or to institute such action, suit or proceeding 
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in its cwn name; (c) said Owners shall have tendered to the Trustee indemnity reasonably 
accep:able to the Trustee against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in compiance 
with such request; and (cl) the Trustee shall have refused or omitted to comply with such request 
for a period of sixty (60) days after such written request shall have been received l:Jy, and said 
tender of indemnity shall have been made to, the Trustee. 

Such nctification, request, tender of indemnity and refusal or omission are declared, in 
every case, to be conditions precedent to the exercise lJy any Owner of Bands of any remedy under 
the Indenture; it being understood and intended that no one or more Owners of Bands shal I have 
any right in any manner whatever lJy his or their action to enforce any right under the I ndenture, 
excep: in the manner prcwided in the Indenture, and that all proceedings at lctN or in equity to 
enforce any prcwi si on of the Indenture shal I be instituted, had and maintained in the manner 
pravided in the Indenture and forthe equal benefit of al I Owners of the Outstanding Bonds. 

The right of any Owner of any Bond to receive payment of the principal of and interest and 
premium (if any) on such Bond as pravi ded in the Indenture or to institute suit for the enforcement 
of any such payment, shal I not be impaired or affected without the written consent of such Owner, 
notwithstanding the foregoing pravi si ons of the I ndenture. 

Terni nation of P roceedi nqs. I n case the Trustee shal I have proceeded to enforce any right 
under the Indenture lJy the appointment of a receiver or ctherwi se, and such proceedings shal I have 
been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shal I have been determined adversely, then and 
in every such case, the City, the Trustee and the Bond Owners shall be restored to their former 
positions and rights under the Indenture, respectively, with regard to the property subject to the 
Indenture, and al I rights, remedies and pavvers of the Trustee shal I continue as if no such 
proceedings had been taken. 

Miscellaneous 

Discharge of Indenture. If the City shal I pay and discharge any or al I of the Outstanding Bands in 
any one or more of the fol I cwi ng ways: 

(a) lJy well and truly paying or causing to be paid the principal of and interest and 
premium (if any) on such Bonds, as and when the same become due and payable; 

(b) lJy depositing with the Trustee, in trust, at or before maturity, money which, 
together with the available amounts then on deposit in the funds and accounts established pursuant 
to the Indenture, is fully sufficient to pay such Bands, including al I principal, interest and 
redemp:ion premiums; or 

(c) lJy depositing with a qualified escrcw hdder, in trust, Defeasance Obligations in 
such amount as the City (verified lJy an Independent Certified Public Accountant) shal I determine 
will, together with the interest to accrue thereon and available moneys then on deposit in the Funds 
and Accounts established pursuant to the Indenture, be fully sufficient to pay and discharge the 
indebtedness on such Bands (including al I principal, interest and redemption premi urns, if any) at 
or before their respective maturity dates; 
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and if such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, nctice of such 
redem[Xi on shal I have been mai I ed pursuant to the Indenture or prcwi si on sati sfactay to the 
Trustee shall have been made forthe mailing of such nctice, then, atthe election of the City, and 
notwithstanding that any of such Bands shal I not have been surrendered for payment, the fl edge 
of the Net Revenues and other funds pravi ded for in the I ndenture with respect to such Bands, and 
al I other pecuniary obligations of the City underthe Indenture with respect toall such Bonds, shall 
cease and terminate, exce[X only the obi i gati on of the City to pay or cause to be paid to the Owners 
of such Bands nct so surrendered and paid al I sums due thereon from amounts set aside for such 
purpose as aforesaid, and al I expenses and costs of the Trustee. Notice of such election shal I be 
fi I ed with the Trustee. 

Any funds thereafter held 0\/ the Trustee, which are not required for said purposes, shal I be 
paid averto the City. 

Refunding bonds may be issued at any time without regard to whether an Event of Default 
exists. 

Lirrited Liablity of City. Notwithstanding anything in the Indenture contained, the City 
shal I nct be required to advance any moneys derived from any source of income cther than the Net 
Revenues for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bands, or any premi urns upon the 
redem[Xi on thereof, or for the performance of any cavenants contained in the I ndenture ( except to 
the extent any such ccwenants are expressly payable underthe I ndenture from the Gross Revenues). 
The City may, hcwever, advance funds for any such purpose, pravi ded that such funds are derived 
from a source legally available for such purpose and may be used 0\/ the City for such purpose 
with out i ncurri ng i ndebtedness. 

The obi igation of the City to pay interest and principal on the Series 2017 Bonds is a special 
obligation of the City payable solely from the Net Revenues, and does nct constitute a debt of the 
City or of the State of California or of any political sulxlivision thereof in contravention of any 
constitutional or statutory delX limitation or restriction. 

Parties I nterested. N cthi ng in the Indenture expressed or implied is intended or shal I be 
construed to confer upon, or to give to, any person or entity, cther than the City, the Trustee and 
the Owners any right, remedy or claim under or 0\/ reason of this Trust I ndenture, or any cavenant, 
condition or sti pul ati on of the Indenture, and al I cavenants, sti pul ati ons, promises and agreements 
in this Trust Indenture contained 0\/ and on behalf of the City shal I be for the sole and exclusive 
benefit of the City, the Trustee and the Owners. 

Pravisions Relating to the Insurance Pd icy 

N ctwi thstandi ng anything to the contrary set forth in the Indenture or in the Bands, the 
fol I cwi ng prcwi si ons gavern with respect to the Insured Bands: 

(a) "Insurance Pd icy" shall be defined as follcws: "the insurance policy issued 0\/ the 
Insurer guaranteeing the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the I nsured Bands when 
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due." "Insurer" shall be defined as follcws: "Assured Guaranty Municipal CITp., a New York 
stock insurance company, or any successor thereto IT assignee thereof." 

(b) The prior written consent of the Insurer shal I be a condition precedent to the deposit 
of any credit instrument pravided in lieu of a cash deposit into the Reserve Fund. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary set forth in the Indenture, amounts on deposit in the Reserve Fund shal I 
be app i ed solely to the payment of delX service due on the Seri es 201 7 Bands. 

( c) The I nsurer shal I be deemed to be the sole Owner of the Insured Bands for the 
purpose of exercising any voting right or privilege IT giving any consent or direction ortalki ng any 
cther action that the Owners of the Insured Bonds are entitled to talke pursuant to the Indenture 
pertaining to (i) defaults and remedies and (ii) the duties and obligations of the Trustee. In 
furtherance thereof and as a term of the I ndenture and each I nsured Bond, the Trustee and each 
Owner of the Insured Bands appoint the Insurer as their agent and attITney--i n-fact with respect to 
the I nsured Bands and agree that the I nsurer may at any ti me during the continuation of any 
proceeding 0\/ or against the Issuer under the United States B ankrup:cy Code or any other 
applicalle bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, rehabilitation or similar law (an "Insolvency 
Proceeding") direct all matters relating to such Insolvency Proceeding, including without 
limitation, (A) all matters relating to any claim or enforcement proceeding in connection with an 
Insolvency Proceeding (a "Claim''), (B) the direction of any appeal of any order relating to any 
Claim, (C) the posting of any surety, supersedeas or performance bond pending any such appeal, 
and (D) the right to vote to accept IT reject any plan of adjustment. In addition, the Trustee and 
each Owner of the Insured Bonds delegate and assign to the Insurer, to the fullest extent permitted 
O)l law, the rights of the Trustee and each Owner of the Insured Bonds in the conduct of any 
Insolvency Proceeding, including, without limitation, all rights of any party to an adversary 
proceeding or action with respect to any court order issued in connection with any such Insolvency 
Proceeding. Remedies granted to the Owners shal I expressly incl u.de mandamus. 

(cl) The maturity of Insured Bonds shall not be acceleratedwithoutthe consent of the 
Insurer and in the event the maturity of the I nsured Bands is accelerated, the Insurer may elect, in 
its sole discretion, to pay accelerated principal and interest accrued, on such principal to the date 
of acceleration (to the extent unpaid 0\/ the Issuer) and the Trustee shal I be required to accept such 
amounts. Upon payment of such accelerated principal and interest accrued to the acceleration date 
as pravided abave, the Insurer's obligations under the Insurance Policy with respect to such 
Insured Bands shal I be fully discharged. 

( e) No grace period for a ccwenant default shal I exceed 30 days or be extended f IT more 
than 60 days, without the priIT written consent of the Insurer. No grace period shal I be permitted 
for payment defaults. 

(f) The I nsurer is a third-party beneficiary of the I ndenture. 

(g) Upon the occurrence of an extraITdinary optional, special IT extraordinary 
mandatory redemption in part, the selection of I nsured Bands to be redeemed shal I be suqj ect to 
the appraval of the Insurer. The exercise of any prcwision of the Indenture which permits the 
purchase of Insured Bonds in lieu of redemp:ion shall require the prior written appraval of the 
Insurer if any Insured Bands so purchased is nct cancel I ed upon purchase. 
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(h) Any amendment, suppement, modification to, or waiver of, the Indenture or any 
cther transaction document, including any underlying security agreement (each a "Related 
Document"), that requires the consent of Owners or adversely affects the rights and interests of 
the Insurer shal I be subject to the prior written consent of the Insurer. 

(i) The rights granted to the I nsurer under the I ndenture or any other Related Document 
to request, consent to or direct any action are rights granted to the Insurer in consideration of its 
issuance of the Insurance Policy. Any exercise by the Insurer of such rights is merely an exercise 
of the Insurer's contractual rights and shal I nct be construed or deemed to be taken for the benefit, 
or on behalf, of the Owners and such action does not evidence any position of the I nsurer, 
affirmative or negative, as to whether the consent of the Owners or any other person is required in 
addition to the consent of the Insurer. 

U) Only (1) cash, (2) non--callal:le direct obligations of the United States of America 
("Treasuries''), (3) evidences of cwnershi p of proportionate interests in future interest and principal 
payments on Treasuries held by a bank or trust company as custodian, under which the cwner of 
the investment is the real party in interest and has the right to proceed directly and individually 
against the obi igor and the underlying Treasuries are nct available to any person claiming through 
the custodian or to whom the custodian may be obligated, (4) subject to the prior written consent 
of the Insurer, pre-refunded municipal obligations rated "AAA" and "Aaa'' by S& P and Moody's, 
respectively, or (5) subject to the prior written consent of the Insurer, securities eligible for" AAA" 
defeasance underthen existing criteria of S& P or any combination thereof, shal I be used to effect 
defeasance of the I nsured Bands uni ess the I nsurer otherwise appraves. 

To accomplish defeasance of the Insured Bands, the Issuer shal I cause to be delivered (i) a 
report of an independent firm of nationally recognized certified public accountants or such other 
accountant as shall be acceptable to the Insurer ("Accountant") verifying the sufficiency of the 
escrcw established to pay the Insured Bonds in full on the maturity or redem[Xion date 
("Verification"), (ii) an Escrcw Deposit Agreement (which shall be acce[Xable in form and 
substance to the Insurer), (iii) an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that 
the Insured Bonds are no longer "Outstanding" under the Indenture and (iv) a certificate of 
discharge of the Trustee with respect to the Insured Bonds; each Verification and defeasance 
opinion shal I be acce[Xabl e in form and substance, and addressed, to the I ssuer, the Trustee and 
the Insurer. The Insurer shal I be pravi ded with final drafts of the abave,eferenced documentation 
not less than five Business Days priorto the funding of the escrcw. 

I nsured Bands shal I be deemed "Outstanding" under the Indenture uni ess and unti I they 
are in fact paid and retired or the abave criteria are met. 

(k) Amounts paid by the Insurer underthe Insurance Pd icy shall not be deemed paid 
for purposes of the Indenture and the Insured Bands relating to such payments shal I remain 
Outstanding and continue to be due and cwing until paid by the Issuer in accordance with the 
I ndenture. The I ndenture shal I not be discharged uni ess al I amounts due or to become due to the 
Insurer have been paid in full or duly prCNided for. 
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(I) Each of the Issuer and Trustee ccwenant and agree to take such action (including, 
as applicable, filing of UCC financing statements and continuations thereof) as is necessary from 
time to time to preserve the priority of the pedge of the Net Revenues under applicable law. 

(ml Claims Upon the Insurance Policy and Payments 0\/ and to the Insurer. 

If, on the third Business Day prior to the related scheduled interest payment date or 
principal payment date(" Payment Date") there is nct on deposit with the Trustee, after making all 
transfers and deposits required under the Indenture, moneys sufficient to pay the principal of and 
interest on the Insured Bonds due on such Payment Date, the Trustee shall give notice to the Insurer 
and to its designated agent (if any) (the" Insurer's Fiscal Agent") 0\/ telephone ortelecopy of the 
amount of such deficiency O)l 12:00 noon, NevvYork City time, on such Business Day. If, on the 
second Business Day prior to the related Payment Date, there continues to be a deficiency in the 
amount available to pay the principal of and interest on the Insured Bonds due on such Payment 
Date, the Trustee shal I make a claim under the I nsurance Policy and give notice to the I nsurer and 
the Insurer's Fiscal Agent (if any) O)ltelephone of the amount of such deficiency, and the allocation 
of such deficiency between the amount required to pay interest on the I nsured Bands and the 
amount required to pay principal of the Insured Bands, confirmed in writing to the Insurer and the 
Insurer's Fiscal Agent O)l 12:00 noon, NevvY ork City time, on such second Business Day 0\/ filling 
in the form of Nctice of Claim and Certificate delivered with the Insurance Pd icy. 

The Trustee shal I designate any portion of payment of principal on Insured Bands paid 0\/ 
the Insurer, whether 0\/ virtue of mandatory sinking fund redemption, maturity or other 
advancement of maturity, on its books as a reduction in the principal amount of Insured Bonds 
registered to the then current Owner of the Insured Bands, whether OTC or its nominee or 
ctherwi se, and shal I issue a replacement I nsured Bond to the I nsurer, registered in the name of 
Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., in a principal amount equal to the amount of principal so paid 
(without regard to authorized denominations); pravi ded that the Trustee's fai I ure to so designate 
any payment or issue any replacement I nsured Bond shal I have no effect on the amount of principal 
or interest payable 0\/ the I ssuer · on any I nsured Bond or the sulxogati on rights of the Insurer. 

The Trustee shal I keep a compete and accurate record of all funds deposited 0\/ the Insurer 
into the Pd icy Payments Account (defined belavv) and the allocation of such funds to payment of 
interest on and principal of any I nsured Bond. The Insurer shal I have the right to inspect such 
records at reasonable ti mes upon reasonable notice to the Trustee. 

Upon payment of a claim under the Insurance Pd icy, the Trustee shall establish a separate 
special purpose trust account for the benefit of Owners of the I nsured Bands referred to herein as 
the "Pd icy Payments Account" and aver which the Trustee shall have exclusive control and sole 
right of withdrawal. The Trustee shall receive any amount paid underthe Insurance Policy in trust 
on behalf of Owners of the Insured Bonds and shall deposit any such amount in the Policy 
Payments Account and distribute such amount only for purposes of making the payments for which 
a claim was made. Such amounts shal I be disbursed 0\/ the Trustee to Owners of the I nsured Bands 
in the same manner as principal and interest payments are to be made with respect to the Insured 
Bands under the sections hereof regarding payment of Insured Bands. It shal I nct be necessary for 
such payments to be made 0\/ checks or wire transfers separate from the check or wire transfer 
used to pay debt service with other funds avai I able to make such payments. 
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Nctwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Issuer agrees to pay, solely from Net 
Revenues, to the Insurer (i) a sum equal to the tctal of all amounts paid by the Insurer under the 
Insurance Pd icy (the "Insurer Advances''); and (ii) interest on such Insurer Advances from the 
date paid by the Insurer until payment thereof in full, payable to the Insurer at the Late Payment 
Rate per annum (cdlectively, the "Insurer Reimbursement Amounts''). "Late Payment Rate" 
means the lesser of (a) the greater of (i) the per annum rate of interest, publicly announced from 
timetotime by JPMorgan Chase Bank at its principal office in The City of NevvYork, as its prime 
or base I ending rate (any change in such rate of interest to be effective on the date such change is 
announced by JPMorgan Chase Bank) plus 3%, and (ii) the then applicalle highest rate of interest 
on the Insured Bonds and (b) the rmxi mum rate permissible under app icable usury or similar laws 
limiting interest rates. The Late Payment Rate shal I be computed on the basis of the actual number 
of days elapsed aver a year of 360 days. The Issuer hereby cavenants and agrees that the Insurer 
Reimbursement Amounts are secured by a lien on and pedge of the Net Revenues and payable 
from such Net Revenues on a parity with debt service due on the Insured Bonds. 

Funds held in the Policy Payments Account shall nct be invested by the Trustee and may 
not be appied to satisfy any costs, expenses or liablities of the Trustee. Any funds remaining in 
the Pol icy Payments Account fol lavvi ng a Payment Date shal I promptly be remitted to the Insurer. 

(n) The Insurer shall, to the extent it malkes any payment of principal of or interest on 
the I nsured Bands, become subrogated to the rights of the recipients of such payments in 
accordance with the terms of the I nsurance Policy (which subrogation rights shal I al so include the 
rights of any such recipients in connection with any Insolvency Proceeding). Each obligation of 
the I ssuer to the Insurer under the Related Documents shal I survive discharge or termination of 
such Related Documents. 

(o) The Issuer shall pay or reimburse the Insurer any and all charges, fees, costs and 
expenses that the Insurer may reasonably pay or incur in connection with (i) the administration, 
enforcement, defense or preservation of any rights or security in any Related Document; (ii) the 
pursuit of any remedies under the Indenture or any other Related Document or ctherwise afforded 
by law or equity, (iii) any amendment, waiver or cther action with respect to, or related to, the 
Indenture or any cther Related Document whether or not executed or completed, or (iv) any 
litigation or other dispute in connection with the Indenture or any other Related Document orthe 
transactions contemplated thereby, other than costs resulting from the failure of the Insurer to 
honor its obligations under the Insurance Policy. The Insurer reserves the right to charge a 
reasonable fee as a condition to executing any amendment, waiver or consent proposed in respect 
of the Indenture or any other Related Document. 

(p) After payment of reasonable expenses of the Trustee, the application of funds 
realized upon default shall be applied to the payment of expenses of the Issuer or rebate only after 
the payment of past due and current delX service on the Insured Bands and amounts required to 
restore the Reserve Fund to the Reserve Requirement. 

( q) The I nsurer shal I be enti tied to pay principal or interest on the I nsured Bands that 
shal I become Due for Payment but shal I be unpaid by reason of Non payment by the Issuer (as such 

A-34 



terms are defined in the Insurance Poli a;) and any amounts due on the Insured Bands as a result 
of acceleration of the maturity thereof in accordance with the Indenture, whether or not the Insurer 
has received a Notice of Nonpayment (as such terms are defined in the Insurance Pd ia;) or a claim 
upon the Insurance Polio;. 

(r) The notice address of the Insurer is: Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., 1633 
Broadway, Nevv York, NevvY ork 10019, Attention: Managing Director-Survei I lance, Re: Pd ia; 
No. 218553--N, Telephone: (212) 974-0100; Telecopier: (212) 339-3556. In each case in which 
notice or other communication refers to an Event of Default, then a copy of such notice or cther 
communication shal I al so be sent to the attention of the General Counsel and shal I be marked to 
indicate "URGENT MATERIAL ENCLOSED." 

(s) The Insurer shall be prCNided with the follcwing information 0\/ the Issuer or 
Trustee, as the case may be: 

(i) Annual audited financial statements within 180 days after the end of the 
I ssuer' s fi seal year ( together with a certi fi cation of the I ssuer that it i s nct ctNare of any 
default or Event of Default underthe Indenture), and the Issuer's annual budget within 30 
days afterthe apprCNal thereof together with such other information, data or reports as the 
Insurer shal I reasonably request from ti me to ti me; 

(ii) Nctice of any drctN upon the Reserve Fund within two Business Days after 
kncwledge thereof other than (i) withdrawals of amounts in excess of the Reserve 
Requirement and (ii) withdrctNals in connection with a refunding of Insured Bonds; 

(iii) Nctice of any default kncwn to the Trustee or Issuer within five Business 
Days after kncwl edge thereof; 

(iv) Prior notice of the advance refunding or redemption of any of the Insured 
Bonds, including the principal amount, maturities and CUSI P numbers thereof; 

(v) N cti ce of the resignation or remCNal of the Trustee and Bond Registrar and 
the appointment of, and acceptance of duties 0\/, any successorthereto; 

(vi) Nctice of the commencement of any I nsolvena; Proceeding; 

(vii) Nctice of the making of any claim in connection with any lnsolvena; 
Proceeding seeking the avoidance as a preferential transfer of any payment of principal of, 
or interest on, the I nsured Bands; 

(vi ii) A full original transcript of al I proceedings relating to the execution of any 
amendment, supplement, or waiverto the Related Documents; and 

(ix) A 11 reports, ncti ces and correspondence to be delivered to Owners underthe 
terms of the Related Documents. 
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In additi m, to the extent that the Issuer has entered into a cmti nui ng di sci osure agreement, 
cavenant or undertaking with respect to the Insured Bonds, al I information furnished pursuant to 
such agreements shal I al so be pravided to the Insurer, si rnultaneously with the furnishing of such 
information. 

(t) The Insurer shall have the right to receive such additional informatim as it may 
reasonably request. 

( u) The I ssuer wi 11 perrni t the Insurer to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of 
the Issuer or any i nformati m the Insurer may reasonably request regarding the security for the 
Insured Bonds with appropriate officers of the Issuer andwi II use commercially reasmable efforts 
toenablethe I nsurerto have access to the facilities, books and records of the Issuer many Business 
Day upm reasonable prior notice. 

(v) The Trustee shal I notify the I nsurer of any kncwn fai I ure of the I ssuer to pravi de 
notices, certificates and other information under the Related Documents. 

(w) Notwithstanding satisfaction of the cther cmditims to the issuance of additional 
Parity DelX set forth in the Indenture, no such issuance may occur (1) if an Event of Default (or 
any event which, once all nctice or grace periods have passed, would constitute an Event of 
Default) exists unless such default shall be cured upm such issuance and (2) unless the Reserve 
Fund is fully funded atthe Reserve Requirement (including the proposed issue) upm the issuance 
of such additional Parity Debt, in either case unless ctherwi se permitted by the Insurer. 

(x) I n deterrni ni ng whether any amendment, cm sent, waiver or other action to be taken, 
or any failure to take action, under the I ndenturewould adversely affect the security for the Insured 
Bands or the rights of the Owners, the Trustee shal I consider the effect of any such amendment, 
consent, waiver, action or inaction as if there were no Insurance Pd icy. 

(y) No cmtract shall be entered into or any actim taken by which the rights of the 
I nsurer or security for or sources of payment of the I nsured Bands may be i rnpai red or prejudiced 
in any material respect exce[X upon olXai ni ng the prior written consent of the Insurer. 

(z) The Issuer shal I nct enter into any interest rate exchange agreement or any cther 
interest rate maintenance agreement secured by and payable frorn the Net Revenues withoutthe 
prior written cm sent of the Insurer. 

Pravisions Relating to the Reserve Pd icy 

With respect to the Reserve Policy, nctwithstanding anything to the cmtrary set forth in 
the Indenture or in the Bmds, the City and the Trustee have each agreed to cornpy with the 
fol I cwi ng prcwi si ons: 

(a) The City shall repay any draws under the Reserve Policy and pay all related 
reasonable expenses incurred by the I nsurer and shal I pay interest thereon frorn the date of payment 
by the Insurer at the Late Payment Rate. "Late Payment Rate" means the lesser of (x) the greater 
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of (i) the per annum rate of interest, p.,1blicly announced from time to time lJy JPMorgan Chase 
Bank at its p-incipal office in the City of New York, as its p-ime or base lending rate ("Prime 
Rate") (any change in such Prime Rate to be effective on the date such change is announced lJy 
JPMorgan Chase Bank) plus 3%, and (ii) the then applicalle highest rate of interest on the Series 
2017 Bonds and (y) the maximum rate permissible under applicalle usury or similar laws limiting 
interest rates. The Late Payment Rate shal I be comp.,1ted on the basis of the actual number of days 
elapsed ewer a year of 360 days. In the eventJ PM organ Chase Bank ceases to announce its Prime 
Rate pullicly, Prime Rate shall be the pullicly announced p-ime or base lending rate of such 
national bank as the Insurer shal I specify. If the interest p-avisions of this subparagraph (a) shall 
result in an effective rate of interest which, for any period, exceeds the limit of the usury or any 
cther lctNs applicable to the indebtedness created herein, then all sums in excess of those lctNful ly 
col I ecti ll e as interest for the period in question shal I, without further agreement or notice between 
or lJy any party hereto, be applied as additional interest for any later periods of ti me when announts 
are outstanding under the Indenture or the Reserve Policy to the extent that interest otherwise due 
underthe Indenture orthe Reserve Policy for such periods pus such additional interest would nct 
exceed the Ii mit of the usury or such cther I ctNs, and any excess shal I be appl i eel upon principal 
immediately upon receipt of such moneys lJy the Insurer, with the sanne force and effect as if the 
City had specifically designated such extra sums to be so applied and the Insurer had agreed to 
acce[X such extra payment(s) as additional interest for such later periods. In no event shall any 
agreed-to or actual exaction as consideration for the i ndelXedness created herein exceed the Ii mits 
imposed or p-avi ded lJy the I aw app i cable to this transaction for the use or detention of money or 
for forbearance in seeking its collection. 

Repayment of draws and payment of expenses and accrued interest thereon at the Late 
Payment Rate (collectively, "Pd icy Costs'') shall commence in the first month follcwing each 
draw, and each such monthly payment shal I be in an annount at least equal to 1 /12 of the aggregate 
of Pd icy Costs related to such drctN. Amounts in respect of Policy Costs paid to the Insurer shall 
be credited first to interest due, then to the expenses due and then to principal due. As and to the 
extent that payments are made to the I nsurer on account of principal due, the ccwerage under the 
Reserve Policy will be increased lJy a like annount, subject to the terms of the Reserve Policy. The 
obligation to pay Pd icy Costs shall be secured lJy a val id I ien on al I revenues and other cd lateral 
fl edged as security for the Seri es 2017 Bands (subject only to the priority of payment p-avi sions 
set forth under the Indenture). 

A 11 cash and investments in the Reserve Fund shal I be transferred to the Debt Service Fund 
for payment of delX service on Seri es 201 7 Bands before any drctNi ng may be made on the Reserve 
Policy or any other credit facility credited to the Reserve Fund in lieu of cash ("Credit Facility"). 
Payment of any Policy Costs shal I be made p-i or to rep eni shment of any such cash announts. 
DrctNs on all Credit Faci Ii ties (including the Reserve Pd icy) on which there is avai lalle caverage 
shal I be made on a pro-rata basis ( calculated lJy reference to the caverage then avai I able 
thereunder) after applying all availalle cash and investments in the Reserve Fund. Payment of 
Policy Costs and reimbursement of announts with respect to cther Credit Faci Ii ties shal I be made 
on a pro-rata basis prior to replenishment of any cash drawn from the Reserve Fund. For the 
avoidance of doubt, "avai I able caverage" means the caverage then avai I all e for disbursement 
p.,1rsuant to the terms of the applicable alternative credit instrument without regard to the legal or 
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financial ability orwi Iii ngness of the prcwider of such instrument to honor a claim or draw thereon 
or the failure of such pravider to honor any such claim or draw. 

(b) If the City shall fail to pay any Policy Costs in accordance with the requirements of 
subparagraph (a) abcwe, the Insurer shall be entitled to exercise any and all legal and equitable 
remedies available to it, including those pravided underthe Indenture otherthan (i) acceleration 
of the maturity of the Series 2017 Bonds or (ii) remedies which would adversely affect avvners of 
the Series 2017 Bonds. 

( c) The Indenture shal I not be discharged unti I al I Policy Costs avvi ng to the Insurer 
shall have been paid in full. The City's olligation to pay such amounts shall expressly survive 
payment in ful I of the Seri es 2017 Bands. 

(cl) The City shall include any Policy Costs then due and avving the Insurer in the 
calculation of the additional Parity DelX test and the rate cavenant in the Indenture. 

(e) The Trustee shall be required to ascertain the necessity for aclai m upon the Reserve 
Policy in accordance with the pravisions of subparagraph (a) abcwe, and to pravide notice to the 
Insurer in accordance with the terms of the Reserve Policy at I east five Business Days prior to each 
date upon which interest or principal is due on the Series 2017 Bonds. Where deposits are required 
to be made lJy the City with the Trustee to the Debt Service Fund forthe Series 2017 Bonds more 
often than semi-annually, the Trustee shall give nctice to the Insurer of any failure of the City to 
make timely payment in ful I of such deposits within two Business Days of the date due. 
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tial'e audlled !he flnar>llilll lltllemerils oflhe gol/ler11menl!al 
aid aOll(Q(lal!i reri1ai1'lioo furn:! inf~ <1>f 1he 
and me the fir>11oolll 

slalememi;r as listed in o! Contents, 

i;,re•nlatitiri of lhel!;11 

of America; lhis 
rmr 



other Mau.rs 

Accounting principles 11&nerally ;ocepted ln the Unlloo Siates of America 111Qurr• lhai: !he Management's D!scus:!lioo amd 
An•lysis on pages 3 through 11 "nd th• Budgmry Comparison Schedule&, Schedule of Proportionate Shara of the Ne! 
Pension Liability and Schedula of Ernplo>"'r Pension Contnbuftons on pege, 47 through 52 ba presented loO aupplermml the 
bask: financi!il -men!s. Stich infonnalio1'1. although 1101 " pan of the basic finan::ial slmem&11!s, is ,-quired by the 
Govemm;,nral Accounting Standards Board who C011$lderlJ it lo be an euential part DI financial n,port,ng lor placing !he: b&llic 
fll'lancial statemerl!$ in an •pproprlat• oparaticm•I, 11c0nomic, or historical context 

I have applied certain limited pr°""dura11 !o !he requin,d supplemant•ry information in 11ccordam:,; wi!h 11udllng slam:lsrds 
g,imerall)' acx:apled ln !he United stales of Americ:a;i, which con1iated of inquinm of management abool the melhods of 
preparing lhe inform.alion and oomp•riog- th& informi,lion for con!li.tency wth management's response5 to my inquirie•, Ire 
bllsic ffn•nc:i1I statemems, and other knowledge [ obtained during my audit of lhe b11slc financial bli'mentj;. I do nat e,q:,rass 
an opiniM or provide an1 assuratice on the information because th!! limited procedu111>1 clo not provida me with -.:ufflcieol 
wiclanc• 10 express an opinion or provid• any assurance. 

Other lmblmation 

M1 audit wa:; con duded !or the purposa or fonning opinion• on IM finanej~I slalemenls thM coliecti11ely compri,a !he City of 
F'ortLl'111'• biasic financial -merls. The •=mpanying nonm*'r fund comoining financial :l!iitemen!s are prN•nted for 
purposes of addiliooai ana!<J1i,1; artd "'" nm a raquin,d p11rt of'!he ba.sic fln11ni::illl s1a1ements. 

Th1> nonmlljor rund oombintng financial slalii'ments are the roapon11ib1bty of m•n•gemenl ancl was clerived from and relates 
dlreatl<J to lhe underlying aocounting Md o!her records used lo p!9pan, lhe basic fln,ncllll statsmenls, SL!Clh inlbrma!fon h•• 
been $Ubj,acted lo the ~Llditing pra::edurae •pplied in Iha eudll of !he basic financial slalemew,s and ceriain add1!ional 
procedurar.1, incJuding wmp,aring and raccncrnng such information dllllCl:ly lo lhe undarl1ing lilcoounting and 0!11er records uied 
1:ll pn,pan, ttle basic ffn,.ncial st..ilomer,1$ or lo the basic financial slatem,mls lhamaelvN, and olher addii:iorial procedures in 
accc:,rda!IC6 with auditing ,lllJ1di:lrds 11enaral1~ accepted in Iha United Slates of America lo my opin1on, IDl:l nonma;or b,o 
eombining financlai sl<!tii'mert!S are: felrty slllled, in all malenal raep-=ta_ In mlatlon lo lhe be sic: llnaoa•I stat'!lfllerl!S"" "whole 

Other Raportina RaquiAd by Government Auditing S!Mdsn:1$ 

lri aa::ordence with Govemmeril >.udltlng S12nd&rds, I have also Issued my report, dmed December 30, 2018, on my 
consrderaln:m of lhe 01y of Fortuna's Internal control over finam::ial reporlrng 11111<1 on my tests of lts comptianc.: wilh certain 
provisions of 1"""5, regulations, colltracis aml gr11nt "IJl"ement• and other mat¾rs, The purpose of lha1 repori Is to d~be 
tho soopv <1f my teoling of inlemal oon!rol olll'!r l'lnancial n,portfng and compliance and the results of 11111! !•Sling, and nol lo 
provide an opinion on intem•I control over financial reporlilig or on oamplianoe. Thal report 1s an inlegr,tl part of an audil 

dancewilh Go~emment AudlUng Stand&rd:a in considering the c,1y of Forluna's Internal oontrol ovllfr flnaoc,al 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANAL vsrs 

INTRODUCTION 
This section of the City of Fortuna"s annual finencial raport prasants discussion and 11nal)'llis of the city'g 
f1nano1al per\'ormanoe during the fiscal yGQr !hat ended on June 30, 2016. PIEIQaa read !hie analysis in 
co11unction wlth the tr11m;mit111i latter cont11inad in Iha front of this report and Iha city's financial statements 
which follow this; section, 

• The city's total net p(M!ition continued to improv11 during the 20115-2016 nscal year with an Increase of 
$2,5 million at the end of the fiscal period. l\le(: position Is the difference between the city's an;ats. 
deferred outflows of resources, deferred Inflows: of resources and liabilities, 

• The Suocesaor Agency {Former Redevelopment Agency) continues 1o move forward with lhe 
completion of "winding down" the e1ty's former redevelopment ao!Mties, In fiscal 2016, lhe Se1ocessor 
reduced its defier! position by $57,432 and retired $150,000 in bond,, The Agency hCJ\1/ever. was unable 
lo oommenca lhe rap!!lyment of the City's reinstated S2.47 miilion loan from the City. 

• The ~ty'& g11nl!lf'!ll f1Jnd eamed 56,1 million in revenues during the 2015--2016 fiscai yearwlth $6.0 million 
in lolat expenditures. Gener.!!! government administration expendi1Ur0s were aboe1! $4!50.000 rower in 
fiscal 2016 because in fiscal 201:S they included $5((),000 in litigation cools fer the aertlilmant of an 
in\lerae condemnelion ecilon. This wes offset by about a $400, ODO lnmaaae in capital assa! e:.parlditur&e 
in fiscal 2016; mainly for public safety purposes. 

The fiscal period ending June 30, 2016 reaultad in a gil08fllt fund balance of $4 87 million with all of this 
reported as un-asr;jgned, (Se11 pai;ie 14 for dat11ila.) The City's has d11aigolilted i;ibout $3,8 million encl of 
year unassigned fund balance as Slllbilizalion reserves for continganci• and cash flow !hortfal!11. 

• The city'e water and wastewater PfOQ11!1mfl gel"l8f'ated over $5.6 million in user fees and $190,800 in 
miscellaneous revenue this f!SCil period for a totBI of $5. 77 million in re\leflue. Utility f- continue to 
support daily ~r11tlons, debt aervice, and capital improvament projectg_ The net po!1!lon of the warer 
antllrprisa ini::raased by 1.7 percent [o $14.9 million, and the wastewater snterpriee net po~f1on increased 
by 1.6 p,.rcc.nl to $22.9 million indicating l!'lable growth and m•nagem•nt of !1111 cily's vital utH1ly sel'Vicas. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATl!M!NTS 

The Clly'a Baeic Financial Ststemenll! consi!!I! of four main oomponents: (1) the independent auditor's 
r1ljXJfi !ilnd maner;iem111nl'a disrus!lion and analy.!lis; (2) the basic ftnancial ,tatem&nlll and noles lo the 
financial sti,teman11; {S) reqi.ired eupplernant111ry mformat1on; and (4) combining fund flra,cial statements. 
The b8ilic finencilill 81:Btamerlta inciude lwQ ty!)!t& of statements that pre:.enl diffarant views of the cil)'; the 
govamroont-wide and the fund 1inlilnc11;1I statements. 

• The government-wid11 financial statements provide both long.-m and shoit-term informl!ltion about 
the City's over211I financia! s!ai:Us. 

• The fund flnancilll statements focus on individual parts of city i;iovemm11n1, reporting the city's 
opar11tions in more dfit!lil then !he govemment-wi~ statements. 

The basic financi111I statemenl:I! also include notes that provid11 lilddifional informslion essential to 
undenitandin.i tha data conteJnll!d in the govamment-wicia <ind fund linanc11!11 stell!lmenta, The statements 
and notes are followed by requir&d supplsmantery lnlormation, Including budgetary compari1Son schede1ies 
for lhe general fund and clh•r mater govammantl!II funds In addition to lh- required elements, we hlilVII 
included combining staooments that provide details about the city'& noirmajor funds, 
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION 

r ype o1 2~bthiy 
fnfurmatlct) 

o! 

contam. Toe remainder overview 
an,dvsis e·<ol,ains the S!nJciUre and contents or each of !he s!a1!ernA11!,: 

Cro\fzyrnmwml:· Vv'id$ 
~maih'lS 

Acer.ta! ~tin; and 
¥ill/JffQffi:ro resotff!J0$ foous 

incurred 
11tSardlM$ 
r~ved or ,e,.:;:ence!i 

Fi flNentJ§ Tor wl"mch t::Eh is 
or soon after 

infi:mnalic1n similar!o those used 
1:>tatemenl 

iilGClOlln\lftJJ aOO BCC¾1CTT1 kl 
J'ftCnJrce;s iccus 

activities on a 

as a 

· Includes asse1ls deferred 
rlP!!Arr·i,rl lnilnv,s of resources used lo measure ""nn,,mir. resources. 

!!1ff1ananr,,a between the a5SE!1:$ deferred VI.JUIIJ1Wl$, iialbfJii:i6S <!fld deferred inflienwc 

inr1"''''"'• or decreases in the net po:sttic,n is an indicator of whether the 

and is critical in 
1ntorme!ion 

'""''"''1"''" the net revenues and 
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other 
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resources that can be 

not 
Information Is 
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are divided Into two ca1:ao,Jrie,s 

mf1im:air control and monrtor resouroas that have 
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FORTUNA 
A·1 ""'"'''"' ll<:i:<:ti;;:-r<:t 

(In thousands of dollars} 

Assets: 

CurNnt and otM,r anm $211,571 
assebii 

Tl:ltllaS!il'lffl 
~d outflows: 
Pe111;lon illl<mt 676 
Liabilities: 
Curren! liabilities 1, 1t:I 

Ii;; b illtie,; 'l\4li" 

Total l""llilil:i~ 
Defi!lrred inflows: 

Pen&lr,n l"ll!lued ilem11, 
Net l'osil:lon: 
!\let imru:lment in 
asserts 6,331 

R<astricled 2!1,i16$ 
Unr,o;s,triebad 2,992 

Total Ne! P°"i!ion 

of the 
El fiscal year. 

21)16 

ll,!111 

-
116 

7,1101 

22,!49 

nas 
activities - about the same es 
acllvities to 1.7 

21111> 2ll1S 21116 21l11ii 

$22,260 $21,D15 $SO,i175 •% 
3% 

602 

9111 1,091 2,n, 1)109 11% 

4% 

426 1a 

18,126 :!'1,011 25,2-lll 
1,724 2,l141 22,1!113 ;14,191 -11% 

21,274 15% 

:1!1% 

to 



MANAGEMENrs DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

City Vv'ide Revenue Sources - Fiscal 2016 

OU::;.r tiil~e~ 
71' 

... CT :~xcs Pro;·:.,rty tax~s 
3,;,;, 3~Q 

City-W,de Functional Expenses Fiscal 2016 

Pzrk ;;nd recrca~fon 
10~.; 

Street iind o".:hi!!!:r 
9~ 

The total cost of city programs and iervice~ decreased t:i S 12.1 mH!icn du:in1,1 2016. 111 deo;ease of about 
$27;J,000. Co~ cover a variety of servioes witti approxir.iately 49% of toii!ll c:iets att.;boled to busine!.li-
1:ype activities (\I/liter, westewater, and transit! and the rerr.aining 51 % related to genera, govemmeri,. put.lie 
11afety, 1treets, parks end recreation progr.11ms, and other services provided to the c:imrnunity. Of t~e 
273,000 decrease in expenses, about S6CC,DDD was ~or a 011e-ttr;1e inverse condemnat:on li'.ig:atior. 
settlement tnat was expen11ed 1:, ~seal 201 o and was not a recu'Ting ;1em ir, fiscal 2016. 
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Rew m.-.s: 
tl!l\lel'IUl!!S: 

General revenues: 
Unre,.trieted oontributicn 
Ta""" 
othw 

7 otai A!iVDTldJBS 

EXpllll!!IHI: 

Genenl 
l?ubli,; 

Parks and recr,;aticn 
San ati en 

!lilld 
Wall!ir 
Watewall!ir 
Transit 
other 

T o!:!i I e xpemn. 

Transfers 

in oot 

Net 

Net 

MANAGEMENT'S 

An,Anr,vareex,~u,ioo 
r'.rt11-liVirll" revenues. 

2016 

$1,:1(17 $2,051 
6111) 855 m ~, :!,IA 394 

2,413 
4,337 

ii 51 

1,0l!l' 1,686 
3,012 l,U:I 

SM ill<!:! 
1.221 1.187 

<I:! 311 
Iii. y 

2,l!ll1 
:1,3!!2 

346 
71 1311 

7,134 

1,1ll5 5,7$1 142 

11 {111 

1.776 131 

31,058 2i,2iJ! 

$31,(153 $311,134 

TOTALS CITY 

2015 2016 

$5,1186 S1 ,!!\Ill $1,!M-' 
250 929 
291 1,3911 l,155 

2,m 
4,123 

111 51 

{1,433 

1,1157 
3,lll'a 

884 1143 
1,:121 1,11!7 

ill lil 
M 911 

1,8!16 2,207 1J';n 
3,083 a.-

:!Ill! 26ll 
n !JO 

12, l!l!I 12,;!81 

1.186 2,l;(l1 11,9111 

!111 

1,115 

U,,1,111! 

a 
These costs were financed 
was a result of about 

a one,time financial event 
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PERCENT 

·15% 
-63% 

·1011% 
11% 

'27% 
.:!% 
-12% 
3% 

10% 
·2% 
16% 
8% 

29o/o 

-64% 

-64% 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE FUND STATEMENTS 

The city uses fund accounting to ensure and damon:11trate compliance wilh finance-related legal 
rsquirement~ and regulations. Th1w fund financial slaleme!'l!s foous on individual parts of city govarnmal'll in 
order to report city operations in moro detail than the government-wide statements. 

Government.al Ft,nds 

The gant1rel fund, HOME fund, and dfy housing fund are raportad as major !JOYemmentaJ funds. other 
non-major governmental fund programs includa gas la:,:(s], storm drain ml!lirmil!lnce, federal and stale 
grants, (jjjbt MIVice, and capital prOjects. 

The general fund reported 16.1 mUIJon in tax. grant, and fee revenues during the year, These revenues 
were uaed lo support $3.5 million in public s11fety programs, nearly $1 million ta llupport park,i. and recreation 
programa and 90f\licall, end lhe remainder supported slrtloo!, capillll improvlilment projecb!, and ge11e1'1!I 
Bdminillll:l'iltior, i11Cluding debt service. The ending gener.al fund blillance of $4.8 million indu<:181!1 $4.6 minion 
in unaBriignad funds-. 

On a budgetary bellia, genefl!II fund revenues exceeded budget estimlill111s by ebout $811,000. Salesc tax 
revenues exceed11d ,.-ejections by neany $191,000 with chlilrges for -vicas fflld miscetlaneou11 revenues 
axceading projections by tl-ie rernaming S420,000. In total, gsm1rlill fund expenditure11 and trane:fer!!> were 
$307.700 Oller approved budget approprti!!llons with about $200,000 of Iha unf61von1i:Jle ovar run related to 
additional public aliflilly gn1nt programs .. 

The dly'a HOME grlilnt fund mnlinues lo administer an $8.3 million portfolio of federally funded houlling 
loons. No new loans were extended durirl(I th& year. 

The cily continues to administer a $2.5 million portfolio of low-to-moderate income hOU1$ing 10!!'11! that were 
originially f1.rld1wd by Community De.,,.elopment Black Grants t·coBG') and by set..,.side !'llqci.rem1mt& of the 
former r1w<:kr,elopmant egancy. Adminil!tration ot these assets is a raeul! of the cily'11 ongofng commitment 
to support low and modarala income hOul!ing programs within city limits. 

The Willer fund ll!lrned $:2.3 million in user fees during Iha yesr to support operatiii;i costs, dab! !&Nice. 
and capilllll improvemente. 
Ths wast111W11tar fund aamad •3.'4 mHlion in user fees dl.lling the year to 81Jpporl operating costs, debt 
1111rvice, mainlenanc:s oo:ats and over $221,000 in system improvement&. 

The naimejor transit l'und aemed $13,225 in fees during thlil 2016 fi1!1<.::l!ll pflliod. Operating subsldies 
combined wilh user faae support11 the oper.wti~ costs necessary to provided aesential transportelion 
servioe11 ta city ral!ide~. 



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

The crty c:onlInues to invest in improvamQl11s to maintain and improve Iha city'11 irirsstruc:ture. At ttl& end 
of 2016, !he dty has invested $48.6 million in a broad flilnge of capital assets (n!lt of 11ccumulaect 
depreciation) that support the essential services provided to ,he city's r9iidenta 1100 bu11ines11e11. A&iiet~ 
include lend, equipm1,nt, vehid&s, buiidings, park facili!i&l!, 11nd water and waatewater 11y8!1!1m~ (See Table 
A-3.) Addltiomal inform2lion about the city's capital assets can be found in Note 4, Sedion C, of !he notes 
to the basic financial statements. 

(In thousands of~~ll1,1111l 

GOVERHMENTAL BUSINESS-TYPE PERCENT 
ACTIVITIES ACTMTIES TOTALS CHANGE 

316 2014 2016 :W14 ;!ll16 :11)16 

Land lllll5 $&Si $15'1, $15'1, ilf4S !1'149 
Construction in pro~ 4,4ft l!;,-'M 6:ilS 115:1 5,134 3,1::111 
W-water plantf~m :,Z!i:14 32,4113 32,534 32,i!li:'I 
W&mr pl•nt & aylllllm 1!1,252 1111J!B2 19,l!S2 11,982 
l!luildin11•, gowrnmN'lt:II 4,24!1 4,147 4,2411 4,141 
Maabinel'Y & .,quipmC>nt 1,724 1.4ll(l 1,15' 1,6$$ 1,311 3,00S 
Vehiclea 314 1111 1,oas ,,us 1,11]7 1,112!1 
iffluts.tn.\ctunt ~et~ ~ i.311'1 :5,S::ir !~1 
lmpro,,.ment. 1,tl1 _ _,!_,7&7 1,IIH 1:nt 

Total c.pltal aS!ietll 111,ffl 11,488 55,2113 58,0711 74,IIH 11,!il',4 
l•,s; aeeumul11ted 
dltpracildion 11,!ialll 16,967) !111,391) {17.ll'.781 12'.Wll _<z•.z.u;._ 

O!lplla1 asaet11, 11i!t of 
Accumulalllld d•prac:iatlan S11,1QI SI.If, u1,11, $l7,IIS $41!,$02 $4T,ltt 

Mlajor additions to cepilsl assets in -fiscel 2016 included: 
1. Stoml drain and street project11 ($1,800,000) 
2. Wastawaler laaral and improv&ment projl!lcls (1224,000) 
3. Water system impro11smants ($100,000) 
4. Vehide and ~pment r11plac11ments (1435 000) 

The azy ended the 2016 flscal year with $21. 1 milli_., in prlnctperl owed for the city s revenue bonds and 
new Cl3P~ li.iaing 11rrangement11. The following is a breakdown of lhe outlltandi!V principal by fund: 

General and Leaae Paym11nt Fund 
Capital leases and loans 
WatsrFund 
Wastewater Fund 

City Total: 

S 2.520,000 
299,760 

6.960,000 
,350, 

The ol.Mlanding princpal on the city revenue bondll was raduc:ed by $770,000 d.rlng the 11iQil yet!lr. For 
further ~I. see Nollls to the Beaic Financial Statement, Long-Term Debt, contained in lhe basic 
financial statements. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Pension Accounting Matters 

Toe City'• overall actuarially oelennined net pension liability was $6.64 mitiion al the encl al fiscal 2016 
comp«ed lo $5.39 mill:on al June 30. 2015. Additional infor1m1tia, about ttw City's pension 1181:>ility and 
rel.ited matters can b11 found in note 5E to ti--e fiminoial slalements. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET 

The city' e general fund tax revenues have remained stable over lhedastseveral years .irter declining shaply 
in 2010. Appraiaed prq,erty values are rec:ogniling slight inC111aaea lhis year. lncre11se1 in property values 
and the atabilimtion of .alee tax revenue are an indiC81or of !he ragia,'a reooverv trom the economic 
downtum that begen in 2008. Th& unemployment rate has improved 5ignificantty from a high of 10.2% in 
2010 lo 6.8% in 2014. The city continues lo remain cons&rvative, yet opilmistio. in projecting revenues for 
the 201612017 budget anticipating stable revenues through the next fiscal year. 

Future :;1111r expendilurQi ere exp11cted 10 oontinue to face cost pre1:1sures in ma,ntain1ng !!!dsting and 
e:11sEmliat lo3rviC8!1 la city ta!lidants. In po1rtic.ilar. a1111rgy, panaion, 11nd hitalth bar.i'lt costs h11ve increa11ed 
$igniftCQr,tiy over the paat decade 11nd are project.ct to incr-e again in 201612017 anc:l bi,yond. As the 
city monllors budget results durtng the current ti&cel period_ Council end ateff are mindful to be iinam;111lty 
p!1.!09nl when prioritizing 1h11 aarvicas lhst are 11uat•ineble with existing revenue streams sudi as property 
and sales tax, grants, end fees for .1111rvie11a. 

CONTACTING THE CITY'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to providll our citiz1111e. taxpe.yeni, cuatomera, irwestora 11nd creditors with 
a general O\/Slrview of the city's 1'1nancas and to demonstrate the cit:;'1:1 e1cco1.mtab11ity fur the money it 
ro.ceives. lf you have que:illons about this report or need additional iinanciel 1mormation, contact the 
Finance Diractor, City of Fortun,a, 621 Elelo'9f1th Street, P.O. Bax 545, Fa-turn!!, Cl!llifomil!! 96540. 
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ASSETS 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Ne! ,_wabl•s 

Nom::urrent assets: 
ll•m•l•d ,:,,sh aed cash £101JiWl,l•nts 
C~h atid cash ~•'11!; 
capllal lmi,ro1/ef!l<mil1' 

IMH recei111a1>1<,loog rerm 
l.!,aso ,,.o,i,abliHlong 
Loan rece1vabiltl' ateef%sor a~11 
Capital E$Sets nm 

Tot,I llOllOUm,flt -,,i,; 

T()lalasse!JS 
DEFERRED OPIJTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

Per•,1<>11 rolaled irem• 

LIABILITIES 
Current liabillikisi: 

Aooomts 
AoO!Uild liablli!ias 
Compft00$!Mrl ~,s 

DopMlls 
Aocruodlnle,roslo•iv•!ilo 
Revenue bonds are leases due one '.fl.'%3!:r 

Wllbre than one :),!ear 
l~ses due nrore than one ')11tr1ar 

Pre,mru,m irom s,,la of bomJ,;,nat 

Total 11omi,1r1m liabifllios 

Total lial>ili!ie,; 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

P1fflS!on retamd itams 
Nl!T POSfflON 
Ne! ilW-•!ll ill 
Reol11cied !or: 
Debt seruloe 
Ccapllsl 
Alrordable 
Stree!6. a od siQmY ~!$ 

Eoo110mio 0011ek,01rrolll 
O!l,er 00100••• 

Cl'IY OF fOilllJNA 
stalomont of N!!I! Pmilio11 

Jum, SQ, l!il1S 

12,~92,279 
44~ ,889 

2,'!73,402 
S,1~,832 

21,ns,102 

1,252,512 
3,211,141 

11,745,61:tl 
2,01l!l,4!14 
2,648,81£1 

10,774 

$ 4,737,830 
545,143 

23,200 

12l,J15 
2,141 
S,0411 

aon2 
213,5112 
550,000 

1,!161,304 
17,760,000 

1,724,JM 

Total 

12,853233 
1,942,512 

47 ;2J!i 

14 ,98 J ,21:t4 
12,l!92,21!1 

441,llll!I 
2,47J,41)2 
5,1124,477 

595,101 
274,632 

70,32:ei 
116,869 
256,636 

1116,662 
6,641,502 

20,025,000 
299,780 
499,958 

27,011,213 



Fflncltions/Pmgrams­
gowinn, em 

GJVQtrtrr1on1~1 ttclivitk.'$: 
GtJ:!~fi'.il yuverrimenl 
Pulllic sall!!y 
5tr~t$; 
Potk$ end recremliJe 
Senttaoon 
llusi11c"1i ,md 
him,a•I on 1o11,rt,,rm debt 

m 1,0516,456 
3,071,641 

664, 1 !!Ii 
1,221,248 

7~,164 

2,206,8l'll 
J,JJl ,929 

344,951, 

CITY OF Flll!TUNA 
Stilllmlllnl of Acli•ilios 

For Tho Fls"'II Vear Ended 2111$ 

Grnnm: m:td Govommcnful Oronl• 
C<>nlrilmlion• Contrimrtfon& Adiviknt 

$ ::171,856 
504,948 

113,551 
4!18,292 
5$,87l 

434,634 

2,402,08!! 
3,536,519 

$ 

5,651 

64,231 
157,958 

10,778 
3,40,241 

279,140 ----"17'-'1""2;::.81:.. ------

279,140 

(:2,1!70,713) 

Gat:i:ncrat rEtvenue& and trarmfie:ra: 
Ti:!tX&S: 

42J,7Sli 
(W(O,$ Ll!JU5G 

Triatl!:>lent UWJUJ>klrn::y li!iiXOS: am.an 
Other ro);c s 417,310 
P,c1oe1lv la, In lieu VLF 1,050,708 

98,452 
rrsrnsfers 10,597 

4,441,416 

1,775,703 

i3 

Revenue and 

Tomi 

742,250 

423,766 

8!0,827 

98,452 

(10,597) 

7J1 J35J ?,507,356 



ASSETS 
Cash :wl lml!mm•rn• 
Aocouras receivable 
T ~ rccetvabh!:f 
Ou e from o±h er govemmer,t.s 
IOWll'!Ory 
Prepayments 
Notes reoolvab!e 
Leas-e ~~l*2 
Loan reoo!Wble successor EJgenc~ 
L:and tleki tor resale 

UAJ:liUTl!:l! ANO fllNO 
l!ALJINCES 

Liabil!tlH' 
Alloounb!i 
Accrued 

Oeiemed inilOW'S of resources. 
t..oog.<erm reoe1vabJes 

fund tna li;iilltJeS. 
Nonspemaole 
Res:trici:edrofa~~bje 
Resmct.o fur eoonom1c dm1o!o,pm1'm 
R...incted Im cap1ial 
Roslric!od !or CCC 
Restrlc!O<l fol' de!l! secvice 
Rootf'ictec ~ streero zmd stcmn: drams 

T()ll:ll fuoo t>slaM!i$ 

Total liab11ffies, deferred lmlov.rs:of rresoJ..Jrci!S :and 
{ :.md ~ !aticci 

Tooil Govemme,t.al Fuod Bala~ 
for J:Jovernm,mtal :n:ffllvffies 1n t1'J:i; 

statemem: of net posftlon are diffE1renl OO(,-g;1wstt 
C :apital :i,~ usiec J n govemmenra ! E tttvrt!G'$ are n/Jl: 

$ 

CITY OF fORTIINA 
B•looce S-t 

G<>¥emm,ontol Flffl<I• 
June 301 2016 

HOM!:. 

4,349,850 $ 89,::51' 
$8,120 

840,439 
'12,120 
5,357 

19,035 
7,320 8,BB2,47il 

:1-473,402 

i'inam::la! reoouroes merefor:e aw not reported in the funds 
Long-term notes rece1vab1e oa provide c.i.menl fi:1:ancia! resor.m::es: 

:and are i:herlore ref<ir!1,d as deferred f11He.iws of u.rsoi.m:es 

Cil;! H<>l-l•lng 
Fund 

$ 43,779 

2,683,56', 

41,711! 

1ne net ~n !1at:111tty and retated dei12HG1d cu mows of resources and deferred in1iOW$ 
of resources: do nat prov1de or use current ftr:srn:::ia! resources :aiJ'ld are f'!oi reported in the Twntrs 

Some llatM1t1es;, 1nr.;Juct1ng bGlJds, leases, rompensatl:!d 
a~, -and ao::rued interest are noi due :ai,d p;aya:ble k1 th:e current period 
and qre merefart;.1 no: n:,pqr<,.w in tllw fur1ds 

Net Po5ffit1t'l of Govemmenta1 Actrvrt1es 

14 

Oll\w 
Go-,,m,mlal 

' 
Ft.tt'ldii 

7,:S54,119 
37.488 

409,202 

1,318,925 
44U89 

1.345,:lllll 
3,2'!i, 14"1 

i0.TT4 
1,252"1:1 
2,090 484 

Tot.al 
G<IVWl11M,1tal 

! 

:Funds 

12,343,366 
iC5,GO$ 
340,439 
451,322 

5,351 
19J)95 

12,692,/79 
4Al,(l!l9 

:1.473.402 

1,252,510' 
l000,484 



REVENUES 
mxi;s 

Si!lestaxes 
Olhertaxes 

asseamenls 
Licenses and 
Fines 

lnten;sl 
li>r senri<:ies 

Miscellam,ous 

Tol11I f"11ffl1Ll"S 

EXPENDITURES 

streets 
anti recreetim 

He!lllh and welfare 
a n<I housing 

Deb! senrice· 

!merest 

Tola! 

Ei:1,HS olf1'wm.ies 

SOURCES 

'"'""' Tran sf era in 
Transfer:; 001 

Total 

Nm in f,md balan'*l 

Fund 

Fund baleOOE!s. June 00 

$ 

CITY OF FORTUNA 

in F1.111d Balam:es 
Govemmental Funds 

For the Fiscal Year Enwd June 2016 

General t'tm!:I HOMIEG'11ll1$ 

$ $ 

96452 411 228 
912.QSD 
1 !2,307 14,236 

1.023.463 

1,536 

54,343 
5(11 

13,117 

30,378 

17 1128 

4,733,924 90,267 

See notes lo lhe basic fina11cial statements 
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Ot;tn::r 
Go¥tm:l'M'ffli iotaf Gavernrt}Cll:'tti!J 

Fttt!d$ Funds 

$ 423766 

1,027.937 
54,947 54947 

309.104 

1 

25,459 
60,45-, 

414.(lH 

3541.001 
322.326 67716!3 

43.095 

261.:119 315.562 

370,344 

350,563 

13,720,918 



CITY OF FORTUNA 
Reconciliation of the St•t•m.nt of 111.i,venues, 

Expendltu111s 1111d Ch•no•• in F1.111d Bala11c.111 of 
GoVllmmental Funds to the Statement ot Activities 

Far the Flscal Year Ended J1.111e 30, 2018 

Net Ch,mgs in Fund Balances Tol11I Goveminentlll Funds 

Amol.!!1t!i! !'!!pated for govemmentel acil111ties in the 
statement of acfuiities are diffel'!!nt because: 

Govemmanlal funds report ci;ipital ciutlaya as axpandituras. 
However, tn the !llBremBnt of ac:tlvllles, Iha cost of !hose 
assets Is allocated over llieir 6$timated useful li11es as 
depreciation expens,t This is fhe amoulll by which capiiBI ouuays 
($2,802,600) exceed clllprecilltion ($ 613,538) in the current period. 

Rllpl!lymanl!! oi lo,g-tarm debt principal 1s an exp11nd1turs 
in the govemmenti,.I runds, but 1:17e repayment reducas Jlablllties In !lie 
staiemen! of net pm1illon 

Amortization or J)flimiums from lhe sale of oonda do not provide currMt financ:al 
resources and are not reponed 1n the fl.Inds 

Go~emmental rumls report Interest expenditures when due, but these costs 
are 11ocrued as an expense in !he statement of net poalt!on 

aovamm11ntal runcl!I report compenaeled absences when paym1111lll! are made or 
are imrne<11e,fely due, Mawever, In the stalecment of eclivi!les these oo!l!s are 
recorded when incurred, 

Changes in the nel pensioo liebill!y and related deferred Items do not 
use or provide current ffnancial resources and are not reported in !he funi:ls 

O.pital leases provide inffow8 of resouroee. but are !'11ported as liabilities 
In the statement of net position 

Interest eamed on 101111-term receivables, payable at maturity, Is not oummt financial 
resources and is defemed in the funds 

Long . .mrm racaivables are deferred in the funds unlit collected and 
availabkl for use, 111 lhe statement of activiiliea, no revenues are 
rocognized from Iha collection of NcaiYebtes 

Ne! differences 

Change in Net Po&Jlion of Gawmmenlal Activltiai'. 

See 11r::cornpanying notes lo the basic !lnandal siatements 
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$ {751,~) 

2.189,0M 

315.~ 

2,02.5 

{21,522) 

(17,1171} 

4t!.1,21E! 

(370,344) 

204,750 

235 1 
2 527149 

$ 1,775,703 



ASSETS 
Cunem assets: 

c.,.11 ••d -h ei,urvol,,n,:s 

lnvornoiy 
P P'.?'l,)1Bymentts 

r~ c:urr;arrt ~i'S 

Noncurrent ~Rts: 
oth~rassa: 

fiJefWl~ cas11 Bind cash oq1Jivolon'ls 
tli!£lg;l•"'" -h ••d l!qtilv"""1lll 

Tr>tai other Mf'tctitrMt i:lt:SS-ts 

l'um!Jlnall\!!Sl•m 
T1e12trT1ent p1tltti 
01:Sffit:n.rtlOf'J: and ~t ~NHti 

lei!S EIICCilmttlaed OepPJc<J;ltiQri 

T ol!il ""!>ial .. - beifllj lloprecl1illed 
Tmat nonctJrre!TI ~em 

Tir;rt$4?$S$ 

DEFERRED OtlTFIJ'.lWS OF R!'SOtll!CES 

Peh$10ri pten d!ffiWr;ab> 
UABILmes 
Cu rrmt !iabiHtiu: 

CXher 
Do;,om 
lrtlere,,t 
Dortd& W¾i ~N- d!.ff;V1ffthlt't one yeM 

T ml currof1t lmblllliell 

N<incu1m11I llebillli"": 
Ctnt1i:nensstii!id a~ces 
Net ponmn 1-ify 
Rt1:v00tJtf OOnds IG:fldi notoo 
Premium from sale of bonds, :ii!!t: 

T otai noooo rrent 11atiibes 

,. olal lmbi1\l!os 
IJEFERRED IIIFIJlWS Of RESOURC!'S 

Per\$100 p!zm dGiTeaats 

NO POSITION 
Net !miesfmM'lt in captaj assffll!! 
Res!-
Umestticteo 

1 otsl' net posiOOn 

CITY OF FOl<TUNA 
S!:a,.111••1 of Nol Po•ltim 

Prop,re!,iry Food,; 

June 30, 2016 

1)112•,220 ~ 2,728,!!28 $ !!Jl,7112 1 

2,797 
rss,sag 

fS,750,000 
169,930 

3()2,448 

a,oie,rn 
1,ill:!O,;l'.?il 

:23,4~7,7311 

ss~ 

132,393 
340,LlOO 

535,MD 

13,437 

!i 

:!a,O!lll 

tars $ 
244 

2,ii? 

681 
i",2,:421 

Zl.457.?lil 
19,252.544 

3Sv,5\l7 

t2S/,1:!: 

2,14'1 
S0,1:32 

213.5!12 

16,915 



CITY OF FORTUIIIA 
and 

Prc,pri,lita1111F1.111ds 
in F1111!1 Net Position 

For the Fiseal Year Em:led June 2016 

OPl!RA TIIIIG REVl:NUl!S 
Sales al waler s 
Service fees 
Miscellaneous 

Total revenues 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
:services 

Canlrad service,; 
Purchased pcwer 

and materials 
and amortizallon 473,385 

Total <:!)(pensai; 

income 

NON-OPERATING 
REVENUES(EXPENSESJ 

!iUl:lsidlEIS 
lnteresl exp,m,e 
Gain on assels 
lnteresl and rnvestmeril revenue 

Nel revenue$ 

1no:ime before corrtribulions 
and lran!lfer. 

Contributions and transfera: 
canlributlons 

Tram,lers oul (4,652) 

Net corr.rib1.1tlons and transfers 59,5711 

In ne! 

Total net 1 

Totalm,t June30 

See ao,:orr,oa1'1\/ir:o noles lo the basic :ilnancial stale,men!s 
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Transit Pund 

$ lli 
13.225 

17,772 
739,340 17,863 

(51,015} 

(5,945) 

152,011 

n:itals 

390,261l 

731 



CITY OF FORTUNA 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary Funds 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June l!D, 2016 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERA TING ACTIVITIES 
R8Caip19 from customilfs 
?aymll!lla to i,uppliers 
"-YTTiet1t• to •mploy•• for servir.es 
O!het openr.ting receipts 

Net cash provitlad 'oy {u•d for) 
opar11ting activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL 
flNANCll\lG ACTIVITIES 
Oparaling subsidies 
Transfers 10 olher lunds 

Net cash pro...;ded by noncapital 
1inancing aciiviliei 

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Capital oontribu!lons 
Proceeds from sale capil•I asSE!ls 
Paym•nt• on IOnlCl'-term debt principal 
Interest paid on long-lam, debt 
Purchases of capital assets 

Net cash provided by (used fol) cepital ana 
related financir.:i as:tivities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Interest receipt,; 

Ne! cash provided by inva5ting acli\li!ie& 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and 
cash equ!Valanta 

Balanc'3$-00QinninQ of the year 

Balarn::es-end of the year 

See accompanying notes to !he basic !ine,1cial statements 

Water 

$ 2,178,868 
{481,749) 
(819,072) 
12B.50e 

ooe.esa 

4. ) 

Noomi,jor 
Transit 

Wastewater Fund 

iii 3,404,393 $ 13,225 
(923,976) (172,535) 

(1 105,i51) (96,303) 

~ 

1.40e,747 

Totals 

$ 5,596,588 
{1,588,282) 
(2,021. 12e) 

180,589 

2,147,787 

487,845 487,846 
--...i(::i5=5):._ ____ ~ 

__ ..i:4='=1..l ~ 487.~l'! 

64.231 1157,8/ll'! 171,281 393,.«!S 
2,925 9,81'5 4,530 14,310 

(200,000) (325,000) (525,000) 
[328. 797) (re3$40) (B92.-43T) 

~ 1 j ,~, 
(561 44 (942,511) 172,811 ,1 330 944) 

74385 93,1196 41 ,ea 12s 

74388 93.fl96 41 1ea,12s 

505,145 551.987 406,086 1,462.217 

8,062,526 12.221,00B (148 20,134,512 

$ 8,5117,!'571 $ ,,.772,995 S 25e,063 $ 21,5915.72!:l 



Reeonciliatlon cf op...:lng income (lo,••) to 
nlilt cash providad by opor.1tiTIQ ad:l11i1ies: 

Ope.rating income (lose.) 
Adjustments 10 reconcile operating income 10 

net cash provided by opelliling activities. 
Depr,;ici>a:lion expense 

Cheng~ in assels and liabUi!i.asc 
Diiloou1u,(inereau) in il!CC01Jmlli rec:e,vable 
Deat!na(incrBa••) in prt,payment• 
Dea:wasa(increase) in ian'41entory 
lncn••a(decn,aae) in aa:ounts pay,,bl• 
mcnaase {doorease) in pan~io11 items 

ln""'"""(dac:rMH) m other li11bilffi• 

Net cam provided by {u$e(! for) 
op•nitlng ae!111i!ies 

Nonca!lll oepillll finanaing 11otivitias: 
None reporred 

CITY OF FORTUNA 
elatement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary Funds 
l'<>r the Y1111r Ended June 30, 211111 

$ 436,502 

~73,3e!I 7311,3<10 

( 1<1,331!) 3,508 
(12,7150) 

(i,797) 
24,083 (l.7, 191) 

119,7!,7 119,570 
{32 QTQ 4337) 

$ 98&,8153 • 1,406,747 

Soo accomp&ll'fing note• to !he 1>a111c financial statemen!i 
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lllonmlljor 

Tran"! Fund 

17,663 

1,243 
08,1129 
(1 } 

I (265613 

Toui!:r; 

S 752,421 

1,230,588 

(10,830) 
(12,750) 
(g,7W) 

(21,865) 
2~7.986 
(7 97& 

$ :!, 11.7,787 



ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
cash with trustees 
Assessments receivable 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES: 
P.ryable to Property owners 
Interest payable on bonds 
Premium on sale of bonds 
Loan payable City of Fortuna 
Tax allocation bond! 

Total liabilities 

NET POSITION: 
Held in trust for taxing agencies 

Total Net Position 

CITY OF FORTUNA 
Statement of Rduciary Net Position 

June 30, 2016 

PRIVATE PURPOSE 
TRUST 

Successor Agency 
to Fortuna 

Redevelopment 
Agency 

$ 560,861 
859,244 

1,420,105 

78,548 
11,382 

2,473,402 
9,925,000 

12,488,332 

(11,068,227) 

(11,068,227) 

See accompan','ing notes to the basic financial statements 
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AGENCY 
FUNDS 

$ 101,004 

3,158 

$ 104,162 

104,162 

$ 104,162 



CITY OF FORTUNA 
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 

ADDtTTIONS: 
Distributions far enforceable obligations 
Net investment income (loss) 

Total additions 

DEDUCTIONS: 
Bond interest 
City administrative costs 

lncrease(dccre.ise) in net position 

Net position, June 30, 2015 

Net position, June 30, 2016 

See accompnaying notes to the basic financial statement.~ 
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$ 

$ 

PRIVATE PURPOSE 
TRUST 

Successor Agency 
to Fortuna 

Redevelopment 
Agency 

778,067 

2,464 

780,531 

473,099 
250,000 

723,099 

57,431 

(11,125,659) 

(11,068,227) 



Notes 

A. 

and Financial 

the statement of nel pm;i!io,n and the slelement of 
actlvilles of the the mast 

statements. 

statement demo11!ilrales !ha de,Qree to which the direct exc,en,ses of a 
are olfsal are those that are 

""'''""'"' 1) ch,ira1,s to customers 

columns in 

statements are 

as under 
related to con~cens.,too ,,i,,,,.n,.,_ 

is due. 
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Not.1. 

CITY OF FORTUNA 
Not•• to th• Ba,ic Financial Stahlment, 

June ~o, 20111 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

C. Me11ure1111nt Focu11, Basis of Accou11ting, ,md Financial Stlltl!lment Presentation 
(Conti .. ued) 

Property 111xee, sales ~M. lranslenl occupancy ta~es, license!!, and interel!II associated with the 
current fiscal pl!lriod are all considered lo be. susceptible tc aiccruel and so have been recognized 
as revenues of the curenl fiscl!II period. All other revenue item!! are considered to be measurable 
and 11vmilable only wher1 cash is reoceived by Irie government. 

The gover nmlk'll ll!lporls !he following rm1jor governmental funds: 

The general fund is lhe govarnrnent's primery cper!lting fund. It accounts for all financial 
resources of the i;ianerel government, except thol!le required lo be acwuntad for in another fLrld. 

The NOME grent fund is used to account for grants and lo:!lns related to multi-family affordable 
hmJi.in11 projecla. 

City Hau$lng Fund lo account for low and mod9rate income housing progr11m11, and the r eeidual 
asssls from the dis!dution of the ho1J11ing fund of the Cily'.i! diRao!vad r11developm11nt agency. 

The government report11 tha fallowing m9jclr proprietary funds: 

Tl1e Wllfar and wastewater funds account !or the •ewage treatment pl9nl, '8Wag& pumping 
stations and oollection systems, and lhe water distrib1.rtion syslam. 

As @ general rule the effect of ln!enund activity has boon i!:liminaled rrom the goverr111e11l-wldt1 
flnancilll statements. El!l:ep(lons to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of te:<aa and OtM" 
charges between Iha gowimmenl's Willer and wastewater function and various other flMlcliona ol 
the government. Elimlna11on ot these d1arges would dlslorl the direct costs and program reven1Jp,s 
reported for the various functions concerned, 

Amounts reported as program re11a11ues include 1) ch11rges to customers or applicsms for goad,. 
1,ervices, or privileges provided, 2) operating grantll and contrttlutions, and 3) capital grants and 
contributions. lntameHy dedlc6!1:sd resources are l'Qported as fJt3f1Aral revan11es relhar than as 
program revenuos, Likewl1e, QWl&ral revenues Include all la~es. 

Propril'.lt!wy funds cl!ltmguish operating revenues and expanses from nanoparsting itame. 
Qp1;4raling ravenues arJJ expenies generally result from pro'Yiding services and producing end 
delivering goods in connection with a propri11tsry fund's principal ongoing op•rations. The principal 
operatinsi revenues ot the City'11 waler and wastewster enterprl!IG funds are charges lo the 
customers for saler. and services. The enterprise funds also recognize as operating revenue th• 
portion of tep le86, connec!ion fees and impact fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new 
customers to !he sytrtem. Op11rating exp,m11es for 1trt«pri1e funds include the cost of sales and 
s11rvfc11s, administrative expenses, ood depl'Qcietlon on capital assets. All revenues and axpenees 
not me,eting !his definition are re,ported as nonoperating revenues and expenses 
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CITY OF FORTUNA 
Notes to tha Basic Rnanclal Statamenlil 

JUM 30, 2016 
Sum..-.•ry of Signlftc1mt Accounting Polici•a (Continued) 

AN•bl.. LlabllltiN, and Net A••ll'III or Equity 

Tl1ti City"s cash and cash 9-J.Jivalems are coniiiderad to be cash ori hand, demand deposits. and 
short-term investments .,,;th original maturities of thr"e months or less from Iha data of acquisition. 

State statutes ElU1horize Iha Cily to invest ifl obligation& of the U.S Treasury, commlilrcial paper, 
corporale bonds, rapurchaae agreemenla. the Stele Treasurer's Investment Pool, the Hu111boldt 
County Tn;i.isure~s Pool and other permitted invastmenta 

Investments ror Iha City are reported at fair value. The State Treasurer's ln11eslmenl Pool and the 
Humboldt County Treasuraf's Pool open;it,; in acce<dance with appropriate slate l!lw! and 
regulatlon11, The reported value in Iha pooh1 is the sama as Iha fair value of the pod eh!l1 es. 

Activity betwei,n fund, that are represedali',113 of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding sit 
tl1e end of the fiscal year are referred to as either 'due lo/from otharfundg• (Le., the current ponion 
of interfund loans) or "1d1111n00fi lo/from other funds' (i.e., lhe non-currant portion of intlilrfund 
loan&}. All other outstanding balances between funds are reported as 'due to/from ol.haor funde."' 
Any residual bl!llance.s outstanding between the gov!lrnmental activities and busineiis-type lictivitiet. 
are reported in Ula govemrnent.,,,,.ide linancia1 statements as 'lntemal balances." 

Advances: between funds, as reported in Iha fund financial statemenl11, are offset by a fund b1ih1nce 
reserve account in eppliceble government funds to Indicate that they are not a11ailable foc 
.mppropri:?ilioo and :11re not expendeble available fin;:,ncial rosi:i1.m:os. 

All tr!!de 11nd ixoperty !ax r9Cei~!!bles are not shown net of an allowance for unooll&ct!ble1. 

Expenditur1:11s for· Jong·ll!m, r;otes receivable are reported in the fund statements when m11de; and 
th& f61ated r&ceivsble is recO(ded as an asset in tt1e fund s!atemenls but is offset by defem1d inflows 
of resources ~1Jnt& until the receivablet1 are realiz11d by the funds Long-fem, receivables are 
recordlld as assets in !hi! 8\/!ltement of net p~ition when the transacticm is oonsummatad by the 
City and are not offslllt ti:,, deferred 1nfloW11 ct resources accounts. 

Property taxes are levied as of Mi,rdi 1 on property values asse,sed as of tho same dale. 81ata 
slalutes provid,. that the property tax rate be limited generally to i:ine percant of marl<el value, be 
laviad by ooty the Count)!, and be aherad by applic11bla juritldiction,s. Till! County of Humboldt 
collects the laxes and diilribute11 !h8m to taxing jurisdictions on the b85tl3 of e,ssesi.ed valu!llio11B 
aubjecl to voter-appr0110d debt Property tex&s are due on Novl!lmber 1 and M1rch 1, and become 
delinquent on Ollcembe( ,o and April 10. The City ~cl!liv"~ prq:ierty taxes purlluant lo an 
arTangemenl with Iha County knOY/11 as Ilia 'Teeter Plan", Under the plan, the County assumes 
reiponslbility for t11e cdlection of delinquent t:lxe,; and pay1 !ha full allocation ta the City, The City 
r&cognizes property lax revenues in thel fie:cal year in which they are due lo the City. 

All invernoriea. are velued at cost using the f!rst-intrirst-mt (FIFO) method Inventories q 
govl!rnml!ntal fund8 are recorded as e>ependilures when purchaaad. 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs app!icmle la future 11ccounting period! and are recorded 
as prepaid items in bath government-widao and fund filllii"lci&I statements. 
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CITY OF FORTUNA 
Notes to th11 Basic Flnam::lai Btlillmenw 

Jun• 30, 2016 
D, AM.ets, LlabllMIH, and Net Assets or Equity (Contlnuad) 

Capital as110ti, which include property, ~ant, equipment, end infrestrucltire assets {e.g., roads, 
brilllglils, i;idOllllllkSI, end slmilar Item•). are reported in the apptlcable governmental or buS1iness­
li,'p8 activities columns ln lhe government-wide financial statements Capital assets are dalined by 
lhll Clly ea aseals with en initiEll, lndhllduel cost of more then $5,000 for equipment sind vehicles 
and $10,000 for other capital assets ha11ing an setimatad useful life in a){c:ass of one year. Suen 
assets are raccrded al historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed 
Donated capital assets are ;ecordad at aatirneted fair market value al the date of donation. U11dar 
the GASB 34 lmplam11ntation Rulas, !he CitV was nol raquired lo record infrastructure assets 
e::dslng or ac:cµr11d prior to .July 1, 2003; end Iha City hes no! recorded such assets. Th11 City may 
elect lo riacord such lnfreslruature assets in !he future. The easts of normal maintenQnca end repair.a 
that do not add lo the value of asset or matarially extend assets lives are not c.ipilaliied 

Major out1ey9 for capital assals and improvementa are capitalized li!S projects ara co11structed. 
Interest incurred dunng the construillion phase of ~pita! assets of ooisme11s-type activities ls 
included as piirt of the c11p1tali2lE'd value at the assets oonstructed, 

Property, plant, and equipment of the CllV are depred11ted using the etraighl line method over the 
following est1m11t"d useful lives: 

~ 
Buildings and improvement!; 
Public domain 1rnastructure 
Syetem infrastructure 
Vetiicie~ and eiqu1pmelll 

Yllal'!!. 
25 
20 
15"50 
5 

!i. C.0,npMMted AbAnCH and Otfler Post-Employmt,nt Bene#hl (OPES} 

It is the City's pollcy to permit employ- lo accumulate earned but unused vacl!ltion and sick pay 
b11nel11s, Than. is a liabmty for a portion of unpaid accumulated sick leave since the Cily doas have 
a policy lc. P'I'/ canain amounts when employeeg 11ep11rste from aer11ica wilh the City. All vacation 
PlilY is accrued when incurred in the 11D11emmsnt-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. 
The Ltlpaki sick leav8 is ooneid81ed a g&neral fund obligl!ltion, and ii is recorded in the general fund 
only when currenl fln11nci111 resources will be n,quired. Ths entire liabihty 1s repated in !he statement 
of nel assets for govwnmenlal acli1111ies in the governrnsnt-wide financial statements. !'he City 
provid8& no poet..,.mploymenl benefitl5 other lh1!111 its pl!lrttcipallan in !he Public Employees 
Ratiremant Syslem (PERS). 

6. Lon{l-tann Obligations 

Jn the govemment-widll financial statwnente, and proJX'i81Bry rund type11 in the fund financiel 
st,etemenls, tong-len11 debt and other lal'll)'{t1rm obli~l!ltions are reported as liabilities in the 
spplicable govarnmeotel ectivitias, businesa-type acti\litiee, or propri81ery fund ll'PQ statement of 
nal assets 

r. Pensions 

For purposes af rnes!luring the net pension liability, deferred outllaws of reseurcas and deferred 
inltows of resources related lo pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net 
posilim of !he S!Zite of California Pu:,Jic Employi,es Retirement Syst11m (PERS) and iiddltions lo 
or dscuctlom, from the PERS fiduciary nel position have been determined on the same biisis as 
they are reported by Ille PERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunda cl employee 
contribution!!) are rmcognizcd when du• and payable in accordance with the banaftl t•mns 
Investments are raportad et fair value. 



Note 1, 

CITY OF FORTUNA 
l\lom11 to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 20111 
Summary ot Signlfloant Accounting Pollcles (Continued I 

Fund bi1'8nces for governmental runds are n&portQd 11, classlfioalions based primarily on tho extent 
lo whioh the City Is bound to honor constraints about the &peci!lc purposes for which amounts In 
those. funds oan be spont. Those classiflcalions include ( 1) nons~dabl~, (2) r~stricted, (3) 
o::mmittoo, (-4) lilSQfgn111d and (SJ unassigned amounts. 

Nonspendebl& amaunts are gcm•rslly items nol expac:100 to be con11arted into caah within a short 
penod of time suoh thlil lho cash would to be 11veilabl11 to pay reportQd liabilillos of Iha current 
period. These nonapandoblo items typically include inventories. prepaymenta, long-term 
recai11able,s no! offsol by deterred revenue aocounts, and advances by the city to its component 
unit ri.de118iopmont BQGncy. Restricted amounts include those where the constraints placed on the 
uses or resources ara externally imposed by Qrantors, contributors, other govsmmant& or by laws 
and regulDtion.i.. Comrnitll!Jd amounts are those Iha! can only be used for a JO;pecific purpose as 
deta(mined by the City Courd. Such committed amounts may be redeployed tor olher us~ only 
by the dirac:tion of the City COl.lncil. Assignl!ld amounts are fund balance amounts constrained by 
the City's int8(1t to be usEld for spe-cific purJX)ses as determined by the City's Finl!lnce D1rector or 
City Mima!J!lr. Allsigned amounts can be redeployed for other uses by direction ot lhe City Maneger 
or Finance Difector. Unassigned fund balance amounts are the residual amounts ot !ha general 
fl.ind only or fl.Inds havin!l defic;jt fund balances, 

Yllhen ei1penditurae are incurred for which both restricted and unrestni::ted (committed, ess1gned or 
unaaaig-led) amounts are Blleilal;Jje, the city consider13 restricted amounts lo have been spent first 
'Mlan expenditures are incurred for which 1!1f1Y class of unrestricted fund balance could be used, 
the Cit~ ooneid8's oommitted arnounti; would be reduced first, lolfowed by as:iigned amounts, and 
!hen una8aigned amounts, 

2. Recom::lllatlon ef Govemment-Wide and Fund Fln•ncial Statement• 

A. Explanation ot Certain Differences batw.ian the Govemmantal Fund Balance Sheet 
and the Govemment-Wide Sta1ement of N•t Position 

The goYllfnmental fund baltlnce a~t includes e reconcilietion between fund ball!lnOO toral 
aovammsnl:81 funds and 11el poaition- (10vemmentBI actilliliBB as report1td in the go-.emment--wide 
sleternenta of net position. Ona element of Iha! rsoonciliation !ll!pl!lilll! that "C!lpill!II assets are not 
finenoie! rasourcea and ara rm! reported in the funds" The detl!lils of thil! $11,708.454 difference 
are as follows: 

Capil11I assets $ 19,288,873 

Less: Aocumuteted dep-acietion 

Nel sdjualmlilnt !a increase fund bslimoo toll!ll QOW:JmmBntlJI 
funde to arrive at net position govemmttntBI activities l~ 
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A, of Certain Dlffwem::es be1hll/1!1en the Gc,vem1ne111tal 
tho Government.Wide Statement of Net Position !Ccmtilnu,sd) 

Am,lher element of the "la,~g..term liabilities' arn nol due and PIil/abie 
current and ara !11erefore no! ri'M1nrt,,rl funds Tha details this 

difference are as fallows: 

leases 
Premium from sale 2007 revenue bonds 
AC(:ru1,a interest pai1able 
um,.,,u \/acatiOll Si<'.k leave 

Net illdiustme111! lo dooreillsa 
Funds to arri\/e at net 

Expti;n1rtlon of Certain Dlfferem:es betwe1:in the Governmental Fund Satement of 
Re'ije~1ues, E:~oemdltu1-es. and Ch.mi;1es In Fund Balances and the Govemment,wide 

of Activities 

The omier11m,111tal fund statement of f1l)\/enues, ex,ier,diturc,,t 
rec:oncil11alic,n between net c/1,111,res in 

s 

and related deferrals 
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CffY OF FORTUNA 
Notea to the Sallie Fina111;i11I Statements 

June 30, 201 ti 

3, St-.irdahip, Compiianca, end Accountability 

A. Budgetary lnlormetlon 

Annual budgets ere .idopted on a basis of oonsIstent with gem1ratly accepted l!lccounting principles 
for ell govemment111I funds. All annual appropri111tion& l21pse at tlscal year end. On or betore the end 
of each f1scel year, alt agencies of the City submit requests. !or appropriet1ons lo lhe CJty Ml!lnager 
so that .i budget may be prepared. By Mey 15 ot each year, the proposed budget is preflenled to 
the councii for re\llew. The oounc1l holds pi.1blic hearings and a final budget must be prepared and 
adopted no later than June 30. 

The 111pproprieted budglil. is prepared by fl.Ind, function, and depllrtmant. The City's department 
heeds may make transfers ot approprlatlon!I within a department. Transfers of appropriations 
b~ departments f8quire lh61 approval or th• City Manager. The legal leve;I of budg1111ilry 
c:ontrol (i.e., th& level al which 11>:j>endib.ir&s may not legally e1<ceed appropri11tions) is the fc1nd 
lev11I. Ttia council medl! 110 euppl11ml!lfllal budg,;tary appropriations tlurir,g the fiscal year. 
Encumbntnce accountin11 is no! 81Tiployed in governrnental fund& Budgela were no! adopted fo, 
th@! City ~lousing and Capital Projec:ts Fumle. 

B. Budgatary S!ffrardehip and Fund Dllficit 

The TENSTIP and Safe Routes funds tied $59,690 and $108,959 fund deficit, n11speclively, at 
JLme 30, 201 e. The City expects lo cure the deficit from future grant revenues 11nd other revenue 
;,ources. ExpHnditura budgets were si91if1csnl!y exoosi:ted by thll general fund ($305,454) 

4. Detailed Notsa on All Funds 

A. Cash Equl11alants and Investments 

Deposita Md investments consisted of lhe following al June 30, 2018 

Demand deposits 
Investments with bond trustee 
Pooled invastment11 with City Fortuna 
Total City of Fortuna (excluding fiduciary fund9) 

Fiduciary funds held by City 
lnvestmenls wilh band trustee 
Pooled deposits with City fa-tuna 

Total cash i;ind investments 

$ 4,357,007 
2,976,467 
~ 

33, 9-40,094 

859,:?44 
__ 661,685 

I 3p461,:203 

Custodial Cmdt1 Risk-Deposits. Custodial credit risk is lhe risk that in the event of a bank failure, 
the City"s daposits may 1101 be returned lo ii. The City's policy for deposits. is that they will b& made 
in in,;titutions in C2liforni.i, and th!i!I th&y ahill b11 inau11id or fully collat&ralized with government 
sao.iritle:.. At J~n11 30, 2016, J4.7:28,-4-42 or h Cily'i. b.lnk ~l11nca11 or !1!4,978,-4-42 was expoeed 
to c111dit riak as follows: 

Unim1n.red and col1111teral held by pledging bank's agent 
but not 1n the Ci!Jl's name: 
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CITY OF FORTUNA 
Notelll to h Basic Financial Statement& 

June 30, 201& 

4- D11tailed Notes. 011 All Funds (Contlnu•d) 

A. Deposlta and lnY11strnent8(Continu11d) 

As of June 30, 2016, the City had the following inve:!tment!I: 

Jype Investment 

Local Agaocy ln11estmen! Fund 
Cartiflcetas or deposit and loc11I go-nmant bondi 
JP Morgan ln~futionel Prim8 Money M11r1':et -City 
JP Morgen ln.atitutional Prima Money Mer1':et-Fiduci1ry 
Humboldt County Treae;urer's Pool 

Tobil lrntestmants 

167 Days 
2 YeallS 
48 Days 
48 Days 
815 De.ys 

FairVelue 

$ 9,039,784 
8,324,368 
2,976.487 

859,244 
~-i~.488 

$ 30,442,331 

fnt11rtfl8! Rate Risk- As a means of limiting Its 8l!!)011ure to fair value losses ansing from nlling interest 
~. the Cily has a formal policy whlch limits City purchased investments to &ecuritie!! h1;1ving a 
remAining maturity date from lime of purohases lo five ye<ITT!i or less, 

Credit Ria!,, - The Cil/11 invaBIJTlent policy limits investments 1n mutual and money merke! funds lo the 
top two ratings issued by ll(ljjonalty reco171ii:ed sta!lsllcal ratinge organizetiona. tnvestmenls in 
obligations IIXplicilly gt.aanteed by the U.S. Go11emmant ere not con~idered to have credit risk and 
do not require !he disclosur11 of credit quality. !he Local Agency lnve11tment Fund snd Humboldt 
County Treesurel's Investment Pool are unrated. The JP Mor11!!ln Money Merkel Fund was reted AAA. 

Concentration al' CreGit Risk- lnve&tmerrts ll!l!)licitly gual'!l'nleed by the U.S. goYemmenl end 
tnvestmonis 1n mutual 1unds, and external investment pools such as !hoes hsld by Iha City me 
excluded from concentrat1on of credit risk disclosures, 

C1,stadlei Crodif Risk, For an investment. custodial orad1t risk is the risk thl!II, 111 tl'le event of 111e failure 
of the courmrparty, the City .,.,;u not be able io recover th& value of its inveetmente or th8 collateral 
securities that are tn the possession of an outside party tnvestments in mutual funds and l!)(!flrne,I 
imestment pools are no! subject to cuetodi&I credit rillk b&cause lhe,11 inve11tmant11 are nol e~iclanc:ad 
by specittc eecunliea. 

Fair Value Measurements - The City ca1llgorizee it& fair value measurements within the hierarchy of 
eslailli1>hed g!!llerally acoepted sccount1ng principles. The hitmm:hy is based on the WJlua<lon inputB 
used lo measure the fair "1!11ue of the asset Level , inputs are q1JOted rnl!lrket price!! in acti"e markets 
for identical asset&; Lewi 2 inpu:a are e1gnffio311t oll'ler ob&"9'Vable inputs, end Level 3 input! are other 
significant unobservable inputs. The City', investments in Iha Local Agency Investment Fund and 
Courty Treasurers Pool !lire valued using Level 1 inputs as are the certit1cates of deposits, iocal 
go,..ammiant bonds and monay market funds. 
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CITY OF FORTUNA 
Note. to the Basic Flnani:lal Statemant11 

June 30, 2018 

4. D1111-iled Note• on All Fund• (Continu•d) 

B, Receivablea 

Receivables as of year-end for the go,,,;rnment's individual maior and nonmajor fund~ in t11a 
aogregete. net of the applicable allowances for uncollec!ible accounts are as follows: 

Wl:lstow,ater and 
HOME & City Ntiflm•~or Tot1;1t 

Governmental 
Watier ir1t1nisil 

.0•••r•I Fund , Ho~ Fundl Ettb&rprlse Enterprise 

Recei'illblee: 
T .tl(ell 

Accounts 
Governments 

Subtotal current 
Leases 
Loan receivable 
Notsa rec;siv!iblll 

$ 840,439 $ 

88,120 

42120 

- $ 

-----

950,678 

2,473,402 
7,320 11,588,034 

37,488 

409,202 

$ 8-40.439 $ 

105,608 

451,322 

446,680 
441,889 

1,397,369 
441,889 

2,'473,402 
1,318,925 12,892,270 

• $ 

242,725 

2'42,725 

Revenues of th;;, water Md waatewat'!'r ente(P' 1sas are 1apo1ted net of uncollectibla amounts. TOUII 
tA1COllect1ble amounts rela18d lo revenues Of the current period are not material at year-end. 

Long4eor, notes receivable of $12,802,279 consiale of two notes roalating lo alTordeble hou;ing 
projecb for $8,882,473 (with accumulated and unpaid interest) and vanoulii other notes for $4,009,808 
rt1ll!lino to bU!!ineee dtvelopment arid rede~lopment projad.s. The notes for $8,882,473 bear intGrost 
al 3 percent pt1r annum, merur111 in 55 years. and are rep!lyable annually to lhe 111<t11nt that lhe housing 
projecta hi111e rasid1Jal receipt~ with the unpaid balance due at maturity. Tho notes are secured by a 
deed of 1Juel on the housing prolacte. The other notes are generally repeyd:lle In monthly installments 
crf principal 11nd inlereal al 1111rious ratee and terms. 

The lel!l!!l ree9ivabl11 ol $4-41,889 r11pr11aenls !he net preeent v11lue of lease rants receiv&bl11 under an 
11g,--n1;mt with the Stele of Californi!l pursusnt to a subleaie arrangement of the California 
Conservation Corps Facility. The lease axpire:i June 30, 2018. Upon expiration, the facility passes to 
the Sliit& ol Celifomia. Thll 18'!98 payments are due in annual installments of $245,IJJO. 

The loan 1!IOl!iv11ble or $2,473,402 in the ganarel fund is Iha amount determined lo be an enforceable 
obligstion of lh6 successor agency to Iha former radevelopmenl agency of the City. When !he 
radevelopment agency was diuol\'l!ld in fiilcal 2012, pr1311iously approved loan11 between the City and 
the former redevelopment agency were deemed lo not be an anforceebla abllgetion cf the successor 
agency under Iha dissolution rules and were written off at that lime. The DhillOlUlion Act further 
provided that afler a successor agency recai11es a Finding of Completion by thlil California Department 
of Finance, 1,1uc;h previously disallOY,'ad loam; may be tteemed to be enforceable obligstlon8 of the 
successor and repayabla to lrJlil Cit)'. The successor agency ha!! raceill8d its Finding of Completion 
and the Ov!lrsrght Board has approvea the loan l!lgreement iind its \'alidity as an enforceable 
obUgelion. The 1011n is repayable in sem1!lnnual 1n5tallments to the extent thet funde are available 
under tha 1onnul11-bas11d molhod speclfi11d in the dissolution rules which aleo contain a provision Iha! 
20 percent ot any such repaylTll!ll1t shall be pieced by Iha City in Its Low and Mod11rate lncomll Housing 
Fund. 
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June 30, 2016 
.C. Det11lled Nol:i!e on All Fund1> (Continued) 

C. Capital A1>set1> 

Capital asset activity for the year endad June 30, 2016 was as to!lowe: 

Beginning 
Balanc:e Increases Decte.!1110~ 

Governmental 111::tlvltles: 
Capital asa11ll,, nol t,einQ depreciated: 

Land $ 585,341 $ - s 
Canstructran in progf!iiss 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 

Capital aseets, being deprecililtad: 
Bui!din911 
lmprovllmanta 
Eq11ipment 
Vehicles 
lnfra5lruclure • prim.!lf1ly 5lreel system& 

Total capItel assets bsing depreK:ia!ed 

Lesa acoom11tated depreciation for 

Buitd1nge: 
lmpro.-emenlll 
Equip111,ml 
Vahic:les 
lnfrestructura 

Total ,;icc,1rrtJh;ited depraciatlon 

Tola! r.apibll 111111111ts, being dapr11ci11led, nel 

Governmental ac:tivltiee Ollpital aseets, ne! 

2 484 624 2,126,280 {113,129) 

3 079 965 ~ (113.129) 

4,146,934 102,087 
1,767,400 B3,861 
'1,429,662 294,198 

700.671 113,534 
5,361.438 195.771 

13/106,300 789.451 

(2,485,328) (148,643) 
(941,975) (69,130) 

(1307,254) (66,912) 
(645,918) (85,886) 

J-1. 586408) (272 966) 

.. (6,968,883) (613 538) 

6,439,423 175,915 

I 9,519,_3~8 $ 2,302, 195 S ( 11~.~ 29) 

Ending 
13alance 

$ 595,341 
4,497,775 

5,093,116 

4,2-49,021 
1,851,261 
1,723,860 

814,405 
5,657 210 

14195 757 

(2,533,871) 
(1,001,105) 
(1,374,168) 

(711,803) 
(1,859 374) 

{7,580,41 ~) 

.... ~J15,338 

_!_1_~_,706,464 

Canatru::lion in progreu al June 30, 2016 can!iets primarily of $4,497,775 pertaining lo a new police 
faoilit:l', slreel improvements and drainaga system intiastructL1re. 
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4. Detailed Notel!I on All Fund• lContinue<I) 

c. Capital Assem (Continued) 

B,;jg1nning 
Bslsnce Increases Decreases l:ndin Bsls1ce 

Busineq..ty~ ectlvillee.: 
Capital asseta, not being depreciated· 

Land $ 153,691 $ $ $ 153,691 
Cons!rucijon in progreeg 653 265 169,907 {167 21~ 635954 

Tolal capillll as&ets, not being depreci11!11d 806,956 -·-""""'1,69,907 (187,218) 789,645 

Capital 91;seh,, i:i,;,ing depreciated: 
Ws~ter collection syslarn 8,016,7~ 8,016,7:M 
Wastewater pt.nt-.pi1151 1,060,229 1,060,229 

Wa81.awater treatment plant 23,,415,81-4 41,9215 23,457,739 

Weter \lll!llrnenl lillld dielribution 18,982,403 269,641 19,252,044 

Equipment 1,667,879 (13,836), 1,654,043 
Vehicl"'1 1 128,496 27,032 { 226) 1 063 302 

Totlill Clilpilel 1,111sel:11, being dspoociated 54,271,555 338596 (100,re:?) ~ 504091 

Lall! eccumuleled depreci1ition for: 
Westewalar syllam (11,383,331) (739,340) 35,031 (12,087,6 .. 0) 
WQler iiyi.tem (5,760,153} (473,385) 21,196 (6,212,3-42) 
Tn,n~t .system (131,945) {17 863) 49,835 (99,973} 

Total 11ccumul21ted deprecimlon _.J.!?,275,-429) (1,230,588) 106,062 { 18 399,955) 

Total aapital assets, being deprecil!ted, net 36,996,126 (891,990) .. ,38,104,138 

Businass-type ed:iviliae C!lpitel assets, ne! $37,803,082 s (722,083) $ (187,218) $36,893,781 

Deprecialion expense was charged to ftlncliaie/progrsme of Iha City ,is follow& 
Govemmental act1vtlies: Amountll 

Gafl8ral government 
Public elilf~ 
Strlllllll 
PsrKs and recreation 

Total dep-eciation axpensa-govemmental activitiae 

Wastewater 
Water 
Transit 

Total ~eciation expen11<i·bu1ini,1s-type act1v11las 

$ 123,467 
72,441 

281,028 
136,600 

$ 613,536 

$ 739,340 
473,385 

17,863 

$1,230,588 
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4. Detailed Nmn on All funde; (Contln11ed) 

D. Inter-fund Tranefelll and lntergovommontal Exp11ndilllr.a 

lnterfund trafl!lfl!ll'l! at June 30, 2018 Wtlfl! as follows: 

Tmnsferin: 

Cily 2007 Bond City Non-major 
fraMl"r,, out Debt. S..Nioe ....... F1.111ds 

General fund $ 218,325 $ 
Lease fund 140,307 
Moo-major funds 66,3-41) 
Walertwasl!IWale, 10,597 

Total11 $ 389,229 $ 66340 

Okbneral 
Fund 

$ 

$ 

Total 
T ransfel1! Oul 
All Funds 

t 218,325 
140,307 
86,340 
10,597 

$ 435,569 

Thi, tranafel'lll out of Iha ganar,;il fund and lease fUnd were m&de for th1;1 purpO>!e of providing debt 
effl'Vice funds kir 1Dp11ymtlfll cf long-term obligelions. 

E, Long-Term Debt 

During !he 2007 fi1cal year, the City'l!I Pu~ic Financing Authority issued $8,085,000 in water revenue 
bonds, series 2006 for 1he purpose of providing long-4:erm fin!lncing fix lhe water treatment plant 
project of Iha City, Tha Fortuna Public Financing Authority ertered into an installment sale agreement 
with Iha City 111meraby the City agr~ to pay the debt service on the baridll ln exchange for the 
financing. The installment sakl a~i,ment betwi,en !he City and ite Pubttc Financing Authority have 
bean eliminat.ad from these flmmdal slalements. The revenue bonds bAar inlereat at rates fro1T1 
3.375% to 15.0%, are payable each k!lil 1 :,nd Oc!ober 1 through 2037 The bonds are secured by a 
pledga of tt,a waler s~lem net revenues. Future debts 111trvi~ on the bonds is. 

Fiscal Veers 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 

2022-2026 
2027-2031 
2032-2036 

2037 

~ 
S 210,000 

220,000 
225,000 
235,000 
245,000 

1,385,000 
1,725,000 
2,205,000 

510,000 

$ 6 960 000 

34 

lntereet 
$ 310,547 

309,896 
300,997 
291,798 
282,197 

1,2-48,173 
901,414 
413,625 

12 750 

$ -4 080 397 

$ 

$ 

Total 
529,547 
529,896 
525,997 
526,798 
527,197 

2,633,173 
2,626,414 
2,618,625 

522,750 

11,040.397 
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Nota:111 t.a the S.aic Financial Statem•nt• 

June :io, :iota 

4. Detailed Notes on All Fu11ds (Continutd) 

E. Long-Tenn Debt {Continued) 

Annual principal and Interest payments on lhe bonds ;,re expe,,ted lo requin, lass than 53 percent of 
ayi.tam net revenues as defined. Total interest and principal remeinirri;i to be paid is $11,040,367. 
Principal end in!Qf'8sl pakt for Iha ct1rrenl fi8Q!111 year and tOll!II 8J18lem net revenues as defined ,vere 
$528,797 and $987,200 relil!)eCli'-'ljjy. 

Wastewater Re.-anua Bonds 

During !he 2007 fiscal year, Ill& City'a Public Financing Authority i~suad $13,620,000 in wastowaler 
re11enue bonds, sarle~ 2000 for tha w1rpoee ,,! providing long-term financing for the wastewater 
lreelmenl pfert prtjad of the City. The For1un!!I Public Financing Authority entered into an Inst11llm11nt 
sala agreament with the City whereby lhe Cily l!lgr&sd to pey the deb! serviO!!I on the bonds in excoang4il 
ror the financinp. The ins!Bllment S!!le agreement betweer1 the City and 11:s Public Financing Authority 
hew been elimi111Sled ti'tlm the5e financh1I statements. The revenue bonds bear interest at rates from 
3.25% to 5.0%, are payable each Apr1I 1 and October 1 throui;ih 2037 Fulum debte servir.;e on the 
bonda is: 

Fiscel Year~ Prh1clpel ...... lmareat Total 
2017 $ 340,000 $ 521,072 $ 031,072 
2018 355,000 505,472 000,~72 
2019 370.00J '190,972 8'50,972 
2020 385,000 475,872 800,872 
2021 400,000 460,172 660,172 

2022-2026 2,270,000 2,033,624 4,303,624 
2027-2031 2,815,000 1 ,-167,'162 4,282,462 
2032-2036 3,585,000 673.115 4,268,115 

2037 830,000 20,750 860 750 

$ 11,350,000 $6,648,511 I 17,998,511 

Th8 bonds are secured by e pl&due of the wast1;1water system net revenues. Annual prlncipal ancl 
ii,tar,;,11 pa~n8nti. on Iha tlonde are 1!1Xp8C:led lo !llquire letSs than 47 percentdf .Sysliim nel revenuee 
as d&fined Total interest and principal relTl!lining lo be paid on !he bonds Is ,$,l!',~:,!li11. Principal 
and inlerasl paid for lhe current fiscal year and tat.al t1)'1!llem net revenues as Cl~Aed were $888,640 
and $1,'490,536, respectively. 

2007 Revenue Bonds- Gov13mmenral Activiti98 

The City and its former oomponenl unit redevt.Jlopmsnt all8flcy entered into a loan agrooment with lh8 
Fortuna Public FlnancingAuthorily (jjjeo a component unit of the City}, dated October 1, 2007, wherein 
!he Authority sold $17,500,000 in its re11em1e bonds, eeries 2007. From the sale of the Authority's 
Revenue bonds, $13,280,000 was loaned to the component unit redevolopmant agency ,ind 
$4,220,000 was loaned !o the City. The loal1$ receivable 11nd payabl& between the Cily .and the Cily'11 
19dev11Iopm4ilnl agency and Iha City'e CC11T1ponent unit Financing Authority have baan atirninated frorn 
lhe accompanying flr1ancial statements. 
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on 

2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 

2022,2026 
2027-2031 
2032-2036 
2037-2038 

a11dLoan 

~~1'u,,,~~.Thelea,sed 
The PG&E loan bears no interest 

June 30 

2017 

future minimum lease Jla}l!Tle,nts 

300,000 

36 

Total 
$ 367,958 

its il>«,;,,:c,,u,,u of the 
make such schedulod debl 

Future 111111,,m,um 
Lease Payments 

$ 

199,999 

Loan Payment 

$ 

24,301 
105,421 
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4, Detailed Noles on All Funds (Cominuad) 

E. Long-Tann Debt !Continued) 

ChanQa9 lfl LDnu-tem, !it,bililNJl!i 

Long-term debt activity for the 2016 fi11cal year was as follows 

01Jt1 ln 
Go"8innental Typ ~ Additions Reduclior 1~ Ending OnttYear 

2007 Re11erl!Je Bonds $2,765,000 $ $245,000 $2,520,000 $ 255.000 
CE1Pilal lea.11e11 248,883 54,522 194.359 14,610 
PGE Loan 121,461 16,040 105,421 16,224 
Compa1111ated absem:es 161,774 81,973 64000 179,747 6-4 276 

Totals $2,926,774 $452,317 $379,5~ ... 12 999,5'Zl ····-..::.L---- $ 350,110 

B,isines:s Type 
RevenU0 Bonds $18,835,llOO $ ~ 525,000 $18,310,000 $ 550,000 

Tcrtals $18,835,000 $ $ 5?5,000 S18,310.000 $ 550,000 

5. Other lnfonnetton 

A. Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related lo torts: theft or, damage to, emd destruction of 
esaels; ermrn ara::i omisaioos; and natural disasters !or which the City carries Insurance. The City Is a 
member of the Redwood Empira Municipal Insurance Fund a joint powers authortty, which provld8$ 
joint protaciion programi for public antllilill\ cov&ring tutomobile, general liability, errors and omission 
losaas, property and workers compem,lllioo claims. Under the program, the City has a $ 10,000 
general liability rstootlon limit similar to a deductible with the Fund being responsible for losses above 
that amount up to $ 500,000. The Fum:I carries excess li11b11Jty coverage to a total of $40 mllllon in 
excess of its $ 5CO,OOO ralantlon limit par occurrence through the Calllomio Joint Powers Risk 
Manaoement Authority and its excess insurers. 

The Fund covers workers compensation claims up lo its self-insurance lim11 of$ 1 million, A purchatt!ld 
excess pollcy inIurea th& Fund for an addilion~I 5 1 mllllon b:> provide aggreoate coverage ct up lo iii 
2 million per claim. The City pays an amual pl'!!mium to the Fund; th" City may sher" in any surpl\.15 
revenues or may be required lo pay additional assessments bared upon the F-t11d'11 operating result&. 
Thi Fund also provides property coverage up to $300 million per occurrence. The City paid $589, 166 
In uninsured losses during the 201--4-2015 fi9Cal year. Of the $6BB,166, $569,166 p1rtain& lo !he 
settlement of one matter related to an Inverse cxmd8mnat!on action. Financial sta!ement!l of the JPA 
Fund may be obtained from their 11dminl&lralive offices localed at 414 W. Napa Street, Sonoma. 
California 95476, Liablll!les of the City are reported when it is probable !ha! a loss has occurred and 
the amount of the loss can Ile reasonably estimated. Lisbilitioo include an amount for claims that hava 
b8El('I incurred but nol reported (IBNRs). Tha re&ull of the process lo estimate the cllilms liability is not 
an exact amount as it dep11nd11 on m11ny compllill< ffilctor11, such as irtl.rtion, ch11nga11 in legal doctrlnM. 
and d11m11ga e.vard&, AcQxdingly, dalmli are reevall,111ed perlodicallv la considar the effects of 
inffallon, recent claim atilltlement trends (including frequency and amount of pay-outs). and ot!leor 
aco11omic and social factors. Tha estimate of th& cfairne liablllty also incllidlilli ell'IOISl\s for increments! 
clsim ~ustment 111Xpens98 related to epectfic claims and O\her claim adjustment exp811<:18e reo;iardle1111 
of whethar ellocetad lo apecilic cleirn11. Eatlmsled recoveries, for example tiom selvs1ie or subrogation, 
ere another component of tt,e claime li~llly estimate. Setll!lments haveo not exceeoded coverage for 
each of the psst thltie fiscal yeare exceopl far fiscal 2015 as di!ICUlc!158d ,;i:iove. 

:n 
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Nor. to th• B•&ii: Fimsneial Statem•nt• 

Jun, 30, 201& 

!Is Oth•r l11formation (Continu,d) 

B. Contl1"1Q11ncie• and Corc,mitma11ta 

Litigation The City is involved in litigation incurred in the nom1al oourae of conducting City 
bosi11ess. City manl!lgemenl believes tt,at, based upon consult&lion with its counsel, the~,e cases, 
in the fl0(16gats. are nol expected lo resutl in a meitarial adverse flnl!lncial impact or1 the City. 

C. Jointly Govarned Organintiona 

Jointly 'JO"'flrnad org8nizations are leg&I entitle..~ or otha1 organization$ that rasult from a 
contractual an-al'\)"'ment and that are c,..,.-1ed, operated, or gov"m"d by two or more participants 
as a separate and specific.activity BUbject lo joint e<mtrol in which the participsnts retain an oogoing 
financial interest 01 oogoing financial rel!ponsibility. The City is a participant in the follCJWing 
organizations: 

RacJwood l::m,:lirs Mmicipal Insurance F1md The City is a member of tnQurMce Fund. Th!i Fund, 
under the lenns of a Jolnt Powers Agreement with Iha City and several other citiaa and 
govammanlal aganoies., providas insurance coverage for general liability, automobile liability, and 
workers compensation l'.llaims. 

l!ndar Iha arrangement, the F1md purchases liability, automobile lisbility, and workers 
CO/ll>ens11lion insurance and charges pa11icipating cjties and gavemmenlsl agencies in amounts 
pl11nnoo lo match expenses of insurance premiums, a51!imated payments re~ulting from self· 
insurance programs, and oparating m:penses. The City's obligation9 are llmited to oontributfona to 
pay tor related insurance pramiums. 

D. Other Poat-Employment Benefit$ 

The Cit\' pro\lide1 no post-employment benefits other than those associated wl!h the Public 
Employ"•s R"tirem"nt Sy,,tem. 

e. Public l!mploy,e Pension Pt1911 

P1an DesaiDbQn The plane are a cost -sharing multiple--employer dellned benefit pension plan 
adminhstered by the California Public EmplO'fees Retlrement System (CalPERS).The Cal PERS is 
governed by a 13 member Board of Administration with six elect"d members, three appointed 
members and four ex off1c10 members which include the Slate Treasurer, the Stale Comrollar, the 
Director of the California D"p.¥1ment of Human Services and a designoo of the Stale Personnel 
Board. 

~ The CalPERS provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Reliroment 
bantlfila are d"fined as 2 6 percert ol the employees final 12 months average compensation limes 
the employee's )'Mira of service (2.0 p«oont for safety "mployeos) Employeot; with 1 O ya&irs of 
continuous are eligible lo retire al age 55 (age 50 for safety employees) EmptoyeGr; are eligible 
tor 1o&rvic&-releted d1sabllity benefits regardll!S5 of !he loogth ot service. Five years of ser.,ice is 
required for non-&6rYice--related disability !tligibility. DiHbility benefits are determined in the same 
mMner as retirement llenefils bul are payable lmmedia1aly witholll an actu11ria! reduction Pre· 
retirement death beniilfits equal an employee's final fult-yoo; aalary. Both plan, pro11ida far a 2 
percent Casi of Living A<ljustment (COLA). The public safsly plan is closed lo new entrants. 
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5. Other lnformiltlon {Continued) 

E. Public l!mployee Pension Plane (Continued) 

C~-Secllon 20814 of the CAllfornis Public Employees' Retinunsnt Law (PERL) requira& 
!hilt tm employer contribution rates for all public employees be determined on an annual basis by the 
ectLlclry and shell be afftctivs on thtt July 1 following notice of e changa in Iha rata. The totl!II plan 
contribuijons are derarminad hough the CalPERS annuel aduarial valuation i:--oceas. Tho actLJsrially 
determined rata is the estimated amount necusery to finance the co11te. of bani!lfits earned by 
employee" durir-Q the yaar, with an additional amount to finance any un1undttd accrued liflbility. The 
employer is reiquirad lo contribute the diflarence between Iha actuarially di!tlermiMd rate and ttIe 
contribution rate of employees. For the measurement peiriod anding June 30. 2014 (Iha measurement 
dEll:e), the average active employttl!I i:ontribullon r.ita is 7.947 percent ot .!lnnual pl!ly. and the average 
employer contribution rate is 16.693 percent of annual p!!yroll {8. 988 and 27.37 4 pen::ant for !he safety 
plan}. 

Pffi~!Qrl~L'~-rrlld ~.QY~.lr:l!l~ 
R11~ees ~t .Ji.ne 30. 2016 the City reported a liability of $6,641,502 for fig 
proportionals shire of th$ nlll pension lia:iility for all plans. Tho nel peneion liabil!ty was measured as 
of June 30, 2015, end tt,e total pension liability used lo caloul.!l'le the net pension liability was 
determined by an acluanal valu•ion a5. of Jun,, 30, 2014. The City's proportion of the net pttmiion 
lfallilily was bG1Sed on a prqaction of Iha City'& long-tlilrm share o! contributions to Iha pension plan 
relative ln the projected CQntribuliona of all p1l1icipating goverrrnents, actuarially determined. At June 
30, 2016, the Cit:,,'is propor1ion was 0.096760 peorcttnt For tho June 30, 2016 n~cal year, the City 
recognized pemiion eoi:pen;ia of $ti73,224 . . N June 30, 2016, !rte City raparted dvferrad outflows of 
resources aid d111klrrlKI inllowsi of resources r1:1li1tad to pension, from the following sources: 

Misoell11neou& Pl&n 
Differeoce1 betwettn expeo!Qd and actual 
llllPeriance: 
Chan!)&; in ael5Umptions 
Nal diffarooce b~ p1tjeclad and actual 
earnillQS on pension plan in\/Sslments 
Changes in proportior,g 11nd dlfferenoos between 

City oantribulioo!I and Pfoporlionata share ol 
rontribullom 

City oonlributlons gubsequant to the 
Maesur11ment dale 

Totejs 

Deferr"d 
Outflows Deferred lr!llows ct 

of Resources Reso[ll:;118 

$ 22,593 $ 
(213,75.5) 

(107,158) 

280,446 (98,394) 

'4:27 549 

The $427,549 r0p()(lttd es deferred outnows of resources is related to pan1ions from City caitributioni 
madlil :.ubs11quent to the measurement dat.,, and will be reoognizad as a reduction of the net per~ion 
tiatlility in the fiscal yaar ended June 30, 2017- Olhlilr l!lmount& report3d as deferred outflows of 
resources end c»ferred inftQ!W of reeoiJrcea related to penl!!iona will bll racognizEid in penision ~pense 
asfolla,n: 

Fisi:Mt Yll!it Ended .lune 30 
2015 .. 

2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
Thllrtlli!fter 

-19 

Deferred Outflows 
(lnilows) cf_Resources 
:S (88,638) 

(85,993) 
(76,613} 
136,974 



CITY OF FORTUNA 
l\lotes to the Basie Financial Statements 

June 30, 2016 

5. Oth11r Information (Continued) 

Safely Plan 
Diffe1·encee belwe"n 8J1pected end aduRI 
e:xperiern::e 
Changas in asl!Umptiooe 
Nat diller erice between projected and actual 
earnings on pension plan inveetment& 

Ch11J1QM in proportions mnd diffen,nces between 
City corilributions and proportionate shl!lfe of 
conltibuliams 

City oontribulia1s subeequenl lo the 
Measuremont 

Totale 

Deterred Outflows 
of Resource~ 

$ 

296,164 

Deferred Inflows of 
Resourcesi 

$ (32,952) 
(151,555) 

(76,811) 

(75,520) 

_$ ___ '2_>!6_,1_64_ ~ 

The $2:96, 164 rep0<ted as d1,fened outflows of reSOt1rcee is rslated to pent!ione from City corihibutions 
made subsequert to th& 111e111suremanl dale and will be recognized aa a redut.1ion of the net peneion 
liebility in the fiscsl ~r ended June 30, 2017. Othar amounts reporl8d as deferred outflows of 
resources and dlilrQrrlild inflows of resources relat9d lo p"nsiona will blit recogniZQd in pen11,ion expense 
as follows: 

Fi;1a&I Y "8r Ended June 30 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
There!!/t;!,f 

Daferred Outflows 
(in11owli) of R8'10lJrC8B 

$ (149,138) 
(14ll,934) 
(132,428) 
Q4,290 

ActUt:1ri11I M~tnnplloM - Th11 lolal pension li11bility in the June 30, 2013 actuarial veluelion was 
determined uaing the folla,,;ing actuarial assumptions, .l!pplied lo all periods induded in the 
measurement 

lntlelian 
Slitlary increases 
tnvestmenl rate of relum 

2.75 ~cent 
3.0 percent 
7.65 peroent, net of peneioo plen 
inv11etm11nt expense. ind1.1d1ng 
inflation 

All ott1er ectUQrial 11ssumption11 used in the June 30, 2013 valu11tion were baeed on the results of en 
act1J11ril!d experience study for the flecal yaa-11 1907 to 2011, 1ncJudirQ updates lo aall!ry incma1e, 
mortal ii,- and retirement rates. The E,iperie11C1:1 Study can be obta,n"d al the CalPERS website under 
Forms .!!rod Publicationl!, 



CITY OF FORTUNA. 
NotH to die 8a.ic Fin1nci1I Stiltaments 

June 30, 201 e 
I. Other lnlOl"mlltion lContinutd) 

E. Pubffc l 

The lor,g-term BJ+lected rate of retc1rr1 on peneior, pl!in invaslmi;11!s wa. det&r rrnnad ul!.ing a building­
bloci( method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future reial rates or return (axpec:ted returns, 
net o1' pension plan i11w,,.1me11t expanse ind in"11tion) are developed for l!ll!lch major asset class. In 
determining the long-t8fm expiici8d rahi d return, CelPERS took Into aooount both !!hart-term and 
toni:t-tenn mi.rkel return e~pectations as wall as ths expected peneiori ca11t, flows. The expected rate 
or return wes th911 set equivalent to a single equi\1alent rate catculatad by CelPERS arid rounded down 
lo the nearasl one quarter of one parcent. Tt,11 te111et sltocation and bast eetimetes of srlthmet1c re.ii 
rate!! of return for lll61c:h major esset clHs are summarized In the fellowing t!lbl&: 

As&(!t (;las!!__ 
Glob!!l Equity 
Globe.I Fix&d Income 
Inflation SQl"lllitlra 
Private Equity 
Rlilad E'stete 
lnl're~lruc!ure & Foresltend 
Liquidity 

New Str61leglc 
Allocation 

47.0'lli 
19.0 
s.o 
12.0 
11 0 
3.0 
2.0 

Real Return 
Years 1-10 

5.25% 
99 
45 

S.63 
4.50 
4.50 
(.55) 

Resl Return 
Years 11+ 

5.71% 
2.43 
3.36 
6.95 
5.13 
6.09 

(1.05) 

Disco1111I: Ralfl - The di&count rate ueed to maesure Iha total pension liablltty was T.65 percant To 
determine whether the rnuniclplilt bond rate should ba used in the celcutation of a d16count rate for 
aaoh plan, ClillPERS stress teated plans !hat would lik1:1ly result in a discount rate that would be 
different from Iha actuarially &aaLrnad diacount rate. B11sed on the testing, none of the lasted p1,m1 
run out of assets. Th;;irlilfore, the l.llll'rent 7.65 percent dillCOUnt rate is adequate and the use of the 
municipal boncl rato oaloulelion is nol neces;,aiy Tha long-tarm e~p"c!'"d di•count rate of 7.65 percent 
will be applied la all plans in !he Public EmployM Retirement Fund. 

Sensml'lly Qf the City's proporlional'e share of the nef pimt1/on llaMily to changfilS in the di6co1mt rate 
The foU01Mng Pfe&enls the City's proporlion,ate sh.ire ct !he net pan!lion liability Ciilculated using the 

discount rale of 7.65 peroent, as wll as what the City's proportionate ahare of the nal peneion lii,b1lity 
would ba if 11 were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-parcantege point lower (6.65 p11rcent) or 
1-percentege higher (8.65 percent) than the currant rate. 

1% Current 1% 
City"& proportionate Decrease Discount Ri,te lncrea!!e 
S1a(8 r:I: the net (665%} ( 65%) (8.6§%) 

Mi11cellaneous Ptan '6289836 $3,861,526 $1,856,866 
Sllfety Plan $4562.842 $2,TT9,978 $1,318,059 

Pension plan 'ffdur:iary nst {)061tfon- Detailed information about Iha pension plan'& fiduciary net position 
is svailabla in !he separately iasood CialPERS financial report. 
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CITY OF FORTUNA 
Notes to the Basic Fln111nci11I St11t11m11nts 

June 3D, 2016 
6. 01:htr Information (Continued) 

F. Restricted Net Position and Nonspendabl• Fund Balances 

Toa $ 20,95g,390 reslric!ed amount far debt serviae, affordable housing, streets arid other in the 
govarnmenlel ee!lvilies statement of net position rapreaant amounts lo ba used only for specific 
purposes which ,·estrictions ara imposed by laws, formal agreements or other go~ernm(:lnts and 
primerily relate lo housing funds (Bstric:tsd by law to only Gartain spedfiad uses n,e 
$1,724,36.(rHlricted for busin11ss-1ype activities represents epandabte net resources in the 
wastewater and waler funds raetricted for debt service. 

Nonspend8bla Fund 89/BIJOl/8 

The oonspendable fur.:! balances in 1he go\lemmentel fund typea represent amount,.~ not ti\'Bilable for 
1mmediete use ro pay current liabilities and ca11i1ts of: 

Non 

Inventory 
Prapayments 

Tol11la 

GE>ner11l Fund 

II\ 

$ 

5,387 
19.035 

24,392 

& SUccessor Agency Trust for AHel:s of Fonner Radevalopmant Agency 

t The Dis:so/ut1on Pro~s 

On December 28, 201 t the Canromia Supreme Court upheld Aasembly Bill 1 X26 (tho Bill) that 
provides for lt1e ditisoluti1m Of ell redevelopment ag11noies in the State of C111ifornie. This action 
impacted the financial l'l!IPOrting enlity of the City of rortuna that previously had reported a 
rede.-elepment aQQney within lhe financial reporting entity of the City as a blended component unit 
The bill pro11ides that upon dlssolullon of a r&d8velopmenl .ig11nc~, either !he cit~ or another 
govemmei,tal unit of IClG31 go'femment wrn agree to serve as the successor eg1ncy to hold assets until 
they are distributed to other unillii of State and local ~011ernment The City Council oftha Cily of Fortuna 
el8cll:td to have the C1w become the Successor Agency tor the former redevelopment agency 111nd to 
become the housinlJ sw:cessor for 1l1e agency. 

Aller enaclment of lhe 18111, which oi:x;um1d, ~me 28, 2011, redevelopment agencies in !ho State of 
Califumia camml w1isf irto new projectll, o~igations or commitmentts. Subject to the control of a oowty 
established Overalght Beard, reme1ning assets can only be used lo p1y enforceable obligationi in 
existence al the date af dis!!.oludon (including the completion of eny unfinished projecte that were 
subject to legally enforc:eabls conlraclual commitment!i). 

ln future litsc:a! years, successor 11gencie1 will only be allocated revenues in the amount Iha! is 
neoe1152ry to pay the 11111nual et!limaled annual in~tallmant paymant!l on enforceable obligations of the 
former redevelopmsnt sgency until all enforceable obligation& of lhe prier agancy have been paid in 
tua and all assets nave bean liquidated. 

The Bill directs the Stile Controller of the Stale of CelifQ"ni11 lo r11viaw the propriety of any tranefers of 
assets between !he red11\ltliopmenl agencies and other public bodies thet occurred after Jimuary 1, 
2011. If the public body that received such tranllfers is not contrac~ually committed lo a third party for 
the oxpenditure or encumbrance of those e:.:aeti, the Steta Controller is required to order the aYBilable 
assets lo be trenS1ferred to the public body dllilignated as !he Succl!!asur by the Bill. 



CITY OF FORTUNA 
Notes. to ttN> Baait Fin1111clal Statements 

June 30, 2016 

5. Other lnlermatlon (Continuodl 

G. Successor Agency Tru1t For Assol5 of Fenner Redwelopmont Ag41ncy (Conllnued) 

l,1anagament b,;;lieves, In oonst11!ation with legal counsel, the! th& obligations of the former 
radevelopment agency due to the City (including iha amounts disallowed by th& State Department of 
Financa) and olhet'.i ere valid enforceable obligations payable by the successor .agency trust undar 
the requirements of !he BllL The City's po•illon on lhesa issues is not a position or aatllad law and 
there is considerable 18gal uncertainty regarding these issues, II is reasonably possible tt,at a leg11I 
determination miiiy be made al a later dale by an appropriat& judicial or other authorized body that 
would resolve any of the dlssolulion mal!ars Ll'lfavorabl& to Iha Cly. 

In accordance with Iha llmeline set forth in Iha Bill (As modified by the Califania Supreme Col,rt on 
December 29, 2011) all rede'181opment agencies in lhe St"te of Celifornia warA dissolved and ceased 
to oparata as a l•gal entity as of February 1, 2012. 

2, Enforceable Obllgat1om1 

2001 Rt!Venue Bonds Suo:;essor Agency Obllgations 

The City and 1!s fonner component unit redevelopment agency entered Into a loan agreement with the 
Fortuna Pub lie Finencing Autt'lority (elso a component unll of !he City), dated October 1, 2007, ','-'Jerain 
!he Authority sold $17.500.0CJCJ In its revenue bonds, series 2007. From the sale of the Authority's 
Revenue booo5, $13,21JJ,DOO was loaned lo Iha co~nent unit redevolopment agency and $4, 
220,000 was loaned to the City. The loans receivable and payable between the City end the Cky's 
former redevelopment agenc!,' and !he C1t!(s component unit Fi mincing Aut'lorlly have been eliminated 
from the ll<XO~nying fiflanc1al statements, 

Frorrt the bond proceeds, the former redellelopment agency depo8iled $2,525,00U into an l:csorowad 
Project fund Acoount until October 15, 2010, of !he escrow bonds which bondii! are defined as the 
bcnda lllliltur-,g November 1, 2038 wilh an interest rate of 't9 percent On Octobl!r 15, 2010 the 
Trustee &111i111 tnmsfer !ill amounts than on depcM in the E8crowed Project. hind to the Principal Fund, 
to ba applied lo the mandatory redemption on NO\/ember 1, 201 O of Escrow Bonds pu~uant to Section 
4,07 al the Trust Agree,mant Notw,thelending the foregoing, the former Agency may postpone such 
redemption to any later oote ide11tifi11d in a cerlificme of th& former Agency which 11ets forth the new 
date for the transfer of l!mOul11l! 1n the Eiicrowed Project Fund lo the Pnnc1pal Fund lo be used to 
redeem E.acrow Bonda pUlllllBnl to Section 4.07 of the Trust Agreement end which is eccompanieJd 
ti:y GBHh in an amount wtiich is certified by the farm11r Agency as l!luff1c1ent, together with !he &arnings 
tt1en1on, to plly interest on Iha portion of the Escrow Bondt1 which represent the funds then on deposit 
in the Es.croed Prnjeol Fund from Novllmber i. 201 a to U1e redemption date as identifiei:l in such 
cert!flcete of Iha Agency, The former Agenr:y exercised its option lo postpme !hill redemption \11fil 
N011embe; 1, 20; 1 Th.a redemption of the $2,525.000 was completed in flsr::al 2014 by the Sucoeasor 
AgllnC'f, 

The 2007 revenue bonds mature each Noverl'tJer 1 commencing November 1, 200B ttJrough 2038, 
bear inlel'l!lel al r,lles from :l75 to 5,0 percenl and ccneist of $5,365,000 in serial bonds, $4,110.000 
in term bondt1 due No"801ber 2031, $2,525,00Cl in term bends due Novemb•r 1, 2038 (the escrow 
bondtl), anel $5,500,000 in term bonds due November 1, 2038, The bonds are subjeci lo 8erly 
redemptiom1 from certain prepayment!!, bond5 maturing on or after November 1, 2018 are subject to 
ophonel early redemption, the escrow bondi are subject to m111nd11!ory early redemption on Novllmber 
1, 2010 1:1nd the term bonc:111 m11turin.i November 1, 2031 and 2038 are subjed to mandatory ainking 
fund redemptic.ins 011 or a1ter November 1, 2024 and 2032, respectively, Futuna debt s&rvioo is, 
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CITY OF FORTUNA 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statem•nt11, 

June JO. 201 e 

ii. O1:hor Information (Continued) 

G .Succeccor AQ•ncy Trust far Aneta of Former Redevalopment Ag•ucy {Continued} 

2. Enforceable OMgations (Cootinued) 

2007 R»VflnOO Bonds ... Sw:x:esoor Agency ObliI/abons (Continued) 

The former r'1development ag~ncy had pledged future incremental property tax revenues to repay its 
$13,060,000 share of th11 2007 revenue boncts. The egencia share ol the revenue bonds was payable 
solely from lhe pledged !ax inc!'llmenl revenues and from certain trust acaounts held by the bond 
trustee, Total principal and lnte!'lls! ra.l'IIQfnlng on the Succes,;or Agenoy·s share of the bonds 1s 
$19,798,835. 

FIBC!ll_Y_e_e_rs ___ _ 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 

2022.;2026 
2027-2031 
2032-2036 
2037-2039 

I .mu, Cily of Frntuna 

~ 
$ 165,000 

185,000 
205,000 
225,000 
2"45,000 

1,515,000 
2,155,000 
3,0·15,000 
2,215,000 

$ 9,925,000 

Interest 
$ 471,288 

463,036 
453,786 
445,500 
436,586 

2,010,423 
1,612,063 
1,021,994 

225,560 

S 7,140,320 

Tatel 
$ 636,286 

646,036 
658,766 
670,586 
681,500 

3,525,423 
3,767,063 
"4,036,994 
~ 

S 17,005,320 

On No\tember 1, 2013, tho CUy recaivod frem the Stale Oepertmenl of Finance (DOF) a Finding of 
Completion Letter as regards !11'1 Successor Agflncy to lh!l City'li formor Reditvolopmenl Agency that 
had ooen dissolved effec:li\le Fet.-uaiy 1, 2012. The DOF letter authorized the City to request a finding 
be made by the Oversight Board lo lt,e Successor Agency Iha! the City's loan agreement; botween 
!he former Recbllelopmonl Agancy and lhlil City be quialined as enfon::eable obligiationa of Iha 
Succ~aor Agency under Iha IIIW! go\iaming the dis9olulion of Iha former agency. 1n addition, !here is 
a requirement that !he accumulated and unpaid interest on e1,y such loaoo bo recalculated uaing a 
DOF spacifllild mathod, tl1al eny fLltuna repayments, if approwd, are lo be made su~ect to a ~pacified 
formula, and that there will bG amounts available pursuant to the fom1ula that will eniable the 
rApeymanls to be made. In addition, all such loan agraements., recelcutations of lntere~I, and formula 
based repayments, are aubJect to approval of the Suc0easor Agen0y·s Ovensight Board and the OOF. 

Thi'! DOF had iniijally deni11d app-ov111 ot this loan as an enlorceeble obligation of the S1.1ccessor 
Agency, but on J\Aey 16, 2014 Iha DOF rescinded this denial and the loan was approved as an 
enforceabl• ooligalion with an eflectiv0 date of July 1, 2014 which date hog approvml of both the DOF 
and the Successor Agemc:y's Ov1,rsighl Board, Ttle City and the Successor Agency reinstated this loan 
for financial reporting purposes in llacal 201 Ii 
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CITY OF FORTUNA 
Not!ls to the Basic Financial Statli!mants 

Jum1 30, 2018 

5. Other Information (Continued) 

G .Suoonsor AQ•noy Trust for Assels of Former Redevelopment Agency (Continued) 

2. Enforoeeb/e Obligations (Continued) 

R•peyment Sch•dule City of Fortuna Loan: 

Tha original rep;aym~nt schedule was as follows: 

l'isc.!I Yoor Enc-t11d ,June 30 
2a1s 
20Hl 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021-2025 

Tot,11ls 

~ 
$ 221,382 

221,985 
222,356 
223,115 
223,685 
224,277 

~, 136, !5Bg ... 

$ 2,473,402 

lnharest 
-$- 6,271 

5,668 
5,297 
4,538 
3,958 
3,376 
!5,855 

Tolal 
. $ 227}353 

227,653 
227,653 
227,653 
227,653 
227,653 

1,142,447. 

$ 34,963 $2,508,365 

TI1e acheduled fiscal 2015 and 2016 repayment was no! made a,; a resull of !he i,uff1c1ency of 
1Miilable rnonles under ltie preo!!r::,ibed formull!I b1;1ing ui.ed to calculate amounts avallabl!il for 
distribution to !l1<1 City after amounts made available for other enfrxcea.ble obligations of the 
successor ,11gancy. Tha degree to which the above rep13ym1Jnt echtw:lule will be realized by the 
successor agency is nol determinable al !hi$ time. 

Changes fn LDng -Temi Enforce.able ObOgetiom.. 

Changes 1n lang-tenn enforceable obliglllions far th& yaar ended Juns 30, 2016 were: 

Privete Purpo5e Trust Dua in 
~~ Additions Reduction ~ Ono Ya,;r 

2007 Re~~ Bonds s10,ore,aaa $ $ 100,000 $9,925.000 1,1tJ5,000 
Loan City of Forltma 21/73 402 2,.473,402 

Totals $72,548,«12 $ $ 150,000 112,398,402 $165,000 

3. Cash and ln\lalilrnents Held in Trust 

fh!I cash !Ind investments of the Succeisor Agency iand Houaiog Succ&l!lllor at Jun& 30, 2016 
consisted of $1,420,105. Of this, $859,244 was held by a bank bond lru$lee and was invellted in 
money markel funds. The mmeining $580,861 was held in City of Forluns pooled inveisaiienl!o 
acoounts. 



CITY OF FORTUNA 
Notee to the l!l•llic Fin11nci11I Stat11m11nb 

Jun11 30, 201 g 

S. Oth11r lnfoimation (Contim111d) 

H. Chang11 in Accounting Principlee 

Tt1e Cily in fiscal 2016 implemented Gaverrmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 
Number 72, Fair Value Measu·em~t end Applic11tion. The implementation of lhis accounting standard 
l1ad no imp!ICI oo the beyinning of ye11r nel position of the government and busines11-type actrvldes; 
and the beginning of year b11lena,11 were nol restated and remain as originally reported by the City. 

46 
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Fund Bmiiam:ie:1 
Re:souroo:s 

Othertru<es 
Ucease 11•uai!l! 
Flnts 011<1 fDdo~ 
Interest 
l11te(!lovemme111111 

for servfce:s 
Misea!tan!f,-0:11s 
Proceeds DI c"pilal I•••• lirt<1ncifl!l 

Amuurils wailabte fm 
flhfl(!lllS lo 

to and 
DIU:I 11'!1111 

clerk 

L,egal 

Risk mmnaoermmt 
Pul>llc work• administration 

Planning 
Tourism 

Public; 
Police 
Avoid 
BSCCgranl 
ABC 
KIi 
Anlm•I ronlml 

CITY Of FORTUNA 
Compi;riSOll Stlltdlll<> Gffltf~I fund 

for Ille Fll!Clill ""'" El>d•d Jun• 3il, 1016 

Orlgimil Flnllll 

$ 4,llili.544 4,733,924 

44-0,197 440,197 
1,644,000 1,!!44,000 
1,331,097 1,331,097 

258,989 
70,134 70,134 
211,000 20,000 

1 
562,447 582,447 

70,982 

10,354,801 10,507,181 

31,055 31,055 

100,000 100,000 

55,143 
,11,mo ?71,1A!l 
39,310 
34,884 114,884 
67,46'1 67,481 

128,000 128.900 

52,559 52,559 
18.025 ll!,025 

28,750 

Bllilt:litlQ and dev0iapmenl rel\ile\t!ffl' 351,107 351,107 

STffliE!t mairrienam:2 214,389 214,389 
Parkti r;md Recfl1l,ll!im,: 

Recraatio:n programs 252,526 252,526 
Pt1rk mainleminae 407,122 
Library 9,931 ll,931 
Railmact museum 35,!l41l 

oµoralio,ts 21:18,610 288,510 
Debt s,w/<'"' 
1rGl'lSf<lfll O<I! 225,151 225,751 

Total charges 10 

Fund aalanr.e, Jllll• 30 
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Vrtr!aflCQ wtm f'lnu1 
Ac1111I BtJdgffl PO$tfivn 

Amuuntz; I lil"l!•llv<il 

$ 4,733,924 

1,l:134,956 
1,027,1!37 

50,115 
(13,311} 

98,4112 71!.452 
.359,312 
912,!!60 330,513 

30,869 186 

00,023 
84,157 12.440) 
67,293 

3ori,nm1 
$0,615 8,695 
54,961 
60,732 

2,992,656 

31,566. 20,\193 
U\,025 

25,337 
29.055 (4,291) 

257,641 
428,901! 

9,381 50 
30,754 5, 1 lll! 

200,268 
M,844 

2111,325 7,426 



CITY OF FORTUNA 

Budg•ta,y Compariaon Schedule - Genaral Fund 
Note to RSI 

For 1ha Fl•oal Year Ended Jun• 30, 201& 

Note /1,. Explanation of Differ~ between Budgetary Inflows and 011tf10\lt'a and GAAP 
Revenues and expendHures: 

Soureae.llnflow:a. resourees: 
Actual amounte "l!lv!!lilable for appropriation" from budgatery 

cornpl!lrieon schedule. 
Differences - budget lo GAAP: 

Proceeds al capital leaser. are an inflow af resources nut are not raported as 
re\lenues for financiel reporting purpo~es 
n-.e fund balance at the beginrnng ol lhe year is a budgetary 
resource but is not a currenl ye• revenue for financial reporting 
purpos.is 

Totl!ll revenues as reported in the statement ol revenues, expend1tura1 
and changes in fund balance<! governmental funds 

Actual amounts "total chilrg,.. lo eppropriationa" from the budget&ry 
comparison schedule 

Differences - budget to C'..AAP: 
Trarn,iers to olhar funds ara outflowa of budgatary resources bu! 
are r;ot e;,:penditures for ftn11nci11I rep011ing purposes 

Total expenditures as reported in the statement of revenues, 
expendll!Jre; and changes in fund bal.inces - governmental funds 

48 

$ 11, i 1 B,244 

$ (248,703) 

(4 733 92A 

$ 6,135,617 

$ 6,238,690 

(218,325) 

S 6,020,365 



Rcqul...,d Supplementary infonnatlon 
CITY OF FORTUNA 

Budgetllry Comparieon Schedule - HOIIIIE Grants Speci•I Revenue Fund 
For the Fiecal Year Endad June 30, 2016 

Budgeted Amounts 

Ai:tual 
Original Final Amounts 

VarlantE< with 
Fir,,il B"dll•I 

Po~iti11" 
(Nlg•tiwj 

Fund Balanca, July 1 $ 76,015 $ /15,015 $ 76,016 $ 
Resources {Inflows}: 
Interest 267 26i 417 
Miscellani;ious loan repayments 27,782 27,782 14,236 

Amounti avaHable for 
diargas to appropriallons 104,064 104064 9006B 

Charges to appropriations: 
Community clev1lopment ' 
Loens 
Loan l!ldministnition 1,530 

Tot!II cl'l11rge~ to ~ppropriallone 1,536 

Fund Balar.:e, June 30 $ 104,06'4 $ 104,064 $ 69,132 

Explanation m Diftwra,,ce11 between Budgttary Inflows i;;nd 
Outf!OW!ii and GA.AP Revenue;;; and Eiii:pendltu.-: 

Sources of inflows of resources: 
Actual amounts evailable for approprillloos from budgetary dale above: $ 90.668 

Di1'1'1mmC111s-budgel lo GAAP: 
BGgnnl~ fund balances aro financial resources for 
budgi,tary purposes, but ara 1101 considered as 
re\fl'!nues kirli1111nc11,I reportir,,;i purposes ~ 

Total revenues as reported In the statement of revenues, 
expenditlJn.a , end c:heng&S in fund balances $ 1-4 653 
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RequlN)d Supplementary Information 
CITY OF FORTUNA 

B11dgetary ComparlllOn Schedula - City Ho11sing Speclel Revanue Fund 
For lh• Fi•c!II Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Budg•hld Amount• 

Actual 
Original Flll'tl Amounlll 

Fund Balanc•, July 1 $ 90,267 $ 90,267 $ 00,267 
Re~ou1te~ (1nllowa): 
lrterest soo SOD 22B 
MiscallanamJ! - loan r•peymenls 

Amounts 91/llilsble for 
oherges lo approprietioos 90,767 90,767 90,496 

ChllllJH to appropriations: 
Communil:; development : 

L06111 administration 

Total charges to appropriations 

Fund Balance, June 30 s 90,767 s 90,767 $ 90,495 

Explanation of Ditr.ranen b~ Budg•lary lnflor,,• and 
Outtlowe and GAAP Revenoee and exp•nditurn: 

Sourcss of inflOW!I of resourc.es: 
Actual amounts available for approprialiong from budgetary data 11bove, $ 90.495 
Differences-budget lo GAAP: 
Baginnlng fund balances aro financial resources far 
oodglllary purposes, but are not considered as 
revenues for financiai reporting purposes (90,267) 

Total revenues as r•porled 1n the statement ol revenues, 
expenditures , and ohanges in fund balances $ 2:28 
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CITY OF FORl'UNA 
Schedule of the City of Fortuna's Proponlone&I Share of the Net Pension Llablllty 

Clllitornil!I Public Employees R"tlrement Syatem 
(L.,.t Ten Fl•cal Yeara) 

Aa of June 30, 20HI 

Fiscal Year E11ded 

2015 2016 

June 30, 2014 ,June 30, 201 5 

Cily'i!, proprotiooale or the net pension tia:lili!:; 

City's proportionate share of th& net pension liability 

City's cavttrad payroll 

Cit:;'a pruportion•le llher" of th" net pariaion li11bllity 
as a percantlilge of ils covlirad emplo:,,11" payroll 

Plan's fiduciary net position as 
a poca;ntage af !he total p11nsion liability 

Notes to the schedule: 

Benlllfft Changes: Th8fe were no plan cha~ in fia~I 2016 

0.08663% 

$ 5,390,654 

$ 3,210,244 

167.9:2% 

79.82% 

0.09676% 

$ 6,641,499 

$ 3,278,533 

202.58'jj, 

?BAO% 

Changes In AMwnpUon•: In fiscal 2016, the Plan's discunt rote was changed from 7.5% lo 765'!1i 

Last Ten Years: This schedule Is intended lo show infonnation for 10 yaarn. Fi11eal 2015 was tha first 
year of implsmentzltion, and additional years information will be presented as ii bacomaa .i1111ilabla. 
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CITY OF FORTUNA 
Schedule of the City's l!!rnploy•r Contributione 

C11llfomia Public Employeas R•tiramaot SyiJlem 
(Last Ten Fl,cal Years) 

As of June 30, 2016 

June 30 

Contribution11 for the fiscal yev anded 

Conttaduany required conlr1bl!lion 

Contr1butione. 1n relation to the contractually 
required conlribution 

Contribution deficoocy (m:cets) 

Cills covered employee payroll 

Contributions as a percentage of 
covl!lred emp1Qy811 payroll 

Notes to the schedule: 

Plliln V•lu•tion Dea: June 30, 2014 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2015 2016 

602,651 $ 723,714 

602,651 $ 723 714 

$ 

3,278,533 S 3,381,331 

18.38% 21.40% 

Lu;t Ten YHra: Thia schedule is intended to !l1aw i111Qrrnation for 10 years. Fiscal 2015 was the first 
y88( of implAmanlalion, and idditional yeera information will ba presented as it becomes available 
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OPTIONAL SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
NONMAJOR FUNDS' COMBININ<3 RNANCIAL STATEMENTS 



Nturtm~,or Fl.l00$ 
Jufll! 30, !Oil 

$ 1.11 ReWY'!l.i'8 r lJfK1S 

Vnre:s~ 
MineJ.6 

taorrn Dra:irt Clmlaga Trarapcrt:,rtiorr C4l,)$ !,g:;,: GasTa,y SvtslnNrs Ho;_r$in,g Revel-
Fund SB325 Tf.A-& lS:i!P um 

ki1'1'ts 
Cash and ir'nl§~nts s 137,115 $ *12,425 $ 479,165 $ 941,870 $ 5:,,!,700 > 9,424 > 232 > 96,195 4il?,12i 
Riiioo;!/,psq!G$, 

Aocn1l()is Hl,072 4,800 --!\!~~$ 15.4$7 i ,303, 438 
l!!!aw ree®lVabb:i 

Toi:al:asseUJ 

LI• blllllis: 
liab!lltrem: 

$ ,m $ 7,!lOJS $ 33,200 $ 40,733 $ 5,776 s $ 25S $ t!Si!l~ $ 

Due to other funds 

Tot;aJ!i:abffitle® 210 7.&15 00,200 :1156 ?8 4'21:; 

Defffl'ff ~ offf!15outoes; 
t.i:mg-tem, 001:$$ recEtV;$bli& i,303:4'221 

~tttid l:lafantti: 
R-!or; 
C>!lltll 
CCC 

(24) 65~00'! 
S!rem 152,!JIT 3S,249 445,ll!li $00,937 526,933 W'Abd (511,800) 
Oabtse!i/1ca -----

12•1 2C>5,08? 



As-
C2'Sh :and 1rwestrnern $ 
~1vah!M: 

Ao::oontt 
lntergi".t\/B!fhfi'.1~1 

Dww frDfl'l other funds 
Notes racelvsble-
lease r~abrs 

Tomi-

Llllhlllllll•: 
u.1m .. : 

Aceollms 

0:le: tr:: other fur,0$ 

Tona! l1alwi1t¾);S 

DCN!rred inftows of r,e:SQUT(:ff! 
loo~tern1 nd!es mccjy?if1iic2 

Fund l:raila111oes: 
Restricted for: 
G:wpita1 proJ1reis 

B!Me!,, 

Debt~ 

Tt:lla( fu1-vi P<ilBi100S 

fo!..Jl Habilroe:s, deferred inflows 
01 fl$SOUrces: and fund ~Jsnces 

:2:59,1338 • {22811<) 

• 

259,B:ffl 
l:!Zlll!l) 

25&J3:38 !Z!,ll!E) 

HOPS, 
~-,& 
r.AcC!ean, 

SrnnJ! Par:RB 

$ i3,183 

$ 

13,1;!3 

13.165 

$ 

$ 

FEMA 

1122,300) 

1$JJ34 

:>!.100 

l4, 100 

1,445 

1,445 

CITY OF FORTIJNA 
Combining Baiam:e :Si~ 

t,l~()r Go\te:h'm:fent!il F{.lm:IS: 
June 3t, 201s 

Parkins lo 
:Safe Routes Lav 

$ {,li;,575) $ "" ,5 

$ ttl384 $ $ 

10,3'84 

ll9 

(1D8 !l51ll 

11oa.lmil1 "" 

7!;7,077 a 

245,()00 

441,800 

'1,012JJ77 

24-0,435 

Capita! f:lreJe~ 
Cit)/ 

700,:9£43 

$ 

!Hl2'1 

B99,!128 

, 

C1'prl1JJ 
Pr~i 
OWR 

Wstmr 

'17,007' 

7,457 

:2,a1 

251\,144 

• 

5,005 

3~,!i?';r 

::i~ 11:& 

1,7$0,il;-i,4 

10,774 
1 ,34!!.;1&} 

'"~2,5'!2' 



}fj~ifjerj Srom'l Dra tn 
Was1,z 

Ravan!S1l.: 
5 7,3l!1l l l 

19,100 4~,41\o '17,343 

613 174 2AS2!1 
~el&ilnuoos 

Tclaioo\lii,nte.; 50,5'13 '""" 43,~0 1Sl911 

Expqridi!ures· 
Currant 

~358 

!l!ey!:ling 23,008 
353,179 

Totat~~dlh.fru 23,llllll 7lt,ssa 353179 

aNJT f'.'1f'1tif'IC1rt9 St!Uf¢ml: 

1$,',40 
Tnmsfes,out 
CQitm Jene, hntlr,g 

00340 

Net change kt fu!'id balances :tti,655 !"'5,1'5ll.J 1200,561!) 

Fl..!Pd bataooes, July 1 

Futld baf.11~. Junt11 00 

CITY Of FORTIJNA 
Ct11mb!n:!ng smwmem otRawnuu, !i:~hdlWm!i, and 

Changies: in fund SB!itmH 

s .!:11 Rewnuia Funds 

GesTaw: G2!$T1:iK 8us1neas 

s 1212.W S 293.\'.173 $ 3,000 $ 

5",1;47 
4,ll::!7 1,ffi 58 

530 

Z3i/5,34.7 •. s:z, 
54,97£1 

327.'r49 1"5,283 

16,2'i9 

~ 1S79 
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!l6 
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?:I '247 

a:i. 
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·-~~, 

:a!lil,1$'1l 

(:l49,7!Jill 5100 L•I~il;li . ~lt;!J;f 

{16'.lf,¢40). 

----mm•-
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CITYOF FORTUNA 
Comb!n,i~SI 

Y~Em:teid June 30, 1011 
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APPENDIX C 

FORM OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 

Upon issuance of the Bonds, the City proposes to enter into a Continuing Disclosure 
Certificate in substantially the follavving form: 

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the "Disclosure Certificate"), dated as of 
N0.tember 1, 2017, is executed and delivered lJy the City of Fortuna(the "City"), as dissemination 
agent ( the " Di sci osure Di ssemi nation A gent"), fort he benefit of the B enefi ci al Owner ( herei nafter 
defined) of the $5,405,000 City of Fortuna, Series 2017Water Revenue Refunding Bands (Water 
Enterprise Project) (the" Bonds'') in orderto pr0.tide certain continuing disclosure with respect to 
the Bonds in accordance with Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time 
to ti me (the" Rule''). 

The City and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent cOJenant and agree as follcws: 

SECTION 1. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth abOJe and in the 
Indenture, which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise 
defined in this Section, the fol I cwi ng cap tali zed terms shal I have the fol I avvi ng meanings: 

"Annual Financial I nforrrati on" means annual financial information as such term is used 
in paragraph (b)(S)(i) of the Rule and specified in Section 3(a) of this Disclosure Certificate. 

"Annual Report" means an Annual Report described in and consistent with Section 3 of 
this Disclosure Certificate. 

"Annual F ii ing Date" means the date, set forth in Section 2(a) and Section 2(f), lJy which 
the Annual Report is to be filed with the MSRB. 

"Audited Financial Statements'' means the financial statements (if any) of the City forthe 
prior fiscal year, certified lJy an independent auditor as prepared in accordance with generally 
accep:ed accounting principles or ctherwi se, as such term is used in paragraph (b)(S)(i) of the Rule 
and specified in Section 3(b) of this Disclosure Certificate. 

"Beneficial Owner" means any person which (a) has the pavver, directly or indirectly, to 
vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of avvnershi p of, any Bands (including persons 
holding Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the 
cwner of any Bands for federal income tax purposes. 

"Bonds'' means the $5,405,000 City of Fortuna, Series 2017 Water Revenue Refunding 
Bands (Water Enterprise Project) issued pursuant to the Indenture. 

"Certification" means a written certification of compiance signed lJy the Disclosure 
Representative statingthattheAnnual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event nctice, 
or Failure to File Event nctice delivered to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent is the Annual 
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Report, Audited Financial Statements, Nctice Event nctice, IT Failure to File Event notice, 
required to be submitted to the MSRB under this Disclosure Certificate. A Certification shall 
accompany each such document submitted to the Di sci osure Di ssemi nation Agent by the City and 
include the full nanne of the Bonds and the 9--oigit CUSI P numbers for all Bonds to which the 
document app i es. 

"City'' means the City of Fortuna, California 

"Disclosure Representative'' means the Finance Director of the City IT his IT her designee, 
IT such other person as the City shall designate in writing to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
from time to time as the person responsible fIT prcwiding Information to the Disclosure 
Di ssemi nation Agent. 

"Disclosure Disserrination Agent" means the City, acting in its capacity as Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent hereunder, IT any successor Disclosure Dissemination Agent designated in 
writing by the City. 

"Failure to File Event" means the City's failure to file an Annual Report on or befITe the 
Annual Filing Date. 

"F ITce Majeure Event" means: (i) acts of God, war, or terrorist action; (ii) failure or shut­
davvn of the EI ectroni c Municipal Market Access system maintained by the M SR B; IT (iii) to the 
extent beyond the Disclosure Dissemination Agent's reasonable contrd, interrup:ions in 
tel ecommuni cations IT uti I iti es services, fai I ure, malfunction IT error of any tel ecommuni cations, 
computer or other electrical, mechanical or technological application, service IT system, computer 
virus, interruptions in Internet service IT telephone service (including due to a virus, electrical 
delivery problem or similar occurrence) that affect Internet users generally, IT in the local area in 
which the Disclosure Dissemination Agent or the MSRB is located, IT acts of any government, 
regulatory or any other competent authority the effect of which is to prohibit the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent from performance of its obi igations under this Disclosure Certificate. 

"Indenture" means the Indenture of Trust, dated as of Ncwember 1, 2017 (the" Indenture"), 
by and between the City and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee thereunder. 

"lnforrration" means, collectively, the Annual Reports, the Audited Financial Statements 
(if any), the Notice Event notices, and the F ai I ure to Fi I e Event ncti ces. 

"Listed Events'' means any of the events Ii sted in Section S(a) of this Disclosure Certificate. 

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to 
Section 1 SB(b)(l) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 IT any other entity designated or 
authorized by the Securities and Exchange Commission to receive reports pursuant to the Rule. 
U nti I otherwise designated by the MS RB orthe Securities and Exchange Cammi ssi on, fi Ii ngs with 
the MSRB are to be made through the Electronic Municipal MarketplaceAccess(EM MA) website 
of the MSRB, currently located at http: //erma.rnsrb.orq. 
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"Nctice Event" means any of the events enumerated in paragrapi (b)(S)(i)(C) of the Rule 
and listed in Section 4(a) of this Disclosure Certificate. 

"Obligated Person" means any ~rson, including the City, who is either generally or 
through an enterprise, fund, or account of such ~rson committed by contract or other arrangement 
to support payment of al I, or part of the oll i gati ons on the Bands ( cther than pravi ders of municipal 
bond insurance, letters of credit, or other liquidity facilities). With res~ct to the Bonds, only the 
City constitutes the Obligated Person. 

"Official Statement" means the final official statement executed by the City in connection 
with the issuance of the Bands. 

"Participating Underwriter" means Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, the 
original underwriter of the Bands required to campy with the Rule in connection with the offering 
of the Bands. 

"Rule" means Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

"State" means the State of California 

"Trustee" means U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee under the Indenture, or any 
successor Trustee designated i n wri ti ng by the City. 

SECTION 2. PrCNisionofAnnual RepgtsandOtherDisclosures. 

(a) The City shall prCNide, annually, an electronic copy of the Annual Report and 
Certification to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent by not laterthan the March 31 follcwing the 
end of the City's fi seal year (which is currently June 30), commenci ngwith the Annual Report for 
the Fiscal Year endedJ une 30, 2017. Such date and each anniversary thereof is the Annual Filing 
Date. Promp:ly upon receipt of an electronic copy of the Annual Report and the Certification, the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall pravide such Annual Report to the MSRB. The Annual 
Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, 
and may cross-reference cther information as prCNided in Section 3 of this Disclosure Certificate. 

(b) If on the fifteenth (15th) day prior to the Annual Filing Date, the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the Annual Report and Certification, the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall contact the Disclosure Representative by telephone and in 
writing (which may be by e-mail) to remind the City of its undertaking to prCNide the Annual 
Report pursuantto Section 2(a). Upon such reminder, the Disclosure Representative shall either 
(i) prCNide the Disclosure Dissemination Agent with an electronic copy of the Annual Report and 
the Certification no laterthan two (2) business days prior to the Annual Fi ling Date, or (ii) instruct 
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing that the City will not be able to file the Annual 
Report within the time required under this Disclosure Certificate, state the date by which the 
Annual Report for such year wi 11 be pravi ded and instruct the Di sci osure Di ssemi nation Agentthat 
aFailureto File Event has occurred and to immediately send ancticetothe MSRB in substantially 
the form attached as Exhibit A. 
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(c) If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has not received an Annual Report and 
Certification 0\/ 6:00 p.m. Eastern time on the Annual Filing Date (or, if such Annual Filing Date 
fal Is on a Saturday, Sunday or hd i day, then the first business day thereafter) for the Annual Report, 
a Failure to File Event shall have occurred and the City irrevocably directs the Disclosure 
Di ssemi nation Agent to immediately send a notice to the MS RB in substantially the form attached 
as Exhibit A without reference to the anticipated filing date forthe Annual Report. 

( cl) I f Audited Fi nanci al Statements of the City are prepared but nct avai I abl e pri or to 
the Annual Filing Date, the City shall, when the Audited Financial Statements are available, 
pravide in a timely manner an electronic copy to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, 
accompani ed 0\/ a C erti fi cati on for fi I i ng with the M SR B . 

(e) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall: 

(i) verify the filing specifications of the MSRB each year priorto the Annual 
Filing Date; 

(ii) upon recei[X, promptly file each Annual Report received under Sections 
2(a) and 2(b) with the M SRB; 

( i i i) upon recei pt, prom[XI y fi I e each Audited Fi nanci al Statement received 
under Section 2(d) with the MSRB; 

(iv) upon receipt, prom[Xly file the text of each Nctice Event received under 
Sections 4(a) and 4(b)(i i) with the M SRB, identifying the Nctice Event as instructed 0\/ the 
City pursuant to Section 4(a) or 4(b)(ii) (being any of the categories set forth belavv) when 
filing pursuant to Section 4(c) of this Disclosure Certificate: 

1. " P ri nci pal and i nterest payment del i nquenci es;" 

2. "Non-Payment related defaults, if material;" 

3. "Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial 
difficulties;" 

4. "Unscheduled drctNs on credit enhancements reflecting financial 
difficulties;" 

5. "Substitution of credit or liquidity praviders, or their failure to 
perform;" 

6. "Adverse tax opinions, I RS notices or events affecting the tax status 
of the security;" 

7. "Modifications to rights of securities holders, if material;" 

8. "Bond calls, if material;" 
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9. "Defeasances;" 

10. "Rel ease, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 
securities, if material;" 

11. " R ati ng changes;" 

12. "Tender offers;" 

13. "Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or si mi I ar event of the 
obligated person;" 

14. "Merger, consolidation, or acquisition of the obligated person, if 
materi al ; " and 

15. "Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of 
name of a trustee, if material;" 

(v) upon receipt (or irrevocable direction pursuant to Section 2(c) of this 
Disclosure Certificate, as applicalle), promptly file a completed copy of Exhibit A to this 
Disclosure Certificate with the M SRB, identifying the filing as" Failure to pravide annual 
financial information as required" when filing pursuant to Section 2(b)(ii) or Section 2(c) 
of this Disclosure Certificate; 

(f) The City may adjust the Annual Filing Date upon change of its fiscal year 0\/ 
praviding written notice of such change and the new Annual Filing Date to the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent and the MSRB, pravided that the period between the existing Annual Filing 
Date and new Annual Fi Ii ng Date shal I not exceed one year. 

(g) Any Information received 0\/ the Disclosure Dissemination Agent before 6:00 p.m. 
Eastern ti me on any business day that it is required to file with the MSRB pursuant to the terms of 
this Disclosure Certificate and that is accompanied 0\/ a Certification and all other information 
required 0\/ the terms of this Disclosure Certificate wil I be filed 0\/ the Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent with the MSRB no laterthan 11 :59 p.m. Eastern time on the same business day; prCNided, 
hOvVever, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no liablity for any delay in filing with 
the MSRB if such delay is caused 0\/ a Force Majeure Event prCNided that the Disclosure 
Di ssemi nation Agent uses reasonable efforts to make any such fi Ii ng as soon as possible. 

SECTION 3. Content of Annual Re[X)rts. 

(a) Each Annual Report shall contain Annual Financial Information consisting of 
updated information comparable to the information in the fdlOvVing talles as they appear in 
Official 5 tatement: 

1. Information in the form of Table 7 of the Official Statement concerning 
operating revenues and expenses of the Water System for the then--precedi ng fi seal year, 
including Net Revenue of the Water System and debt service caverage. 
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2. The outstanding principal amount of the Bands and any Parity Debt as of 
J une 30 of the most recently completed fi seal year. 

3. A description of any Parity DelX issued during the most recently completed 
fi seal year. 

4. A description of any changes in Water System rates and charges adopted 0\/ 
the City Council during the most recently completed fiscal year. 

5. I nformati on forthe most recently-competed fi seal year in the form of Table 
5 of the Offi ci al Statement (Ten Largest W ater Customers). 

( b) Audited Fi nanci al Statements prepared i n accordance with general I y accep:ed 
accounting principles ("GAAP") as described in the Official Statementwil I also be included in the 
Annual Report. If audited financial statements are not available, then, unaudited financial 
statements, prepared in accordance with GAAP as described in the Official Statement will be 
included in the Annual Report. Audited Financial Statements (if any) will be pravided pursuant 
to Section 2(d). 

Any or all of the items listed abave may be included 0\/ specific reference to cther 
documents, including official statements of debt issues with respect to which the City is an 
Obligated Person, which have been previouslyfiledwiththe Securities and Exchange Commission 
or avai I able to the public on the MS RB Internet website. If the document incorporated 0\/ reference 
is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB. The City will clearly identify 
each such document so incorporated 0\/ reference. 

Any Annual Financial I nformati on containing modified operating data or financial 
information is required to exp ai n, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification and the 
impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information being pravi ded. 

SECTION 4. Re[X)rtinq of Notice Events. 

(a) The occurrence of any of the follcwi ng events with respect to the Bonds constitutes 
a Nctice Event: 

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

2. Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial di ffi cul ti es; 

4. U nschedul ed draws on credit enhancements ref I ecti ng fi nanci al di ffi cul ti es; 

5. Substitution of credit or I iquidity praviders, orthei r failure to perform; 

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance 0\/ the Internal Revenue Service of 
proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (I RS Form 5701-
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TE B) or cther material notices or determi nati ms with respect to the tax status of the Bands, 
or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bands; 

7. Modifications to rights of B md hd ders, if material; 

8. B md cal Is, if material, and tender offers; 

9. Defeasances; 

10. Release, substitutim, or sale of p-operty securing repayment of the Bmds, 
if material; 

11. R ati ng changes; 

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Olligated 
Persm (Note to subsection (a)(l 2) of this Section 4: Forthe purposes of the event described 
in this subsectim (a)(12) of Section 4, the event is cmsidered to occur when any of the 
fd I cwi ng occur: the appointment of a receiver, fi seal agent or si mi I ar officer for an 
Olligated Person in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any cther 
p-oceeding under state or federal lctN in which a court or gcwernmental authority has 
assumedjurisdictim ewer substantially al I of the assets or business of the Obi igated Persm, 
or if such jurisdictim has been assumed 0\/ leaving the existing governing body and 
officials or officers in possessi m but subject to the supervi si m and orders of a court or 
governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, 
arrangement or liquidatim 0\/ a court or governmental authority having supervisim or 
jurisdiction aver substantially all of the assets or business of the Obligated Persm); 

13. The consummatim of a merger, cmsolidatim, or acquisition involving an 
Oll igated Persm orthe sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Oll igated Persm, 
cther than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to 
undertalke such an acti m or the termi nati m of a definitive agreement relating to any such 
actims, ctherthan pursuantto its terms, if material; and 

14. Appointment of a successor or addi ti mal trustee or the change of name of 
a trustee, if material . 

The City shall, in a timely manner not in excess of ten business days after its occurrence, 
notify the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing of the occurrence of a Notice Event. Such 
notice shall instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to report the occurrence pursuant to 
subsection (c) and shall be accompanied 0\/ a Certification. Such notice or Certification shall 
identify the N cti ce Event that has occurred (which shal I be any of the categories set forth in 
Section 2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure Certificate), include the text of the disclosure that the City 
desires to malke, contain the written authorization of the City for the Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the date the City desires for the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information (pravided that such date is not later than the 
tenth business day after the occurrence of the Notice Event). 
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(b) The Di sci osure Di ssemi nati m Agent is under no obi i gati on to notify the City orthe 
Disclosure Rep-esentative of an event that may cmstitute a Nctice Event. In the event the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent so nctifies the Disclosure Rep-esentative, the Disclosure 
Rep-esentative wi 11 within two business days of recei rx of such notice (but in any event in a timely 
manner nct later than the tenth business day after the occurrence of the Notice Event, if the City 
determines that a Notice Event has occurred), instruct the Disclosure Di sseni natim Agentthat (i) 
a Notice Event has not occurred and no filing is to be made or (ii) a Notice Event has occurred and 
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent is to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (c) of this 
Section 4, together with aCertificatim. Such Certification shall identify the Notice Eventthat has 
occurred (which shall be any of the categories set forth in Section 2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure 
Certificate), include the text of the disclosure that the City desires to make, contain the written 
authorization of the City forthe Di sci osure Di ssemi nati m Agent to disseminate such i nformati m, 
and identify the date the City desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the 
informatim (p-avided that such date is nct laterthan the tenth business day afterthe occurrence of 
the Nctice Event). 

(c) If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the City as prescribed 
in subsection (a) or (b)(ii) of this Section 4 to report the occurrence of a Notice Event, the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall promptly file a notice of such occurrence with the MSRB 
in accordance with Section 2(e)(iv) hereof. 

SECTION 5. CUSIP Numbers. Whenever praviding informatim to the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent, including but not limited to Annual Reports, documents incorporated by 
reference to the Annual Reports, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notices, and Failure 
to File Event nctices, the City shall indicate the full name of the Bonds and the 9--oigit CUSIP 
numbers for the B mds as to which the p-avi ded information rel ates. 

SECTION 6. Additional Disclosure Obligations. The City ackncwledges and 
understands that cther state and federal laws, including but not I imited to the Securities Act of 
1933 and Rule lCb-5 p-omulgated underthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to the 
City, and that the failure of the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to so advise the City shall nct 
constitute a breach by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent of any of its duties and respmsibilities 
under this Disclosure Certificate. The City acknavvledges and understands that the duties of the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent relate exclusively to execution of the mechanical tasks of 
di ssemi nati ng information as described in this Disclosure Certificate. 

SECTION 7. Vduntary Filings. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed 
to p-event the City from disseminating any cther information through the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent using the means of disseminatim set forth in this Disclosure Certificate or 
including any cther information in any Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event 
notice, or Failure to File Event nctice, in addition to that required by this Disclosure Certificate. If 
the City chooses to include any information in any Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, 
Notice Event nctice, or Failure to File Event notice in addition to that which is specifically required 
by this Disclosure Certificate, the City shall have no oll igatim under this Disclosure Certificate 
to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report, Audited Financial 
Statements, Notice Event notice, or F ai I ure to Fi I e Event notice. 
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SECTION 8. Termination of Repgting Obligation. The obligations of the City and the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent underthis Disclosure Certificate shal I terminate with respect to 
the Bands upon the I egal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in ful I of al I of the Bands, when 
the City is no longer an Obligated Person with respect to such Bonds, or upon delivery 0\/ the 
Disclosure Representative to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent of an opnion of nationally 
recognized bond counsel to the effect that continuing disclosure is no longer required with respect 
to such Bands. 

SECTION 9. Disclosure Dissemination Agent. The City has itself as the initial 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent underthis Disclosure Certificate. The City may, upon thirty days 
written nctice to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, replace or appoint a successor Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent. Upon termination of the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, whether 0\/ 
notice of the City orthe Disclosure Dissemination Agent, the City agrees to appoint a successor 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent or, alternately, agrees to assume al I responsibilities of Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Certificate forthe benefit of the Beneficial Owners of 
the Bonds. Nctwithstanding any replacement or appointment of a successor, the City shall remain 
liable, until payment in full, for any and all sums avved and payable to the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may resign at any time 0\/ prCNiding 
thirty days' prior written notice to the City. 

SECTION 10. Remedies in Event of Default. In the event of a failure of the City or the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent to comply with any prCNision of this Disclosure Certificate, the 
Beneficial Owners' rights to enforce the pravisions of this Disclosure Certificate shall be Ii mited 
solely to a right, 0\/ action in mandamus or for specific performance, to compel performance of 
the parties' obligation under this Disclosure Certificate. Any failure 0\/ a party to perform in 
accordance with this Di sci osure Certificate shal I not constitute a default on the Bands or under any 
other document relating to the Bands, and al I rights and remedies shal I be Ii mi ted to those expressly 
stated herei n. 

SECTION 11. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Disclosure Dissemination Agent. 

(a) Article VI I of the Indenture is hereO)I made applicable to this Disclosure Certificate 
as if this Disclosure Certificate were (solely for this purpose) contained in the Indenture. The 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall be entitled to the prctections and limitations from liability 
afforded to the Trustee thereunder. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have only such 
duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Agreement and the City agrees to indemnify 
and save the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, the Trustee, their officers, directors, employees and 
agents, harmless against any I oss, expense and Ii abi Ii ti es which it may incur arising out of the 
disclosure of information pursuant to this Disclosure Certificate or arising out of or in the exercise 
or performance of its pavvers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including 
attorneys' fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due to the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent's negligence or willful misconduct. The Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent's obligation to deliver the information at the times and with the contents 
described herein shall be limited to the extent the City has prCNided such information to the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent as required 0\/ this Disclosure Certificate. The Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent shall have no duty with respect to the content of any disclosures or notice 
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made pursuant to the terms hereof. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no duty or 
obligation to review or verify any Information or any other information, disclosures or notices 
pravided to it 0\/ the City and shall not be deemed to be acting in any fiduciary capacity for the 
City, the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds or any other party. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
shall have no responsibility for the City's failure to report to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
a N cti ce Event or a duty to determine the materiality thereof. The Di sci osure Di ssemi nation Agent 
shal I have no duty to determine, or Ii abi I ity for fai Ii ng to determine, whetherthe City has comp i ed 
with this Disclosure Certificate. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may conclusively rely upon 
certi fi cations of the City at al I ti mes. 

The obligations of the City underthis Section shall survive resignation or remaval of the 
Di sci osure Di ssemi nation Agent and defeasance, redemption or payment of the Bands. 

(b) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may, from time to time, consult with legal 
counsel (either in-house or external) of its cwn choosing in the event of any disagreement or 
contraversy, or question or doubt as to the construction of any of the prcwi sions hereof or its 
respective duties hereunder, and shal I not incur any Ii abi Ii ty and shal I be fully protected in acting 
in good faith upon the advice of such legal counsel. The reasonable fees and expenses of such 
counsel shall be payable 0\/ the City. 

( c) A 11 documents, reports, notices, statements, i nformati on and cther material s 
pravided to the MSRB under this Disclosure Certificate shall be prcwided in an electronic format 
and accompanied 0\/ i denti fyi ng information as prescribed 0\/ the MS RB. 

SECTION 12. Amendment; Waiver. Nctwithstanding any other prav1s1on of this 
Disclosure Certificate, the City and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent may amend this 
Disclosure Certificate and any pravision of this Disclosure Certificate may be waived, if such 
amendment or waiver is supported 0\/ an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities laws 
accep:able to both the City and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to the effect that such 
amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of Beneficial Owners of the Bonds 
and would not, in and of itself, cause the undertakings herein tovidatethe Rule if such amendment 
or waiver had been effective on the date hereof but taking into account any subsequent change in 
or official interpretation of the Rule; prcwided neitherthe City northe Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent shall be obligated to agree to any amendment modifying their respective duties or 
obi i gati ons without their consent thereto. 

Nctwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have 
the right to adop: amendments to this Disclosure Certificate necessary to comply with 
modifications to and interpretations of the pravi sions of the Rule as announced 0\/ the Securities 
and Exchange Commission from time to time 0\/ giving not less than 20 days prior written nctice 
of the i ntent to do so together with a copy of the proposed amendment to the City. No such 
amendment shall become effective until counsel to the City of nationally recognized standing in 
the field of lctN relating to municipal bonds determines in writing that such amendments are 
necessary to comply with modifications to and interpretations of the pravisions of the Rule as 
announced 0\/ the Securities and Exchange Commission, or if the City shall, within 10 days 

C-10 



fol I cwi ng the giving of such notice, send a notice to the Di sci osure Di ssemi nation Agent in writing 
that it oqj ects to such amendment. 

SECTION 13. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shal I inure solely to the ~nefit of 
the City, the Trustee of the Bonds, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, the participating 
underwriters ( as defi ned i n the R ul e), and the B enefi ci al Owners from ti me to ti me of the B ands, 
and shal I create no rights i n any ct her person or entity. 

SECTION 14. GOJerninqlaw. ThisDisclosureCertificateshall ~gavernedl:Jythelaws 
of the State of California (other than with respect to conflicts of laws). 

SECTION 15. Counterparts. This Disclosure Certificate may~ executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shal I ~ an original and al I of which shal I constitute but one and the 
same i nstrument. 

The Disclosure Dissemination Agent and the City have caused this Disclosure Certificate 
to~ executed, on the date fi rstwritten al:Jave, lJy their respective officers duly authorized. 

CITY OF FORTUNA, CALIFORNIA 
As Obligated Person 

By: -----------
Fi nance Di rector 

CITY OF FORTUNA, CALI FORNI A, 
As Disclosure Dissemination Agent 

By:-----------
Authorized Signatory 

C-11 



EXHIBIT A 

NOTICE TO MSRB OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

Name of I ssuer: 

Obligated Person: 

Name of Issue: 

Date of Issuance: 

City of Fortuna 

City of Fortuna 

$5,405,CXXl 
City of Fortuna 
Series 2017Water Revenue Refunding Bonds 
(W ater E nterpri se Project) 

Navember __ , 2017 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City has not pravided an Annual Report with 
respect to the abcwe--named Bands as required by the Continuing Di sci osure Certificate between 
the City and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent nanned therein. The City has notified the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent that it anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by 

Dated: 

---------------------, 
as Di sci osure Di ssemi nation Agent 
on behalf of the City 
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APPENDIX D 

GENERAL INFORMATION REGAR DI NG THE CITY AND SURROUND! NG AREA 

The fol I cwi ng i nforrrati on, uni ess otherwise ci tee, was directly transcribed from rrateri al prCNi ded 
b,t the City of Fortuna, the County of Huni:xJldt, and the area Charmer of Corrrn:rce. The follcwing 
i nforrrati on is intended to merely prCNi de the reader with a better understanding of certain soci oeconorri c 
and demographic characteristics of the City and surrounding area. The i nforrrati on set forth in thi sAppendix 
"D" has not been researchec for accuracy or veracity. The Bonds are Ii rritec obi igationsofthe City and are 
not securec b,t a legal or equitable plecge of, or charge or lien upon, any property of the City or any of its 
income or receipts, except the Net Revenues. The ful I faith and creci t of City is not pl ecgec for the payment 
of the interest on or principal of the Bonds and no tax or other source offunds, other than the Net Revenues, 
is pl ecgec to pay the interest on or principal of the Bonds. The payment of principal of or interest on the 
Bonds does not constitute a debt, liability or obi igation of the City for wihich any such entity is obi igated to 
I evy or pl ecge any form of taxation or for wihi ch any such entity has I evi ed or pl ecged any form of taxation. 
See" SECURITY FOR THE BONDS" in the forepart of this Official Statement. 

General 

The City. The City of Fortuna (the "City") encompasses approximately five square miles and is 
located in Hurrboldt County (the "County"), approximately 18 niles south of Eureka and 250 nil es north 
of San Francisco on U.S. Higtway 101. The City was incorporatec on February 20, 1906 as a general law 
city, and became a charter city in 1996. Fortuna is surrounded b{ national, state and county red.vood parks, 
and is the gate.vay to the red.vood forests of Northern California. 

The County. The County is the I argest and most populous of the north coast counties, encorrµissi ng 
2.3 nillion acres, 80 percent of which is forest lands, protected red.voods and recreation areas. The County 
has approxi rrately 11 O ni I es of coastl i ne--more than any other county in the State. The County was created 
from the western portion of Trinity County in 1853. The County's name is derived from Hurrboldt Bay. 
Originally di sewered in 1806 b,t a hunting party, the ray was not rediscovered until 1849 and then named 
in honor of the naturalist and explorer Baron Alexander Von Hurrboldt. The County is home to the biggest 
and oldest red.vood trees in the world. Natural resources al so make the County a pri rrary tourist desti nation. 
Popular sites include: Six Rivers National Forest, King Range National Conservation Area, Hurrboldt 
Recwoods State Park, Red.voods National Park, and Richardson Grwe State Park. 

Topography and Climate 

The County is situated along the Pacific Coast in Northern California's rugged coast and mountain 
ranges, offering a great variety of elevations, terrain and microclimates. The clirrate in the coastal zone of 
the County generally experiences very wet, cool winters and dry, nild foggy sumners. The inland areas of 
the County also experience wet, cool winters, with sno.vfall being common at elevations over 3,000 feet 
throughout the winter months. Sumner displays the sharpest difference between the coastal and inland 
cl i rrates. I nl and regions of the County experience highs of 80-99° F dependi ng on the el e.,,ati on and di stance 
from the ocean. The average annual rainfall is 36 inches. Approxirrately 9036 of average annual rainfall 
occurs in the six-month period extending from NwembertoApril. 

Population 

Thefollo.vingtabie lists population figures for the County and major cities in the County (including 
the City) as of January 1, for the last five completec calendar years. 
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HUMBOLDT COUNTY 
Population Estimates -Calendar Years 2012 through 2016 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Arcata 17,918 18,002 17,983 18,085 18,169 
Blue Lake 1,270 1,279 1,278 1,278 1,287 
Eureka 27,060 26,894 26,874 26,811 26,765 
Ferndale 1,396 1,426 1,429 1,435 1,434 
Fortuna 11,870 11,787 11,840 11,882 11,848 
Rio Dell 3,384 3,409 3,412 3,414 3,416 
Trinidad 368 370 368 368 367 
Balance of County 72,023 71,831 71,759 71,779 71,830 

County Total 135,289 134,998 134,943 135,052 135,116 

Source: State Departrrent of Finance estirrates 

Major EmplO(ers 

The follo.ving tables list the major emplO(ers within the County as of January 2017, listed 
alphabetically, 

E rnpl0yer Narne 

Bettendorf True king 
Blue Lake Casino& Hotel 
County+lumboldt+lealth & Human 
Eureka City Clerk 
Eureka High School 
Green Diamond Resource Co 
Green Diamond Resource Co 
HumboldtCnty Office-Education 
HumboldtCounty Dept+lealth 
Humboldt County Mental Health 
Humboldt County Sheriff Dept 
Humboldt County Social Svc 
Mad River Community Hospital 
Pacific Choice Seafood Inc 
Redwood Memorial Hospital 
Schmidbauer Lumber Inc 
StJ oseph Home Health 
StJ oseph Hospital 
Sun Valley Group 
Sunset Restaurant-Cher Ae Csn 
Trinidad Rancheria 
Umpqua Bank 
United Indian Health Svc 
US Post Office 
Winco Foods 

HUMBOLDT COUNTY 
Major EmplO(ers 

(Listed Alphabetically) 

Location Industry 

Arcata Trucking 
Blue Lake Casinos 
Eureka G CNernment Offi ces-C aunty 
Eureka GCNernmentOffices-City, Village & Twp 
Eureka Schools 
Trinidad Foresters-Consulting 
Korbel Foresters-Consulting 
Eureka Schools 
Eureka Clinics 
Eureka Hospitals 
Eureka G CNernment Offices-County 
Eureka G CNernment Offices-County 
Arcata Hospitals 
Eureka Prepared Fish & Seafood Products (mfrs) 
Fortuna Hospitals 
Eureka Logging (mfrs) 
Eureka Health Services 
Eureka Hospitals 
Arcata Greenhouses 
Trinidad Casinos 
Trinidad Associations 
Eureka Banks 
Arcata Clinics 
Eureka Post Offices 
Eureka G rocers-Retai I 

Source: State of California E rrplc,yrrent Developrrent Departrren~ extracted from The Arrerica' s Labor Market I nforrmtion 
System(ALMIS) Employer Database, 20172nd Edition. 
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Commercial Activity 

Summaries of historic taxable sales within the City and the County during 2011 through 2015 are shONn in 
the follcwingtables. Figures are net availalJe for 2016. 

Total taxalJe sales during the calendar year 2015 in the City were rer;ortedto be $143,263,cro, a 5.3% increase 
ewer the total taxable sales of $136,011,00) that were rer;orted during the calendar year 2014. The number of 
estalJ ishments selling merchandise suqject to sales tax and the valuation of taxalJe transactions in the City is presented 
in the fd IONi ng table. Annual figures are net yet available for 2016 or beyond. 

CITY OF FORTUNA 
Taxable Transactions111 

(dollars in thousands) 

Retail Stores Total A 11 Out I ets 

Number of Taxable 
Pernits Transactions 

2011 259 $102,994 
2012 263 102,297 
2013 274 102,793 
2014 291 106,008 
2015 (2) 112,518 

( l) Detai I rmy not corrpute to to1al due to rounding. 
(2) lnforrmtion notyetavailable. 

Number 
of Pernits 

377 
375 
378 
397 
(2) 

Source: "Taxable Sales in California," California State Board of Equalization. 

Taxable 
Transactions 

$130,380 
130,714 
134,201 
136,011 
143,263 

Total taxable sales during the calendar year 2015 in the County were rerxirted to be $1,985,208,747, 
a 4. 5% increase CNer the total taxable sales of $1,899,619,000 that were rerxirted during the calendar year 
2014. The number of establishments selling merchandise subject to sales tax and the valuation of taxable 
transactions in the County is presented in the follcwi ng table. Annual figures are not yet available for 2016 
or beyond. 

COUNTY OF HUMBOLDT 
Taxable Transactions111 

(dollars in thousands) 

Retail Stores Total All Outlets 

Number of Taxable Number Taxable 
Pernits Transactions of Pernits T ransacti ans 

2011 3,172 $1,224,525 4,491 $1,698,178 
2012 3,208 1,298,773 4,499 1,768,170 
2013 3,343 1,370,743 4,600 1,869,677 
2014 3,440 1,412,669 4,706 1,899,619 
2015 3,213 1,474,165 5,105 1,985,209 

( l) Detai I rmy not corrpute to to1al due to rounding. 
Source: "Taxable Sales in California," California State Board of Equalization. 
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The valuation of taxable transactions within the County is presented in the follcwi ng table. Total 
taxalbl e sales during the cal endaryear 2015 in the County were reported to be $1,985, 209,00J, a 4. 5% increase 
from the total taxable sales reported during the cal endaryear 2014 of $1,899,619,00J. Annual figures are not 
yet avai I albl e for 2016 or beyond. 

COUNTY OF HUMBOLDT 
Taxable Retail Sales111 

Valuation of Taxable Transactions 
(dollars in thousands) 

2011 2012 2013 
Retail and Food Services 

Motor Vehicle and Parts Dealers $170,895 $193,277 $203,517 
Home Furnish and Appliance Stores 21,435 21,003 22,121 
Electronics andAi:pliance Stores 23,182 23,003 24,570 
Bldg. Mat'I & Garden 
Equip;Supplies 177,004 186,282 197,895 
Food and Beverage Stores 120,568 124,300 128,236 
Health and Personal Care Stores 40,765 41,161 43,125 
Gasoline Stations 176,188 188,740 191,965 
Clothing and Accessories Stores 46,445 49,922 54,422 
Sporting Goods, Boak, and Musi C 

Stores 43,579 45,349 48,917 
General Merchandise Stores 188,516 200,740 204,042 
Miscellaneous Store Retailers 60,098 63,765 64,034 
Non-Store Retailers 14,641 13,294 23,470 
Food Services and Drinking Places 141,211 147,867 164,429 

Total Retail and Food Services $1,224,525 $1,298,773 $1,370,743 

A 11 Other Outlets 473,653 469,397 498,934 

Total All Outlets $1,698,178 $1,768,170 $1,869,677 

Permits - All Outlets 4,491 4,499 4,600 

1" Detail rmy notcorrpute to total due to rounding. 
Source: "Taxable Sales in California," California State Board of Equalization. 
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2014 2015 

$218,176 $239,795 
23,563 25,848 
26,995 29,424 

203,737 242,461 
132,758 142,322 
44,643 46,214 

188,154 165,575 
55,823 59,301 

47,635 50,036 
204,609 181,305 

71,659 80,191 
24,887 26,389 

170,030 185,305 

$1,412,669 $1,474,166 

486,950 511,043 

$1,899,619 $1,985,209 

4,706 5,105 



Employment and Industry 

The belON talJe summarizes the civilian labor fcrce, civilian employment and civilian unemployment figures 
ewer the period frcrn 2011 through 2016 in the City, the County and the State. 

CITY ANDCOUNTY AND STATE 
Civilian Labor Force, Employment and Unemployment Rate1 11 

(Calendar Years 2011 through 2016) 

City County State 

Labor Unemployment Labor Unemployment Unemployment 
Year Force Employed Rate Force Rate Rate 

2011 4,600 4,200 8.7% 60,500 11.4% 11.8% 
2012 4,600 4,200 8.7% 60,100 10.5% 10.4% 
2013 4,500 4,100 7.8% 58,400 8.8% 8.936 
2014 4,500 4,200 6.8% 62,700 6.8% 7.5% 
2015 4,520 4,260 5.6% 62,630 5.6% 6.2% 
2016 4,520 4,300 4.936 62,670 4.936 5.4% 

-------------------

(l) Data is based on annual averages, unless otherwise specified, and is not seasonally adjusted. 
Source: Labor Division of the California State Errployrrent Developrrent Departrrent 

The distribution of empoyment in the Humbodt County is presented in the fol lcwing talJe for the calendar 
years 2012 through 2016. These figures are countywide stati sties and may net necessarily accurately refiect employment 
trends in the City. 

COUNTY OF HUMBOLDT 
Industry Employment & Labor F orce1 11 

(Calendar Years 2012 through 2016) 

Ty12e of E m12I Q;:ment 2012 

A gri culture 870 
Mining, Logging, and Construction 2,060 
M anufacturi ng 2,000 
W hol esal e Trade 1,030 
Retail Trade 6,840 
Transportation, Warehousing, Utilities 1,290 
Information 520 
Financial Activities 1,600 
Professi anal and Business Services 2,650 
Educational and Health Services 7,440 
Leisure and Hospitality 5,130 
Other Services 1,840 
Gwernment 13,530 
Total, All I ndustries121 46,790 

(l) Data is based on annual averages, unless otherwise specified. 
(2) Totals rmy not add due to rounding. 

2013 2014 

810 820 
1,960 1,940 
2,070 2,070 
1,000 980 
6,920 7,010 
1,280 1,270 

500 500 
1,600 1,590 
2,630 2,580 
7,770 8,000 
5,130 5,280 
1,920 1,890 

13,470 13,730 
47,070 47,650 

Source: Labor Division of the California State Errployrrent Developrrent Departrrent 
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2015 2016 

870 880 
2,070 2,060 
2,030 2,080 

920 980 
7,230 7,440 
1,230 1,170 

500 460 
1,630 1,620 
2,700 2,780 
8,110 8,330 
5,570 5,860 
1,880 1,800 

13,950 14,220 
48,630 49,710 



Transportation 

The HumooldtTransitAuthority (HTA) operates two fixed route transit bus systems: 

The Red.vood Transit System pr0vides intercity service to and within communities between 
Trinidad and Garberville, including Manila, King Salmon, Field's Landing, Loleta, Fernbridge 
and Fortuna. HTA al so offers service between McKinleyville or Arcata and Wi llcw Creek and 
an express bus between Arcata and College of the Red.voodswhen classes are in session. 

The Eureka Transit Service operates in the City of Eureka, and pr0vides local service on four 
scheduled routes in Eureka and its adjacent unincorporated communities. Connections can be 
made to the Redwood Transit System at several places in Eureka 

Eureka Some other local public transit systems are: Arcata and Mad River Transit System, Blue 
Lalke Rancheria Transit Authority and Del Norte County's Red.vood Coast Transit. 

Arrtralk Thruway bus has stops in many cities in the region, including Eureka, Arcata, and Fortuna 

TheArcata-EurekaAirport is located in the City of McKinleyville (northern part of the County). 
Commercial flights are available. Other (general aviation) airports are located at Dinsmore, Garberville, 
Kneeland, Murray Field (Eureka), Sannoa Field and Rohnervi lie (Fortuna). 

The Port of H umooldt Bay (sometimes al so referred to as the Port of Eureka) is a deep-water port 
with haroor facilities including large industrial docks at Fairhaven, Samoa, and Fields Landing designed to 
serve cargo and other vessels, whi I e several marinas al so I ocated in Greater Eureka have the capacity to serve 
hundreds of smal I to mid-size boats and pleasure craft. 

Education 

The City is served~ the Fortuna Elementary School District and the Fortuna Union High School 
Di strict. The Elementary Di strict currently operates four schools, consisting of three elementary schools and 
one middle school. The High School District operates two high schools and one academy. The City is al so 
served ~ the Col I ege of the R ed.voods which has its main campus I ocated approximately 9 mi I es from the 
City, but also offers classes at campuses in dcwn-tcwn Eureka, Del Norte, and Klamath-Trinity. California 
State University, Humooldt is located approximately 27 miles north of the City. 
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City Counci I 
City of Fortuna 
621 11th Street 
Fortuna, CA 95540 

OPINION 

Members of the Counci I: 

APPENDIX E 

FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 

____ ,2017 

City of Fortuna 
$5,405,00J Series 2017W ater Revenue Refunding Bonds 
(Water Enterprise Project) 

We have acted as oond counsel to the City of Fortuna(the "City") in connection with the issuance~ 
the City of the captioned oonds (the "Bonds''). In such capacity, we have examined such law and such 
certified proceedings, certi fi cations and other documents as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion. 

The Bonds are issued pursuanttoArticles lO(commenci ngwith Section 53570) and 11 (commencing 
with Section 53580) of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the G0vernment Code of the State of 
California(the "Bond Law''), the Indenture of Trust, dated asof N0vember 1, 2017 (the" Indenture"),~ and 
between the City and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"), and a resolution (the 
"Resolution") of the Council of the City adopted August 30, 2017. U nderthe Indenture, the City has pledged 
certain revenues (the" Revenues'') forthe payment of principal, premium (if any), and interest on the Bonds 
when due. 

Regarding questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied on representations of the City 
conta ned in the R esol uti on and in the I ndenture, and in the certified proceedings and other certi fi cations of 
public officials furnished to us, without undertalking to verify the same~ independent investigation. 

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that, under existing I aw: 

1. The City is a duly created and validly existing municipa corporation and charter city duly 
organized and existing underthe I aws of the State of California with the pcwerto adopt the R esol uti on, enter 
into the Indenture and perform the agreements on its part contained therein, and issue the Bands. 

2. The Indenture has been duly authorized, executed and delivered~ the City, and constitutes a 
valid and binding obi igation of the City, enforceable against the City. 

E-1 



3. The Indenture creates a valid I ien on the Net Revenues and other funds pledged~ the Indenture 
forthe security of the Bands, on parity with any future Parity Debt (as defined in the Indenture) to be issued 
in compliance with the I ndenture. 

4. The Bands have been duly authorized and executed~ the City, and are valid and binding Ii mited 
obligations of the City, payable solely from the Net Revenues and other funds pr0vided therefor in the 
Indenture. 

5. I nterest on the Bands is excl udalbl e from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not 
an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and 
corporations; it should be noted, hcwever, that for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax 
imposed on corporations (as defined for federal income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in 
determining certain income and earnings. The opinions set forth in the preceding sentence are subject to the 
condition that the City comply with all recuirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 that must be 
satisfied subsecuent to the delivery of the Bands in order that such interest be, or continue to be, excluded 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The City has c0venanted to comply with each such 
recuirement. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may cause the inclusion of interest on the 
Bands in gross income for federal income tax purposes to be retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bands. 
We express no opinion regarding other federal tax consecuences arising with respect to the cwnershi p, sale 
or disposition of the Bands, or the amount, accrual or receipt of interest on the Bands. 

6. Interest on the Bands is exempt from personal income taxation imposed~ the State of California 

The rights of the cwners of the Bands and the enforcealbi I ity of the Bands and the I ndenture are 
limited~ barkruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors' 
rights generally, and~ equitalble principles, whether considered at law or in ecuity. 

This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obi i gati on to revise or supplement this 
opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention, or any changes in I aw 
that may hereafter occur. Our engagement with respect to this matter has terminated as of the date hereof. 

Respectfully submitted, 

E-2 



APPENDIX F 

INFORMATION REGAR DI NG THE BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

The follcwing description of the Derxisitory Trust Corrpany (" DTC" ), the procedures and record 
keeping with respect to beneficial cwnershi p interests in the Bands, payrrent of principal, interest and other 
payrrents on the Bonds to DTC Participants or Beneficial ONners, confi rrration and transfer of beneficial 
cwnershi p interest in the Bonds and other related transactions~ and between DTC, the DTC Participants 
and the Beneficial ONners is based solely on i nforrrati on pr0vided ~ DTC. Accardi ngly, no representations 
can be rrade concerning these rratters and neither the DTC Participants nor the Beneficial Owners should 
rely on the foregoing i nforrration with respect to such rratters, but should instead confirm the sarre with DTC 
orthe DTC Participants, as the case rray be. 

Neither the i ssuer of the Bands ( the " I ssuer" ) nor the trustee, fi seal agent or payi ng agent aprxii nted 
with respect to the Bonds(the" Agent'') take any resrxinsi bi I ityforthe i nforrration contained in thi sAppendix 

No assurances can be given that DTC, DTC Participants or Indirect Participants wil I distribute to 
the Beneficial Owners (a) payrrents of interest, principal or prerri urn if any, with respect to the Bonds, (b) 
certificates representing cwnership interest in or other confirrration or cwnership interest in the Bonds, or 
(c) redemption or other notices sentto DTC or Cede& Co., itsnorrinee, as the registered cwner of the Bonds, 
or thattheywill so do on a tirrely basis, or that DTC, DTC Participants or DTC Indirect Participants will 
act in the rranner described in this Appendix The current" Rules'' applicable to DTC are on file with the 
Securities and Exchange Comrrission and the current" Procedures'' of DTC to be fol lcwed in dealing with 
DTC Participantsareonfilewith DTC. 

1. The Derxisitory Trust Company ("DTC"), Nav York, NY, wi II act as securities derxisitory 
forthe securities (the "Securities''). The Securities wi 11 be issued as ful ly-fegi stered securities registered in 
the narre of Cede & Co. (DTC' s partnership nominee) or such other narre as rray be recuested ~ an 
authorized representative of DTC. One ful ly-fegi stered Security certificate wi 11 be issued for each issue of the 
Securities, each in the aggregate pri nci pa amount of such issue, andwi 11 be derxisited with DTC. If, hcwever, 
the aggregate principa amount of any issue exceeds $500 mil lion, one certificatewi II be issued with respect 
to each $500 million of principa amount, and an additional certificate will be issued with respect to any 
rema ni ng principal amount of such issue. 

2. DTC, the world's largest securitiesderxisitory, is a limited-purrxisetrust company organized 
underthe Nav York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the Nav York Banking 
Law, a rrember of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corrxiration" within the meaning of the NewY ork 
Uniform Comrrercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuanttothe pr0vi sions of Section 17A of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and pr0vides asset servicing for 0ver 3.5 mi Ilion issues of 
U.S. and non-U .S. ecuity issues, corrxirate and munici pa debt issues, and money rrarket i nstrurrents (from 
0ver 100 countries) that DTC' s participants(" Direct Participants'') derxisit with DTC. DTC al so faci I itates 
the rx:ist-trade settlerrent among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in derxisited 
securities, through electronic computerized book-€ntry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' 
accounts. This eliminates the need for physical m0verrent of securities certificates. Direct Participants include 
both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corrxirations, and 
certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-cwned subsidiary of The Derxisitory Trust & Clearing 
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Corrxiration ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corrxiration 
and Fixed Income Clearing Corrxiration, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the 
users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is al so available to others such as both U.S. and 
non-U .S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corrxirati ons that cl ear through 
or maintain a custodial rel ati onshi p with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect 
Participants''). DTC has a Standard& Poor' s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules appl icableto its Participants are 
on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at 
www.dtcc.com and W\M-V.dtc.org. The information contained on this Internet site is not i ncorrxirated herein 
by reference. 

3. Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct 
Participants, which will receive a credit forthe Securities on DTC' s records. The ownership interest of each 
actual purchaser of each Security ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants' records. Beneficial Owners wi 11 not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. 
Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations pr0viding details of the 
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through 
which the B enefi ci al Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Securities are 
to be accompl i shed by entries made on the books of Di rect and I ndi rect P arti ci pants acti ng on behalf of 
Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners wi II not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in 
Securities, except in the eventthat use of the book-entry system forthe Securities is discontinued. 

4. To facilitate subsequenttransfers, al I Securities derxisited by Direct Participants with DTC 
are registered in the name of DTC' s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested 
by an authorized representative of DTC. The derxisit of Securities with DTC and their registration in the name 
of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no 
knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Securities; DTC' s records reflect only the identity of the 
Direct Participants to whose accounts such Securities are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial 
Owners. The Direct and I ndi rect Participants wi 11 remain resrxinsi bl e for keeping account of their holdings 
on behalf of their customers. 

5. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
P arti ci pants to I ndi rect P arti ci pants, and by Di rect P arti ci pants and I ndi rect P arti ci pants to B enefi ci al Owners 
wi 11 be g0verned by arrangements annong them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be 
in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to talke certain steps to augment the 
transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Securities, such as redemptions, 
tenders, def au I ts, and prorx:ised annendments to the Security documents. For example, B enefi ci al Owners of 
Securities may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Securitiesfortheir benefit has agreed to obtain 
and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to pr0vide their 
names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be pr0vided directly to them. 

6. Redemption noticeswi II be sentto DTC. If less than all of the Securities within an issue are 
being redeemed, DTC' s practice isto determine by lotthe amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in 
such i ssue to be redeemed. 

7. Neither DTC nor Cede& Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) wi II consent or vote with respect 
to Securities unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC' s M Ml Procedures.Under its 
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usual procedures, DTC rrails an Omnibus Proxy to Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The 
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose 
accounts Securities are credited on the record date (identified in a I isti ng attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

8. Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Securities wi II be made 
to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as rray be recuested ~ an authorized representative of DTC. DTC' s 
practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC' s receipt of funds and corresponding detai I 
information from Issuer or Agent, on payalble date in accordance with their respective holdings shewn on 
DTC' s records. Payments~ Participants to B enefi ci al Owners wi 11 be g0verned ~ standing instructions and 
customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or 
registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, Agent, or Issuer, 
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of 
redemption proceeds, di stri buti ons, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. ( or such other nominee as may be 
requested~ an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of Issuer or Agent, disbursement of 
such payments to Direct Participants wi II be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments 
to the Beneficial Ownerswil I be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

9. DTC may discontinue pr0viding its services as depository with respect to the Securities at 
any ti me ~ giving reasonalbl e notice to Issuer or Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a 
successor depository is not obta ned, Security certificates are recui red to be printed and delivered. 

10. Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC 
(or a successor securities depository). In that event, Security certificateswi II be printed and delivered to DTC. 

11. The inforrration in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been 
obtained from sources that I ssuer believes to be rel i albl e, but I ssuer takes no responsi bi Ii ty for the accuracy 
thereof. 
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MUNICIPAL 

ISSUER: 

MUNICIPAL BOND 
INSURANCE POLICY 

-N 

BONDS: $ in aggregate principal amount of 

ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP. ('AGM"), 
UNCONDITIONALLY AND IRREVOCABLY agrees to pay to the tr 
"Paying Agent") (as set forth in the documentation providing for 
the Bonds, for the benefit of the Owners or, at the election of 
the terms of this Policy (which includes each endorsement 
intereston the Bonds that shall become Due for Payment buts 
the Issuer. 

On the later of the day on which such 
Business Day next following the Business Da 
AG M will disburse to or for the benefit of ea 
on the Bond that is then Due for Payme 
only upon receipt by AGM, in a form r 
receive payment of the principal 
appropriate instruments of assign 
principal or inte:rest that is Due for 
deemed received on a given Busi 

ue for Payment or the 
d Notice of Nonpaymen~ 

a t of principal of and inte:rest 
f Nonpayment by the Issuer, but 

of (a evidence of the Owners right to 
t and (b) evidence, including any 

er's hts with respect to payment of such 
,n AGM. A Notice ofNonpaymentwill be 

rior to l :00 p.m. (New York time) on such 
Business Day; otherwise, I eemed receiv the next Business Day. If any Notice of 
Nonpayment received 
purposes of the pre 
Owner, as approp · 
respect of a Bond, A 
to receipt of p 
Owner, incl 
AGM her 
thee 

te, it shall e deemed not to have been received by AG M for 
M promptly so advise the Trustee, Paying Agent or 

ed Notice of Nonpayment Upon disbursement in 
ner of the Bond, any appurtenant coupon to the Bond or right 
ton the Bond and shall be fully subrogated to the rights of the 

payments under the Bond, to the exlEnt of any payment by 
Trustee or Paying Agent for the benefit of the Owners shall, to 

n of AGM under this Policy. 

x'ent expre sly modified by an endorsement hereto, the following terms shall have 
r all purposes of this Policy. "Business Day" means any day other than (a) a 

ay on which banking institutions in the State: of New York or the Insurer's 
or required by law or executive order to remain closed. "Due for Payment'' 

to the principal of a Bond, payable on the stated maturity date thereofor the date 
all have been duly called for mandato,y sinking fund redemption and does not refer to 
ich payment is due by reason of call for redemption (other than by mandato,y sinking 

fund rede , acceleration or other advancement of maturity unless AGM shall elect, in its sole 
discretion, to p y such principal due upon such acceleration together with any accrued interest to the date 
of acceleration and (b) when referring to interest on a Bond, payable on the stated date for payment of 
interest "Nonpayment'' means, in respect of a Bond, the failure of the Issuer to have provided sufficient 
funds to the Trustee or, if there is no Trustee, to the Paying Agent for payment in full of all principal and 
interest that is Due for Payment on such Bond. "Nonpayment'' shall also include, in respect of a Bond, any 
payment of principal or interest that is Due for Payment made to an Owner by or on behalf of the Issuer 
which has been recovered from such Owner pursuant to the 
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Policy No. -N 

Unied States Bankrup1I:y Code by a trus1ee in bankrup1I:y in accordance with a final, nonappealable order 
of a court having competent jurisdiction. "Notice" means telephonic or te:lecopied notice, subsequently 
confirmed in a signed writing, or written notice by registered or certified mail, from an Owner, the Truste:e or 
the Paying Agent to AG M which notice shall specify (a) the person or entity making the claim, (b) the Policy 
Number, (c) the claimed amount and (d) the date such claimed amount became Due for Payment "Owner" 
means, in respect of a Bond, the person or entity who, at the time of Nonpayment, is entitled under the 
terms of such Bond to payment thereof, exceptthat"Owne~· shall not include the Issuer rany person or 
entity whose direct or indirect obligation constitutes the underlying security for the Bonds. 

AGM may appoint a fiscal agent (the "Insurer's Fiscal Agent') for purposes 
giving written notice to the Truste:e and the Paying Agent specifying the name and notic: 
Insurer's Fiscal Agent From and afte:r the date of receipt of such notice by 
Agent (a) copies of all notices required to be delivered to AGM pur 
simultaneously delivered to the Insurers Fiscal Agent and to AGM ands 
received by both and (b) all payments required to be made by AGM u 
byAGM or by the Insurer's FiscalAgenton behalfofAGM. The Ins 
only and the Insurers F iscalAgent shall in no event be liable to an 
Agent or any failure of AGM 1D depos~ or cause to be depos 
under this Policy. 

To the fullest extent perm~d by applicable law, AG 
only for the benefit of each Owner, all rights (whether by coun1e 
(including, without lim~tion, the defense of fra ether a 

d hereby waives, 
ise) and defenses 

tion, assignment or 
to avoid payment of its otherwise, to the extent that such rights and d 

obligations under this Policy in accordance wi 

This Policy sets forth in full 
affe:cted by any other agreement or in 
the extent expressly modified by a 
nonrefundable for any reason wha 
Bonds prior to maturity and (b) 
COVERED BY THE PROPE lY,C 
OF THE NEW YORK INS E 

A subsidiary of Assured Guaranty Municipal Holdings Inc. 
1633 Broadway, New York, N.Y. 10019 
(212) 974-0100 

Form S0ONY (5;90) 

hall not be modified, altered or 
·on or amendment thereto. Except to 

ium paid in respect of this Policy is 
ovision being made for payment, of the 

d or revoked. THIS POLICY IS NOT 
CURllY FUND SPECIFIED IN ARTICLE 76 

MUNICIPAL CORP. has caused this Policy to be 

ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP. 

By---~~~~~=-----­
Authorized Officer 
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